Public Document Pack

Havering

LONDON BOROUGH

SCHOOLS FUNDING FORUM

AGENDA
8.00 am Thursday Rm 233 CEME,
' 27 November 2025 Rainham

Members 21: Quorum: 9

MEMBERSHIP:

Representative Groups

LA Maintained School Representatives:

Head Teachers (7): Emma Allen, Special
Michael Ross, Primary
Kirsten Cooper, Primary
Georgina Delmonte, Primary
Hayley McClenaghan, Primary
David Unwin-Bailey, Primary
Chris Speller, Primary

Governors (1): Les James

Academy

Representatives:

Primary (2): Chris Hobson
Vacancy

Secondary (5) Neil Frost
Scott McGuiness
David Turrell
Paul Larner
Vacancy

Special (1) Andy Smith

AP Academy (1) Tony Machin




Schools Funding Forum, 27 November 2025

Non-School Error! No document variable supplied.
Representatives:

Early Years PVI Sector Emma Reynolds
(1)

Post 16 (1) Paul Larner

Diocesan Board (2) Chris Speller, Diocese of Chelmsford
Michael Ross, Diocese of Brentwood

Trade Unions (2): George Blake/John McGill, Teachers
Peter Liddle, Support Staff

For information about the meeting please contact:
Katherine Heffernan
Katherine.Heffernan@havering.gov.uk



Schools Funding Forum, 27 November 2025

AGENDA ITEMS

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE
MEMBERS OR OBSERVERS

2 TO AGREE THE NOTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON... (Pages 1 - 5)
The notes are attached at Appendix A.
3 MATTERS ARISING

4 ITEM 4 SCHOOLS FUNDING 2026-27 (Pages 6 - 9)

5 ITEM 4 APP A -
THE_NATIONAL_FUNDING_FORMULA_FOR_SCHOOLS 2026 - 2027 (Pages 10
- 424)

6 NEXT MEETINGS
The next meetings have been arranged as follows:
15™ January 2026
All meetings to be held at CEME at 8.00am.

7 ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Zena Smith
Democratic and Election Services Manager



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HAvﬁegenda ltem 2
SCHOOLS FUNDING FORUM

Thursday 237 October 2025 at CEME
(8.00am - 9.55am)
Present:

LA Maintained School Representatives:

Primary Kirsten Cooper (Chair)
Georgina Delmonte
Hayley McClenaghan
Ryan Kinnear
Mike Ross (also representing the Diocese of Brentwood)
Chris Speller (also representing the Diocese of Chelmsford)

Special Emma Allen (EA)
Governor Les James (LJ)

Academy Representatives:

Primary Chris Hobson (CH)

Secondary David Turrell (Vice Chair) (also representing Post 16)
Paul Larner (also representing Post 16)

Special Vicky Mummery
AP Academy Mandeep Kaur

Non-School Representatives:

Early Years PVI Sector: Becky McGowan*

Trade Unions: John McGill (JM) (Teaching staff union representative)
Julia Newman (JN) (Support staff union representative)
George Blake (GB) (Teaching staff union representative)

Observers:
Russell Abrahall (NAHT) Observer

Non-Members in attendance:

Angela Adams Clerk, HGS

Marcus Bennett Head of SEND

Kavan Cheema Strategic Business Partner

Trevor Cook (TC) Assistant Director of Education
Katherine Heffernan (KH) Head of Finance (Business Partnering)
Hany Moussa (HM)* Principal Education Finance Officer

Jacqueline Treacy (JT)  Senior Inspector for schools casing concern (HSIS)

*for part of the meeting

Page 1



1. ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEW MEMBERS, APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OR OBSERVERS

All were welcomed to the meeting.

Apologies were received from the following Forum Members:

Emma Reynolds — Early Years PVI sector (Becky McGowan in attendance as representative)
David Unwin Bailey Primary sector (Ryan Kinnear in attendance as representative)

Neil Frost- Secondary Academy

Scott McGuiness- Secondary Academy
June MacDonald — Olive Academy

2. ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR
Funding forum members noted that a Chair and Vice chair needed to be appointed for the academic
year, until the first meeting of the autumn term 2026. Forum members discussed the appointment of
members to the roles and the following was unanimously agreed.

To reappoint Kirsten Cooper as Chair and David Turrell as Vice Chair until the first meeting in the
autumn term 2026.

3. TO AGREE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12" JUNE 2025
The minutes of the meeting held on 12" June 2025 were received and agreed.

4. MATTERS ARISING

The following were matters arising from the previous minutes that were not included elsewhere on the
agenda:

4.1. Membership (minute 1 refers): P Larner had been contacted with regards to his membership of the
funding forum and he was in attendance.

4.2. De-Delegation (minute 4 refers): Forum members noted that the carry forward was still held and
would be discussed in more detail under De-delegation on the agenda.

4.3. Working party (minute 6 refers): KH advised that the working party was in the process of being
established to support schools with their budgets.

5. SCHOOLS BLOCK FUNDING

Forum members were asked to:

1. Note the update on schools funding for 2026-27

2. Agree to apply the national funding formula rates to schools data in calculating
schools’ funding

3. Agree the School Block 0.5% transfer to High Needs and to consider a
disapplication request be submitted to the DfE for any transfer above 0.5%

4. For LA maintained primary school representatives; to consider whether to

continue with the de-delegation of funding for the following services:
(1) Insurance

Page 2 of 5
Page 2



(i) Free school meals eligibility checking

(i)  Maternity leave insurance

(iv) EAL service

(V) Trade Union Facility Time

(vi)  Contingency to support schools in financial difficulty

5. For LA maintained primary and special school representatives; to consider the
de-delegation of funding for the following:

(1) Statutory and regulatory duties

(i)  Core school improvement activities

Forum members were asked to note the 2026-27 funding update, agree use of National
Funding Formula (NFF) rates, confirm the 0.5% transfer from the Schools Block to High
Needs, and consider de-delegation arrangements for maintained schools.

The DfE had not yet confirmed allocations for 2026—-27, but the expectation was continued use of the
NFF. Havering already used the NFF, so scope for change was limited.

B McGowan joined the meeting at this point, 8:24am
e Schools Block Transfer

The current 0.5% transfer to High Needs remained insufficient, but Forum members did not
support increasing it. Any increase would add pressure on school budgets. This position would
be shared with clusters. Model examples and top-up rates would be reviewed.

e Growth and falling rolls.

Some areas were expecting growth while others faced declines. No changes were proposed to
the falling rolls fund.

Members discussed whether to continue de-delegation for various services. Points noted
included:

o Free school meals checking: LGfL offered this at no cost.

o EAL: usage varied; some schools preferred a traded approach. HSIS to explore inclusion
in its package (action: JT/TC).

o Trade Union Facility Time: further work was ongoing, with concerns about consistency,
funding, and academy participation. Updated membership data would inform next steps.

o Contingency funding: views differed on whether top-sliced funding should be
redistributed or used for support. Rising humbers of financially challenged schools were
noted.

Members requested a clearer breakdown of statutory and regulatory duties funded through de-
delegation

ACTION: HM/KH

Clusters were asked to review proposals on core school improvement funding (action: all
maintained representatives).

The demographic in Havering was changing and schools became better at supporting pupils
with EAL the more they had on their roll, schools also received funding for EAL.

H Moussa joined the meeting at this point, 8:43am

Page 3 of 5
Page 3



Funding forum members then voted on the following

1) They agreed to apply the national funding formula rates to schools’ datain
calculating schools’ funding.

2) They agreed the School Block 0.5% transfer to High Needs.

3) They did not agree with the proposal to transfer more than 0.5% to High Needs.
6. HIGH NEEDS FUNDING

Forum members were asked to note the report.

Forum members noted the report.

A forecast overspend of £28.5m was highlighted, linked to historic low funding levels and rising needs.
The High Needs Working Group would explore the pressures further.

Forum members noted the report.

7. CENTRAL SCHOOLS SERVICES BLOCK (CSSB)
Forum members were asked to:
Note the projected allocation of CSSB for 2026-27

Consider the request to retain funding for central statutory services.

Members noted the projected 2026—27 allocation of £1.95m.

Funding would continue to support core statutory services and existing commitments.

Members agreed to retain the current distribution.

Forum members noted the projected allocation of CSSB for 2026-27

Forum members voted and all agreed to continue with the distribution for CSSB.
8. EARLY YEARS FUNDING UPDATE

Forum members were asked to note the report which was for information only.

Forum members noted the report.

The estimated carry forward was £1m following a DfE adjustment.

Termly census arrangements now applied across all providers.

£628k was distributed to providers at 32p per hour.

Page 4 of 5
Page 4



Next-year planning would follow a revised timetable, with an additional EYPRG meeting in January
ahead of consultation. The pass-through rate would rise to 97%.

Forum members noted the report.

9. SCHOOLS MONITORING

At year-end 2024-25, 15 schools were in deficit (total £0.5m). Only four expected improvement; a
further 14 schools risked deficit within three years.

A group would be formed to strengthen support and guidance. Minutes would be shared.

The Forum acknowledged the pressures on school leaders and LA staff.
ACTION: TC

10.NEXT MEETINGS

Thursday 27" November 2025

Thursday 15 January 2026

Thursday 12 February 2026

Thursday 11" June 2026

Meetings to start at 8.00am at CEME either in room 233 or 235.
11.ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There were no additional business items.

The Chair thanked Forum members for their contributions.

Meeting closed at 9.55am.

Page 5 of 5
Page 5



Agenda ltem 4

m¢ Havering

g LONDON BOROUGH

Schools Funding Forum 27th October 2025 ITEM 4
Subject Heading: Schools Funding 2026-27
Report Author: Hany Moussa — Principal Education

Finance Officer

Eligibility to vote: All maintained schools members

‘ SUMMARY ‘

This report offers information to the Schools Funding Forum representatives on the
DfE’s 2025-26 Policy Note, the upcoming FSM Expansion Grant and the draft Schools
and High Needs consultation. It invites LA maintained schools to review the
consultation outcomes and consider voting on the proposed service de-delegation.

‘ RECOMMENDATIONS ‘

1. That Schools Funding Forum notes the update on DfE Funding Policy Note
Guidance 2025-26

2. That Schools Funding Forum notes the update on FSM Expansion Grant for
financial year 2026-27

3. LA maintained primary school representatives to review consultation responses
and vote on continuing the de-delegation of funding for the following services:

0] Insurance

(i) Free school meals eligibility checking
(i)  Maternity leave insurance

(iv)  EAL service

4. LA maintained primary and special school representatives to review
consultation responses and vote on continuing the de-delegation of funding for
the following services:

0] Statutory and regulatory duties
(i) Core school improvement activities

Page 6



REPORT DETAIL

1. DfE Funding Policy Note Guidance 2026-27 update — November 2025

The DfE released the national funding information for 2026-27 on 19" November 2025,
setting out the approach for mainstream schools and central services for the coming
financial year.

The total provisional core funding allocated through the Schools National Funding
Formula (NFF) for 2026-27 amounts to £50.9 billion, which reflects the annualisation
and incorporation of the former Schools Budget Support Grant (SBSG) and National
Insurance Contributions (NICs) Grant into the formula. This total includes mainstream
schools funding delivered via the NFF, alongside the separate allocations for High
Needs, the Central School Services Block (CSSB) and Pupil Premium.

Following the same principles used in preceding years, the Government has rolled
these grants into the NFF by applying adjustments to the basic per-pupil rates, the
FSM6 allocations, the lump sum, and the minimum per-pupil levels (MPPL). The
SBSG has been annualised to reflect a full-year equivalent, as opposed to the part-
year award provided in 2025-26 when it was used to support the teachers’ pay award.
Baselines have been uplifted accordingly.

The DfE published the “National Funding Formula for Schools 2026 to 2027” technical
note and policy guidance, which sets out the factor-level changes, the national
methodology and the revised rules for local formula construction. Full details are
attached at Appendix A.

Local authorities that do not fully mirror the NFF will again be required to move their
local formulae closer to national values. Havering already works on NFF factors and
rates and therefore continues to comply with these requirements.

The key updates for the national NFF rates (pre-ACA) for 2026-27 in the Schools
Block are as follows:

e The overall structure of the NFF remains unchanged, maintaining consistency
with the 2025-26 model.

e The Schools Budget Support Grant (SBSG) and the NICs Grant are rolled into
the NFF, with increased values applied to the basic entitlement, FSM6, Lump
Sum and MPPL.

e Most NFF factors receive a further 2.11% uplift, including basic entitlement,
FSM6, lump sum, IDACI, low prior attainment (LPA), EAL, mobility, sparsity and
split-site factors.

e The FSM factor receives a 1.66% uplift, aligned to inflation forecasts.

Page 7



e Updated MPPL values for 2026-27 are:
o £5,115 per primary pupil
o £6,640 per secondary pupil
These levels include the rolled-in SBSG and NICs Grant but no additional
inflationary uplift.

e The MFG range remains between —0.5% and 0%, consistent with the NFF
funding floor. The 2025-26 baseline used for MFG calculations incorporates the
rolled-in grants, ensuring all schools see a year-on-year funding increase.

e Growth Fund arrangements remain unchanged, following national guidance.

e Local authorities must again move factor values 10% closer to the national NFF
unless already mirroring it (the mirroring threshold remains within +2.5% of NFF
values, accounting for Area Cost Adjustment).

Although the DfE has set the top of the MFG range at 0.0%, schools will still receive
increased funding through the embedded grant values within their baseline allocations.
This ensures that funding previously delivered through temporary grant streams is now
permanently consolidated into core budgets.

As outlined, the updated indicative NFF funding rates for 2026-27 now incorporate
both the rolled-in grant funding and the inflationary uplift to factor values. These
revised rates will underpin the 2026-27 schools funding formula.

The updated indicative NFF and Havering (inclusive of ACA) values for the 2026-27
formula, alongside the 2024-25 and 2025-26 equivalent, are set out in Appendix B.

The DfE has indicated that further detailed guidance, along with final DSG allocations,
will be published in late November and December. These updates will be provided to
Schools Funding Forum members at the January 2026 meeting.

2. Universal Credit (UC) Roll-Out — Free School Meals Expansion Grant

In June 2025, the Government confirmed that from September 2026 the entitlement for
Free School Meals (FSM) will be extended to all children in households receiving
Universal Credit (UC). This represents a major expansion of eligibility and will
significantly increase the number of pupils qualifying for FSM nationally.

The DfE has confirmed that no changes will be made to the FSM factor within the NFF
for 2026-27 in relation to the UC roll-out. Instead, the increased entitlement will be
funded through a separate, dedicated FSM Expansion Grant in 2026-27, similar to the
operation of other in-year targeted grants that the DfE has previously introduced.

The policy note confirms the following:

e The FSM Expansion Grant will be new, ring-fenced funding for 2026-27.

e It will cover the additional number of pupils becoming eligible as a direct result
of UC entitlement.

e The DfE will publish details on the calculation methodology at a later date, once
national modelling of take-up rates and transitional protection arrangements has
been completed.

Page 8



e The grant will be provided to ensure schools are able to meet the costs of
providing meals to the expanded cohort without financial pressure.

e Funding will begin from the start of the 2026-27 academic year (September
2026), aligned to the policy implementation date for the UC roll-out.

e As per existing targeted grants, it is expected the funding will be issued directly
to schools (academies) or via local authorities (maintained schools).

At present, the DfE has not yet published:

e The per-pupil funding rate

e Whether transitional protection will be put in place

e Which data source and fields, that the funding will be linked to this new
entitlement (e.g. census data, real-time eligibility, or an alternative collection
method)

The timeline for releasing further information has not been disclosed, however it is
anticipated that it will be in Spring or Summer 2026 that the DfE releases further
details on this new grant.

3. De-delegation and Education Services consultation (Maintained Schools)

At the meeting held on 23rd October 2025, the Schools Funding Forum received a
report on the de-delegated and Education Services proposals for financial year 2026-
27. Following discussion at the meeting, the LA has consulted with Maintained Schools
for de-delegation and Education Services.

The Local Authority presented a consultation document for review by the Maintained
Schools for the services for 2026-27. The funding consultation was issued on 19th
November 2025 with a closing date of 26th November 2025. The consultation
document is shown at Appendix C.

The consultation was active at the time of preparing this paper, therefore the results of
the consultation will be provided to School Forum members to review before the
meeting is held.

Maintained schools School Forum members are to note the consultation responses
and to review the recommendation of de-delegation for the following services:

Insurance

Free school meals eligibility checking

Maternity Leave insurance

EAL Service

Trade Union Facility Time

Statutory and Regulatory Duties (Maintained Schools)
Core school improvement activities (SIMB)

Page 9



Schooé\g®ﬁﬂlaur|1tietmm5mber 2025 ltem 4 - Appendix A

Department
for Education

The national funding

formula for schools
2026 to 2027

November 2025

Page 10



Contents

List of Figures and Tables
Introduction
Section 1: The national funding formula for schools
Rolling the additional grant funding into the schools NFF
Increasing funding factor values
Rules governing local authority formulae
Other key features of the local funding formulae
Section 2: The national funding formula for central school services
The central school services block in 2026 to 2027
Ongoing responsibilities
Historic commitments
Annex A: The structure of the schools national funding formula
Overall design of the formula
Pupil-led factors
Basic entitlement
Additional needs factors
Deprivation
School-led factors
Lump Sum
Sparsity funding
Premises
Geographic funding
Area Cost Adjustment
Protective elements of the NFF
Minimum per pupil levels
The funding floor
Growth funding
Falling rolls funding
Annex B: Equalities Impact Assessment

Schools NFF

Increases to factor values and the rolling in of grants into the schools NFF

Tightening of local formula rules

Page 11

0o N O o o b

12
12
12
14
14
16
16
16
16
18
18
18
19
20
20
20
20
21
21
22
23
23

24



Central School Services Block NFF

Overall impact

Page 12

25
25



List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1: Current NFF Funding FacCtOrs..........coooiiiiiiiiiiee e 14
Table 1: Factor value uplifts from the rolling in of grants.............ccoooviiiii i 7
Table 2: Minimum per pupil (MPPL) funding uplifts due to grants..........c.cccooooriiiiiieeeenn. 7
Table 3: Factor values and total spend in 2026 t0 2027 ..........coveeeiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee, 10
Table 4: The IDACI bands are set out in the table below...............cccccoiiiiiis 17

Page 13



Introduction

1. This document sets out how the funding will be allocated through the national
funding formulae (NFFs) for schools and central school services for 2026 to 2027. Details
on the allocations of high needs funding for 2026 to 2027 will be published at a later date.

2. Total provisional funding for mainstream schools through the schools NFF will total
£50.9 billion in 2026 to 2027. This includes funding that was allocated in 2025 to 2026
through the schools budget support grant (SBSG) and National Insurance Contributions
(NICs) Grant, which has been “rolled in” to the schools NFF in 2026 to 2027 to help
simplify the funding system. On top of this rolled in funding, factor values in the school
NFF have been increased, with details of the uplifts provided below.

3. In 2026 to 2027, local funding formulae will continue to determine funding
allocations for individual schools, but as in recent years local authorities which are not
already “mirroring” the NFF will be required to move their factor values at least 10%
closer to the NFF values than the previous year.

4, Central school services funding funds local authorities for the ongoing
responsibilities they continue to have for all schools, and some historic commitments
entered into before 2013 to 2014. The total provisional funding for ongoing
responsibilities is £379 million in 2026 to 2027.

5. Final allocations of mainstream schools and central schools services funding for
2026 to 2027 will be calculated in December 2025, based on the latest pupil data at that
point, when we announce local authorities’ Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocations.

6. In June 2025, the government announced that, starting from September 2026,
Free School Meals (FSM) will be extended to all children in households receiving
Universal Credit (UC). For 2026 to 2027, we are not proposing any changes to the
schools NFF FSM allocations through the DSG. Instead, the additional funding for the
FSM expansion will be provided through a separate grant. Further details on how this
grant will be calculated will be published separately in due course.

Page 14



Section 1: The national funding formula for schools

7. For 2026 to 2027, we are making no changes to the structure of the schools
National Funding Formula (NFF), with the same factors used in the formula as in 2025 to
2026. A full description of the 2026 to 2027 schools NFF is set out in Annex A. Further
detail on the methodology used for the schools NFF is set out in the 2026 to 2027 NFF
technical note.

Rolling the additional grant funding into the schools NFF

8. The mainstream schools elements of the Schools Budget Support Grant (SBSG)
and the National Insurance Contribution (NICs) grant are being rolled into the schools
NFF for 2026 to 2027.

9. The approach to rolling in these grants is very similar to how earlier grants were
rolled into the 2025 to 2026 NFF. We have rolled in the grants in three ways, to reflect
the three different ways in which schools attract funding through the NFF:

. Increasing the basic entitlement, FSM6 and the lump sum factor values for
schools funded through the main formula factors (before protections);

. Increasing the minimum per pupil levels; and

. Increasing the baseline for each school, which is used to calculate funding

protections for schools funded through the funding floor.

10. Table 1 below shows the amounts that have been added to the core factor values
in respect of the grants. These same amounts have been used when uplifting each
school’s baseline in the NFF. For the NICs grant, these are simply the funding rates from
the respective factors in the NICs grant. For the SBSG, the amounts that are added to
the NFF factor values reflect the “full year equivalent” of the SBSG funding rates. This
means that the SBSG funding in the table below is higher than the funding rates that
were actually used for the 2025 to 2026 SBSG, as the latter supported schools with the
part-year costs of the 2025 teachers pay award.

11.  The existing Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) calculation within the NFF ensures that
the per pupil rates added to these factors are uplifted to reflect geographical variation in
labour market costs, as is currently the case with the grants.

Page 15


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2026-to-2027

Table 1: Factor value uplifts from the rolling in of grants

Factor SBSG NICs Total
(annualised)| grant

Primary basic per- £55 £78 £133

pupil

KS3 basic per-pupil £78 £68 £146

KS4 basic per-pupil £88 £77 £165

Primary FSM6 per- £49 £75 £124

pupil

Secondary £72 £60 £132

FSM6 per-pupil

Lump sum £2086 | £2400 | £4486

12. Table 2 below shows the amounts added to the schools NFF minimum per pupil
levels in respect of the grants. It reflects the amount of funding allocated through the
NICs grant in 2025 to 2026, as well as the full year equivalent of the SBSG.

Table 2: Minimum per pupil (MPPL) funding uplifts due to grants

Uplifts for 2025-26
SBSG and NICs grant

Primary MPPL £160
Secondary MPPL £175

13.  The rolling in of these grants into the schools’ notional NFF allocations will affect
the core budgets that maintained schools will receive from April 2026, and that
academies will receive from September 2026. Because of this, academies will receive
further grant payments for the period April 2026 to August 2026.

Increasing funding factor values

14.  Almost all factor values in the schools NFF have increased from 2025 to 2026.
The amount of the increase varies between factors:

Page 16



e The basic entitlement values, FSM6 values, the lump sum and the minimum
per pupil funding values have increased to reflect the rolling in of the Schools
Budget Support Grant (SBSG) and the National Insurance Contribution (NICs)
Grant from 2025 to 2026, as covered in the section above.

e On top of this, a further 2.11% increase has been applied to the basic
entitlement; FSM6 values and the lump sum factors.

e A 2.11% increase has also been applied to the IDACI, low prior attainment
(LPA), English as an Additional Language (EAL), mobility, sparsity and split
sites factors.

e A 1.66% uplift has been applied to the FSM factor in the NFF, in line with
inflation forecasts — as of the GDP deflator forecast of March 2025.

15.  All primary schools will attract at least £5115 per pupil, and all secondary schools
at least £6640 per pupil — the minimum per pupil funding levels incorporate the rolled in
SBSG and NICs Grant funding, but no further percentage uplift has been applied to the
minimum per pupil funding levels for 2026 to 2027.

16. All 2026 to 2027 factor values can be seen in table 3 below.

17.  The funding floor will continue to protect schools from sudden drops in their
funding. The 2026 to 2027 NFF funding floor is set at 0%. This ensures that no school
will see a cash reduction in its pupil-led per pupil funding they attract, compared to the
2025 to 2026 baseline. For 2026 to 2027 the baseline includes rolled in funding to reflect
the NICs Grant and the annualised equivalent of the SBSG.

18.  Because of this baseline uplift, the 0% floor in 2026 to 2027 still incorporates a
year-on-year increase in funding compared to what schools attracted in 2025 to 2026.

19.  Premises funding for exceptional circumstances and business rates will continue
to be given at the local authority level, based on the amounts reported by local authorities
in their 2025 to 2026 local funding formulae, as recorded in the 2025 to 2026 Authority
Proforma Tool (APT).

Rules governing local authority formulae

20. The responsibility for deciding local funding formulae rests with local authorities for
mainstream schools in their area for 2026 to 2027. The funding levels that schools, both
maintained schools and academies, receive will be decided by the respective local
formulae.

21. In 2026 to 2027 local authorities must move their local formulae factor values at
least a further 10% closer to the corresponding NFF values, compared to the previous
year, except where their local formula is already ‘mirroring’ the NFF.

Page 17



22.  Local authorities must comply with the national requirements for growth and falling
rolls funding as set out in the growth and falling rolls guidance.

23.  Further details on the tightening requirements for local formulae with guidance for
local authorities are set out in the schools operational guide. We have also published the
allowable factor values for 2026 to 2027 for each local authority here.

Other key features of the local funding formulae

24.  Local authorities will continue to set a minimum funding guarantee in local
formulae, which in 2026 to 2027 must be between 0% and -0.5%. This allows them to
match the funding floor protection in the NFF, which is set at 0%.

25.  Local authorities will again be able to transfer up to 0.5% of their total schools
block allocations to other blocks of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), with schools
forum approval. A disapplication will continue to be required for transfers above 0.5%, or
for any amount without schools forum approval. The criteria the Department apply when
considering such requests are available in the schools operational guide.

26. Local authorities should continue to review the methodology used to calculate
schools’ notional Special Educational Needs (SEN) budgets, ensuring that allocations are
proportionate to both the incidence and associated costs of pupils receiving SEN Support
and that they meet the additional support costs of up to £6,000 per pupil for those with
more complex needs. More guidance for local authorities is published here: Pre-16
schools funding: local authority guidance for 2026 to 2027 - GOV.UK.

Page 18


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027/schools-operational-guide-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027/schools-operational-guide-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027

Table 3: Factor values and total spend in 2026 to 2027

Unit Values | Total Funding (incl. ACA) | Proportion of core total
Basic per pupil Funding £37,719 m 74.3%
Basic entitlement £37,634 m 74.1%
Primary basic entitlement £4,064 £18,218 m 35.9%
KS3 basic entitlement £5,686 £11,241 m 22.1%
KS4 basic entitlement £6,410 £8,176 m 16.1%
Minimum per pupil £85 m 0.2%
Primary Minimum Per Pupil funding £5,115 £70 m 0.1%
Secondary Minimum Per Pupil funding £6,640 £15m 0.0%
Additional Needs Funding £9,192 m 18.1%
Deprivation £5,595 m 11.0%
Primary FSM £505 £564 m 1.1%
Secondary FSM £505 £446 m 0.9%
Primary FSM6 £1,210 £1,376 m 2.7%
Secondary FSM6 £1,725 £1,616 m 3.2%
Primary IDACI A £700 £105m 0.2%
Primary IDACI B £530 £151m 0.3%
Primary IDACI C £500 £139m 0.3%
Primary IDACI D £455 £122 m 0.2%
Primary IDACI E £290 £147 m 0.3%
Primary IDACI F £240 £116 m 0.2%
Secondary IDACI A £970 £101 m 0.2%
Secondary IDACI B £760 £157 m 0.3%
Secondary IDACI C £710 £143 m 0.3%
Secondary IDACI D £650 £125m 0.2%
Secondary IDACI E £460 £168 m 0.3%
Secondary IDACI F £345 £119m 0.2%
Low Prior Attainment £2,933 m 5.8%
Primary LPA £1,200 £1667 m 3.3%
Secondary LPA £1,825 £1267 m 2.5%
English as an Additional Language £572 m 1.1%
Primary EAL £610 £383 m 0.8%
Secondary EAL £1,630 £189 m 0.4%
Mobility £91'm 0.2%
Primary Mobility £985 £67 m 0.1%
Secondary Mobility £1,415 £24 m 0.0%
School-Led Funding £3,249 m 6.4%
Lump Sum £3,145m 6.2%
Primary lump sum £152,700 £2,624 m 5.2%
Secondary lump sum £152,700 £521 m 1.0%
Sparsity £104 m 0.2%
Primary sparsity £58,600 £99 m 0.2%
Secondary sparsity £85,200 £5 m 0.0%
Premises £598 m 1.2%
Split sites £82,700 £37 m 0.1%
Area Cost Adjustment: Multiplier applied to basic entitlement, additional
needs, school-led funding and split sites (it is included in the factor subtotals)
Core total (excl. funding floor) £50,758 m
Floor £162 m
Primary floor funding £81 m
Secondary floor funding £81 m
Total £50,919 m

Page 19




27. Table 3 shows the unit values, total funding and proportion of funding for each
factor in the formula. The total funding for each factor is rounded to the nearest £1
million, and the proportion of the total is rounded to the nearest 0.1%. The total funding
and proportions quoted for groups of factors have been calculated based on the
underlying unrounded figures. The secondary minimum per pupil factor value is based on
a standard secondary school with five-year groups. The sparsity unit values correspond
to the maximum a school can attract for these factors, and the split sites unit value to the
maximum amount an additional site can attract through the basic eligibility and distance
funding combined.

Page 20



Section 2: The national funding formula for central
school services

The central school services block in 2026 to 2027

28.  The central school services block (CSSB) within the DSG provides funding for
local authorities to deliver central functions on behalf of maintained schools and
academies. The block will continue to consist of two elements: ongoing responsibilities
and historic commitments. For the 2026 to 2027 financial year, the funding formula will
remain unchanged from the 2025 to 2026 approach.

Ongoing responsibilities

29. The CSSB will continue to fund local authorities for the ongoing responsibilities
they deliver for all pupils in maintained schools and academies. The total provisional
funding for ongoing responsibilities is £379 million in 2026 to 2027. This includes funding
for the rolling in of the centrally employed staff elements of both the SBSG and NICs
grant into the CSSB for 2026 to 2027 — with the SBSG grant element recalculated on a
full-year basis. Funding for ongoing responsibilities in the CSSB is calculated using a
simple per pupil formula, the structure of which is unchanged from 2025 to 2026. 90% of
the funding will be distributed through a basic per pupil factor, and 10% of the funding
through a deprivation factor based on the proportion of pupils eligible for free school
meals within the past six years (FSMG6) in mainstream schools.

30. Local authorities will continue to be protected so that the maximum per pupil year-
on-year reduction in funding for ongoing responsibilities is at -2.5%, while the year-on-
year gains cap will be set at the highest affordable rate, of 2.13 %.

31.  Further detail on the methodology used for the CSSB formula is set out in the
2026 to 2027 NFF CSSB technical note.

Historic commitments

32. A 20% reduction has been applied to historic commitments funding since 2020 to
2021. From 2026 to 2027 onwards, we will reduce historic commitment funding from the
fixed baseline of 2025 to 2026 (rather than simply the baseline of the immediately
preceding year, as previously).

33.  We will continue to protect the elements of CSSB relating to prudential borrowing
and termination of employment costs that were in place prior to April 2013. It is expected
that this will continue to reduce year by year, as they conclude. It is the responsibility of
local authorities to claim from the department for these costs, which will form part of the

Page 21


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2026-to-2027

DSG adjustment in March 2026. Further information on this process is included in the
schools operational guide.

34. Itis our intention that the 20% reduction from the 2025 to 2026 baseline will mean
that from April 2030 only residual protected historical commitment funding will continue to
be funded. This is subject to reviews of funding in subsequent years.

35.  Local authorities must not exceed the previous year’s expenditure on these
historic commitments. However, with the approval of the schools forum, an authority may
sustain this level of spending by using alternative funding sources, should they choose to
do so.

Page 22


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027/schools-operational-guide-2026-to-2027

Annex A: The structure of the schools national funding
formula

Overall design of the formula

1. We use the schools National Funding Formula (NFF) to calculate the core funding
allocated to each local authority for 5 to 16-year-old pupils in mainstream schools. Local
authorities then use their own formulae, within certain constraints, which determine the
distribution of this funding to maintained schools and academies in their area.

2. The NFF is made up of 14 factors, as illustrated in the diagram below.

Figure 1: Current NFF Funding Factors

Basic per Basic entitlement
pupil funding
Additi : Low brior English as an
g 'f'°“da_ Deprivation attainrr)nent additional Mobility
needs funding language
Premises
School-led Lump .
S t . G th
funding Sum parsity Rates T Split sites Except_lonal LA
premises
Geogr?phlc Area Cost Adjustment
funding
Protecftion Minimum per pupil level Funding floor
funding
3. The above figure, which is not to scale, illustrates the factors that are used when

calculating schools block DSG funding allocations through the NFF. “Growth” funding is
included in this diagram — it is not a factor within the NFF, but is allocated to local
authorities in the DSG allocations.

4. Approximately 92.4% of the school’s NFF funding is allocated through ‘pupil-led’
factors. The ‘pupil-led’ factors are determined by pupil numbers and pupils’
characteristics. Most of this funding is allocated through the basic entitlement factor,

Page 23



which all pupils attract. The NFF allocates the rest of ‘pupil-led’ funding towards
additional needs.

5. Evidence shows that pupils with additional needs are more likely to fall behind and
need extra support to reach their full potential. This is why the NFF allocates 18.1% of all
funding through additional needs factors based on deprivation, low prior attainment,
English as an additional language and mobility.

6. Pupils attract funding for all the factors for which they are eligible. A pupil currently
eligible for FSM attracts the amount provided through the FSM factor as well as the
amount through the FSMG6 factor. This also applies for children with any combination of
multiple additional needs. That is not intended to imply that all such funding should be
dedicated to the pupil who attracts it. An individual child who attracts deprivation funding,
for example, may need more, or less, support than the sum that they attract in the NFF.
Rather, these additional needs factors are predominantly “proxy” factors, using the
overall incidence of particular pupil characteristics to identify how much additional funding
a school is likely to need, in total.

7. ‘School-led’ funding is allocated through various factors according to a school’s
characteristics. In the 2026 to 2027 NFF, all schools attract a lump sum of £152,700.
Small and remote schools attract additional support through the sparsity factor. Other
school-led funding reflects costs associated with a school’s premises and overheads
through four separate factors: rates, split sites, private finance initiative (PFI) and
exceptional circumstances.

8. An area cost adjustment (ACA) is applied as a multiplier to formula allocations to
reflect higher costs in some parts of the country, due to differences in salary costs.

9. Finally, the formula offers two different forms of protection for schools:

e The minimum per pupil level guarantees a minimum amount of funding for
every pupil. Any school whose formula allocation is below the minimum per
pupil level attracts a top up to the minimum levels.

e The funding floor protects schools from sudden drops in their funding, by
ensuring that no school attracts less pupil-led per pupil funding compared to
the previous year’s baseline.

10.  The following sections give more detail on the design of the individual factors
within the schools NFF.

Page 24



Pupil-led factors

Basic entitlement

11.  74.1% of the schools NFF is allocated through the basic entitlement, which every
pupil attracts. The amount varies by age. In the 2026 to 2027 NFF pupils in Reception to
Year 6 attract £4,064; pupils in Year 7 to Year 9 attract £5,686 and pupils in Years 10
and 11 attract £6,410.

Additional needs factors

Deprivation

12. The NFF allocates 11.0% of all its funding to deprived pupils. Pupil deprivation is
based on three deprivation measures — current Free School Meal (FSM) eligibility, FSM
eligibility at any time in the last 6 years (“FSM6”), and the level of deprivation in the
postcode where the pupil lives, which is measured using the Income Deprivation
Affecting Children Index (IDACI).

Free School Meals

13.  Schools attract £505 for all primary and secondary pupils who are recorded as
eligible for free school meals (FSM), as set out in the eligibility criteria at Free school
meals: guidance for schools and local authorities - GOV.UK. This funding is broadly
intended to cover the cost of providing free meals for each eligible pupil. As set out
above, funding for free school meals of pupils eligible through the expanded entitlement
from 2026 will be allocated through a separate grant.

FSM eligibility at any time in the last 6 years

14.  All pupils who are recorded as eligible for free school meals, or who have been at
any point in the last six years, attract funding through the “FSM6” factor. Schools attract
£1,210 for each primary pupil and £1,725 for each secondary pupil eligible for FSM6
funding.

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index

15.  Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) funding is based on the
IDACI 2019 area-based index measuring the relative deprivation of Lower-layer Super
Output Areas (LSOAs). For the NFF, the IDACI ranks are divided into seven bands A to
G, with A representing the most deprived areas and G the least deprived. Additional
funding is targeted towards pupils in bands A-F, with more funding directed to pupils in
the more deprived bands. The boundaries of these bands are based on the proportions
of LSOAs (small areas) in each band and are defined by rank.

Page 25


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/free-school-meals-guidance-for-schools-and-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/free-school-meals-guidance-for-schools-and-local-authorities

Table 4: The IDACI bands are set out in the table below
Band A B C D E F G

Proportion 2.5% 5% 5% 5% 10% 10% | 62.5%
of LSOASs in
each band

Primary unit £700 £530( £500 £455 1 £290 £240 £0
value

Secondary £970 £760( £710 £650| £460 £345 £0
unit value

16. Table 4 shows that 2.5 % of LSOAs are placed in IDACI band A which attracts the
highest funding, 5% in IDACI band B attracting the second highest level of funding, and
so forth. 62.5% of LSOAs are in band G which does not attract any additional funding.

Low Prior Attainment

17.  We are allocating 5.8% of the NFF in respect to pupils with low prior attainment
(LPA).

18.  Primary school pupils who have not achieved the expected level of development in
the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile assessment (EYFSP) and secondary pupils
who have not achieved the expected standard in Key Stage 2 at reading, writing or maths
attract £1,200 and £1,825 respectively.

English as an additional language

19.  The pupils eligible to attract funding through the NFF English as an additional
language (EAL) factor are those recorded as having entered state education in England
during the last three years, and whose first language is not English. 1.1% of the NFF is
allocated through the EAL factor.

20. Schools attract £610 for all EAL-eligible primary pupils, and £1,630 for all EAL-
eligible secondary pupils.

Mobility

21.  0.2% of the total NFF funding is allocated in respect of pupils eligible for mobility
funding. The mobility factor supports schools in which a significant proportion of pupils
join the school part way through the year.

22.  Pupils are considered mobile if they have joined the school in the academic year
at a non-standard time within the past three years. Schools attract £985 per eligible

Page 26



primary pupil, and £1,415 per eligible secondary pupil above a threshold of 6% of the
school’s pupil numbers (i.e., where more than 6% of a school’s pupil are classified as
mobile).

School-led factors

Lump Sum

23.  Every school attracts a lump sum of £152,700 through the NFF irrespective of its
size or phase. The total spend on the lump sum represents 6.2% of the NFF.

Sparsity funding

24.  0.2% of the NFF is allocated through the sparsity factor, for small and remote
schools.

25.  Eligibility for sparsity funding depends on the distance the pupils living closest to
the school would have to travel to their next nearest compatible school, and the average
number of pupils per year group.

26. A school is eligible for sparsity funding if:

a. For all the pupils for whom it is the nearest “compatible” school, the average
distance (as measured by road) from the pupils’ homes to the second nearest compatible
school is above the relevant distance threshold. The main distance thresholds are 3
miles for secondary schools and 2 miles for all other schools, with the distance threshold
taper set at 20% below each threshold (2.4 miles at secondary, 1.6 miles for other
schools).

b. The average year group size is below the appropriate year group threshold. This
threshold is 21.4 for primary schools, 69.2 for middle schools, 120 for secondary schools
and 62.5 for all-through schools.

27.  Primary schools qualifying for sparsity funding attract up to £58,600 and all other
eligible schools up to £85,200.

28.  Schools with a lower number of pupils attract a higher amount than those closer to
the year group threshold. In addition, schools with a sparsity distance between the
distance threshold taper and main distance threshold will attract some sparsity funding —
tapered by both size and how far away from the main distance threshold they are. Of two
schools of the same size, one closer to the main threshold would attract more. The
distance threshold taper mitigates the risk of year-on-year fluctuations in sparsity
eligibility having a significant impact on a school’s sparsity funding.

Page 27



Premises

29. The NFF allocates funding to reflect the costs associated with a school’s premises
and overheads.

Rates

30. Forlocal accounting purposes, rates funding allocations will continue to feature in
NFF allocation publications for all schools. From 2022 to 2023, the payment of business
rates for local authorities whose billing authority or billing authorities are on the central
payment system has been centralised, with the Department paying rates directly to billing
authorities on behalf of schools. For local authorities whose billing authority or billing
authorities are not on the central payment process, the Department will continue to
allocate funding for business rates on a lagged basis, to enable schools to cover their
liabilities.

PFI

31. In calculating a school’s PFI funding, the lower of the local authority’s 2025 to
2026 PFI premises factor and the school’s PFI funding from the 2025 to 2026 NFF is
taken as the baseline for calculating the 2026 to 2027 PFI factor. This baseline is then
uplifted in line with the Retail Prices Index excluding mortgage interest payments (RPIX)
growth.

32.  For schools whose contracts are coming to an end during the 2026 to 2027
financial year, funding is calculated on a pro-rata basis for the part of the year when the
contract is still in place.

33. Exceptions are made where the Department has approved applications for higher
increases from local authorities. Such applications are subject to certain criteria being
met and must be supported by an affordability model substantiating the amount claimed.

Split Sites

34. The split sites factor targets extra funding to schools which operate across more
than one site. Schools attract a £55,100 lump sum payment for each of their additional
eligible sites — up to a maximum of three sites.

35. In addition, schools whose sites are separated by more than 100 meters attract
split site distance funding. The distance funding varies depending on how far apart the
sites are, up to a maximum of £27,600 for sites which are at least 500 meters away from
the main site. Where a school has more than three sites, the three sites being furthest
away from the main site are used to calculate the funding.

Exceptional Circumstances

36. The exceptional circumstances factor is included in the formula so that, where
local authorities have had approval from the Department to direct additional funding to a

Page 28



small number of schools with significant additional costs, this is taken into account when
determining their funding. Local authorities receive funding for this factor on the basis of
their spend in the previous year.

Geographic funding

Area Cost Adjustment

37.  The area cost adjustment (ACA) in the schools NFF reflects variations in labour
market costs across the country by taking into account the general labour market trends
and the particular salary variations in the teaching workforce.

38. It is a combination of:

a) A teacher pay cost adjustment, to reflect the differences in the basic pay ranges
between the four regional pay bands for teachers and

b) A general labour market (GLM) cost adjustment, to reflect geographical variation
in wage costs for non-teaching staff.

39. The NFF’s ACA is calculated for each local authority by:

a) Weighting the relevant teacher-specific cost adjustment in line with the national
proportion of spend on teaching staff in mainstream schools (51.74%).

b) Weighting the relevant GLM labour cost adjustment in line with the national
proportion of spend on non-teaching staff in mainstream schools (28.85%).

40. Nationally the schools block ACA ranges between 1.00 and 1.18. Some local
authorities — those that are partly in ‘London Fringe’ areas — have one ACA for schools in
the fringe part of the authority, and a different ACA for the schools in the non-fringe area.

Protective elements of the NFF

Minimum per pupil levels

41.  The minimum per pupil level (MPPL) guarantees a minimum amount of funding for
every pupil. Any school whose formula allocation is below the MPPL attracts a top up to
the minimum levels.

42. The MPPL varies from school to school depending on the year groups they have.
The unit values per year group are £5,115 for primary year groups, £6,388 for KS3 and
£7,018 for KS4. Each school’'s MPPL is calculated as a weighted average of the number
of year groups they have.

Page 29



43.  This means that the MPPL is £5,115 for primary schools, and £6,640 for
secondary schools with year groups 7 to 11. For middle schools and all- through schools,
an MPPL is set based on the specific year groups that they educate.

44. The MPPL values are compulsory in local authority funding formulae, which
determine actual funding allocations for maintained schools and academies. Academy
trusts have flexibilities over how the funding they are allocated in respect of their
individual academies is then distributed across academies in their trust.

45.  This means that, in some cases, an academy could receive a lower per pupil
funding amount than the MPPL value. This may reflect, for example, activities that are
paid for by the trust centrally, rather than by individual academies.

The funding floor

46. The funding floor ensures that a school’s funding is protected year-on-year,
preventing schools from seeing sudden drops in their funding even where the core
formula factors indicate that their funding would otherwise be lower.

47. In 2026 to 2027, the floor is set at 0%. This ensures that no school will see a drop
in the amount of pupil-led per pupil funding they attract, compared to the 2025 to 2026
baseline.

48.  Local authority funding formulae must include a minimum funding guarantee
(MFG) that works in a similar way to the funding floor. In 2026 to 2027, the MFG can be
set between 0 % and -0.5%. Further guidance on how the MFG works can be found in
the schools operational guide: 2026 to 2027.

Growth funding

49.  In addition to the funding allocated through the schools NFF formula factors
described above, we also provide growth funding to local authorities to manage
increases in pupil numbers. School funding operates on a lagged funding basis whereby
schools receive funding in a given year based on pupil numbers from the year before.
Local authorities can use the growth funding they are allocated to support schools to
manage an increase in pupil numbers before the lagged funding system has caught up.

50.  Growth funding is distributed based on the actual growth that local authorities
experience for each year. It is based on the observed differences between the primary
and secondary number on roll in each local authority between the most recent October
school census, and the census in the previous October.

Local authorities’ growth funds can only be used to:

o Support growth in pre-16 pupil numbers to meet basic need.

Page 30


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2026-to-2027

o Support additional classes needed to meet the infant class size regulation.
o Meet the revenue cost of new schools

51.  Local authorities must continue to provide growth funding where a school or
academy has agreed with the local authority to provide an extra class in order to meet
basic need in the area (either as a bulge class or as an ongoing commitment).

52.  Local authorities have to provide funding that is at least that calculated through
using the following formula:

Primary Growth Factor value (£1,570) * Number of Pupils * ACA

53. Funding for maintained schools is provided to cover the period from September to
March before the lagged funding system ‘catches up’ from the subsequent April through
the subsequent year’'s NFF. Since academies are funded on an academic year basis,
they would receive additional funding (at a rate of an additional 5/7 of the allocation) to
cover a full year’s growth funding before the system ‘catches up'.

Falling rolls funding

54.  Alongside growth funding, we also allocate funding to local authorities on the basis
of falling rolls.

55.  Falling rolls funding is distributed on the basis of the reduction in pupil numbers
that local authorities experience for each year. It is based on the observed differences
between the primary and secondary number on roll in each local authority between the
most recent October school census, and the census in the previous October.

56. Local authorities will continue to have discretion over whether or not to operate a
falling rolls fund within their local formulae. Where local authorities operate a falling rolls
fund, they will only be able to provide funding where the most recent school capacity data
(SCAP) shows that school places will be required in 2026 to 2027 and/or the subsequent
two years.

Page 31



Annex B: Equalities Impact Assessment

1. The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
requires the Secretary of State to give due regard to achieving the following objectives in
exercising their functions:

o eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010;

o advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

o foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected

characteristic and persons who do not share it.

2. We have considered the impact on persons who share any of the protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. We have
focused on those protected characteristics for which the impact is largest, and which are
most closely tied to the distributional policy choices we are making. We use incidence of
SEND as a proxy for disability in this analysis, as the two are highly correlated, and
ethnicity as a proxy for race.

3. The NFFs were introduced in 2018 to 2019 after significant consultation and a full
equalities impact assessment was published at that time. The design of the NFFs stays

largely unchanged, and so we have focused this assessment primarily on the key policy
changes that are being made in 2026 to 2027.

Schools NFF

Increases to factor values and the rolling in of grants into the schools
NFF

4. Increases to the NFF factor values mean that all schools which are funded through
the main formula factors (that is all schools except those funded through the minimum
per pupil levels or the floor) will attract more funding in 2026 to 2027 than they would
have done without an increase.

5. We are rolling the SBSG and NICs grant into the schools NFF in such a way that
the added NFF funding schools and local authorities receive is as similar as possible to
the funding they would receive if the grants were not rolled in. The method for rolling in

the grants will therefore be expected to have a neutral impact on equalities.

6. As a result of the rolling in of the grants, different NFF factors are being increased
by different amounts. The FSMG6 factor is increasing the most (in percentage terms),
followed by the basic entitlement and the lump sum. Other additional needs factors are

Page 32



increasing by a lower proportion than the FSMG6 factor, since the previous grants used
FSMG6 as a proxy for additional needs more widely.

7. The exact impact on pupils and schools will depend on the local formulae, but on
average:

a) The FSMG6 factor value is increasing by a higher proportion than other factors, and
as a result, the proportion of funding allocated through the FSM6 factor in the schools
NFF is increasing. This will tend to have a positive impact on equalities as there is a
positive correlation between pupils attracting FSM6 funding and pupils with SEND.

b) The low prior attainment (LPA) factor, IDACI factor, and English as an additional
language (EAL) factor will also rise by 2.11% compared to their 2025 to 2026 values.

c) As there is a positive correlation between pupils attracting these factors and pupils
with SEND and certain ethnic minorities, this will tend to have a positive impact on
equalities compared to if no increase had been made, or if these factors were increased
by a lower percentage.

d) The funding floor is set at 0% for 2026 to 2027, as in the previous year. Schools
funded through the funding floor tend to be in urban areas and have a higher proportion
of pupils from ethnic minority backgrounds because these areas are more ethnically
diverse. They also have a higher occurrence of non-Christian faith schools. While these
schools will see lower-than-average increases in funding in 2026 to 2027, they still have
higher than average levels of funding. The lower-than-average funding increase for these
schools is therefore necessary to overcome historic discrepancies in funding and ensure
that funding is distributed fairly based on pupil needs and characteristics, including by
ensuring that funding can be fairly directed to areas seeing relative increases in levels of
deprivation and other additional needs.

8. Overall, we expect the equalities impact of the increases to the 2026 to 2027
schools NFF factor values to be positive, in comparison with the 2025 to 2026 NFF.
Additional needs factors in the NFF are increasing by a higher percentage in 2026 to
2027 than in 2025 to 2026 — which will tend to have positive impact on pupils with
disabilities - while the funding floor remains at the same level as in 2025 to 2026.

Tightening of local formula rules

9. Local authorities are still required to bring their funding formulae closer to the
National Funding Formula (NFF), using the same approach as previously used.

10.  Most local authorities already mirror the NFF, so the tightening requirements for
2026 to 2027 will only affect the minority of local authorities who do not currently mirror
the NFF in their local formula.

Page 33



11.  Our expectation is that moving local formulae closer to the NFF will create a fairer
and more consistent distribution of funding that is more closely aligned to need. However,
the exact impact will depend on how local authorities respond to the tightening
requirements, and how they use their remaining formula flexibilities.

Central School Services Block NFF

12.  The formula that allocates the central school services block funding is unchanged
for 2026 to 2027; we do not expect this to have an impact on different groups of pupils,
including those with protected characteristics.

13.  We will continue to reduce the funding for historical commitments by 20%, while
keeping the protections for prudential borrowing and staff termination costs relating to
commitments made before April 2013. This funding has been reducing since 2020 to
2021, and so we judge that local authorities have adequate time to mitigate any negative
impacts in terms of equalities.

Overall impact

14.  Our assessment is that the distribution of the available funding for mainstream
schools and local authorities in 2026 to 2027 will, compared with the 2025 to 2026 NFFs,
not have an overall adverse impact on mainstream school pupils with protected
characteristics, and have a positive impact on those children and young people identified
as having SEND (which includes those with disabilities).

15.  The allocation of funding in 2026 to 2027 means a larger increase in additional
needs factors within the schools NFF compared to the previous year. This will tend to
benefit pupils with SEND (including those with disabilities), and will support mainstream
schools to being inclusive for pupils with SEND. A further impact assessment will be
produced alongside the confirmation of high needs funding allocations for 2026 to 2027.

Page 34



ot

epartment
for Education

© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0,
except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit
nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3.

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information, you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

About this publication:

enquiries https://www.gov.uk/contact-dfe
download www.gov.uk/government/publications

Follow us on X: @educationgovuk
Connect with us on Facebook: facebook.com/educationgovuk

Page 35


http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
https://www.gov.uk/contact-dfe
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk

Schools Funding Forum 27th November 2025 Item 4 - Appendix B

Schools Block - Main Formula - APT - NFF Indicative rates 2026-27

-

[Area Cost Adjustment 1.08352 1.08335 1.08291 1.08352 1.08335 1.08291 |
|Factor | | Primary | Secondary |
[ 2024-25 [ | 2025-26 projected | % change| 2026-27 projected [ % change| 2024-25 | | 2025-26 projected | %change| | 2026-27 projected [ % change)|
NFF LBH NFF LBH LBH NFF LBH LBH NFF LBH NFF LBH LBH NFF LBH LBH
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Basic per pupil 3,562.00 3,859.50 3,847.00 4,167.65 7.98 4,064.00 4,403.43 5.66 KS3 5,022.00 5,441.44 5,422.00 5,873.93 7.95 5,686.00 6,157.43 4.83
KS4 5,661.00 6,133.81 6,113.00 6,622.52 7.97 6,410.00 6,941.45 4.82
excl other grants (below) 3,443.00 3,730.56 3,634.00 3,936.90 5.53 3,931.00 4,256.92 8.13 KS3 4,854.00 5,259.41 5,122.00 5,548.92 5.50 5,540.00 5,999.32 8.12
KS4 5,471.00 5,927.94 5,774.00 6,255.27 5.52 6,245.00 6,762.77 8.11
Free School Meals 490.00 530.92 495.00 536.26 1.01 505.00 547.18 2.04 490.00 530.92 495.00 536.26 1.01 505.00 546.87 1.98
FSM Ever 6 820.00 888.49 1,060.00 1,148.35 29.25 1,210.00 1,311.06 14.17 1,200.00 1,300.22 1,555.00 1,684.61 29.56 1,725.00 1,868.02 10.89
excl MSAG 716.00 775.80 820.00 888.35 14.51 1,148.35 1,244.27 40.06 1,047.99 1,135.52 1,200.00 1,300.02 14.49 1,593.00 1,725.08 32.70
IDACI A 680.00 736.79 685.00 742.09 0.72 700.00 758.46 221 945.00 1,023.93 950.00 1,029.18 0.51 970.00 1,050.42 2.06
IDACI B 515.00 558.01 520.00 563.34 0.96 530.00 574.27 1.94 740.00 801.80 745.00 807.10 0.66 760.00 823.01 1.97
IDACI C 485.00 525.51 490.00 530.84 1.01 500.00 541.76 2.06 690.00 747.63 695.00 752.93 0.71 710.00 768.87 212
IDACI D 445.00 482.17 445.00 482.09 -0.02 455.00 493.00 2.26 630.00 682.62 635.00 687.93 0.78 650.00 703.89 2.32
IDACI E 285.00 308.80 285.00 308.75 -0.02 290.00 314.22 1.77 450.00 487.58 450.00 487.50 -0.02 460.00 498.14 2.18
IDACI F 235.00 254.63 235.00 254.59 -0.02 240.00 260.04 2.14 340.00 368.40 340.00 368.34 -0.02 345.00 373.60 1.43
Low Prior Attainment 1,170.00 1,267.72 1,175.00 1,272.94 0.41 1,200.00 1,300.22 2.14 1,775.00 1,923.25 1,785.00 1,933.78 0.55 1,825.00 1,976.31 2.20
EAL 590.00 639.28 595.00 644.59 0.83 610.00 660.95 2.54 1,585.00 1,717.38 1,595.00 1,727.94 0.62 1,630.00 1,765.14 2.15
Mobility 960.00 1,040.18 965.00 1,045.43 0.50 985.00 1,067.27 2.09 1,380.00 1,495.26 1,385.00 1,500.44 0.35 1,415.00 1,532.32 212
Lump sum 134,400.00 145,625.09 145,100.00 157,194.09 7.94 152,700.00 165,453.50 5.25 134,400.00 145,625.09 145,100.00 157,194.09 7.94 152,700.00 165,360.36 5.20
excl MSAG 129,890.00 140,738.41 134,400.00 145,602.24 3.46 145,100.00 157,218.75 7.98 129,890.00 140,738.41 134,400.00 145,602.24 3.46 145,100.00 157,130.24 7.92
Minimum per pupil funding level (MPPL) 4,610.00 4,610.00 4,955.00 4,955.00 7.48 5,115.00 5,115.00 3.23 5,995.00 5,995.00 6,465.00 6,465.00 7.84 6,640.00 6,640.00 2.71
excl MSAG 4,467.00 4,467.00 4,610.00 4,610.00 3.20 4,955.00 4,955.00 7.48 5,809.00 5,809.00 6,145.00 6,145.00 5.78 6,465.00 6,465.00 5.21
Minimum Funding Guarantee 0.0% - 0.5% 0.5% -0.5% - 0.0% 0.0% -0.5% - 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% - 0.5% 0.5% -0.5% - 0.0% 0.0% -0.5% - 0.0% 0.0%
Gains cap n/a 2.5% tba 0.85% tba t.b.c. n/a 2.5% tba 0.85% tba t.b.c.
Sums consolidated into NFF funding rates
2024-25 2025-26 2025-26 - Policy Note update 2026-27
Additional SBSG - original Additional
MSAG TPAG TPECG CSBG CSBG uplift Increase NIC rate full-year uplift Increase Total increase
Basic per pupil - Primary £119.00 £62.00 £75.00 £76.00 £51.00 £21.00 £78.00 £37.00 £18.00 £84.00 £217.00
Basic per pupil - KS3 £168.00 £86.00 £106.00 £108.00 £71.00 £29.00 £68.00 £53.00 £25.00 £118.00 £264.00
sic per pupil - KS4 £190.00 £98.00 £119.00 £122.00 £80.00 £33.00 £77.00 £60.00 £28.00 £132.00 £297.00
rimary FSM6 £104.00 £53.00 £65.00 £70.00 £45.00 £7.00 £75.00 £35.00 £14.00 £26.00 £150.00
[Becondary FSM6 £152.00 £77.00 £100.00 £100.00 £68.00 £10.00 £60.00 £50.00 £22.00 £38.00 £170.00
ump sum £4,510.00 £2,306.00 £2,800.00 £2,900.00] £1,915.00 £779.00 £2,400.00 £1,400.00 £686.00 £3,114.00 £7,600.00
cRdjustment to MPPL - average per pupil gain
Additional Additional
MSAG All grants CSBG uplift Increase All grants Increase
Primary £143.00 £213.00 £62.00 £70.00 £133.00 £27.00
KS3 £186.00
KS4 £208.00 £320.00 £83.00 £67.00 £172.00 £3.00




Schools Funding Forum 27th November 2025 ltem 4 - Appendix C

/'\?.-,' -
=+ Havering
amE: LONDON BOROUGH

Consultation for LA
Maintained Schools
De-delegation and
Education Functions
2026-27

Release : Version 1 -18th November 2025

Page 37
1



Contents

CON NS
] (oo [¥ o (o o 1SS
e 0T =] S
Responding to the ConsSultation ...
1. Background to De-delegation and Education Functions ...........cccccccvvviiiiiiiiinnnnnnn.
1.1 De-delegated SErviCes.......coooo oo
1.2 Education Functions (Statutory Duties for Maintained Schools)....................
1.3  School Improvement, Monitoring and Brokerage (SIMB) ............cccccccunnnnnee.
1.4  Table of Services and FUNCHONS ..............uuuiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
2. De-delegation and Education Functions Service 2025-26............cccccccceeeeeeeeenennnn,
3. De-delegation and Education Functions Service 2026-27 Consultation................
4. Proposed De-delegated Services and Education Functions 2026-27 ...................
4.1 TS TUT =T o o TS
4.2  Free school meals eligibility checking............ccooooiiiiiiii e,
4.3  Maternity |eave INSUMANCE...........uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
4.4  English as an Additional Language (EAL) Service ..........ccccccuiimiiiiiniinnnnnnnnne
4.5  Trade Union FaCility TiMe..........uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
4.7  Statutory and regulatory duties...............ueuuuuiiiiiiiiiii e
4.8 Core school improvement activitieS ............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecce e,

S T O o [ox 11T o
Appendix A - English as an Additional Language service...........ccccceovvviiiiiiieiiiiineenenn,
Rationale for maintaining a central EAL team ..............ccooiiiiiiiiiiicc e,
1. Changing demoOgraphiCs .......cccooeeiiiiiiiicce e

2. SEIVICE USAQJE ..ovvvuuiiieeeeeeeeeetee e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e eaeeeessssaa e eeeaaeeeeeenes

3. Risk if the service ceases to be centrally funded.............ccccuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiis

4. Flexibility and responsiveness of the current model................cc

5. TEaAM CAPACIY ....uvvueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e

6. Offer to LA-maintained primary schools (2026-27)...........cccccevimmmmmmimiiiiiiininnnns

7. Impact of the EAL team: ........oooiiiiiiiiiieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e

LS TS 00 02 =1
Appendix B - Trade Union facility time............ccooi s
] (oo 18 o (o] o 1R SR
Trade union facility time and membership fees ..........cccccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie
7= Yo =3 o] (o )Y/ ] o] o RPN

General AQViICe and SUPPOIT ..........ouuueeeeeeeeeeeeeee et

21



Consultation, Compliance and POIICIES ..............cccccoeuuiiieiiiiii e 24

EMmpPloyee REIATtIONS .............uuuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 24
Restructuring and ReorganiSation .....................uuuuuuuuuuuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinineeeeeaes 25
TUPE and Academy CONVEISION..............uuuuuuuiiiii s 25
Appendix C - Core school improvement activities - Havering Education Quality
Assurance Process 2025-2026........ccccoeeiiiiiiiaieee e 26
Quality ASSUIANCE CYCIE ....ccooieiiiieeeee e e e e e e r e e e e e e e e 26
TIMEIINE . .. 26
KIT VSIS ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 26
Full QA (Ofsted Readiness) Visit.........coooeiiiiiiiiie e 27
Risk Register and Schools Monitoring Group ... 28
Schools ‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’:..........cccoooeeiiiiiiciiii s 28
Progress Review Meetings (PRMS) ... 28
RS T0 {0 010 0= o VPP 29
Appendix 1 — LA Children’s Services School Vulnerability Triggers .............cccoeoo. 30

Page 39
3



¢ Havering

LONDON BOROUGH

TTBERTY.L

Introduction

This consultation proposes options for the de-delegation for central services for
maintained schools for the financial year 2026-27.

LA maintained primary schools are to consider for financial year 2026-27, whether to
continue with the de-delegation of funding for the following services:

Insurance

Free school meals eligibility checking
Maternity leave insurance

EAL service

Statutory and regulatory duties

Core school improvement activities

Schools are asked to consider the options outlined in the documents and respond to the
Local Authority (LA) for further consideration by the Schools Funding Forum.

At this stage, all figures used in the calculations are from the October 2024 Census, with
the rates that will apply for 2026-27 de-delegation services. The final calculation will be
based on the October 2025 Census data, with the rates proposed to be unchanged.

The DfE do not release the October 2025 Census data until late December 2025.
Therefore, LAs consult using the previous year’s dataset (October 2024 Census) to
agree the principles for the forthcoming financial year.

Process

A summary of responses to the consultation will be reported to the meeting of the
Schools Funding Forum on 27th November 2025, and will form part of the final decisions
taken by the Local Authority in January, before schools are issued with their funding for
the 2026-27 financial year.

Responding to the Consultation

This consultation is sent to the Head Teachers of all LA maintained schools only. Please
bring this to the attention of Chairs of Governors, Chairs of Resources, Board Members
and Trustees as appropriate.

You can contribute your views to the consultation in the online link provided in the body
of the email.:

If you require clarification on any point please email:

Education Finance at: education.finance@havering.gov.uk

Closing date of consultation: 12.00pm Wednesday 26th November 2025

Page 40

4


mailto:education.finance@havering.gov.uk

Schools Funding 2025-26

1. Background to De-delegation and Education Functions

This section explains how local authorities may hold funding centrally on behalf of
maintained schools, through de-delegated services, education functions and school
improvement, monitoring and brokerage (SIMB). It sets out what each arrangement
covers, who they apply to, and how decisions will operate for 2026-27.

11 De-delegated services

Funding for services that may be de-delegated is initially allocated to maintained
mainstream primary and secondary schools through the local funding formula.

With the agreement of the maintained school representatives on the Schools Forum,
these schools may choose to allow the local authority to retain this funding centrally and
deliver the service on their behalf.

De-delegation applies only to maintained mainstream primary and secondary schools. It
is not available to academies, nursery schools, PRUs, or special schools. Where de-
delegation is agreed, the local authority may offer the same service to academies or
other schools outside the arrangement on a buy-back basis.

Decisions to de-delegate apply for one year only. New decisions are therefore required
for 2026-27. Decisions are taken separately for each phase and, once agreed, apply to
all maintained schools within that phase. The funding is then deducted from formula
allocations before school budgets are issued.

The services eligible for de-delegation are:

o contingencies (including schools in financial difficulties and deficits of closing
schools)

behaviour support services

support to underperforming ethnic groups and bilingual learners (EAL)

free school meals eligibility checking

insurance

museum and library services

licences and subscriptions

staff costs supply cover (e.g. long-term sickness, maternity, trade union and
public duties)

For each service agreed, the local authority must clearly explain how the funding is
deducted, (e.g. primary insurance £20 per pupil, FSM eligibility £9.50 per FSM pupil),
and how any allocations, including contingency awards, are determined.

If a school has been approved to receive funding from a de-delegated contingency and
later converts to academy status, that allocation must still be honoured for the period the
school is maintained.

Any unspent de-delegated funding at year-end is reported to the Schools Forum and
may be carried forward for future de-delegated use.

Page 41
5



1.2 Education Functions (Statutory Duties for Maintained Schools)

Funding for services that may be de-delegated is initially allocated to maintained
mainstream primary and secondary schools through the local funding formula.

Education functions are statutory duties that local authorities must discharge for
maintained schools. These responsibilities are required by law and cannot be opted out
of by individual schools. To fund these duties, the local authority may seek approval from
the Schools Forum to top-slice a small amount from maintained schools’ budgets.

These statutory duties apply to all maintained schools, including special schools. They
do not apply to academies, which receive their own equivalent funding directly from the
DfE.

Education functions cover the core responsibilities that support the oversight and
proper governance of maintained schools. These include:

financial and audit responsibilities

central administrative and regulatory functions

statutory asset management

governance, HR, and pension-related obligations

duties relating to school organisation and access to education

Approval for education functions is required annually. When a maintained school
converts to academy status, the education functions funding for that school is removed
from the local authority’s allocation from the date of conversion.

1.3  School Improvement, Monitoring and Brokerage (SIMB)

SIMB represents the local authority’s monitoring, oversight, and support for maintained
schools. For the purposes of the 2026-27 consultation, the LA is requesting funding only
for statutory SIMB via education functions, to provide clarity and focus LA support on
statutory activities.

The statutory SIMB via Education Functions (focus for consultation):

¢ Applies to all maintained schools, including special schools.
e Covers the minimum statutory duties the local authority must carry out, including:
o mandatory monitoring visits
o statutory interventions for schools requiring improvement
o oversight of governance, leadership, and school performance
o coordination and reporting to DfE/ESFA
e Funded via Schools Block top-slice for maintained schools only (separate from
CSSB).
e The LA’s support for schools in 2026-27 will focus on these statutory activities
only.

To note, that there is an optional, additional SIMB support (previously funded via
de-delegation) which is not being proposed. This ensures transparency about what
funding is requested and how it will be used.

Page 42

6



1.4

Table of Services and Functions

Aspect De-delegated Services | Education Functions | SIMB (Statutory)
Optional, discretionary
services funded Statutory duties that ﬁ;atrlg\?gnse%rEOOI
Nature collectively by LAs must perform for mopnitorin a’nd
maintained mainstream | maintained schools 9
schools brokerage
Who it Maintained mainstream | All maintained schools | All maintained
aoblies to primary and secondary | (including special schools (including
PP schools only schools) special schools)
Cannot be de- Not appI]cabIe. Not applicable.
. Academies fund
Academies delegated, but may buy . Funded only for
b equivalent statutory L
ack duties directly maintained schools
Annual Schools Forum | Annual Schools Forum égpuurﬁlfcr;(o)sﬁ via
Approval vote, separately by approval for all educatio?r}unctions
phase maintained schools .
top-slice
If a school becomes an
Effect of academy mid yeair, . Funding removed
. Funding removed from
academy provision honoured for . from date of
d . . date of conversion .
conversion period school is conversion
maintained
. Schools Block top-slice | Schools Block top-slice Sghools quck t_op-
Funding o o slice for maintained
for maintained schools | for maintained schools
block onl onl schools only
y y (statutory)
Funding type | Traded / discretionary Statutory Statutory

Page 43
7




2. De-delegation and Education Functions Service 2025-26

The following table demonstrates the services that was requested and outcome for
financial year 2025-26.

. De-delegation
Service requested 2025-26 Outcome
Contingencies (including schools in financial No N/A
difficulties and deficits of closing schools)
Behaviour support services Yes Not Agreed
Support to underperforming ethnic groups
and bilingual learners (EAL) Yes Agreed
Free school meals eligibility Yes Agreed
Insurance Yes Agreed
Museum and library services No N/A
Licences/subscriptions No N/A
Staff costs supply cover (maternity leave Yes Agreed
insurance)
Staff costs supply cover (trade union facility Yes Agreed
time)
Statutory and regulatory duties Yes Agreed
Core school improvement activities Yes Agreed

3. De-delegation and Education Functions Service 2026-27 Consultation

As agreed at the Schools Funding Forum meeting held on 23rd October 2025, this
consultation was proposed to be issued to all maintained schools to help Schools Forum
members with the decision making for the de-delegated services for 2026-27.

The summary of responses to the consultation will be reported to the meeting of the

Schools Funding Forum on 27th November 2025, and will form part of the final decisions
taken by the Local Authority in January.

Page 44



4. Proposed De-delegated Services and Education Functions 2026-27

Consideration to the continuation of the financial year 2025-26 de-delegated services is
proposed, and the list of services and functions are as provided below and in the
applicable Appendices.

4.1 Insurance

Insurance for maintained schools is arranged as part of the borough’s main insurance
contract and funded through de-delegation.

The LA proposes increasing the 2026-27 rate to reflect expected rises in premiums
and associated costs, in line with the RPA benchmark. The cost of participation in the
RPA for 2025-26 was £27.00 per pupil, an increase of £2.00 from the previous year,
and further increases are anticipated for 2026-27 due to rising sector-wide claims.

The proposed funding through de-delegation from LA maintained primary schools is as
follows:

2026-27 Primary
Formula factor Basic Entitlement
Amount £27.00*
Total £470,745
2025-26 £21.00

*The proposed rate for 2026-27 will be updated to align with the final RPA charge once
confirmed by the DfE. The current RPA rate is £27.00 per pupil for 2025-26.

Benefits of de-delegating insurance:

e Provides comprehensive cover for maintained schools underwritten by regulated
insurers.

e Ensures a £50 million liability limit, protecting schools and the LA.

e Maintains continuity of cover for both school and LA liabilities, reducing the risk
of insurance gaps.

e Access to advice, claims handling, and risk management support not available
through the RPA.

e Includes cover for areas that schools would otherwise need to purchase
separately under the RPA.

e Ensures employer liabilities retained by the LA are appropriately insured.

e Safeguards the LA’s responsibilities and reduces risk, as any external supplier
would need to provide adequate cover to protect the LA from potential liabilities.

e Delivers competitively priced, high-value cover, aligned with the national RPA
benchmark while maintaining local assurance.

If schools do not buy in:

¢ Individual schools would need to arrange separate insurance cover, potentially at
a higher cost and without the pooled benefits.

Page 45
9



e Schools may lose access to the central claims handling and risk management
support, and any external arrangement would need to ensure adequate coverage
to safeguard the LA’s responsibilities and reduce potential liabilities.

As the LA remains the employer and retains certain liabilities, the pooled approach
ensures these are appropriately insured. The pooled arrangements ensures maintained
schools continue to benefit from competitively priced, comprehensive cover and support,
aligned to the DfE’s national RPA benchmark while maintaining local value and
assurance.

4.2 Free school meals eligibility checking

This service centrally checks children’s eligibility for free school meals (FSM) and the
pupil premium grant via the government hub.

The LA Education Finance Team provides the service on behalf of Education Services
and schools, using the dedicated Synergy software.

Various education departments rely on this centralised, “live” database to identify eligible
pupils and target support for schemes, such as the Holiday Activities and Food (HAF)
programme and other initiatives where FSM status is a criterion.

The proposed funding through de-delegation from LA maintained primary schools is as
follows:

2026-27 Primary

Formula factor FSM eligible pupils

Amount £7.75
Total £24 761
2025-26 rate £9.50

Benefits of de-delegating:

e Eliminates the need for individual schools to determine eligibility themselves.

e Provides a centralised, up-to-date FSM database accessible across relevant
services.

e Supports targeting of support and funding to eligible families efficiently.
e Reduces administrative burden on school staff.

If schools do not buy in:

e Schools would need to make their own arrangements to check eligibility,
increasing administrative work and the risk of errors.

e There would not be a central, live database that stakeholders can use for FSM-
related schemes.

e Schools will need to provide the data to the relevant teams to confirm eligibility
for FSM-related schemes.

e Cessation of service, effective 1st April 2026.

Page 46

10



The 2025-26 rate was £9.50. The proposed reduction of £1.75 per FSM pupil reflects
additional contributions from central services that use the FSM data for their
programmes, ensuring sufficient funding to cover staff and software costs for delivering
this service.

4.3 Maternity leave insurance

The LA operates a pooled maternity cover scheme for teachers and support staff in
maintained schools. While it functions similarly to insurance, it is not an insurance policy.
The scheme pools contributions from maintained schools to cover maternity leave costs.

The Education Finance Team administers the scheme on behalf of Education Services
and schools.

The proposed funding through de-delegation from LA maintained primary schools is as
follows:

2026-27 Primary
Formula factor Basic Entitlement
Amount £42.92
Total £748,310
2025-26 £40.49

The per-pupil rate is proposed to increase by 6.0% (from £40.49 to £42.92) to reflect
expected increases in staff salaries and on-costs, which determine maternity leave
payments.

Benefits of de-delegating:

e Provides central management of maternity leave cover, reducing administrative
burden on schools.

e Ensures all maintained schools have access to maternity cover without needing
to arrange individual schemes.

e Maintains the financial viability of the pooled scheme by spreading risk across
all maintained schools.

If schools do not buy in:

e Schools would need to make individual arrangements to cover maternity leave,
which could be more complex and potentially less cost-effective.

e Schools would need to enquire whether maternity cover could be combined with
their separate staffing sickness scheme. This will need to be reviewed by the
supplier on a case-by-case basis.

e Cessation of service, effective 1st April 2026.

Page 47
11



Key points about the pooled fund:

e The fund is finite. If claims exceed the pooled contributions, the LA will
communicate with schools regarding the shortfall. Schools will then be advised
on next steps to manage cover for the remainder of the year.

For 2024-25 and 2025-26, although the expected spend exceeded the budget,
underspends in other de-delegated services offset the difference. A similar situation is
anticipated for 2026-27, and the £2k shortfall is not expected to materially affect the
overall de-delegated budgets.

2024-25 2025-26* 2026-27*
Budget £645,543 £705,943 £748,310
Spend £680,000 £715,000 £750,750
Outturn -£34,457 -£9,057 -£2,440
Rate £36.96 £40.49 £42.92
Applicable pupils 17466 17435 17435

* Projected figures

4.4 English as an Additional Language (EAL) Service

The LA proposes the continued de-delegation of funding to maintain the central EAL
service for maintained primary schools at a reduced rate. The proposed reduction
reflects schools’ differing levels of need and introduces a 39% reduction in cost for LA
maintained primary schools.

The new Ofsted framework places a focus on children who face “barriers to their
learning,” identifying EAL pupils as a vulnerable group with specific inspection criteria.
The expertise and support provided by the central EAL team are therefore crucial in
helping schools meet these requirements and ensure that pupils with EAL achieve their
full potential.

The proposed funding through de-delegation from LA maintained primary schools is as
follows:

2026-27 Primary
Formula factor EAL 3

Amount £23.12
Total £71,428
2025-26 £38.00

*Funding cap: £72,000 to ensure that any additional EAL3 funding remains within
school budgets.

Page 48

12



Page 49

13



Benefits of de-delegating:

e Schools collectively fund the central EAL team, allowing specialist support that
individual schools could not provide alone.

e Provides equitable access for all maintained schools, regardless of size or
individual budget constraints.

¢ Reduces administrative burden on individual schools, as the LA manages
deployment of staff and resources.

e Ensures continuity of expertise, training, and specialist resources across the
borough.

If schools do not buy in:

¢ Individual schools would need to arrange their own EAL support, which could be
more costly and less efficient.

e Some schools may not have access to specialist resources or consultancy
visits.

e Smaller schools may be disproportionately affected, as they could struggle to
fund individual support packages.

Service highlights from 2024-25:

e Around two-thirds of all mainstream Havering schools received direct support
from the EAL team.

e 90% of LA-maintained primary schools accessed the service via the HES portal.

e Schools benefited from consultancy visits, training, and specialist resources.

e Customer satisfaction feedback was wholly positive, with 100% of respondents
rating the service as good or better.

Further details of the service offered through de-delegation are provided in Appendix
A.

Page 50

14



4.5 Trade Union Facility Time

The LA proposes the continued de-legation of funding for Trade Union Facilities Time
(TUFT). This provides support from locally based, accredited trade union officials to
school staff. Further details of the support provided is in Appendix B.

The LA is administering this pooled arrangement on behalf of schools and the trade
unions. Without the LA acting as an intermediary, individual schools and trade unions
would need to make arrangements directly with each other. The Education Finance team
manages the scheme on behalf of Education Services, schools, and the unions, ensuring
a centralised, efficient, and equitable approach.

The following unions and the staff they support are as follows:

Union Staff Supported
National Education Union (NEU) Teaching
National Association of Schoolmasters Union of Women Teaching
Teachers (NASUWT)

Community Teaching
National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) Teaching
UNISON Support

GMB Support

* The Association of School and College Leaders (ASCL) are no longer supported by
this provision

Last year the Forum agreed an increase in the sum per pupil de-delegated from £2.80
to £2.96 to help meet the rise in salary costs of the local trade union representatives
delivering the service.

There is a proposed 3.5% per-pupil increase for TUFT, that reflects the estimated rise in
teachers’ pay and associated staff costs for the local trade union representatives
delivering the service. It ensures that the LA can continue to provide the same level and
quality of support to school staff, maintaining the pooled arrangement’s sustainability
and enabling schools to access consistent, high-quality union support without managing
individual arrangements.

The proposed funding through de-delegation from LA maintained primary schools is as
follows:

2026-27 Primary

Formula factor Basic Entitlement

Amount £2.96

Total £53,351

2025-26 £2.80
Page 51

15



Benefits of de-delegating:

Ensures all maintained schools have equitable access to accredited trade union
support.

Reduces administrative burden on individual schools in managing TUFT
arrangements.

Provides locally based support, helping schools manage workforce relations
effectively.

Maintains consistency of service across schools and ensures compliance with
statutory obligations regarding staff consultation and representation.

By acting as intermediary, the LA simplifies arrangements between schools and
trade unions, removing the need for separate negotiations or contracts.

If schools do not buy in:

Individual schools would need to arrange their own trade union support, which
may be more costly and less efficient.

Smaller schools may have limited access to support or struggle to meet
statutory obligations for staff representation.

Consistency and quality of support across schools could vary, potentially
affecting workforce management.

Schools and unions would need to negotiate separately without LA support,
increasing administrative workload.

Page 52

16



Education functions — applicable to LA maintained primary and special schools
only

4.7 Statutory and regulatory duties

Education functions are applicable only to LA maintained primary and special schools.
These contributions cover statutory and regulatory services that the LA is required to
provide to maintained schools but not to academies. The approach reflects the central
service charges applied by most Multi-Academy Trusts, ensuring consistency with
national practice.

Historically, the Education Services Grant (ESG) funded these statutory services for both
maintained schools and academies. Following the withdrawal of ESG, part of the funding
was transferred into the DSG Schools Block, while the remaining statutory services for
maintained schools have been funded through contributions from school budgets since
the 2018-19 financial year. Rates have been adjusted annually in line with the National
Funding Formula (NFF) factor values.

For 2026-27, the LA proposes a 3.5% increase to reflect the expected rise in staff
salaries, which make up the majority of the cost of providing these services. The new
contribution rates would be:

2026-27 Primary Special
Formula factor Basic Entitlement Place

Amount £21.71 £65.13
Total £373,732 £10,095
2025-26 £20.98 £62.94

This would produce a minimum total contribution of £383,827 from maintained schools.

These services are statutory. As the LA is legally required to provide them, maintained
schools do not have the option to opt out. This ensures that all schools receive
consistent, compliant, and centrally coordinated support, safeguarding pupils, staff, and
the LA itself.

Page 53

17



Categories of LA responsibilities funded through this contribution:

Category

Central Services functions for LA Maintained Schools
(previously ESG - now part of Education Functions)

Service Strategy &
Regulation

Budgeting and accounting functions relating to maintained schools
(Sch 2, 73)

Functions relating to the financing of maintained schools (Sch 2, 58)

Authorisation and monitoring of expenditure in respect of schools
which do not have delegated budgets, and related financial
administration (Sch 2, 57)

Monitoring of compliance with requirements in relation to the
scheme for financing schools and the provision of community
facilities by governing bodies (Sch 2, 58)

Internal audit and other tasks related to the authority’s chief finance
officer’s responsibilities under Section 151 of LGA 1972 for
maintained schools (Sch 2, 59)

Functions made under Section 44 of the 2002 Act (Consistent
Financial Reporting) (Sch 2, 60)

Functions related to local government pensions and administration
of teachers’ pensions in relation to staff working at maintained
schools under the direct management of the headteacher or
governing body (Sch 2, 62)

HR duties, including: advice to schools on the management of staff,
pay alterations, conditions of service and composition/organisation
of staff (Sch 2, 63); determination of conditions of service for non-
teaching staff (Sch 2, 64); appointment or dismissal of employee
functions (Sch 2, 65)

Consultation costs relating to staffing (Sch 2, 66)

Provision of information to or at the request of the Crown relating to
schools (Sch 2, 68)

Establish and maintaining computer systems, including data storage
(Sch 2, 71)

Appointment of governors and payment of governor expenses (Sch
2,72)

Asset management

General landlord duties for all maintained schools (Sch 2, 76a & b
(section 542(2)) Education Act 1996; School Premises Regulations
2012) to ensure that school buildings have:

* appropriate facilities for pupils and staff (including medical and
accommodation)

» the ability to sustain appropriate loads

* reasonable weather resistance

- safe escape routes

* appropriate acoustic levels

* lighting, heating and ventilation which meets the required
standards

» adequate water supplies and drainage

* playing fields of the appropriate standards

General health and safety duty as an employer for employees and
others who may be affected (Health and Safety at Work etc Act
1974)

Management of the risk from asbestos in community school
buildings (Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012)

Monitoring national
curriculum
assessment

Monitoring of National Curriculum assessments (Sch 2, 74)

Page 54
18




4.8 Core school improvement activities

The School Improvement, Monitoring and Brokerage (SIMB) grant was withdrawn by the
DfE from 2023-24. Local authorities were given the power to fund all improvement
activity, including core school improvement activities, via de-delegation with the
agreement of Schools Forums or the Secretary of State.

During the summer term of 2022, the LA worked with school and academy leaders to
refresh its Quality Assurance (QA) Framework. A key objective is that all children attend
schools judged to be “effective” (Good or Outstanding) by Ofsted.

To support the maintenance of high standards, all LA-maintained schools are included
in the QA cycle. Stand-alone academies or schools within academy trusts are welcome
to participate, but are not required to do so in the same way as maintained schools.

For 2026-27, the LA proposes a 3.5% increase to the per-pupil rate. This follows a
reduction in 2025-26, when the rate was lowered from £5.11 per primary pupil to £3.38
per pupil, reflecting efficiencies achieved by delivering more of the intervention work
internally.

The 2026-27 increase from £3.38 to £3.50 per pupil is therefore applied to this lower
baseline, ensuring that schools benefit from a saving compared with previous higher
rates, while still enabling the LA to provide high-quality, centrally coordinated school
improvement support and account for rising staff costs. The new contribution rates would
be:

2026-27 Primary Special
Formula factor Basic Entitlement Place

Amount £3.50 £10.50
Total £60,480 £1,643
2025-26 £3.38 £10.14

Details of the service provided are shown in Appendix C.

5 Conclusion

We hope that this paper and the accompanying appendices explain the de-delegated
services and education functions options that form the basis of this consultation, and the
rationale behind these options.

As explained above, the rate for each of the services will remain as per the consultation
proposals once the final dataset is made available in December. However, the budgets
for each of the de-delegated/education functions are indicative and final calculations will
be made once the validated data from the October 2025 census has been received from
the DfE.

Page 55
19



Appendix A - English as an Additional Language service

Rationale for maintaining a central EAL team

The LA proposes a continued contribution from LA maintained primary schools in order
to retain a central specialist EAL team. Without a core de-delegated contribution, the
service would need to operate solely on a traded basis, which would significantly reduce
its viability and ability to respond to fluctuating levels of need.

For 2026-27, the proposed charge has been reduced by 39.2%, ensuring the model
remains proportionate while safeguarding a level of provision that schools rely upon,
particularly as the current Ofsted framework continues to identify EAL learners as a
vulnerable group facing potential barriers to learning. A centrally held team ensures
compliance, preparedness for inspection, and consistency of support across settings.

Proposal for 2026-27

It is proposed that £23.12 per EAL pupil be de-delegated for the financial year 2026-27.
This reflects a 39.2% reduction from the 2025-26 contribution and would generate
£71,428 towards the cost of the service, compared with £114,538 in the previous year.

Given expected demographic shifts, EAL3 allocations to schools are likely to increase
over the year. To ensure schools retain the majority of this additional funding, the amount
held centrally will be capped at £72,000, with any further increases remaining within
individual school budgets.

1. Changing demographics

Havering continues to experience a rapidly changing demographic profile, with sustained
increases in families arriving from abroad and from other areas of the UK. A growing
proportion of pupils enter schools with limited or no English, including children from areas
affected by conflict. Many of these pupils have benefited from targeted EAL interventions
such as the Homes for Ukraine in-school teaching project, overseen by the EAL team.

This continued growth in new-to-English arrivals strengthens the need for a responsive
and centrally coordinated service that can support schools at the point needs arise.

2. Service usage

The EAL team remains well used across the borough, with:

e Two-thirds of all mainstream Havering schools accessing support through a
combination of traded and de-delegated routes.

e 90% of LA-maintained primaries using the service via the HES portal.

e 77% attending centrally delivered EAL training.

e 60% requesting direct consultancy or pupil support.

Schools also accessed ongoing telephone and email advice, as well as essential
resources, including screening tools, proficiency assessment templates and teaching
materials, through the HES portal.

Page 56

20



3. Risk if the service ceases to be centrally funded

Unlike some service areas with predictable demand, EAL needs fluctuate significantly
between schools due to changing cohorts and variable staff experience. This makes
traded-only income unpredictable and insufficient for sustaining a specialist team.

If schools were unable to pool funding collectively, the borough-wide EAL service would
likely become unviable, requiring schools to secure ad-hoc external support at a higher
cost and with less flexibility. The average centrally supported value of £2,937 per school
provides a more comprehensive offer than any equivalent traded service could provide.

4. Flexibility and responsiveness of the current model

Retaining a discrete EAL service provides schools with flexible and timely support. Visits
can be arranged when new pupils arrive or where staff capacity changes, avoiding the
constraints of package-based traded models. Schools can request short visits, remote
consultations, in-house CPD, and pupil-focused observations, ensuring support is
tailored to immediate needs. Twice-termly networks for EAL co-ordinators and TAs
further enhance professional practice and borough-wide consistency.

5. Team Capacity

The three EAL Advisers continue to meet all requests for support. Communications are
issued regularly to ensure schools are aware of available courses, consultancy, and new
resources. Capacity is strengthened through a specialist secondary consultant who also
supports cross-phase needs as required. No requests from LA-maintained primaries
have been declined due to capacity constraints.

6. Offer to LA-maintained primary schools (2026-27)
Schools contributing via de-delegation will have access to:

e Termly consultancy visits, with further visits arranged depending on individual
school needs.

e Pupil-focused support, as well as advice for pupils with combined SEND/EAL

needs.

In-house EAL CPD for teachers and support staff.

EAL reviews and learning walks.

Teacher surgeries for priority pupil discussions.

Twice-termly networks for EAL co-ordinators and EAL TAs.

Unlimited access to all centrally held EAL CPD.

Telephone and email support.

Access to subscriber-only content within the HES EAL resource pages

(https://lwww.hes.org.uk/Page/147).

7. Impact of the EAL team:

Targeted support from the EAL team helps schools tailor provision to accelerate
progress for new arrivals and early-stage learners, enabling them to reach age-related
expectations or narrow attainment gaps rapidly.

Page 57
21


https://www.hes.org.uk/Page/147

In the 2024-25 HES customer satisfaction survey, 100% of respondents rated the service
as good or better, with positive feedback highlighting the quality, responsiveness and
practical value of the advice provided.

8. Summary

Targeted support from the EAL team helps schools tailor provision to accelerate
progress for new arrivals and early-stage learners, enabling them to reach age-related
expectations or narrow attainment gaps rapidly.

Page 58

22



Appendix B - Trade Union facility time
Introduction

There is a legal obligation on schools as employers to ensure they have in place
arrangements to negotiate and consult with accredited Trade Union representatives
and to afford their employees Trade Union representation, in compliance with
legislation. Such arrangements include paid time off (‘facilities time’) for accredited
trade union representatives to undertake these duties.

This service provides confidence to participating schools that they are fulfilling their
legal obligations and ensuring their staff have access to employee representation from
local Union representatives from across the County.

The support from Union representatives, available through de-delegation, also ensures
that sensitive issues do not spiral out of control into situations involving formal
procedures which can be extremely costly in both senior leadership time and money.

The scheme helps avoid the risk of operational disruption and the cost of schools
having to release their own staff for specific training to fulfil this role and other functions
linked to Trade Union facilities time.

By not having access to this local experienced resource there is an increased risk of
lengthy and stressful processes that could impact on the running of schools and the
health of all staff involved.

There are also increased risks around the following:

e Schools not fulfilling their legal duty.

e Schools not having access to a local Union rep resulting in delays in case
management and resolution.

* Application of HR Polices impacted due to lack of availability of Union support.

e Lack of local mediation/discussion with regional reps who know the area.

e Escalation of grievances and cases (including sickness absence management)
which might otherwise be avoided.

e Schools having to provide training for staff to the standard of local branch
secretaries in order to fulfil legal duties.

e Schools unable to find staff who want to take on the Trade Union representative
role.

Trade union facility time and membership fees

There is also often confusion around individual member subscriptions to Unions and
the facilities payments received from schools. There is a specific distinction between
the two and what they cover:

1) Individual membership fees not only pay towards the overall running costs of
unions, but members also receive a number of fringe benefits, from support and
guidance, legal services, training, financial assistance, compensation, non-
employment law and insurance.

2) De-delegated Trade Union Facilities Time from schools funds the release of
local representatives within Havering. Unions work collaboratively with schools
and the LA to enable a smooth and seamless service.

Page 59

23



Service provision

School leaders and governors are likely to only see a glimpse of the activity and
support provided by Unions and what actually takes place in terms of casework.

A great deal of time is spent by local reps dealing with employees’ concerns and
grievances ‘behind the scenes’ in a way which prevents things ever escalating into
confrontation and formal procedures.

Local Union reps help members work through conflict and change to the benefit of the
members themselves and of school leaders.

The pooled arrangements allow facility time for branch secretaries to provide support
to their members in a range of areas including:

General Advice and Support

1.

Access for members to advice and support on employment issues from local
representatives who understand Havering school issues because they work
within them.

Prompt response to all requests for contact or support from Trade
Union/professional association representatives.

Joint working between Trade Union representatives, LA Officers, members and
school leaders, supporting staff whilst working collaboratively with management
for best outcomes - to reduce escalation; maintaining open channels of
communication to create resolution in challenging and difficult circumstances.
Schools and their staff are kept abreast of issues on the national Trade Union
agenda and pertaining to collective agreements. All Unions work at a national
level, campaigning and lobbying the government to reform key issues within
education to support children and their learning with the best possible outcomes
for everyone.

Consultation, Compliance and Policies

5.

6.

Availability of a pool of specialist Trade Union representatives able to consult
meaningfully with the Local Authority on proposed changes to HR policies on
behalf of all maintained schools. This saves individual schools having to consult
with the Trade Unions independently.

Assurance that model employment policies issued by Havering LA have been
through formal negotiation and consultation with Havering Division/Branch
Trade Union officials

Employee Relations

7.

8.
9. Where the involvement of regional or national officials is required, named

Employees’ concerns and grievances are addressed informally wherever
possible, in a way which prevents sensitive issues escalating into confrontation
involving contracted formal procedures. This can be extremely costly in both
senior leadership time and money as well as emotionally for all involved.
Matters are often addressed without recourse to regional officials.

contact details are provided promptly by local reps.

10. Genuine support for the well-being of staff, through positive and productive

working relationships.

Page 60

24



Restructuring and Reorganisation

11.Specific support for staff restructurings and budget saving options.
12.Discussion about alternative individual employment options, including
settlement agreements.

TUPE and Academy Conversion
13.Meaningful consultation over academy conversion.

Branch secretaries, whose facility time is funded through de-delegation are senior and
experienced Trade Union representatives with a good level of knowledge and expertise
on employment matters.

Page 61

25



Appendix C - Core school improvement activities - Havering Education Quality
Assurance Process 2025-2026

Quality Assurance Cycle

A key objective of the Local Authority (LA) is that all children will attend a school that is
judged to be “effective” by Ofsted.

To support the maintenance of high standards, all LA maintained schools will be
included in the LA Quality Assurance (QA) cycle. Schools in Federations have
individual URNs and will therefore be deemed to be separate schools for purposes of
the QA cycle.

Schools which are stand-alone academies, or schools that are part of an academy trust
are welcome to participate in all aspects of the cycle in the same way as maintained
schools. However they are not required to participate in the way that LA schools are,
and if they choose to participate then there will be a charge from April 2026.

However, as a minimum, schools that are an academy will be strongly encouraged to
participate in Keeping in Touch (KIT) visits. The KIT visits may focus, by negotiation on
individual member schools within the cycle window, and an overview of the trust schools
within Havering and trust quality assurance processes generally. The KIT will ensure
that the LA has the necessary information to ensure that elected members are kept fully
engaged in the local education system. We also encourage the sharing of good practice
between all providers in our education community regardless of governance
arrangements.

The LA proposes the following cycle of QA for “effective” schools:

Timeline
Year 1 — Post Ofsted Inspection leaders attending to ‘Areas for Improvement’
Year 2 - KIT visit or Peer Review Programme, if eligible
Year 3 - Full QA (Ofsted Readiness) visit
Year 4 - KIT visit
Year 5 - Ofsted Inspection (possible KIT)

A school will join a point of the LA QA cycle according to when it was last inspected by
Ofsted. This will be done by term as near as possible.

KIT Visits

A school judged to be “effective” will have a Keeping in Touch (KIT) visit 12
months after inspection.

A KIT visit of up to half a day, will include a discussion about:
o the strengths of the school and evidence to support
o area of improvement/focus, improvement planning, impact of actions
taken and evidence to support this
o pupil outcomes
o concerns the school or the LA may have
o brokerage of support

Page 62

26



If a KIT visit suggests that one or more areas of the school’s practice appears vulnerable,
the school is strongly encouraged to engage with a specialist advisor to undertake a more
in depth analysis of that area of practice in order to address any area of vulnerability.

If prior to September 2024 a school was graded Requires Improvement following a Graded
Inspection or the evidence gathered during an Ungraded Inspection suggested that the
grade may be lower than Good if a Graded Inspection was to be carried out, or post
September 2024 a school is judged not to be “effective”, then the school will be subject to
‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’ by the LA in the case of maintained schools. In
academies, the LA will offer additional support and encourage engagement with the plans
for improvement, or if necessary engage with the DfE Regional Director. Support from the
LA would be chargeable.

Where serious concern is identified the DfE will continue to intervene, including by issuing
an academy order. From September 2024 the policy of government intervention for two or
more consecutive judgements of “requires improvement” will be one of providing support.

In year 2 of the cycle, following inspection, schools not subject to ‘Requiring Additional
Intervention & Support’ are encouraged to be involved in school-to-school improvement
programmes, e.g. facilitated peer review, peer support and HSIS school improvement
packages. Where an LA officer is a participant in the facilitated peer review, in some
circumstances where the focus is suitable, this may replace the KIT visit.

It is envisaged that these programmes will support leaders to address the areas for
improvement noted in the inspection report and others that are identified as well as
identifying excellent practice that can be shared with other schools in order to support the
agenda of self- improving schools.

In year 4, the school would again receive a KIT visit. A further KIT may be agreed in year 5
or later, where the inspection timetable becomes considerably overdue.

Full QA (Ofsted Readiness) Visit

In year 3, the QA Ofsted Readiness visit will be a more in-depth school evaluation involving
a team of relevant specialist advisors, and will include:

* A review of key information provided in advance of the visit e.g. School Self-
Evaluation, School Development Plan, Safeguarding S175 audit (there is a
requirement for the audit to have been externally validated either by the LA or an
external provider within the previous 12 months.)

* A short pre-visit meeting for leaders to share their evaluation of improvements made
in the areas for improvement identified during the last inspection, the Quality of
Education, and to confirm visit arrangements and areas of focus. This meeting may
be held virtually or in-person.

* The in-school visit will include discussions with the school’s senior curriculum leader
and leaders in subjects and other areas of focus, with an emphasis on their
leadership and its impact. This will be led by the LA QA Link Officer supported by
one or more LA Officers according to focus. The Leadership of Reading in school
will always be an included area. There will also be discussions with pupils.

* Visits to lessons, looking at pupils’ work and where possible discussion with
teachers are also likely to be included.

* There will always be a focus on SEND.

Page 63

27



Risk Register and Schools Monitoring Group

The LA regularly maintains a risk register analysis of all educational establishments within
the borough, in order to pre-empt difficulties and offer support, fulfil our statutory duties (
Support and intervention in schools statutory guidance September 2025) and engage with
local elected members, Ofsted, safeguarding complaints, and the DfE Regional Directors.

The Schools’ Monitoring Group (SMG) meets each half-term to monitor progress in schools
at risk of not sustaining an “effective” school judgement in their next inspection (Schools
‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’), take decisions regarding the utilisation of
Local Authority Powers of Intervention, engagement with the DfE Regional Directors, deploy
School-to-School Support resources and broker HES support.

All teams within LA Children’s Services relating to schools contribute triggers which could
be areas of concern, or suggest vulnerabilities in relation to their areas of work. These
triggers are published in Appendix 1. Triggers are not exclusive and other situations may
arise from time to time. All service areas are represented at the SMG meeting, so that relevant
information can be shared to identify any emerging vulnerabilities so that activity can be
coordinated.

Schools ‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’:

There are five trigger points for a school to be deemed to be ‘Requiring Additional
Intervention & Support”

1. Prior to September 2024 Ofsted grading less than “Good” /suggestion
less than “Good” following an Ungraded Inspection.

2. LA year 3 Ofsted readiness QA suggests the school may not be judged to be
“effective” at its next inspection.

3. Information gained during an LA KIT visit suggests significant risk.

4. LA identification following an SMG periodic risk register analysis e.g.
attendance, behaviour, complaints, pupil outcomes suggests significant
risk.

5. Self-identification by a school to generate additional support through

strategic link officer.
Progress Review Meetings (PRMs)

For maintained schools (and academies by agreement), where a school is considered
vulnerable and ‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’, the school relevant LA officers
will discuss the situation fully with the Headteacher/Executive Headteacher/Principal and the
Chair of Governors.

Where a school is judged to be ‘Requiring Additional Intervention & Support’:

* Progress Review Meetings (PRMs) will be implemented if trigger 1 or 2 occurs and
if required depending on outcomes of findings for trigger 3 or 4.

» Points 3, 4 and 5 will lead to a full school or area review and if deemed that the school
is a vulnerable school, will be subject to regular PRMs.

« PRMs are meetings chaired by a senior LA Officer and are attended by the
Headteacher, the Chair or Vice Chair of Governors and others by invitation of the LA
Officer.

« PRMs will include an element of first-hand evidence validation undertaken with
school leaders.

Page 64

28


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68baed81cc8356c3c882ab6c/support-and-intervention-in-schools.pdf

Their purpose is for the LA to:

» oversee the implementation of action plans to secure rapid and sustained
improvements, so are likely to be ‘front-loaded’ with more frequent meetings at the
outset.

« monitor progress of actions taken to ensure they have maximum impact.

« commission additional resources when needed to support rapid improvement.

« monitor the impact of brokered support, including partnership support.

» where possible, gather direct evidence of progress for LA monitoring and reporting to
Schools’ Funding Forum’ and for Ofsted.

Summary

For maintained schools, the activity described above as part of the wider Quality Assurance
Cycle, PRMs, further in-school support such as a full school review, or review of an area of
the school’s practice, would all be funded from the de-delegated ‘School Improvement
Monitoring and Brokering Grant’, and spend will be reported to Schools’ Funding Forum.
However, this is subject to Schools’ Funding Forum approval.

PRMs are not mandatory for academies but can be offered if requested, but would be
chargeable to cover direct costs of LA officer resource, as would any in-school support, such
as a full school review or review of an area of the school’s practice.

Page 65

29



Appendix 1 — LA Children’s Services School Vulnerability Triggers

Admissions, attendance and behaviour

High number of deletions from school registers — parents transferring schools

High number of Permanent Exclusions being issued

High levels of attendance absence

High levels of referrals from schools requesting pupils directed ‘off site’

High levels of suspensions / exclusions of pupils with undiagnosed SEND needs —

where schools have not dealt with the basics

A high number, significant increase in parents wishing to Electively Home Education

as pupils unhappy with school

A significantly high number of bullying incidents, reports and reasons pupils are not in
a specific school

Asset Management

If schools chose not to

Carry out their statutory tests and inspections on their school buildings i.e. building
compliance

Keep their school buildings safe and in good working order by tackling poor building
condition and or health and safety issues.

Use their devolved formula capital budget appropriately

Finance

Deficit Balances: Schools with a deficit balance of more than £10,000 at the end of
the previous financial year which they have not budgeted to recover within this financial
year and there is no agreed recovery plan.

Deficit budget: Schools setting a budget with an in year deficit in excess of £100,000
or 50% of their total balances at the end of the previous financial year, with
projections indicating this deficit will increase over the next three years.

High Surplus: Schools carrying a budget surplus in excess of 8% of their total
income at the end of the previous financial year where the school has excess
surplus balances and no agreed plan to use these.

Audit Outcomes: Schools that received a ‘limited assurance’ or ‘no assurance’
rating in their most recent internal audit or financial health check, highlighting
significant weaknesses in financial controls, governance, and risk management
practices.

Leadership and Financial Oversight: Schools with a combination of an
inexperienced or interim School Business Manager (SBM) and a newly
appointed or interim Head Teacher, indicating potential financial vulnerabilities due
to a lack of experienced oversight in budget management.

Non-Compliance with Financial Reporting:
(i) Failure to submit the school budget, three-year financial plan, or the
Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) by the required deadlines.
(ii) Non-submission 8 sgéo% thly financial reconciliations for three
consecutive month out a valid justification, despite repeated



reminders from the local authority.

(iii)  Failure to submit year end returns and backing documents by required
deadlines or significant errors

(iv)  Poor quality forecasting and budgeting — a pattern of significant
unforecast variances to budget

Governor Services

High governor turnover
Governor vacancies and lack of engagement by GB to fill vacancies
Chair — new or lack of engagement
Parental complaints
Relationship between governors and SLT
Meetings being re-arranged or not planned effectively
Indications of lack of governor effectiveness
o Gaps in skills / experience across the GB (evidenced by skills audit)
o Evidence of lack of challenge (evidenced by meeting observation, feedback
from clerks and minutes)
o Lack of strategic working and/or over involvement in operational issues
o Lack of clarity of roles and responsibilities by GB collectively or by individual
governors and/or HT
Non-compliance with GB Code of Conduct

Havering School Improvement Services (HSiS)

Leadership:

Inexperienced Head Teacher —in first year of headship.
New Head Teacher, not new to Headship

Interim Head Teacher arrangements in place

Lack of capacity of leadership team, including vacancies
Substantial concerns raised following a S175 audit

Quality of Education:

Other:

Leadership of overall Curriculum
Leadership of a significant curriculum area or a number of areas
Inappropriate use of alternative provisions
Outcomes for pupils
o Academic achievement
o Other — PD/Well-being, support for mental health/Gatsby principles,
benchmarking/Destinations/NEET/wider curriculum

Concern re pupil behaviour/conduct

Concern re low attendance/high persistent absence

School recently amalgamated/become part of a federation

Compilaints, including from Ofsted

Staffing: Absences/vacancies/turnover/ recurrent HR issues

Lack of engagement with staff development opportunities

Website —intelligence gathering pre a school visit e.g. PP, SEND, Reading... not
compliant or out of date

Page 67

31



Health & Safety

Management Audit Scores:

Overall score <=50%
Specific sections scores:
Risk assessment <80%
Maintenance <80%
Inspection <80%

Human Resources

HR monitors Employee Relations casework and how schools perform in their duty under
relevant school employment policies and procedures.

SEND

Effective use of employment policies and procedures across the whole school that
demonstrates best practice in the management and motivation of all school staff.
Unlikely to have any active casework.

Any active casework completed in line with policies/procedures with effective use of
HR support/guidance provided.

Employee Relations casework complex, requiring regular HR support/guidance, likely
to lead to potential collective disputes (up to and including dismissal), and where the
school is not effectively following HR advice and guidance.

Significant Employee Relations casework (high number of cases or complex
casework) requiring significant leadership input and requiring regular HR
support/guidance and where the school is not effectively following HR advice and
guidance. One or more of these cases is likely to lead to collective disputes,
dismissal(s), settlement agreement(s) or possible Employment Tribunal claim(s).

A high number or significant increase in parental complaints (either formal or informal)
to the SEND Service

A high number, significant increase in, or inappropriate or illegal use of reduced
timetables, alternative provision, suspensions/exclusions

A high number or significant increase in placement breakdowns or requests for
change of placements for pupils with SEND

Failure to comply with statutory requirements relating to SEND processes (e.g.,
consultation responses, annual reviews)

Evidence of poor, exclusionary, or potentially illegal/discriminatory practice in regards
to pupils with SEND

Resistance or a lack of openness to external services and to support from external
teams to develop SEND processes, practice, and promote inclusion

Page 68

32



Havering

LONDON BOROUGH

Schools Funding Forum 27th November 2025 ITEM 5
Subject Heading: High Needs funding
Report Author: Hany Moussa — Principal Education Finance
Officer
Eligibility to vote: Information only
‘ SUMMARY ‘

This report summarises the research briefing on SEN : Support in England, the in-year
projections for the High Needs block, and the SEN Top-up funding for out-of-borough
commissioners’ placements.

‘ RECOMMENDATIONS ‘

That the Schools Funding Forum notes the report.

‘ REPORT DETAIL ‘

Research Briefing — SEN : Support in England

The latest national research briefing presents a clear picture of a SEND system under
sustained and growing pressure. The full report is in Appendix A, with the Education
Committee’s June 2025 report in Appendix B.

As of January 2025, more than 1.7 million pupils in England had identified special
educational needs, with close to half a million holding an Education, Health and Care Plan
(EHCP).

The briefing states plainly that the system is approaching, and in some areas has already
reached, crisis point, despite significant increases in national High Needs funding over the
past decade. Rising demand, the continued escalation in specialist and independent
placement costs and growing transport pl‘eﬁ%l@ @9 all contributing to a model that is



widely viewed as unsustainable without substantial change.

The briefing also sets out the direction of the forthcoming reform, in the upcoming Schools
White Paper, now anticipated early in 2026. This is likely to introduce national standards for
provision, stronger expectations around early and local support and a fairer approach to
funding.

The DfE are reviewing the arrangements for a national framework of bands and tariffs,
intended to bring greater consistency to SEND funding and to reduce the wide variation
currently seen across local areas.

Previous national intervention programmes, such as Safety Valve and Delivering Better
Value (DBV), were designed to support local authorities experiencing financial difficulty, but
these schemes have now been discontinued. The research briefing highlights that, despite
this support ending, concerns remain about balancing financial pressures with the statutory
rights of children and young people, emphasising the continuing need for careful oversight
and strategic management.

These national pressures are reflected locally within our own High Needs Block. Demand
for EHCPs continues to grow, and the cost of placements, particularly in the independent
and non-maintained sector, remains a significant driver of expenditure. The overall position
of the HNB remains under considerable strain, and projected DSG deficits in future years
underscore the importance of ongoing vigilance. While the detailed financial breakdown has
been presented to the Forum previously, the high-level picture is one of persistent,
structural pressure that mirrors the national trends highlighted in the briefing.

The national emphasis on early intervention, strengthened mainstream inclusion, and
clearer expectations around “ordinarily available provision” means that mainstream schools
will be expected to play a more central role in supporting children at earlier stages.

This shift will require clarity, collaboration, and further work on how mainstream support is
resourced and monitored. The anticipated introduction of national bands and tariffs also
indicates that local funding arrangements will need to align with emerging national
standards. Preparing for these changes will demand robust data, transparent costing, and
effective communication with providers.

The High Needs Working Group will continue to review local arrangements and objectives
as part of the SEND strategy, focusing on areas such as top-up structures, inclusion
pathways, and building capacity in mainstream settings. By ensuring more pupils can be
supported closer to home in the right provision, the local authority will be better positioned to
implement the forthcoming changes with minimal disruption, drawing on lessons from
previous transitions.

High Needs Block Funding update

DSG is forecasting a £28.5m overspend, equivalent to 14.8% of the total DSG budget. This
position remains unchanged from the previous period. The overspend is entirely driven by
the High Needs Block, which continues to face significant pressure due to rising demand for
SEND provision, and there is a 65% overspend in comparison to the DfE’s High Needs
allocations for Havering. This highlights that the current funding formula from central
government does not adequately reflect Havering’s needs, a challenge shared by many
local authorities.

Page 70



DSG Block (post-recoupment) | Expenditure | variance | % ©f budet

Schools Block 98,731 98,731 0 0.00%
Central Schools Services Block 1,912 1,912 0 0.00%
High Needs Block 43,721 72,200 28,479 65.20%
Early Years Block 47,819 47,819 0 0.00%
DSG - overall 192,183 220,662 28,479 14.80%

This table shows the breakdown of forecasted expenditure and overspend across DSG
blocks, highlighting the disproportionate pressure on the High Needs Block. The High
Needs Block has a budget of £43.721m, with forecasted expenditure of £72.200m, resulting
in a £28.479m overspend—equivalent to 65.2% of the block’s budget. A £1.291m transfer
from the Schools Block has been made to help mitigate this pressure.

The cumulative DSG deficit is presently projected to reach £64.9m by the end of 2026-27.
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has extended the
statutory override for DSG deficits until 2027-28, reducing the immediate impact on the
Council’s general fund.

SEN Top-up funding for OoB commissioners

Under the DfE’s High Needs Funding Operational Guide (2025-26) in Appendix C, local
authorities are responsible for calculating their schools’ notional SEN budgets. These
estimates, embedded within mainstream schools’ core funding, provide a guide for the costs
of additional SEND support up to the statutory £6,000 threshold per pupil. Costs above this
threshold are met through top-up funding from the commissioning authority, responsible for
the child.

A particular complexity arises when children attend schools outside their home local
authority (Out-of-Borough or OoB). The commissioning authority remains responsible for
top-up funding for these pupils. However there can be differences in interpretation of the
guidance between authorities which can lead to difficulties — for example where authorities
use different rates for calculating the cost of support.

Schools are encouraged to carefully quantify the costs of any proxy provision used, such as
support hours, and to engage with the child’s caseworker to confirm the appropriate finance
contact in the commissioning LA for invoice submission. Notional SEN arrangements and
rates for schools in each LA apply uniformly to all learners, irrespective of which LA they
come from, ensuring that each child is treated consistently and fairly.

Havering has a number of neighbouring authorities with cross border movements in both
directions. There are inconsistent arrangements in place and we have been working to
standardise this. There are ongoing discussions with the authority with the largest group of
children.

Page 71




ke,

House of Commons
$hHE Library

Research Briefing

14 November 2025

5y Robert Long Special Educational Needs:
Nerys Roberts ’ support in England

Summary

1 Support for children with Special Educational Needs (SEN)
Funding system
Accountability: Ofsted and CQC inspections
The SEND Review and the SEND and Alternative Provision
Improvement Plan
Education Committee report on Solving the SEND Crisis
Statistics



Number 07020

Image Credits
Haddington Infant School Classroom by David Gilmour. Licensed under CC BY
2.0 / image cropped

Disclaimer

The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research
publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any
particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You
should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for
it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or
misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified
professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing
‘Legal help: where to go and how to pay’ for further information about
sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the
conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.

Sources and subscriptions for MPs and staff

We try to use sources in our research that everyone can access, but
sometimes only information that exists behind a paywall or via a subscription
is available. We provide access to many online subscriptions to MPs and

parliamentary staff, please contact hoclibraryonline@parliament.uk or visit
commonslibrary.parliament.uk/resources for more information.

Feedback

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly
available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be
aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect
subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email

papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to

engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions
about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and
correct any factual errors.

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at

commonslibrary.parliament.uk. If you have general questions about the work
of the House of Commons email hcenquiries@parliament.uk.

Page 73


https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03207/
mailto:hoclibraryonline@parliament.uk
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/resources/
mailto:papers@parliament.uk
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/
mailto:hcenquiries@parliament.uk

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Contents
Summary 6
1 Support for children with Special Educational Needs (SEN) 8
1.1 Legislation and Code of Practice 8
1.2 Definition of SEN 8
1.3 Levels of support 9
SEN Support 9
Education, Health and Care Plans 10
1.4  Key aspects of the system 1
The local offer 1
EHC plans for 19-25 year olds with SEN 1
Personal Budgets 12
Requirement for consultation with children, young people, and their
parents 13
Disputes 14
Advice for parents, carers, children and young people 15
1.5  Labour government position on reform and planned white paper 16
2 Funding system 18
2.1  Background 18
2.2 Reform: a national funding formula 19
Funding levels 19
Transferring funding between blocks 20
2.3 Education Committee funding report (2019) 21
Government response 21
2.4 Funding policy developments 2019-24 21
2.5 Additional funding and support for local authorities facing financial
challenges 24
‘Safety valve’ intervention programme 24
Pause of safety valve programme 25

Page 74

3 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025



Special Educational Needs: Support in England

2.6

2.7

2.8
2.9

2.10

4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4

5.1
5.2

Delivering better value in SEND 26
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Committee report on local
authority finances (2024) 27
Statutory override 27
Longer-term sustainability 27
Government response 28
Extension of the statutory override to 2028 28
National Audit Office report on system effectiveness and financial
sustainability (2024) 28
Parliamentary discussion 29
Institute for Fiscal Studies report on spending on SEN (2024) 30
Public Accounts Committee report on special educational needs (2025)
31
SEN and home-to-school transport 32
Related pressure on local authority finances and planned funding
changes 32
Accountability: Ofsted and CQC inspections 34
Overview of inspections 34
Revised approach in 2023 35
Area inspection findings 35
Background on the introduction of inspections 36
The SEND Review and the SEND and Alternative Provision
Improvement Plan 37
SEND review announcement (2019) 37
SEND and Alternative Provision Green Paper (2022) 38
The SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan (2023) 39
Proposals 39
New SENCo qualification 40
Education Committee report on Solving the SEND Crisis 42
Announcement 42
Report 42
Statistics 45

Page 75

Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025



Special Educational Needs: Support in England

6.1  Number of pupils with SEN 45

6.2 Education, health, and care plans across all age groups (0 to 25 years)
46

Trends in number of statements and education, health, and care plans

46

Timeliness in issuing new EHC plans 48
Placements 48

6.3 SEND Tribunals 48

Page 76

5 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025



Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Summary

Background

The Children and Families Act 2014 provides the statutory basis for the system
for identifying children and young people (age 0-25) in England with special
educational needs (SEN), assessing their needs and making provision for
them.

The statutory Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND): Code of
practice, first published in 2014, sets out detailed information on the support

available for children and young people aged 0 to 25 under the 2014 Act.
Broadly, there are two levels of support:

e  SEN Support, provided to a child or young person in their pre-school,
school, or college

e  Education, Health, and Care Plans (EHCPs) which provide a formal basis
for support for children and young people who need more support than is
available through SEN Support

Education is a devolved policy area and this paper applies to England only.

How many school pupils have SEN?

In January 2025, there were over 1.7 million school pupils in England with
identified SEN (19.6% of all pupils).

Of these pupils with identified SEN, around 1.3 million receive SEN Support,
and around 0.5 million have Education, Health, and Care plans.

Government white paper announcement

On 11 June 2025, as part of the Spending Review, the government confirmed
that its intended approach to SEND reform would be set out in a Schools

White Paper in autumn 2025. This has since been delayed to early 2026.

Page 77

6 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/spending-review-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-reform-education-secretary-writes-to-the-education-select-committee

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Pressure on local authority finances

In recent years, numerous reports have described increasing pressure on
local authority finances relating to SEND, with EHCP numbers rising sharply
and increased costs in other areas such as transport.

In January 2025, the Public Accounts Committee said the system for

supporting children with SEN “is reaching, or, arguably, has already reached,
crisis point” despite significant extra funding being provided.

Under the Conservative government, Safety Valve and Delivering Better Value
programmes were implemented to attempt to manage local authority
finances, although these have proved controversial. New Safety Valve
arrangements have been paused by the Labour government.

Since 2020, a ‘statutory override’ has also been in place that allows local
authorities to exclude any deficits on their Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
spending from their main revenue budgets, meaning that local authorities’
DSG deficits could be separated from their wider accounts. This override has
been extended to 2028 under the current government, pending wider reform
of the system.

Education Committee report - September 2025

The Education Committee published a report on Solving the SEND Crisis in

September 2025. The report was extensive and contained a large number of
recommendations, proposed ahead of the expected schools white paper later
in the year.

The report said that there should be no withdrawal of statutory entitlements
for children and young people, and focused on inclusivity and early
intervention to support children and young people as a way to restrain EHCP
numbers and associated costs.

The report’s other recommendations included national standards for
ordinarily available provision and SEN support, a review of SEN funding, and
mandatory teacher training on SEN.

Page 78

7 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

1.1

1.2

Support for children with Special
Educational Needs (SEN)

Legislation and Code of Practice

The Children and Families Act 2014 provided for a major reform of the system
for identifying children and young people in England with special educational
needs (SEN), assessing their needs and making provision for them.

The statutory Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND): Code of
practice, first published in 2014, sets out detailed information on the support

available for children and young people aged 0 to 25 under the 2014 Act.

Definition of SEN

The statutory SEND' Code of Practice sets out the definition of special
educational needs used in England:

A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or disability
which calls for special educational provision to be made for him or her.

A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or
disability if he or she:

e has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others
of the same age, or

e  has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of
facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age in
mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions

For children aged two or more, special educational provision is educational or
training provision that is additional to or different from that made generally for
other children or young people of the same age by mainstream schools,
maintained nursery schools, mainstream post-16 institutions or by relevant

' The Code of Practice refers to SEND, Special Educational Needs and Disability, whereas this briefing

is focused on children and young people with SEN. While many children with SEN will also have
disabilities (and vice versa), this is not uniformly the case. This briefing focuses on educational
support.

Page 79

8 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25

1.3

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

early years providers. For a child under two years of age, special educational
provision means educational provision of any kind.?

It is not necessary for particular medical conditions to have been assessed or
diagnosed for these criteria to be met, and for support to be provided. An

article by the SEND charity IPSEA provides useful information.?

Levels of support

The type of support that children and young people with SEN receive may vary
widely, as the types of SEN that they may have are very different. However,
two broad levels of support are in place: SEN support, and Education, Health
and Care Plans.

SEN Support

This will be support given to a child or young person in their pre-school,
school, or college.

The gov.uk website sets out that SEN support for children under 5 includes:
e awritten progress check when your child is 2 years old

e achild health visitor carrying out a health check for your child if they’re
aged 2to 3

e awritten assessment in the summer term of your child’s first year of
primary school

e making reasonable adjustments for disabled children, like providing aids
like tactile signs

For children of compulsory school age, the following indicative list is provided
of the type of help a child might receive:

e aspecial learning programme

o extra help from a teacher or assistant
e working in a smaller group

e observation in class or at break

e help taking part in class activities

*  Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years,
January 2015, p15-16

® IPSEA, The myth of needing a diagnaosis before you can get support, 8 April 2024

Page 80

9 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.ipsea.org.uk/blog/the-myth-of-needing-a-diagnosis-before-you-can-get-support
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/special-educational-needs-support
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/special-educational-needs-support
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/blog/the-myth-of-needing-a-diagnosis-before-you-can-get-support

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e extra encouragement in their learning, for example to ask questions or to
try something they find difficult

e help communicating with other children

e support with physical or personal care difficulties, for example eating,
getting around school safely or using the toilet

A young person of 16 to 25 in further education would need to contact their

school or college before starting a course, to ensure their needs can be met.

Education, Health and Care Plans

Education, Health and Care Plans are for children and young people aged up
to 25 who need more support than is available through SEN support. They aim
to provide more substantial help for children and young people through a
unified approach that reaches across education, health care, and social care
needs.

The gov.uk website makes clear that parents can ask their local authority to
carry out an assessment if they think their child needs an EHC Plan.

A request can also be made by:
e anyone at the child’s school
e adoctor

e a health visitor

e anursery worker

A local authority has six weeks to decide whether or not to carry out an EHC
needs assessment.

In conducting an EHC needs assessment, a local authority is required to:

o establish and record the views, interests and aspirations of the parents
and child or young person

e  provide a full description of the child or young person’s special
educational needs and any health and social care needs

o establish outcomes across education, health and social care based on
the child or young person’s needs and aspirations

Page 81

10 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/extra-SEN-help

1.4

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e specify the provision required and how education, health and care
services will work together to meet the child or young person’s needs and
support the achievement of the agreed outcomes*

Barring exceptional circumstances, the whole process of EHC needs
assessment and EHC plan development, from the point when an assessment
is requested (or a child or young person is brought to the local authority’s
attention) until the final EHC plan is issued, must take no more than 20
weeks.®

A chart on page 154 of the SEND Code of Practice sets out the relevant
processes and timescales.

Key aspects of the system

The local offer

Since September 2014, local authorities have been required to publish a ‘local
offer’ to clearly set out the services available for children and young people
with SEND. The offer must have been developed in partnership with children
and young people with SEN or disability and their parents, and education,
health, and care partners. It should cover the support available for those with
and without EHC Plans and from birth to 25 years, including SEN Support.

The Code of Practice states:

Local authorities must publish a Local Offer, setting out in one place
information about provision they expect to be available across education,
health and social care for children and young people in their area who have
SEN or are disabled, including those who do not have Education, Health and
Care (EHC) plans. In setting out what they ‘expect to be available’, local
authorities should include provision which they believe will actually be
available.®

The Code makes clear that this initial offer is intended to be the start of an
ongoing process, with local offers developed and revised over time through
regular review and consultation.

EHC plans for 19-25 year olds with SEN

EHC plans may be provided for eligible students up to the age of 25. However,
DfE guidance makes it clear that this does not mean that students have an
automatic entitlement to education up to the age of 25:

4 Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: O to 25 years,

January 2015, p142
®  Asabove, p152
6 Asabove, p59

Page 82

1 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-19-to-25-year-olds-entitlement-to-ehc-plans/send-19-to-25-year-olds-entitlement-to-ehc-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Young people with SEND are not automatically entitled to maintain their EHC
(education, health, and care) plans after they turn 19.

Reforms to the SEND system should mean that children and young people are
better prepared for adulthood. Therefore, we expect the majority of young
people with EHC plans to complete further education with their peers by age
19. However, we recognise that some young people with SEND need longer to
complete and consolidate their education and training. The length of time will
vary according to each young person.’

Nonetheless, 19 to 25 year olds with a learning difficulty or disability have the
right to request an EHC needs assessment (unless one has been carried out in
the last 6 months) and may appeal if a request is rejected.®

Personal Budgets

Young people and parents of children who have EHC plans have the right to
request a Personal Budget, which may contain elements of education, social
care, and health funding. A Personal Budget is an amount of money identified
by the local authority to deliver provision set out in an EHC plan where the
parent or young person is involved in securing that provision. Local
authorities must provide information on Personal Budgets as part of the local
offer. Personal Budgets are optional for the child’s parent or the young
person, but local authorities are under a duty to prepare a budget when
requested.®

A local policy should be available that includes:

e adescription of the services across education, health and social care
that currently lend themselves to the use of Personal Budgets

e the mechanisms of control for funding available to parents and young
people including:

— direct payments - where individuals receive the cash to contract,
purchase and manage services themselves

— anarrangement - whereby the local authority, school or college
holds the funds and commissions the support specified in the EHC
plan (these are sometimes called notional budgets)

— third party arrangements - where funds (direct payments) are paid
to and managed by an individual or organisation on behalf of the

child’s parent or the young person

— acombination of the above

7 Department for Education, SEND: 19- to 25-year-olds’ entitlement to EHC plans, February 2017

8 Asabove

® Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years,

p178

Page 83

12 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-19-to-25-year-olds-entitlement-to-ehc-plans/send-19-to-25-year-olds-entitlement-to-ehc-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e clear and simple statements of eligibility criteria and the decision-
making processes that underpin them™

Requirement for consultation with children, young
people, and their parents

The Code of Practice provides information on the requirements on local
authorities to consult with children and young people with SEN, as well as
their parents, in carrying out all duties relating to SEN:

Local authorities, in carrying out their functions under the Act in relation to
disabled children and young people and those with special educational needs
(SEN), must have regard to:

e the views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person, and the
child’s parents

e the importance of the child or young person, and the child’s parents,
participating as fully as possible in decisions, and being provided with the
information and support necessary to enable participation in those
decisions

e the need to support the child or young person, and the child’s parents, in
order to facilitate the development of the child or young person and to
help them achieve the best possible educational and other outcomes,
preparing them effectively for adulthood™

The Code states that these principles are designed to support:

e the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision-
making

e the early identification of children and young people’s needs and early
intervention to support them

e  greater choice and control for young people and parents over support

° collaboration between education, health, and social care services to
provide support

e high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people
with SEN

e afocus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning

e  successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and
employment™

©  Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years,
p48

" As above, p19

2 As above, ps19-20

Page 84

13 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/342440/SEND_Code_of_Practice_approved_by_Parliament_29.07.14.pdf

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

The Code of Practice sets out what these principles should mean in practice,
and how it is intended that they will be implemented.®

Disputes

Where a parent is not satisfied with the provision to support their child’s SEN
at school, or at an early years provider or a college, they should raise this as
a complaint with the educational establishment concerned. All providers
should have published complaints procedures to follow.

There is a different process where young people or parents disagree with a
local authority decision about their child’s support, such as a decision on

whether to create an EHC plan, or the contents of a plan.

Disputes of this kind may be resolved using mediation processes. Where a
dispute cannot be resolved in this way, appeals may be made to the First-tier

) special Educational | Disability).

The Tribunal is responsible for handling appeals against many local authority
decisions regarding special educational needs, including a refusal to:

e assess a child or young person’s educational, health and care (EHC)
needs

e  reassess their EHC needs

e issue an EHC plan

e change what’s in a child or young person’s EHC plan
e maintain the EHC plan

The Tribunal also deals with appeals about the content of plans, about
alleged discrimination by schools or local authorities due to a child’s
disability, and about some decisions on support for young people in custody.
Since a trial period between 2018 and 2021, the Tribunal also has the power to
make recommendations about health and social care issues in all appeals
where there was a valid appeal.

Chapter 11 of the SEND Code of Practice provides more detail on resolving
disputes.

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman can also investigate
some complaints relating to SEN which cannot be appealed through the
Tribunal.

¥ Department for Education, Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 95 years,
p20-29

Page 85

14 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/appeal-ehc-plan-decision
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-ehc-plan-decision
https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-special-educational-needs-and-disability
https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-special-educational-needs-and-disability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/342440/SEND_Code_of_Practice_approved_by_Parliament_29.07.14.pdf

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

The LGO website states:

The Ombudsman can investigate a complaint that a council has failed to
appropriately address a child’s special educational needs (SEN). This includes
delay in assessing a child and issuing an Education Health and Care Plan
(EHCP) and failing to implement an EHCP or carry out an annual review.

The law generally prevents us from investigating complaints for which a
remedy is available through an appeal to a statutory tribunal. This means that
the Ombudsman cannot investigate a complaint when the issues it raises can
be dealt with through an appeal to the First Tier Tribunal (Special Educational
Needs and Disability) (SEND). So, for example, we cannot question a council’s
decision not to assess a child for an EHCP as this can be appealed.

SEND can also hear appeals about the health and social care aspects of an
EHCP, alongside the educational provision.

If you have appealed to SEND, it is unlikely we will be able to investigate any
aspect of a complaint, such as interim provision, while the appeal is being
heard. However, this will depend on the specific circumstances of each case.

The website also includes information on how to complain:

You should normally complain to the council first. Councils often have more
than one stage in their complaints procedure and you will usually have to
complete all stages before we will look at your complaint.

Then, if you are unhappy with the final outcome, or the council is taking too
long to look into the matter - we think 12 weeks is reasonable - you can
complain to us.

Usually, you should complain to us within 12 months of when you first knew
about the problem. If you leave it any later, we may not be able to help.

For more information on how to complain, please read our step by step
process.

Advice for parents, carers, children and young people

The following organisations may be able to provide advice for individuals on
their particular situations:

Local Parent Partnership Service through the Information, Advice and
Support Services (IASS) Network

Page 86

Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/fact-sheets/education/special-educational-needs
https://www.lgo.org.uk/how-to-complain
https://www.lgo.org.uk/how-to-complain
http://cyp.iassnetwork.org.uk/
http://cyp.iassnetwork.org.uk/
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/contact-ipsea
https://sossen.org.uk/

1.5

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Labour government position on reform and
planned white paper

In response to a parliamentary question about special educational needs on 2
June 2025, the then schools minister, Catherine McKinnell, said:

The department is working closely with experts on reforms, including
appointing a strategic advisor for SEND, who is playing a key role in convening
and engaging with the sector, including leaders, practitioners, children and
families.

The department has also established an expert advisory group for inclusion to

improve the mainstream education outcomes and experiences for those with

SEND, and a Neurodivergence Task and Finish Group to provide a shared

understanding of what provision and support in mainstream educational
settings should look like for neurodivergent children and young people within
an inclusive system.™

In a December 2024 announcement on funding specialist provision, the
government said the funding would “start to pave the way for the
government’s wide-ranging long-term plans for reform to help more pupils
with SEND to have their needs met in mainstream schools.”®

On 11 June 2025, as part of the Spending Review, the government confirmed
that its intended approach to SEND reform would be set out in a schools white
paper in autumn 2025. It also confirmed it was setting aside £760 million from
the Transformation Fund in 2026-27 and 2027-28, for SEND reform, to ensure
services were focused on prevention.™

In October 2025, the Education Secretary wrote to the Education Committee

to confirm that the schools white paper would instead be published “early in
the new year.” The letter set out the following “Principles for SEND reform”:

1. Early. Children should receive the support they need as soon as possible.
This will start to break the cycle of needs going unmet and getting worse,
instead intervening upstream, earlier in children’s lives when this can have
most impact.

2. Local. Children and young people with SEND should be able to learn at a
school close to their home, alongside their peers, rather than travelling long
distances from their family and community. Special schools should continue to
play a vital role supporting those with the most complex needs.

3. Fair. Every school should be resourced and able to meet common and
predictable needs, including as they change over time, without parents having
to fight to get support for their children. Where specialist provision is needed

14 EQ 5364] Lspec'g ed CQI.QDQ Deeds. BefQ :m] 2 ne 2025
> Department for Education, New specialist places to be created in mainstream schools, 4 December
2024

®  HM Treasury, Spending Review 2025, CP 1336, June 2025, p16 & p60

Page 87

16 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/send-inclusion-in-education-expert-group
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/neurodivergence-task-and-finish-group
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-specialist-places-to-be-created-in-mainstream-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/spending-review-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-reform-education-secretary-writes-to-the-education-select-committee
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2025-05-20/53641
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-specialist-places-to-be-created-in-mainstream-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/spending-review-2025

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

for children in mainstream, special or Alternative Provision, we will ensure it is
there, with clear legal requirements and safeguards for children and parents.

4. Effective. Reforms should be grounded in evidence, ensuring all education
settings know where to go to find effective practice that has excellent long
term outcomes for children.

5. Shared. Education, health and care services should work in partnership with
one another, local government, families, teachers, experts and representative
bodies to deliver better experiences and outcomes for all our children.”

7" Department for Education, SEND reform: Education Secretary writes to the Education Select
Committee, 22 October 2025

Page 88

17 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-reform-education-secretary-writes-to-the-education-select-committee
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-reform-education-secretary-writes-to-the-education-select-committee

2.1

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Funding system

Background

Funding for SEN in England is not allocated as a separate amount per pupil.
SEN funding is part of the overall Dedicated Schools Grant allocated to each
local authority to fund their schools budget. It is for local authorities, in
consultation with their schools forums, to determine the individual allocation
to schools.

The following PQ response provides information on SEN funding for
maintained schools:

Steve McCabe: To ask the Secretary of State for Education whether special
educational needs coordinators are able to request funds from his Department
for extra assistance with SEN students in maintained schools. [201299]

Mr Timpson: The Department for Education does not give funds directly to
local authority maintained schools. Funds for extra assistance with students
with special educational needs (SEN) come from schools’ budgets and, if the
extra cost is more than £6,000 per year for an individual student, from local
authorities in the form of top-up funding for the school. Local authorities can
also give extra funding to schools with a disproportionate number of pupils
with SEN. Special educational needs coordinators should therefore seek any
additional funds required from the relevant local authority.™

Mainstream academies are in a similar position. When planning their
budgets, academies should take into account that they must meet the costs
of additional support for pupils with SEN up to £6,000 from their school
budget share (including the notional SEN funding).™

For maintained or academy special schools, a similar system is in place, but
they are funded at the higher level of £10,000 per SEN pupil, with any extra
‘top-up’ funding then provided by the local authority.?

The charity Independent Provider of Special Education Advice (IPSEA), have
produced a helpful briefing on changes to SEN funding that were introduced
from April 2013, which provides more background.”

¥ Department for Education,
year, February 2023

% Department for Education, High needs funding: 2022 to 2023 operational guidance, March 2023,

provides an overview of relevant funding

*IPSEA, School Funding Reform: SEN Funding, May 2013

Page 89

18 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


http://www.ipsea.org.uk/file-manager/news/News2013/sen-funding-after-april-2013-public-briefing.pdf
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmhansrd/cm140623/text/140623w0003.htm#1406246000981
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academies-general-annual-grant-allocation-guides-2023-to-2024/academy-general-annual-grant-allocation-guide-2023-to-2024-academic-year
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academies-general-annual-grant-allocation-guides-2023-to-2024/academy-general-annual-grant-allocation-guide-2023-to-2024-academic-year
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2022-to-2023/high-needs-funding-2022-to-2023-operational-guidance
http://www.ipsea.org.uk/file-manager/news/News2013/sen-funding-after-april-2013-public-briefing.pdf

2.2

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Reform: a national funding formula

The Conservative Government made major reforms to the way schools in
England are funded. As part of this, it has introduced a national funding
formula to allocate ‘high needs’ funding to local authorities - largely, this is
for special educational provision.

The high needs national funding formula includes, among other factors, a
basic unit of per-pupil funding for pupils in specialist SEN provision, a historic
spend factor, and various proxy measures of likely SEN need such as
population, school attainment, and the numbers of children in bad health.

The Department for Education’s High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational

guide provides detailed information on the allocation of funding.

Funding levels

In a written statement on 18 December 2024, Schools’ Minister, Catherine
McKinnell said high needs funding would be worth over £11.9bn in 2025-26.
She said this was a cash terms increase of 9% compared to the previous year.

The chart on the next page shows the total high needs block allocations over
the last decade (2025-26 figures are taken from published DSG allocations,
which are slightly lower than the £11.9bn noted above and provisional, so
subject to later updating). Some funding for SEN provision comes from other
sources, including the Core Schools’ Budget Grant, and the core schools block
of the DSG.

High needs block allocations have generally followed an upward trend,
particularly in recent years.

Page 90

19 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-to-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-to-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2024-12-18/debates/24121844000014/DedicatedSchoolsGrantAllocations2025-26
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2024-to-2025

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Total high needs block allocations in England
Cash terms (£billions) Real terms (£billions, 2024-25 prices)

10.4
10.0
7.9 7.5 77478
71 7.017.0)7.0

2013-14 2015-16 2017-18 2019-20 2021-22 2023-24 2025-26 2013-14 2015-16 2017-18 2019-20 2021-22 2023-24 2025-26

Notes: When calculating real-terms figures, GDP deflator growth for 2020-21 and 2021-22 has been averaged across the two years to
smooth the distortions caused by pandemic-related factors.

Figures for 2022-23 and 2023-24 include additional high needs funding for local authorities, made available in recognition of cost pressures.

Sources Department for EduCCItIOﬂ MMM&MMLS (cash terms allocatlon) HM Treasury, GDP deflators at market

calculations)

Transferring funding between blocks

Prior to 2018-19, the Dedicated Schools Grant was split into 3 blocks: the
schools block, the high needs block and the early years block. These blocks
were notional, with local authorities free to move funds between them.?

Following the introduction of the national funding formulas, this position is
now more restricted:

131. The second stage of the consultation recognised that a degree of flexibility
between the DSG funding blocks would be needed to ensure that local
authorities could manage their high needs budget. Local authorities will
therefore be able to transfer up to 0.5% of their schools block funding into
their high needs budget, with the agreement of their schools forum. [...]
[T]here will be a process for considering any reasonable requests for
exceptions to these rules.?

2 Department for Education, School revenue funding: Current funding arrangements, March 2016, p4
% pepartment for Education, The national funding formula for schools and high needs Policy
document, September 2017, p38. See also section 30 of Department for Education, Schools

operational guide: 2024 to 2025, 19 December 2023

Page 91

20 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/schools-national-funding-formula/supporting_documents/Current_funding_system.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648532/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Policy_document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648532/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Policy_document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2024-to-2025/schools-operational-guide-2024-to-2025#movements-between-blocks
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2024-to-2025/schools-operational-guide-2024-to-2025#movements-between-blocks
https://skillsfunding.service.gov.uk/view-latest-funding/national-funding-allocations/DSG/2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp
https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-march-2025/

2.3

2.4

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Education Committee funding report (2019)

In July 2019, the Education Committee published its report on A ten-year plan

for school and college funding, which included recommendations on SEN
funding.

The report described special educational needs and disability funding as
“completely inadequate...[with] simply not enough money in the system to
provide for the scale of demand.”*

Government response
The government published its response to the report in October 2019.

The government highlighted its forthcoming SEND review, and then-recent
additional funding for SEND.*

In response to wider concerns about the funding system and how money is
allocated, the response highlighted the call for evidence on the funding
system (see section 2.3), which it stated would feed into future decisions
about the future of the funding system.?®

Funding policy developments 2019-24

In May 2019 the Department for Education opened a call for evidence on the
high needs funding system.” The call for evidence ran until 31 July 2019.

The call for evidence was followed by the 2022 Special Educational Needs and
Alternative Provision green paper (see section 4.2) said the existing SEND and

alternative provision system is financially unsustainable.? The green paper
included proposals on SEND funding, and future consultations on wider
school funding reform are expected to include more proposals on how local
authorities manage their SEN budgets.®

Chapter 6 of the SEND and alternative provision improvement plan published

in March 2023 (see section 4.3) discusses how the then government planned
to reform the system’s funding.

% House of Commons Education Select Committee, A ten-year plan for school and college funding,
Tenth report of session 2017-19, July 2019, HC 969, para 105

»  Department for Education, Government response to Education Committee report on school and
college funding, Cm 190, October 2019, p19

% As above, p19-20

¥ Department for Education, Education Secretary confirms plans to simplify school accountability, 3
May 2019

% Department for Education, SEND Review: right support, right place, right time, March 2022, p22
*  Department for Education, SEND Review: right support, right place, right time, March 2022, p74

Page 92

21 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/969/96902.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/969/96902.htm
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Education/Correspondence/19-20/Government-Response-to-committee-tenth-report-of-Session-2017%E2%80%9319-a-ten-year-plan-for-school-and-college-funding-CP-190.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/funding-for-send-and-those-who-need-ap-call-for-ev/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/969/969.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Education/Correspondence/19-20/Government-Response-to-committee-tenth-report-of-Session-2017%E2%80%9319-a-ten-year-plan-for-school-and-college-funding-CP-190.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Education/Correspondence/19-20/Government-Response-to-committee-tenth-report-of-Session-2017%E2%80%9319-a-ten-year-plan-for-school-and-college-funding-CP-190.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/education-secretary-confirms-plans-to-simplify-school-accountability?utm_source=7c997290-53ac-4bf7-9967-6acf851b05b4&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

As noted, SEND funding is part of the overall Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
allocated to each local authority to fund their schools budget. It is for local
authorities, in consultation with their schools forums, to determine the
allocation to individual schools. Both SEND and alternative provision are
funded out of the high needs block of the DSG.

The government did not propose to change this basic setup but the
improvement plan provides for a new national framework of banding and
price tariffs for high needs funding, which would be matched based on need
and type of education set out in the new national SEND standards.

Consultation on school funding reform

From June to September 2022, the Department for Education ran a

consultation on school funding reform, including SEND funding.*

The government’s response was published in April 2023. The response said the
government would:

e  Continue flexibility for local authorities to transfer funding to high needs
budgets, with a corresponding adjustment to mainstream schools’
funding allocations, through an application process to the Secretary of
State

e Introduce a national approach to calculating schools’ indicative SEND
budgets and consult further on the design and operation of this
approach

The response said SEND budgets:

...could only ever act as an indication of what might be needed, because head
teachers, Special Educational Needs Coordinators and other professionals
working in and with the school are best placed to decide what support each
child needs, and a budget calculation at national level based on proxy
measures of need could never accurately predict the precise level of resources
required. An indicative SEND budget would, however, provide some assurance
that the level of SEND in the school’s pupil population was reflected in their
funding allocation.®

Bands and tariffs

The Improvement Plan set out the then government’s intention to develop a
system of funding bands and tariffs to support the planned national
standards for SEND, with more consistent funding across the country.

The plan said:

Whilst there will always be some local variation, to have a consistent, national
SEND and alternative provision system and ensure value for money, we must

% Department for Education, Implementing the direct national funding formula, 7 June 2022
#  Department for Education, Implementing the Direct National Funding Formula Government
consultation response, April 2023, p16

Page 93

22 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementing-the-direct-national-funding-formula
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementing-the-direct-national-funding-formula
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementing-the-direct-national-funding-formula
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementing-the-direct-national-funding-formula
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementing-the-direct-national-funding-formula

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

move to a world where similar types of support are backed by similar levels of
funding.®

It acknowledged that costs vary around the country and that any changes
needed to take account of this:

We know that currently there is significant variation in the cost of provision
across the country, so, starting in 2023, we will undertake research to gather
more information about the costs of provision and then explore the best way to
manage and reduce this variation as much as possible.®

The plan said many respondents to the green paper consultation “welcomed
the proposal for a more nationally consistent and transparent system,” but
also that others were concerned the reforms needed to be flexible enough to
adapt to the needs of individual children and young people, in particular
those whose needs change over time.**

Independent schools

The green paper proposed that national bands and tariffs would apply across
the whole range of special education provision, including the independent
specialist sector.

The Improvement Plan said while independent special schools represent a
third of special schools and support 5% of pupils with EHCPs, and the sector’s
funding comes overwhelmingly from the state, it is not treated in the same
way as state-maintained specialist provision, and its regulation is designed
for private fee-paying schools:

Management is fragmented and small-scale, based on local authorities’
individual pupil placements. This is inefficient for both commissioners and
providers and makes it difficult to assess the overall impact of independent
special schools. Provision can be opened or closed regardless of the effect on
the existing local offer of provision made by schools and colleges, leaving local
authorities to deal with over or under supply.®

The plan continued:

We will re-examine the state’s relationship with independent special schools to
ensure the expectations we set are comparable to those on other state-funded
specialist providers. We will work with the sector to consider how they should
be aligned with the new National Standards, defining the provision they offer
and bringing consistency and transparency to their costs.*®

#  Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, CP 800, March 2023, p84

#  Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, CP 800, March 2023, p85

3 As above, p84

% Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, CP 800, March 2023, ps87-88

% Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, CP 800, March 2023, p88

Page 94

23 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan

2.5

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Additional funding and support for local
authorities facing financial challenges

‘Safety valve’ intervention programme

In the 2020-21 financial year, the DfE introduced a programme where a small
number of local authorities facing the most significant financial challenges
are given additional funding and support to address their DSG deficits. This is
known as the safety valve intervention programme.

The original local authorities that signed safety valve agreements,
committing them to addressing their budget deficits and managing
overspends were Stoke-on-Trent, Bury, Hammersmith and Fulham, Richmond
upon Thames, and Kingston upon Thames.

A further nine local authorities signed safety valve agreements with the DfE
during 2021-22. 20 more agreements were signed in 2022-23, and four in 2023-
24, meaning a total of 38 local authorities are involved. A list of authorities
involved in the safety valve programme C_Q.D_b_e_ﬁo_lJ.D_d_O_D_th_e_DfEMLe_b_SI_tﬁ The
DfE has publi ] guida J 1k
mtenmtmmdsmh_loml_quthmum last updated in October 2022

In response to a parliamentary question in May 2024, the minister, David

Johnston, summarised the programme’s purpose:

The Safety Valve programme supports the local authorities with the highest
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficits. The programme requires the local
authorities involved to develop substantial plans for reform to their high needs
systems, with support and challenge from the department, to rapidly place
them on a sustainable footing. If the local authorities can demonstrate
sufficiently that their DSG management plans create lasting sustainability,
including reaching an in-year balance, and are effective for children and
young people, then the department will enter into an agreement.

Through the agreements, the local authorities are subsequently held to
account for their reform and savings projections via regular reporting to the
department. The department will help the local authorities with additional
revenue funding over time to contribute to their historic deficits, but this is
contingent on delivery of the reforms in the agreements.*

In July 2023, the charity, IPSEA, said it had written to all safety valve
intervention local authorities seeking assurance that they would meet their
legal duties in relation to SEN provision, which it notes “remain unchanged in
the context of both the government’s SEND Change Programme and the
safety valve intervention programme”. IPSEA Chief Executive, Ali Fiddy, said:

Individual safety valve agreements are explicit about containing numbers of
EHC needs assessments, EHC plans and placements in non-mainstream
settings, among other things. But it would not be lawful, for example, to

¥ pQ 97163 [Special Educational Needs: Finance], 24 May 2024

Page 95

24 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-very-high-deficit-intervention
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-sustainable-high-needs-systems
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-sustainable-high-needs-systems
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2024-05-20/27163
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/ipsea-writes-to-local-authorities-over-concerns-with-safety-valve-agreements
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/ipsea-writes-to-local-authorities-over-concerns-with-safety-valve-agreements
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan/send-and-alternative-provision-roadmap
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2024-05-20/27163

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

introduce local policies on eligibility for EHC needs assessment that vary from
the legal threshold, or blanket policies on access to particular services or
placements.

While early intervention, effective multi-agency working and inclusive
practices are all vitally important, there will always be children and young
people who need additional statutory support. The Children and Families Act
2014 and the SEND Regulations 2014 set out clearly children and young
people’s entitlement to provision that meets their individual needs. However,
the steady rise in appeals to the SEND Tribunal, and the high volume of
unlawful decision-making evidenced by the overwhelming number of appeals
upheld by the Tribunal, indicates that local authorities do not always prioritise
compliance with SEND law.*®

In May 2024, IPSEA published information it had requested from local
authorities with safety valve arrangements under the Freedom of Information
Act. IPSEA were particularly concerned about what targets might exist to limit
special educational provision as part of these agreements. From the
information they received, IPSEA raised concerns that safety valve
agreements were requiring local authorities to:

o Reduce the number of EHC needs assessments

e Reduce the number of children and young people attending special
schools and colleges

e Reduce the number of children and young people attending a school or
college outside their local area

e  Cease to maintain larger numbers of EHC plans®

IPSEA said that the responses raised concerns that the programme prioritised
financial concerns over children and young people’s needs and the
associated legal duties, and called for the safety valve programme to be
scrapped. *°

Pause of safety valve programme

The Labour government has said that the use of new Safety Valve
arrangements is currently paused and that the Department for Education is
undertaking a review of the programme’s impacts:

Baroness Smith: [...] The department is also conducting a research project
into the impact of Safety Valves in local areas. This will help us further
understand the experience of children, parents, carers and schools.

% |PSEA, LE&EAM&SJQJMMMM&L&MM@MMMWS July 2023

39

2024
40 As above

Page 96

25 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/prioritise-needs-over-numbers-and-end-the-safety-valve-intervention-programme
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/prioritise-needs-over-numbers-and-end-the-safety-valve-intervention-programme
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/ipsea-writes-to-local-authorities-over-concerns-with-safety-valve-agreements
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/news/prioritise-needs-over-numbers-and-end-the-safety-valve-intervention-programme

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

The department has confirmed that it will not enter into any more Safety Valve
agreements for councils that have financial deficits, pending wider reform of
the whole system to prioritise early intervention, properly supporting councils
to bring their finances under control. We will continue to work with local
authorities that have Safety Valve agreements with the department, to deliver
their plans.*

Delivering better value in SEND

Alongside the safety valve programme, the DfE has also introduced the

Delivering better value (DBV) in SEND programme. This is an optional

programme, and works with 54 local authorities, which are able to apply for
grants from the DfE, in connection with work to identify and address budget
pressures. The authorities were chosen “based on those with the highest
deficits as at 2020-21 (after those authorities that have already been invited
to join the DfE’s safety valve programme).”** However, DBV “will not ‘write off’

any high needs budget deficits”.* A list of participating local authorities can

be found on the DBV website.

There have been reports suggesting participating DBV local authorities may
face targets to reduce the number of EHC plans,* and concerns about the
likely success of the programme in reducing local authority deficits.*

In response to a PQ on 23 October 2023, Minister David Johnston said:

The department’s Delivering Better Value (DBV) programme has no targets to
reduce the number of new Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans. Decisions
about individual children and young people and whether they require EHC
plans must be made on an individual basis, following the processes set out in
the Children and Families Act 2014. The department is protecting every parent
and family’s existing legal right to an EHC plan when they need one, and that
will not change.

The DBV programme is part of the wider reform work set out in detail in the
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision
(AP) Improvement Plan. DBV aims to put the SEND system on a more
sustainable footing by funding system transformation in up to 55 local
authorities with high dedicated schools grant deficits. It does so by providing
diagnostic support to each local authority to engage with its stakeholders and
identify opportunities to improve services and meet children’s needs at an
early stage and with the right level of support.*®

In October 2024, the Department for Education published a research report

on Findings from Phase One of DBV. The report’s key findings were that:

“ PQ H13554 [Special educational needs], 30 December 2024

*2 Department for Education, Guidance on our intervention work with local authorities, October 2022,
p3

+ Delivering better value in SEND, “about” website article, undated

4 See: Matt Keer ond Tania Tirraoro, Specml Needs Jungle, “DBV EQ[_t 2: 20% EHQ;E cuts? After

] jo...”, 11 September 2023

* _Gm&mmgm&ND_sgmngs_plqnﬂul_bgLel;Ldﬁnlmngu_dgﬁgms_ Schools Week, 29 September 2023

¢ PQ 203508 [on Special Educational Needs], 25 October 2093

Page 97

26 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.dbvinsend.com/about
https://www.dbvinsend.com/participating-local-authorities
https://www.dbvinsend.com/insights
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2024-12-17/HL3554
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-sustainable-high-needs-systems
https://www.dbvinsend.com/about
https://www.specialneedsjungle.com/dbv-part-2-20-ehcp-cuts-dfe-explaining/
https://www.specialneedsjungle.com/dbv-part-2-20-ehcp-cuts-dfe-explaining/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/government-send-savings-plan-will-barely-dent-council-deficits/?utm_source=feedly&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=government-send-savings-plan-will-barely-dent-council-deficits&utm_source=HOC+Library+-+Current+awareness+bulletins&utm_campaign=97f58599e8-Current_Awareness_Social_Policy_I_29-09-2023&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_f325cdbfdc-97f58599e8-103780050&mc_cid=97f58599e8&mc_eid=1957fdb728
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2023-10-19/203508

2.6

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e 65% of the children and young people reviewed could have had their
needs met in a more effective way

e Animproved system could lead to 30,000 more children having their
needs met through SEN Support and 35,000 more children having their
needs met in a mainstream setting rather than a specialist placement,
including 15,000 more children supported through resourced provision

e The main barrier to more effective support for children and young people
was being supported in a provision that is not most effective for them.*

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
Committee report on local authority finances
(2024)

In February 2024, the Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Committee
published a report on Einancial distress in local authorities. Among other
areas, the report addressed financial pressures resulting from SEND
expenditure.

Statutory override

As well as rising demand, the report highlighted the ‘statutory override’
introduced by the then-Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local
government in 2020. The override allows local authorities to exclude any
deficits on their Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) spending from their main
revenue budgets, meaning that local authorities’ DSG deficits could be
separated from their wider accounts.*® The override ran initially until March
2023, but in December 2022 was extended to the end of March 2026.°

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities told the
committee in oral evidence that a decision on whether the government will
fund, or expect local authorities to fund, deficits remaining when the statutory
override ends is expected in the next Parliament.*°

Longer-term sustainability

The committee raised concerns about the longer-term efficacy of the current
support programmes in place for local authorities experiencing difficulties:

+ Department for Education, Delivering Better Value in SEND: Phase 1 Insight Summary, October 2024,
p12

4 Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Committee, Einancial distress in local authorities, Third
Report of Session 2023-24, HC 56, p30

%0 As above, p31

Page 98

27 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/work/7943/financial-distress-in-local-authorities/publications/
https://www.dbvinsend.com/insights
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2022-11-29/98741/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/7943/financial-distress-in-local-authorities/publications/

2.7

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

While we appreciate that some efficiencies may be achievable, it is not
realistic to expect local authorities to manage down deficits of the scale of
many billions of pounds over a period of two or three years. One-off ‘safety
valve’ funding does not address the underlying mismatch between demand,
costs, and annual DSG funding and it will not prevent local authorities from
accumulating further deficits subsequently.”'

Among the committee’s recommendations was for the government to provide
clarity to local authorities on its specific expectations for resolving existing
DSG budget deficits, and agree with local authorities a set of “realistic and
achievable steps, supplemented by sufficient additional funding,” for
eliminating those deficits, by the end of March 2024.

Government response
The government responded to the report in March 2024. The response

confirmed that the statutory override would remain in place up to March
2026, and said that as part of the improvement plan launched in 2023, it
would “carefully monitor the pace of progress towards our aims to improve
outcomes and experiences within a fair and financially sustainable system.”>

Extension of the statutory override to 2028

In June 2025 the Labour government announced that, while reforms were
being made to the system of support for SEND, the Dedicated Schools Grant

statutory override would stay in place until the end of 2027/28.>

National Audit Office report on system
effectiveness and financial sustainability
(2024)

The National Audit Office published a report on Support for children and
young people with special educational needs in October 2024. The report

looked at how well the current system is delivering for children and young
people in England identified as having SEN, as well as the DfE’s progress in
providing a sustainable system that achieves positive outcomes for children.

The report presented several key findings about the system, including that:

S As above

2. As above, p33

3 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Einancial distress in local authorities:
government response to the Select Committee report, 25 March 2024

% Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Eairer funding for councils across the
country in major reform, 20 June 2025

Page 99

28 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report/financial-distress-in-local-authorities-government-response-to-the-select-committee-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e Since 2019, there has been no consistent improvement in outcomes for
children and young people with SEN

e  Families and children lack confidence in the system, which often falls
short of statutory and quality expectations

e  State special schools are over capacity which may mean children are not
in the most appropriate setting, including in more expensive independent
schools

e The factors influencing rapid increases in SEN can be hard to quantify,
which inhibits the DfE’s ability to focus on addressing root causes, many
of which extend beyond its remit in underlying social, educational or
medical causes

e Ifunreformed, the SEN system is financially unsustainable. The DfE
estimates that the cumulative deficit of local authorities will be between
£4.3 billion and £4.9 billion when the statutory override ends in March
2026

e  The DfE has taken steps to tackle local authorities’ immediate financial
pressures though the Safety Valve and Delivering Better Value
programmes, but these will not provide a sustainable system.>

The NAO made several recommendations, including that the DfE should
“explicitly consider whole-system reform” to improve outcomes and create
financial sustainability.*® This should be accompanied by work to understand
the root causes behind increases in SEN and demand for EHC plans and
special school places, as well as to build a more integrated system of support
with other areas such as healthcare.”

The report also made a series of recommendations for the DfE to make better
use of its funding, including to:

as a matter of urgency, work with MHCLG and HM Treasury, to share with local
authorities its plans for ensuring each local authority can achieve a
sustainable financial position once the statutory override ends in 2025-26.%

Parliamentary discussion

An urgent question was tabled in the House of Commons on 24 October 2024
by Munira Wilson (LD), when the NAO report was published.

% National Audit Office,
October 2024, pp6-10

% National Audit Office,
October 2024, p11

7 As above

% As above

Page 100

29 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/

2.8

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

The schools minister, Catherine McKinnell, said that the report was “bang on
the money” and that regaining parents’ confidence in the SEND system would
“be a huge and complex reform.”*°

James Wild (Con) said that “since the election we have heard very little from
this Government about their plans for reform. We look for more clarity, and
we certainly support greater inclusivity.”®°

Munira Wilson said that the “report makes clear the urgent need for whole-
system reform, with joined-up thinking across local and national Government,
the NHS and schools.”®

Institute for Fiscal Studies report on spending
on SEN (2024)

unprecedented pressure over the past decade, and without substantial reform
it will likely become unmanageable for local authorities over the coming years.
Fundamentally, this is due to the rocketing number of children and young
people with education, health and care plans (EHCPs).®?

The report said the reasons behind this rise are complex, but could include
increased severity of needs, expanded recognition and diagnosis of needs,
and stronger incentives to seek statutory provision. As well as these rising

numbers, the report identified the following key concerns:

e High needs spending has been consistently higher than funding by £200-
800 million per year between 2018 and 2022

e There are large variations in identified need, funding and deficits across
local authorities

e Nearly two-thirds of the increase in spending has been driven by
increased spending on pupils in special schools

° Financial incentives for schools to seek EHCPs

The report said reform would be complex and costly, with potential changes
including the expansion of provision in mainstream schools, expansion of

% HC Deb 24 October 2024 c408
@ HC Deb 24 Qctober 2024 c406
52 Institute for Fiscal Studies, Spe

change, 10 December 2024

Page 101

30 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2024-10-24/debates/4B23B7F6-11EF-42D7-90B2-8E5DD6096BB7/SpecialEducationalNeedsAndDisabilities
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2024-10-24/debates/4B23B7F6-11EF-42D7-90B2-8E5DD6096BB7/SpecialEducationalNeedsAndDisabilities
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2024-10-24/debates/4B23B7F6-11EF-42D7-90B2-8E5DD6096BB7/SpecialEducationalNeedsAndDisabilities
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change

2.9

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

state-funded special school places, geographic redistribution of funding, and
reducing the statutory obligations currently attached to EHCPs.®

Public Accounts Committee report on special
educational needs (2025)

In January 2025, the Public Accounts Committee published a report on

The committee said the system for supporting children with SEN “is reaching,
or, arguably, has already reached, crisis point” despite extra funding, and
that the system was both failing to provide support for children and putting
enormous strain on local authority finances, without any sign of reforms to
improve the situation:

As well as not delivering outcomes, the SEN system is unaffordable, placing a
significant strain on local authorities’ finances. Most worryingly, government
does not know how it will address immediate financial challenges faced by
local authorities where, for many years, local authority spending has
outstripped departmental high-needs funding, leading to substantial
deficits.®

The committee’s chair, Sir Geoffrey Clifton-Brown (Con), said that:

The immensity of this situation cannot be overstated. As a nation, we are
failing countless children. We have been doing so for years. At the same time,
we are creating an existential financial risk for some local authorities, caused
by that same failing system.

The government response to the report was published in May 2025. The
response stated that the government intends to set out plans for reforming

the SEND system later in 2025, including support for local authorities with
their deficits, and that this would “inform any decision to remove the
statutory override.”®®

% As above

5 Public Accounts Committee, Supy
First report of session 2024-25, HC 353, p1

% Public Accounts Committee, SEND emergency: Unviable system will end in lost generation of
chngir_e_thQqu_efQLm 15 Jonuory 2025

% HM Treasury,

Mwmﬁwwmmm(pdﬂ May 2025, p6

Page 102

31 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8582/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/publications/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/127/public-accounts-committee/news/204725/send-emergency-unviable-system-will-end-in-lost-generation-of-children-without-reform/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67ed0859632d0f88e8248b9b/Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf#page=5
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67ed0859632d0f88e8248b9b/Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf#page=5

2.10

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

SEN and home-to-school transport

As set out in statutory home to school transport guidance for England, local

authorities have duties to provide home-to-school transport for children of
compulsory school age in some cases.

Pages 11-15 of the guidance provide an overview of considerations relating to
children with special educational needs or disabilities, which it says must be
considered on a case-by-case basis. In particular it states:

A child is eligible for free travel to school if:

e they attend their nearest suitable school, and

e itiswithin the statutory walking distance of their home, and

e they could not reasonably be expected to walk there because of their
special educational needs, disability or mobility problem, even if they
were accompanied by their parent [...]

To be eligible on these grounds, a child does not need to:

e  have an Education Health and Care plan (EHC plan); or

e  have travel to school specified in their EHC plan if they have one; or

e  qattend a special school; or

e live beyond the statutory walking distance.®’

A child’s needs would need to be considered as part of any transport that was
arranged for them. The guidance is not prescriptive on how these duties are
met.

Related pressure on local authority finances and
planned funding changes

The National Audit Office report on Support for children and young people
with special educational needs, published in October 2024, highlighted

transport as an important example of other local authority funding being
used to support those with SEN, and said that local authorities spent £1.4
billion on home-to-school transport to support those with SEN in 2022-23, an
80% real terms increase from 2015-16.°

¢ Department for Education, Travel to school for children of compulsory school age, January 2024,
p11-12

% National Audit Office,
October 2024, p20

Page 103

32 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/659d7ebb0dd0a200138b612a/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

In July 2025, the Local Government Association published research which

found that spending by councils on home to school transport for children with

special educational needs and disabilities was predicted to reach nearly £2
billion in 2025/26.%° The report said:

Key factors behind the increased cost of SEND transport include a rise in
children with Education, Health and Care Plans (which set out the support a
child will receive), more children having to be placed further from home and
outside their local area, and changes in complexity of need, which for example
might require individualised transport arrangements.

In June 2025, the government announced that it would “introduce a bespoke

formula to recognise Home to School transport costs.””

% Local Government Association, Council spending on SEND home to school transport soars - new
LGA research, 2 July 2025
7 As above

7 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Eairer funding for councils across the
country in major reform, 20 June 2025

Page 104

33 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/council-spending-send-home-school-transport-soars-new-lga-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/council-spending-send-home-school-transport-soars-new-lga-research
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/council-spending-send-home-school-transport-soars-new-lga-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Accountability: Ofsted and CQC
inspections

Overview of inspections

Since 2016, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) have been
carrying out inspections of all local authority SEND support provision in
England.

children and young people (from birth to age 25) who have special
educational needs or disabilities (or both).

The framework sets out that the purpose of these inspections is to:

e  provide an independent, external evaluation of the effectiveness of the
local area partnership’s arrangements for children and young people
with SEND

e where appropriate, recommend what the local area partnership should
do to improve the arrangements

Inspectors do not carry out inspections of individual education, social care or
health services or providers under this inspection framework

Since 2023, inspections have taken place in a continuous inspection cycle,
and there are three potential inspection outcomes, as set out in the
framework:

e The local area partnership’s SEND arrangements typically lead to positive
experiences and outcomes for children and young people with SEND. The
local area partnership is taking action where improvements are needed

e The local area partnership’s arrangements lead to inconsistent
experiences and outcomes for children and young people with SEND. The
local area partnership must work jointly to make improvements

e  There are widespread and/or systemic failings leading to significant
concerns about the experiences and outcomes of children and young
people with SEND, which the local area partnership must address
urgently.”

" Ofsted, Area SEND inspections: framework and handbook, December 2023

Page 105

34 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-framework-and-handbook/area-send-inspections-framework-and-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-framework-and-handbook/area-send-inspections-framework-and-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-framework-and-handbook/area-send-inspections-framework-and-handbook

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Subsequent monitoring or reinspection of an area is dependent on its
inspection outcome.

Separate information for young people and families about the inspections has

also been published.

The relevant reports are published on the Ofsted and CQC websites.

Revised approach in 2023

Ofsted and the CQC published a revised area inspection framework and
handbook effective from January 2023, which amended their approach,

following a consultation on the new area SEND framework.™
The SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan included the following

summary:

In January 2023, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission introduced a new
approach for area SEND inspections. These place greater emphasis on the
outcomes that are being achieved for children and young people, look more
closely at children under 5 and those aged 16-25 years old and include
alternative provision for the first time. It will have three possible inspection
outcomes providing more nuanced judgements for areas to better inform a
Department for Education response into local areas. Finally, as part of the
framework, there will be a series of thematic visits each year, with the first
focusing on alternative provision, publishing in autumn 2023.

The Plan further said that the Department for Education would adjust its
response to poor performance, in line with the new inspection framework, so
that it could act proactively when areas fail to provide the necessary support
to meet the needs of children and young people, including the removal of
service control and imposition of a trust or commissioner on local authorities,
where required.”

Area inspection findings

Ofsted's annual report for 2022/23 stated that, between January and August
2023, Ofsted and the CQC inspected 16 local area partnerships under the

revised inspection framework.” Five of these inspections found local
arrangements typically led to “positive experiences and outcomes for children
and young people”.” In six areas, arrangements led to “inconsistent
experiences and outcomes” and in five, there were “widespread and/or
systemic failings™.

" Ofsted, HMCI commentary: publishing our new area SEND framework, 29 November 2022
" Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan, March 2023, p73-74

s As above

% Ofsted, f i iesty’s Chief ‘ . . , . .
2022/23, 23 November 2023
77 As above

Page 106

35 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspections-information-for-families
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/search?q=&location=&lat=&lon=&radius=&level_1_types=4&level_2_types%5B%5D=18
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-framework-and-handbook/area-send-inspections-framework-and-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-framework-and-handbook/area-send-inspections-framework-and-handbook
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-publishing-our-new-area-send-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-report-202223-education-childrens-services-and-skills/the-annual-report-of-his-majestys-chief-inspector-of-education-childrens-services-and-skills-202223
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-publishing-our-new-area-send-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-report-202223-education-childrens-services-and-skills/the-annual-report-of-his-majestys-chief-inspector-of-education-childrens-services-and-skills-202223
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-report-202223-education-childrens-services-and-skills/the-annual-report-of-his-majestys-chief-inspector-of-education-childrens-services-and-skills-202223

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

The report summarised:

Inspections under the new framework are showing many of the same concerns
as under the previous framework. Most significantly, families continue to
experience long waiting times for some assessments and support, such as
child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), educational psychology
and speech and language therapy. The increase in EHC plans is having a
negative impact on health and education services. The DfE has reported that
services such as educational psychology are struggling to deal with the volume
of EHC plan referrals, which is delaying access to other essential services.
Educational psychologists are suggesting that better early interventions could
reduce the need for EHC plans and the pressure on health and education
services.”

Background on the introduction of inspections

In March 2015 the Deportment for Education publlshed Speglgl_edummgngl
1bility, which
pr0V|ded a fromework for mon|tor|ng the performance ofthe reformed SEND
support system. The document indicated that the government would develop
a set of key indicators to monitor the progress and impact of the reforms
locally and nationally,” and included information about new arrangements
for independent assessment, including proposed inspections by Ofsted and
the CQC.2°

A consultation on the proposed inspections by Ofsted and the CQC was
launched in October 2015 and ran until January 2016. It set out that, starting
in May 2016, inspectors from these two bodies would inspect the provision of
support for children and young people with SEND across the responsible local
bodies in health, social services, and education.?

Ofsted and the CQC published a response to the consultation on 10 March
2016. The response set out how Ofsted and the CQC would develop their

approach, informed by consultative pilot inspections.

Ofsted and the CQC stated that there was “considerable agreement” with the
proposals and that inspections would begin in May 2016.

% Ofsted, f i esty’s Chief ‘ . . , . .
2022/23, 23 November 2023

7 Department for Education, Spe i ]
Q_CQ_O_LLDIQhIlJIy_[_lLD.k_tQ_BD_E._SB_ka_l Morch 2015, p6

8 As above, p14-15

8 Ofsted

needs_[imk_to_EDE] October 2015

Page 107

36 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-supporting-local-and-national-accountability
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-supporting-local-and-national-accountability
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/views-sought-on-inspecting-special-educational-needs-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/506530/LASEND_consultation_report_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-report-202223-education-childrens-services-and-skills/the-annual-report-of-his-majestys-chief-inspector-of-education-childrens-services-and-skills-202223
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-annual-report-202223-education-childrens-services-and-skills/the-annual-report-of-his-majestys-chief-inspector-of-education-childrens-services-and-skills-202223
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416347/Accountability_Publication.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416347/Accountability_Publication.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467416/CONSULTATION_DOCUMENT_Local_area_SEND_consultation_FINAL_2015_10_12.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467416/CONSULTATION_DOCUMENT_Local_area_SEND_consultation_FINAL_2015_10_12.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467416/CONSULTATION_DOCUMENT_Local_area_SEND_consultation_FINAL_2015_10_12.pdf

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

4.1

The SEND Review and the SEND and
Alternative Provision Improvement Plan

SEND review announcement (2019)

In September 2019, five years after the introduction of the current system of

support for children and young people with SEND, the government announced
. : fits effect] .
The review aimed to “improve the services available to families who need
support, equip staff in schools and colleges to respond effectively to their
needs as well as ending the ‘postcode lottery’ they often face.”® It intended to
look at how the system has evolved since its introduction, links with health

and social care, and would “conclude with action to boost outcomes and
improve value for money.”#

The government said it would consider and propose action on:

o the evidence on how the system can provide the highest quality support
that enables children and young people with SEND to thrive and prepare
for adulthood, including employment;

e better helping parents to make decisions about what kind of support will
be best for their child;

e making sure support in different local areas is consistent, joined up
across health, care and education services, and that high-quality health
and education support is available across the country;

»  how to strike the right balance of state-funded provision across inclusive
mainstream and specialist places;

» aligning incentives and accountability for schools, colleges and local
authorities to make sure they provide the best possible support for
children and young people with SEND;

8 For example, the Education Policy Institute identified a “postcode lottery” in the provision of SEND
support in its study, “with the chances of receiving SEND support from the school or from the local
authority largely dictated by the school that a child attends, rather than their individual
circumstances” ldentifying pupils with special educational needs and disabilities, 19 March 2021

8  Department for Education, Major review into support for children with Special Educational Needs, 6
September 2019

Page 108

37 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/news/major-review-into-support-for-children-with-special-educational-needs
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/major-review-into-support-for-children-with-special-educational-needs
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/identifying-send/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/major-review-into-support-for-children-with-special-educational-needs

4.2

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e understanding what is behind rising numbers of education, health and
care (EHC) plans and the role of specific health conditions in driving
demand; and

e ensuring that public money is spent in an efficient, effective and
sustainable manner, placing a premium on securing high quality
outcomes for those children and young people who need additional
support the most.

SEND and Alternative Provision Green Paper
(2022)

The government published SEND Review: right support, right place, right

time, setting out plans for a single national system for SEND and alternative
provision on 29 March 2022.

The government said the green paper (a discussion paper) aimed to “improve
an inconsistent, process-heavy and increasingly adversarial system that too
often leaves parents facing difficulties and delays accessing the right support
for their child.”®*

A consultation on the proposals was open from March to July 2022.
The green paper envisaged:

e anew integrated national SEND and alternative provision system setting
statutory, nationally consistent standards.

e establishing new local SEND partnerships, bringing together education
(including alternative provision), health and care partners with local
government and other partners to produce a local inclusion plan, setting
out how each local area will meet the national standards.

e introducing a standardised and digitised EHCP process and template.

e local authorities providing a tailored list of SEND settings to support
parents and carers to express their preference for a suitable placement.

e introducing a streamlined process for redress, including mandatory
mediation. The SEND Tribunal, responsible for handling appeals against
local authority decisions regarding special educational needs, would
remain in place.

e aplanned consultation on a new Special Educational Needs Coordinator
(SENCo) National Professional Qualification for school SENCos, and to

8  Department for Education, Ambitious reform for children and young people with SEND, 29 March
2022.

Page 109

38 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/send-review-right-support-right-place-right-time
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ambitious-reform-for-children-and-young-people-with-send

4.3

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

increase the number of staff with an accredited Level 3 SENCo
qualification in early years settings.

o revised and clarified accountability for responsible bodies, such as
schools and local authorities.

e anew national framework of banding and price tariffs for high needs
funding, which covers SEND and alternative provision.

The Library briefing on The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and
Alternative Provision Green Paper (April 2022) provides more detail on the

green paper and its publication.

The SEND and Alternative Provision
Improvement Plan (2023)

The government published its SEND and alternative provision improvement
plan: right support, right place, right time in March 2023. This followed the

green paper consultation and confirmed the government’s future plans.

A SEND and alternative provision roadmap was published alongside the plan,

setting out timelines for key parts of the government’s proposals.?

In a written statement to the House of Commoans, the then Children’s Minister,
Claire Coutinho, said that what the government had heard in the consultation
responses “gives us confidence to establish a new national SEND and
alternative provision system.”®® The Minister also published a letter to parents
providing an overview of the government’s plans.?’

The Department for Education also published a blog post with an overview of
the plan.®®

Proposals

unn‘"ed system for SEND ond alternotlve prowsmn driven by new national
standards. The standards were a central proposal of the green paper.

% Department for Education, SEND and alternative provision roadmap, 2 March 2023

8 HC Deb 2 March 2023 c42WS

&  Department for Education, Message to parents of children with SEND from Claire Coutinho MP,
Minister for Children, Wellbeing and Families, 2 March 2023

8  Department for Education, How we are improving support for children with Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND), 2 March 2023

Page 110

39 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9526/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9526/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan/send-and-alternative-provision-roadmap
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2023-03-02/debates/23030236000010/SpecialEducationalNeedsAndDisabilitiesAndAlternativeProvisionImprovementPlan
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/children-with-send-claire-coutinho-minister-children-wellbeing-families/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/how-improving-support-children-special-educational-needs-sendd/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/how-improving-support-children-special-educational-needs-sendd/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan/send-and-alternative-provision-roadmap
https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2023-03-02/debates/23030236000010/SpecialEducationalNeedsAndDisabilitiesAndAlternativeProvisionImprovementPlan
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/children-with-send-claire-coutinho-minister-children-wellbeing-families/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/children-with-send-claire-coutinho-minister-children-wellbeing-families/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/how-improving-support-children-special-educational-needs-sendd/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/03/02/how-improving-support-children-special-educational-needs-sendd/

4.4

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

There are no immediate plans to amend existing legislation, although the
government does intend to underpin the new national standards with
legislation once they have been rolled out, which is planned to begin in 2025.

Alongside new national standards, the improvement plan set out the
government’s intention to:

e  Create local SEND and alternative provision partnerships to lead change
and commission provision

e  Setup a National SEND and Alternative Provision Implementation Board
to oversee the implementation of the plan

o Develop a standard template for Education, Health, and Care Plans
(EHCPs), and digitise the plans

e  Create a three-tier alternative provision system, focused away from
long-term placements

o Develop options for providing parents and carers with a tailored list of
SEND educational settings

e  Support a SEND and alternative provision change programme to oversee
the reforms

e Improve skills in the SEND workforce, with a particular emphasis on early
intervention

e  Strengthen accountability, including with a new local and national
inclusion dashboard and refocused inspections of local SEND provision
by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission

e  Explore options for strengthening mediation between schools and local
authorities, before deciding on whether to make mediation mandatory

e Introduce a new national framework of banding and price tariffs for high
needs funding, with more details on this to follow later in 2023

The Library briefing on The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and
Alternative Provision Improvement Plan provides more detailed information.

New SENCo qualification

As noted above, the SEND green paper and improvement plan announced
reform of qualifications for special educational needs co-ordinators
(SENCos).

Page 111

40 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9760/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9760/

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

In November 2023, the DfE published details of how the transition to a new

leadership-level National Professional Qualification for SENCos would work.®°
This confirmed:
e The new NPQ would be taught from autumn 2024

e SENCOs who already hold the existing qualification (known as NASENCO)
would not have to gain the new qualification, and nor will SENCOs in post
before 1 September 2009

e SENCOs newly appointed during the 2023/24 academic year could either
start the existing NASENCO programme before September 2024, or enrol
on a new NPQ course no later than Spring 2025

8  Department for Education, Transition to national professional qualification for special educational
needs co-ordinators, 7 November 2023

Page 112

41 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-qualification-for-sencos/transition-to-national-professional-qualification-for-special-educational-needs-co-ordinators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-qualification-for-sencos/transition-to-national-professional-qualification-for-special-educational-needs-co-ordinators
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mandatory-qualification-for-sencos/transition-to-national-professional-qualification-for-special-educational-needs-co-ordinators

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

5.1

5.2

Education Committee report on Solving
the SEND Crisis

Announcement

In December 2024, the Education Committee launched a wide-ranging
inquiry, “Solving the SEND Crisis.”®°

The terms of reference for the inquiry included a number of questions under
the following headings:

e Support for children and young people with SEND
e Current and future model of SEND provision
e  Finance, funding and capacity of SEND provision

The terms of reference said, “mindful of previous reviews that have taken
place in this area, and the evidence that already exists about the nature and
scale of the problem, the Committee would welcome evidence primarily
focused on solutions.” '

Report

The Committee published its report in September 2025. The report was

extensive and contained a large number of recommendations, proposed
ahead of the expected schools white paper later in the year.

The report emphasised inclusivity in education, and the announcement said
that SEND “must become an intrinsic part of the mainstream education
system, rather than an addition to it,” and that supporting needs early would
ease the pressures on the system:

Embedding inclusivity in all education settings, from early years through to
post-16, and identifying needs early in a child’s education, will enable support
to be provided in the mainstream. [...]

®  Education Committee, Solving the SEND crisis - Education Committee launches major inquiry, 20
December 2024

" Education Committee, Call for Evidence: Solving the SEND Crisis, December 2024

Page 113

42 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8684/solving-the-send-crisis/news/204487/solving-the-send-crisis-education-committee-launches-major-inquiry/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8684/solving-the-send-crisis/news/204487/solving-the-send-crisis-education-committee-launches-major-inquiry/
https://committees.parliament.uk/call-for-evidence/3517
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8684/solving-the-send-crisis/news/204487/solving-the-send-crisis-education-committee-launches-major-inquiry/
https://committees.parliament.uk/call-for-evidence/3517

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

This cultural shift would then calm the rising need for complex, costly
education health and care (EHC) plans in the long-term, and help put schools
and local authorities’ finances on a sustainable footing.

The committee said that the existing SEND system was “unsustainable,
inequitable, and failing to deliver the outcomes our children deserve”® and
made recommendations across the system to address these concerns.

One of the report’s key recommendations was that, while current numbers of
EHCPs were not sustainable, it would not be the solution “to remove the
statutory entitlements from a system which lacks accountability in many
other areas and in which parents already have so little trust and
confidence.”?*

The report said:

The Department’s SEND reforms must not be based on any withdrawal of
statutory entitlements for children and young people with SEND. The
Department must instead set out plans for reform which increase
accountability across the whole of the SEND system, so that many more
parents and carers can be confident that their children’s needs will be met
regardless of whether they have a diagnosis or EHC plan.®

The report’s other main recommendations included:

e The publication of a definition of ‘inclusive education’ with good practice
examples for schools

e Aunified national framework for ordinarily available provision and SEN
support

e Acomprehensive review of the National Funding Formula, with the
£6,000 funding allocated to pupils in mainstream schools to be
ringfenced and uprated each year in line with inflation

e The SEND Tribunal should be retained and further empowered to issue
legally binding recommendations to health services

e Continuously updated cycles of Initial Teacher Training and the Early
Career Framework relating to SEND, and for continuing professional
development on SEND to be mandatory for all teachers in mainstream
education

92 Education Committee, Solving the SEND crisis: report calls for culture shift and funding to make
mainstream education genuinely inclusive, 18 September 2025
% Education Committee, Solving the SEND crisis: report calls for culture shift and funding to make

mainstream education genuinely inclusive, Fifth report of session 2024-26, HC 492, 18 September
2095, p149

9 As above, p46
% Asabove

Page 114

43 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

e A more active role for the NHS in SEND with NHS restructuring used as an
opportunity to strengthen the role and accountability of health services
in supporting children

e Theintroduction of a dedicated and ringfenced funding stream for SEN
support beyond age 16

e  Expanding specialist SEND provision by investing in high-quality
specialist state schools, specialist ‘resource bases’ in mainstream
schools, and other mainstream provision.®

% Education Committee, Solving the SEND crisis: report calls for culture shift and funding to make
mainstream education genuinely inclusive, 18 September 2025

Page 115

44 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/education-committee/news/209313/solving-the-send-crisis-report-calls-for-culture-shift-and-funding-to-make-mainstream-education-genuinely-inclusive/

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

6.1

Statistics

Number of pupils with SEN

There are two broad levels of support for pupils with special educational
needs (SEN) in England. Education Health and Care plans (EHC Plans) are for
children and young people aged up to 25 who need more support than is
available through the other main pathway, SEN support.

In January 2007 there were around 1.6 million pupils with SEN in England. The
total increased gradually reaching 1.7 million in 2010 before declining again
until 2016, when the total stood at around 1.2 million. Since then, the number
of pupils with SEN has increased in each year and was over 1.7 million by
January 2025.

Only a minority of pupils with SEN have EHC plans, but the number has
increased over time. In January 2025, around 483,000 pupils had EHC plans
(27% of pupils with identified SEN). This compared with around 233,000
pupils with statements in 2007 (15% of pupils with identified SEN).*’

The SEN incidence rate describes the proportion of all pupils with identified
SEN.

The overall SEN incidence rate was around 19% in 2007. The rate gradually
increased reaching a peak of around 21% in 2010. The SEN incidence rate then
declined and reached its lowest level in 2016 and 2017 (around 14%), before
increasing again gradually to just below 20% in 2025.

The proportion of pupils with statements or EHC plans has also increased in
recent years. The rate remained at around 3% of pupils in each year between
2007 and 2017, however it has increased slightly in each year since then
reaching a peak of around 5% in 2025. More details are provided in the chart
below.

¥ DfE, Special Educational Needs in England: 2025, June 2095, main text; DfE, Special Educational
Needs in England: 2019, July 2019 (for all data prior to 2020, Table 1)

Page 116

45 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019

6.2

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Incidence of pupils with SEN
% of pupils on roll at all schools, January each year

= Pupils with SEN
15
10 Pupils with SEN Support

Pupils with statements/ EHC
) V

0
2007 2009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021 2023 2025

Source: DfE, Special educational needs in England: 2025, June 2025, main text; DfE, Special Educational
Needs in England: 2019, July 2019 (for all data prior to 2020, Table 1)

In January 2025, the most common type of primary need among pupils with
an EHC plan was autistic spectrum disorder (around 149,200 pupils or 34% of
all pupils with an EHC plan). The second most common type of primary need
was speech, language, and communication needs (around 92,000 pupils or
21% of all pupils with an EHC plan). *®

The most common type of primary need among pupils with SEN support was
speech, language, and communication needs (around 304,000 pupils or 26%
of all pupils with SEN support). The second most common type of primary
need was social, emotional and mental health needs (around 297,200 pupils
or 24% of all pupils with SEN support). #°

Education, health, and care plans across all
age groups (0 to 25 years)

Trends in number of statements and education, health,
and care plans

Education, health, and care plans (EHC plans) are available to people aged
0-25 years old. The data in this section includes all children and young people

% Department for Education, Special Educational Needs in England: 2025, June 2025, custom table

These figures exclude pupils with EHC plans in independent schools
% As above

Page 117

46 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england#dataBlock-b8855149-2ceb-41e7-81c6-9ea253f9c86d-tables
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/47cb1794-d26a-4260-8b10-08ddbed6edd3
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

with EHC plans (unlike the previous section which only included school
pupils).

In January 2025, there were around 638,700 children and young people of all
ages with an EHC plan. This was an increase of 10.8% on the previous year,
2024, which comes on top of a 11.5% increase between 2023 and 2024. Around
70% of those with EHC plans are aged between 5 and 15, 20% are aged 16 to
19, 6% are aged 20 to 25, and 4% are aged under 5.'°°

The number of EHC plans (and earlier, statements of SEN) maintained by
local authorities has increased in each year since 2010 (when there were
around 228,200). This increase has accelerated since 2015 (when there were
around 240,200). This increase occurred in a wider context of rising pupil
numbers, as well as reforms that extended the age group potentially covered,
to 25 years old. ™

The chart below shows the number of EHC plans and statements maintained
by local authorities, since 2010. The DfE does not publish incidence rates of
EHC plans across all age groups (as it does for the narrower category of
school pupils).

Total number of EHC plans and statements of SEN
England, January each year, all age groups

700,000
Children and Families Act 2014

600,000 passed, introducing EHC plans
500,000

400,000

300,000

200,000
100,000

0
2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024

Notes: Figures include Statements of SEN and EHC plans until 2019, by which point all statements
should have been transferred to EHC plans. The Children and Families Act 2014 extended coverage to
19-25 year olds.

Source: Department for Education, Education, health and care plans: 2025, June 2025, custom table

1% Department for Education, Education, health and care plans: 2024 June 2024, main text
" As above, custom table

Page 118

47 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans#dataBlock-f990c61a-dd9b-45ed-b502-500615ca05d7-tables
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/6bc9ed75-272f-4ddd-1707-08ddbed4c851
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/16ea3bc1-1b90-4efe-8348-08ddaf142d69

6.3

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

Timeliness in issuing new EHC plans

In calendar year 2024, around 97,700 new EHC plans were issued, a 16%
increase on the number issued in the previous year (84,400). 2024 saw the
highest number of new EHC plans issued since their phased introduction from
2014.'%2

Of the new EHC plans issued in 2024, around 46% were issued within the 20
week time limit. This is slightly lower than in the previous year, 2023, when
50% were issued within 20 weeks. 2017 saw the highest proportion of plans
issued within 20 weeks, at 65%. These figures all exclude cases where certain
narrow statutory exceptions to the 20 week time limit apply.

The DfE has published the proportion of plans issued between 20 and 52
weeks, and after 52 weeks. In 2024:

® 46% of plans were issued within 20 to 52 weeks

e 7% were issued after 52 weeks. '

Placements
In January 2025, of those with an EHC plan:

e 449 were attending mainstream schools
e 30% were attending special schools
e 14% were in further education and post-16 providers

The remainder were in a variety of other settings, including early years
settings and alternative provision schools and colleges.™*

SEND Tribunals

Parents, and in some cases young people themselves, have statutory rights of
appeal to the First Tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability) for
qualifying decisions made relating to EHC needs assessments and plans.
Local authorities must comply with Tribunal decisions. '*°

In the academic year 2023/24 (the latest data), 11,157 cases were decided by
the Tribunal.’® Of these 11,007, or around 99%, were decided in favour of the
appellant. This does not necessarily mean that all aspects of the decision

12 Department for Education, Education, health and care plans: 2025, June 2025, main text
% As above, custom table

%4 Department for Education, Education, health and care plans: 2025, June 2025, main text
15 |PSEA, What is the SEND Tribunal, accessed 11 June 2025
1% This excludes cases which were conceded or withdrawn

Page 119

48 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/628bb5ed-b64f-490d-8b15-08ddbed6edd3
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans
https://www.ipsea.org.uk/what-is-the-send-tribunal

Special Educational Needs: Support in England

were in the appellant’s favour.’” The proportion of cases decided in favour of
the appellant has increased significantly since 2011/12, when it stood at 69%.

Of all appeals for which an outcome was recorded in 2023/24, around a third
(5,569 out of 16,726) were withdrawn or conceded. This can happen, for
example, where the local authority and the appellant have come to an
agreement before the hearing. '

The following table sets out in more detail the trends in tribunal outcomes
since 2011/12, and shows the local authorities (LAs) with the highest and
lowest appeal rates. For 2024, the DfE is using a different methodology to
calculate local authority-level appeal rates, as experimental statistics. For
this reason, 2024 appeal rates should not be directly compared to previously
published appeal rates for 2023 and earlier years. Nationally, the appeal
rate was 5.3%.

The appeal success rate is not published at local authority level.

SEND Tribunals Appeal rates
England, academic years 2024 calendar year
% decided as % of
in favour of appealable
Decided applicant decisions
2011/12 823 69 LAs with lowest rates
2012/13 808 84 North East Lincolnshire 0.8
2013/14 797 83 North Lincolnshire 0.9
2014/15 788 86 Darlington 1.1
2015/16 883 88 Wolverhampton 1.3
2016/17 1,599 89 Blackburn with Darwen 1.5
2017/18 2,298 89
2018/19 2,614 92 LAs with highest rates
2019/20 3,770 95 Hertfordshire 27.9
2020/21 4,825 96 Newham 17.6
2021/22 5,600 96 Slough 16.7
2022/23 7,968 98 East Sussex 14.3
2023/24 11,157 99 Derbyshire, Westminster 14.1

Note: Left-hand table figures exclude cases that were withdrawn or conceded. Right-hand table figures
exclude City of London and Isles of Scilly, and authorities with missing data.

Sources: (left hand table) Ministry of Justice, Tribunal statistics quarterly: July to September 2024,
SEND Tribunal tables (SEND1), December 2024; (right hand table) Department for Education, EHC plan

statistics: reporting year 2025, June 2025, “SEND tribunals and appeal rate” csv file.

197 Ministry of Justice, Tribunal statistics quarterly: July to September 2024, 14 December 2024, SEND
Tribunal tables 2023 to 2024 (SENDT1)

%% As above, (SEND5)

Page 120

49 Commons Library Research Briefing, 14 November 2025


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/tribunals-statistics-quarterly-july-to-september-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/tribunals-statistics-quarterly-july-to-september-2024

The House of Commons Library is a research and
information service based in the UK Parliament.

Our impartial analysis, statistical research and
resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise
legislation, develop policy, and support constituents.

Our published material is available to everyone
on commonslibrary.parliament.uk.

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox.
Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe
or scan the code below:

Ob0
ey
e

£
Gifieeos

[ commonslibrary.parliament.uk

Y @commonslibrary

Page 121



House of
Commons

/8
&
b
&
é

SL 33

2

117 \1is Vi Vi \1is
y //\—....5\\\\ J //\....5\\\\ y //\.....5\\\ y //\....5 \\\ v //\....5\\\\
WU T QT T iM%

\

Wi,

\\\\\\

v\
I

SIS S S S

. &z &7z &7 7 S
TN Yoo n NS Yy NS Yppon NS Yo NS
i Mg Ui M Ui

P

R
2
-
O
o
Z
LL
(7]
Q
=
)
o)
=
=
o
(7))

Education Committee
Fifth Report of Session 2024-25

~ v

< - 1 [ I | ———

1| | \ | |
_______________ =
= ._a \ }:

’-

//./ i ,/ ,_.______“____________M ,_.________“_________M ,_._________“_________M ,_._________“__________ _ ___________.,

,.;_v:,, y ,,”,?//////////////// il

\
\

—
— ]
-
- —
-
I —
-
-
o e
-
——

A SRR CAPRRERED EERRRRRRD AHAAAAATTY




Education Committee

The Education Committee is appointed by the House of Commons to
examine the expenditure, administration, and policy of the Department for
Education and its associated public bodies.

Current membership
Helen Hayes (Labour; Dulwich and West Norwood) (Chair)
Jess Asato (Labour; Lowestoft)

Mrs Sureena Brackenridge (Labour; Wolverhampton North East)

Sir James Cleverly (Conservative; Braintree)

Dr Caroline Johnson (Conservative; Sleaford and North Hykeham)

Amanda Martin (Labour; Portsmouth North)

Darren Paffey (Labour; Southampton ltchen)

Manuela Perteghella (Liberal Democrat; Stratford-on-Avon)

Mark Sewards (Labour; Leeds South West and Morley)

Dr Marie Tidball (Labour; Penistone and Stocksbridge)

Caroline Voaden (Liberal Democrat; South Devon)

Powers

The Committee is one of the departmental select committees, the powers
of which are set out in House of Commons Standing Orders, principally in
SO No. 152. These are available on the internet via www.parlioment.uk.

Publication

This Report, together with formal minutes relating to the report, was
Ordered by the House of Commons, on 2 September 2025, to be printed.
It was published on 18 September 2025 by authority of the House of
Commons. © Parliamentary Copyright House of Commons 2025.

Page 123


https://members.parliament.uk/member/4510/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5156/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5152/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/4366/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/4592/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5294/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5270/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5122/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5166/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5098/contact
https://members.parliament.uk/member/5216/contact
http://www.parliament.uk

This publication may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Parliament
Licence, which is published at www.parliament.uk/copyright.

Committee reports are published on the Committee’s website at
www.parliament.uk/education-committee and in print by Order of the House.

Contacts

All correspondence should be addressed to the Clerk of the Education
Committee, House of Commons, London SW1A OAA. The telephone number
for general enquiries is 020 7219 2370; the Committee’s email address is
educom@parliament.uk. You can follow the Committee on X (formerly
Twitter) using @CommonsEd.

Page 124


http://www.parliament.uk/copyright
www.parliament.uk/education-committee
mailto:educom@parliament.uk
https://x.com/CommonsEd?lang=en

Contents

Summary

Securing inclusive education

Restoring trust and confidence
Equipping the workforce

Achieving a sustainable model of funding
Building partnerships across services
Expanding SEND capacity

Improving early years for lasting impact
Post-16

Introduction
Our inquiry

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in England

The state of inclusive education in England

Current trends in SEND

Increasing need for SEND support

Increased complexity is the “new normal”

SEND support by education phase and setting

EHC plans

Attainment, outcomes and curriculum

Attendance, exclusion and suspensions

Specialist provision

Inclusive education

Drivers of the SEND crisis and barriers to inclusive education
Inclusive education is yet to be secured

Parents and carers have limited trust and confidence in the SEND

system

Page 125

I N U N R

o o O

10
10
10
12
14
15
17
20
21
929
26
97

27



The education workforce is not equipped to support pupils with

SEND
Funding and finance

Partnership between services is weak

Lack of intervention in the early years is leading to the escalation

of need

Post-16

Securing inclusive education
Ordinarily available provision
SEN support

Access to specialists

Education, Health and Care Plans

Restoring parent trust and confidence
Parental involvement
Future reforms
School accountability

Ofsted

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
Local authority accountability

SEND Tribunal

Area SEND inspections
Health accountability

Area SEND inspections

SEND Tribunal and health

Improving early years for lasting impact
Funding
Family Hubs and Best Start

Post-16

Qualifications, assessments and outcomes

Maths and English GCSE resits

Page 126

27
27
28

28
28

30
30
33
39
4

48
48
51
53
54
59
62
63
67
70
70
7

76
77

81
81
84



Funding

Home to school transport

Equipping the workforce
Education workforce
Initial Teacher Training and the Early Career Framework
Continued Professional Development (CPD)
Special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOSs)
Teaching assistants and learning support assistants
Local authority workforce
Health workforce

Capacity challenges

Getting to a sustainable model of funding
Education funding

Schools block funding

High needs block

National funding formula (NFF)
Local authority finances

Measures to alleviate financial pressures

Page 127

86
87

920
90
90
93
96
99

102

103

105

110
110
m
13
15
n7
7



10

1

Building stronger partnerships
Different priorities and incentives across education and health
Responsibilities, accountability and joint commissioning

Cross-departmental partnerships

Expanding capacity within the SEND system
Current school capacity

Resource bases

Planning

Data

Conclusion

Appendix 1: Insight from Norwich
Appendix 2: Insight from Canada
Conclusions and recommendations
Formal Minutes

Witnesses

Published written evidence

List of Reports from the Committee during the

current Parliament

Page 128

121
125
128
132

134
137
140
142
146

149
150
151
154
177
178

180

202



Summary

Since the introduction of the Children and Families Act 2014, the number of
children and young people identified with special educational needs (SEN)
has surged from 1.3 million to 1.7 million.' Today over 1.2 million children

and young people receive SEN support, and nearly half a million have an
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan. Behind these numbers are families
navigating a system that too often feels adversarial, fragmented and under-
resourced.?

Throughout our inquiry, we heard from exhausted parents fighting for basic
support, teachers stretched beyond capacity and committed professionals
working within services buckling under pressure. Their voices were clear
and consistent: the current system is not working. The level of need is
placing overwhelming strain on services and professionals across both the
education and health sectors, ultimately creating a crisis. Crucially, the
system’s inability to meet this need means that children and young people
with SEND, and their families, are not consistently receiving the high-quality
support to which they are entitled. Without decisive, long-term change,

the SEND system will remain under unsustainable pressure, unable to meet
current or future needs effectively.

Securing inclusive education

More than a decade on from major reform of the SEND system is not
delivering as intended. Gaps in provision and capacity are creating barriers
to timely support, limiting progress, and preventing improved outcomes
for children and young people with SEND. While it is usual for there to

be significant numbers of children with SEND in mainstream schools, the
current system is not designed with inclusion in mind. As a consequence,
it addresses SEND needs on an individual case by case basis as additional
to the mainstream and not a part of it, and it cannot cope with the current
level of need. Delivering an inclusive mainstream education system is
essential both for the quality of provision for individual children and the
long-term financial sustainability of the system.

DfE, Academic Year 2024-25 Special educational needs in England, June 2025, gov.

uk (accessed 17 July 2025), Department for Education, Statistical First Release, Special
educational needs in England: January 2015, gov.uk 23 July 2015, p 1

DfE, Academic Year 2024-25 Special educational needs in England, June 2025, gov.uk
(accessed 29 August 2025)

Page 129


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a805d8540f0b62302693137/SFR25-2015_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a805d8540f0b62302693137/SFR25-2015_Text.pdf
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25

The evidence shows a lack of standardisation in both ordinarily available
provision and Special Educational Needs (SEN) support, with no clear,
consistent understanding of what these should involve in practice. We heard
from parents and carers that this inconsistency leads to variable quality

of provision, which in turn is driving more families to seek support through
specialist placements or by securing an EHC plan. It is unacceptable that a
clear definition of inclusive education is still lacking.

In order to ensure an inclusive mainstream, the Department for Education
should establish national standards and expectations for ordinarily
available provision and SEN support, providing a consistent baseline to help
education settings become more inclusive. These should be accompanied
by statutory requirements for adequate resourcing, access to specialist
staff, appropriate equipment and an inclusive physical environment. These
interventions will require investment; however, we have seen evidence

that the delivery of genuinely inclusive education with well resourced,
thoughtfully designed whole-school approaches to SEN support and
ordinarily available provision significantly reduces the need for EHC plans.

Restoring trust and confidence

Central to addressing the SEND crisis is rebuilding trust and confidence
among stakeholders in the system, particularly, children and young people
with SEND and their families. We found through the evidence that trust

has been eroded by inconsistent provision, delays in support, lack of
transparency in decision-making and a failure to deliver on legal duties.
Further, current accountability mechanisms, including Ofsted inspections of
schools can serve indirectly to encourage exclusionary practices and Area
SEND inspections can fall short in effectively addressing and penalising
exclusionary practices. Rebuilding strong, transparent relationships through
clearer communication from the Department for Education, and reforming
and strengthening accountability systems so that mainstream schools are
held to account for delivering inclusive practice and are well supported

to do so, will be crucial to ensuring that policies and reforms are fully
understood, widely supported, and effectively implemented.

Equipping the workforce

The realisation of an inclusive vision for mainstream education will also
depend on equipping professionals—across education, health and local
authorities—with the training, resources, and support they need to respond
effectively and compassionately to the diverse needs of children and young
people with SEND and their families. We heard about the importance of a
whole-school approach to SEND, in which all staff have the skills to support

Page éLSO



and educate children with SEND, and responsibility is shared across all
teachers, leaders and support staff, including teaching assistants (TAs),
who are often at the forefront of delivering SEND support rather than falling
solely on the SENCO. Evidence suggested that Initial Teacher Training and
the Early Career Framework require further changes to integrate fully
sufficient, fit for purpose SEND content and, while continuing professional
development is valued, its impact is inconsistent, partly because it is not
currently mandatory. Changing this situation is an essential requirement of
delivering an inclusive mainstream education sector.

The evidence points to significant capacity challenges among educational
psychologists and relevant allied health professionals, including speech and
language therapists. These shortages have knock-on effects on assessment
waiting times and schools’ access to specialist support, while at the same
time the overwhelmed nature of the system means that skilled professionals
who are trained to work therapeutically with children are spending far too
much time on assessments and reports rather than delivering beneficial
interventions. The Department for Education should work with the Department
of Health and Social Care to address these issues and improve capacity,
through the development of a dedicated SEND workforce plan. We were
deeply concerned to hear about the negative experiences of children, young
people, and their families when engaging with local authority staff. Many
described interactions that felt adversarial and distressing, leaving a lasting
erosion of trust. Targeted training on child development including SEND and
SEND law, alongside the development of effective mediation skills, is essential
to ensure these interactions are constructive, respectful, and focused on the
best interests of the child or young person with SEND. Parents and carers
describe being treated as an inconvenience or assumed to be unreasonable
and routinely locked out of discussions and decisions about their child’s
education. In order to rebuild trust and establish effective partnership working
in the best interests of the child, parents and carers should be treated as
genuine partners in their child’s education and be entitled and expected to be
present in discussions and decisions about their child.

Achieving a sustainable model of funding

We heard compelling evidence of the urgent need for greater financial
stability within local authority budgets, supported by a clear, long-term
plan for sustainability. Witnesses highlighted that looming deficits and

the continued extension of the statutory override are creating significant
uncertainty, making it difficult for local authorities to plan and deliver
services effectively. This instability is compounded by inadequate school
funding, which has not kept pace with rising levels of need and the
increasing costs of provision. As a result, both schools and local authorities
face mounting pressure, often forced into difficult decisions that risk

Page 131



compromising the quality and availability of support for children and young
people with SEND. The Department must work urgently with HM Treasury
and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to secure
the funding necessary to realise the vision of an inclusive mainstream
education system. This must include a clear strategy to address the growing
SEND-related deficits faced by local authorities. Without a strategy, the
system will remain under unsustainable financial pressure and unable to
meet the needs of children and young people effectively.

Building partnerships across services

Collaboration must be strengthened at every level if the Government’s
ambitious vision of inclusive mainstream education is going to be achieved.
From national policy coordination to local partnerships between schools,
local authorities, health services, and community organisations each
partner must be proactive. However, we heard that, at present, schools
and local authorities are shouldering most of this responsibility, while the
health sector plays a more passive role. A shared, top-down understanding
of roles, responsibilities, and agreed priorities is needed alongside a fit for
purpose accountability framework. The Government should introduce clear
statutory duties for health and social care services in relation to SEND,

and the Department of Health and Social Care should appoint a dedicated
national SEND lead to drive accountability and coordination.

Expanding SEND capacity

We heard that there is a pressing need for improved and more strategic
capacity building. Currently, specialist state schools are frequently
oversubscribed, resulting in reliance on out of area or independent
specialist placements. Improving capacity must not only involve expanding
the resources and infrastructure available, but also ensuring that they
are targeted effectively, underpinned by robust data. We welcome the
extension of powers to local authorities through the Children’s Wellbeing
and Schools Bill; however, the Department for Education must further
facilitate a coordinated approach by implementing longer funding cycles
and comprehensive data collection, helping to build a resilient, equitable
system that can deliver on the promise of inclusive education for all.

Improving early years for lasting impact

Effective identification of needs, intervention and support in the early years
can provide game-changing outcomes for children, while also reducing
some long-term costs and needs. The early years sector plays a critical

Page }32



role in SEND support; however, it is largely under-resourced. We recognise
the Early Language Support for Every Child (ELSEC) and Nuffield Early
Language Intervention (NELI) programmes as important tools for early
intervention and preventing needs from escalating. The Department for
Education should ensure these programmes receive the necessary funding
and resources to enable a universal rollout across England. We welcome the
Department for Education’s Best Start for Life initiative. However, it must fully
embrace inclusivity for children with SEND. It is vital that this programme
recognises the diverse needs of all children from the earliest stages and
integrates targeted support to ensure equitable access to early development
opportunities and expertise helping prevent the escalation of need.

Post-16

We heard that young people with SEND frequently experience a sharp
decline in support after the age of 16, despite the extension of SEND support
up to age 25 under the 2014 reforms. This “cliff edge” is partly due to the
post-16 education and training sector often being overlooked within SEND
policy frameworks, while SEND considerations are similarly absent from
further education and skills policies. To create a truly inclusive system,

the post-16 offer must be broadened beyond academic qualifications and
apprenticeships to include a wider range of pathways that reflect the
diverse needs, talents, and aspirations of young people with SEND, including
wider access to work experience. Furthermore, we are concerned that the
current Maths and English GCSE resit policy disproportionately affects
young people with SEND, often undermining their confidence and limiting
their opportunities for success. This policy should be reworked to be better
calibrated to the needs of a wide range of young people with SEND, with
greater flexibility.

Page 133



1 Introduction

Our inquiry

The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) system is in crisis,
failing far too many children and their families, as well as creating intense
pressure on local authority funding and education systems. In recent years
there has been a stream of reports setting out in detail the extent of the crisis
and its devastating impact, but little meaningful progress in addressing these
challenges. This inquiry—our Committee’s first—was launched in December
2024 and instead of spending more time documenting problems, we have
deliberately set out to focus on solutions, investigating how to achieve both
short-term stability and long-term sustainability for the SEND system, and,
even more importantly, how to improve experiences and outcomes for children
and young people with SEND. We received over 890 pieces of written evidence
and held 7 oral evidence sessions with a wide range of witnesses. We received
compelling evidence from a panel of young people with SEND, hearing first-
hand about their recent experiences of the SEND system. In our final oral
evidence session, we heard from Catherine McKinnell MP, the then Minister of
State for School Standards. To inform our inquiry further we visited Ontario,
Canada to learn how inclusive mainstream education is provided, as well as
Aylsham High School in Norfolk and City College Norwich to observe how they
support pupils and students with SEND. We are very grateful to everyone who
has contributed to this inquiry by sharing their professional expertise and lived
experience or by hosting visits and giving evidence in person or in writing.

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
in England

Following the 2024 General Election, responsibility for SEND policy was
moved into the schools remit within the Department for Education (DfE).
This change reflected a shift in how SEND is positioned within the education
system, more closely aligning it with mainstream education policy rather
than treating it as a separate, semi-detached area. This change reflects
the Government’s vision for inclusive mainstream education. In July 2024
the Secretary of State for Education summarised the Government’s new
approach to SEND, announcing:

Page %34



We are committed to taking a community-wide approach in which
we improve inclusivity and expertise in mainstream schools, as well
as ensure that special schools cater to those with the most complex
needs. | have already restructured my Department to start delivering
on this commitment.?

The Department for Education has said that a white paper on SEND will be
published in Autumn 2025 which will outline the Government’s approach to
reforming the SEND system.* Since the last major SEND reforms introduced
by the Children and Families Act 2014, the number and proportion of
children and young people identified with SEND has increased significantly.
This increase in need has brought about a variety of challenges around
capacity, support, teacher preparedness, multi-agency collaboration

and local authority finances. These factors have triggered what is widely
accepted as a “crisis” of the SEND system. This report presents conclusions
and recommendations based on the written and oral evidence we have
received to help solve this crisis.

The report begins by examining the current state of inclusive education

in England, briefly identifying the key drivers of the SEND crisis and the
obstacles to achieving a truly inclusive mainstream education system.

It then reviews the types of support introduced by the 2014 reforms and
the further changes required to secure inclusive education. Next, the
report considers how to rebuild trust with parents and families, including
improvements needed in accountability systems. Following this, it outlines
ways to equip professionals better across education, local authority, and
health services to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND
and their families. The report then addresses the challenge of establishing
a sustainable funding model for SEND. It goes on to examine how SEND
services are delivered across multiple agencies and explores how to
strengthen collaborative partnerships. Subsequently, the report evaluates
the overall capacity of the SEND system. Finally, it focuses on the early years
and further education stages in relation to SEND.

3
4

HC Deb, 24 July 2024, col 700
HM Treasury, Spending Review 2025 (accessed August 2025)

Page 135



https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/spending-review-2025

Box 1: Key developments in SEND since 2014

2014 Children and Families Act: introduced major reform to the system
used to identify children and young people with special educational
needs (SEN) and special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). The
Act introduced two main levels of support: SEN Support and Education,
Health and Care Plans.® A Statutory Special Educational Needs and
Disability (SEND) Code of Practice was published alongside the 2014 Act.®

In the SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years the Department for Education
makes the following distinction between SEN and SEND:

“A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or
disability which calls for special educational provision to be made for
him or her.

A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning
difficulty or disability (SEND) if he or she:

has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of
others of the same age, or

has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use
of facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age in
mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions™.’

2018 Education Committee Inquiry into SEND: concluded that whilst
the “[2014] reforms were the right ones”, the “implementation [had]
been badly hampered”, notably by poor administration and insufficient
funding.®

2019 SEND Review: looked into how to “improve the services available
to families who need support, equip staff in schools and colleges to
respond effectively to their needs as well as ending the ‘postcode lottery’
they often face”, with specific mentions to its links with health and social
care.’

DfE, Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) (accessed July 2025)
DfE and DHSC, Statutory Guidance SEND code of practice: O to 25 years, 11 June 2014,
updated Sept 2024 (accessed July 2025)

DfE and DHSC, Statutory Guidance SEND code of practice: O to 25 years, 11 June 2014,
updated Sept 2024 (accessed July 2025)

House of Commons Education Committee, First Report of Session 2019, Special
educational needs and disabilities, HC20

DfE, “Major review into support for children with special educational needs”, 6 Sept 2019
(accessed July 2025)

Page E13L36


https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/extra-SEN-help
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201919/cmselect/cmeduc/20/20.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/major-review-into-support-for-children-with-special-educational-needs

2023 SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan: published
in March 2023 including reforms to the qualifications for special
educational needs co-ordinators (SENCo0s).”° The SEND and alternative
provision roadmap setting out timelines for parts of the Government’s
proposals was published alongside this."

July 2024: The Department for Education announced a restructure to
place responsibility for SEND and alternative provision (AP) within its
schools group “to ensure that we deliver improvements to inclusion
within mainstream schools™.” The Autumn Budget in October 2024
included a £2.3billion increase in the DfE core budge: £1billion of this will
be used to support the SEND system.”

September 2024: Ofsted announced, in response to its Big Listen
consultation, that it plans to add an “inclusion” criterion to its new
inspection framework."

June 2025: in June 2025, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government announced a further extension of the statutory override
lasting until 31 March 2028, as part of a phased approach to SEND
system reform.” In June 2025 the Department for Education confirmed
they will publish a White Paper on SEND reform in Autumn 2025.

July 2025: the Department for Education published its Best Start for Life
strategy which aims to improve child development and get 75 per cent of
5-year-olds in England to have a good level of development by 2028."

10

n
12

13

14

15

16
17

DfE, Policy paper, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, CP 800, March 2023 (accessed July 2025)

DfE, SEND and alternative provision roadmap, March 2023 (accessed July 2025)

DfE, Press release, “Sir Kevan Collins appointed at DfE as Non-Executive Board Member”,
10 July 2024 (accessed July 2025)

DfE, Blog, What does the Budget 2024 mean for education?, 31 October 2024 (accessed
July 2025)

Ofsted, Consultation outcome, Hearing feedback, accepting criticism and building a
better Ofsted: the response to the Big Listen, Sept 2024, (accessed July 2025)

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Press Release, “Fairer funding
for councils across the country in major reform”, June 2025

DfE, What does the Budget 2024 mean for education?, 31 October 2024

DfE, Blog, Giving every child the best start in life, CP 1362, July 2025

Page 137



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan/send-and-alternative-provision-roadmap
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/sir-kevan-collins-appointed-at-dfe-as-non-executive-board-member
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2024/10/budget-2024-education-send-childcare-private-schools-vat/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen/outcome/hearing-feedback-accepting-criticism-and-building-a-better-ofsted-the-response-to-the-big-listen
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen/outcome/hearing-feedback-accepting-criticism-and-building-a-better-ofsted-the-response-to-the-big-listen
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2024/10/budget-2024-education-send-childcare-private-schools-vat/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/giving-every-child-the-best-start-in-life

2 The state of inclusive
education in England

Current trends in SEND

Increasing need for SEND support

There are increasing numbers of children and young people with SEND and in
receipt of various forms of support in England. The graph below shows how
the percentage of pupils on school rolls with SEN, either receiving SEN support
or with Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plans has increased since 2016.

Percentage of pupils with SEN, by SEN provision, 2015/16 to 2024/25

Source: DfE, Special Educational Needs in England: 2024, June 2024, main
text; DfE, Special Educational Needs in England: 2019, July 2019 (for all data
prior to 2020)

In the 2024/25 academic year over 1.7 million pupils in England had special
educational needs, with 482,640 pupils having EHC plans (an 104.4 per
centage increase from 2015/16) and 1,284,284 without an EHC plan but
receiving SEN Support (a 20.6 per cent increase from 2015/16)." EHC plans
are given to children and young people aged up to 25 so the figures in the

18

DfE, Academic Year 2024-25 Special educational needs in England: 2025, gov.uk, June 2025

P 1
age1038



https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2019
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25

graph above do not represent that total number of EHC plans. However,
these follow a similar trend of increase with the total number of EHC plans
more than doubling between 2015 and 2025, rising from 240,183 to 638,745."°

Box 2: What support is currently available?

There are three levels of support through the graduated approach:
ordinarily available provision, SEN Support and EHC plans.

The graduated approach is a step-by-step method used by schools and
early years settings to identify and respond to a child or young person’s
SEND. The graduated method is promoted by the SEND Code of Practice.
Its aim is to ensure that support is proportionate to need, moving

from inclusive classroom practice to more targeted and specialist
interventions as necessary.

Level 1: Ordinarily Available Provision

Ordinarily available provision refers to the inclusive, high-quality
teaching and everyday adjustments that all schools and settings are
expected to provide for all pupils, including those with mild or emerging
SEND. This is provided by class teachers and teaching assistants and
does not require any formal identification of SEND.

Level 2: SEN support

SEN support is for children who need additional help beyond ordinarily
available provision. This includes more targeted interventions and
individualised support. Delivery of SEN support often involves the
school’s SENCO and can involve external specialists such as speech and
language therapists and educational psychologists.

Level 3: EHC plan

An EHC plan is a legal document issued by the local authority for
children and young people (aged 0-25) with complex and long-term
needs that cannot be met through SEN Support alone. The local
authority coordinates the plan, with input from professionals, the
setting, the family, and the child or young person. The purpose of the
plan is to ensure coordinated, legally enforceable support across
education, health, and care services.

19 DfE, Education, health and care plans: 2025, gov.uk, June 2025

Pa%e 139



https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans/2025

There is no single explanation for the increase in complexity of SEN nor

the increased need for SEN support and EHC plans identified by the
Department, researchers or stakeholders. The National Audit Office report,
Support for children and young people with special educational needs,
points to a combination of four hypotheses:

greater awareness and understanding of conditions within families,
the medical profession and schools;

cultural shift towards greater acceptance and support for those with SEN;

conditions and needs changing, potentially accelerated by the impact
of COVID-19-although the incidence of social and communication
needs had started to increase before the pandemic; and

incentives for schools to request EHC plans for pupils to access high-
needs funding, or transfer pupils to special schools.?

We also received some written evidence which suggested that medical
advancements have improved the survival rates of premature babies and
children with complex medical conditions.”

Increased complexity is the “new normal”

Throughout the inquiry we were told about the growing complexity of

SEN over the last decade amongst children and young people, in addition
to the increased volume of cases. We heard from Cllr Kate Foale, then
Spokesperson for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities at County
Councils Network of the Local Government Association, that “increased
complexity is the new normal”.?® This includes children being diagnosed with
more complex or multiple needs, as well as receiving diagnoses later, often
after their needs have significantly escalated. According to the Department
for Education, the most common type of need among pupils with an
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan is a diagnosis of autism with one in
three (33.6 per cent) being identified with a primary need of autism. This is
followed by speech, language and communication with one in five (20.7 per
cent). For those receiving SEN support, the most common need is speech,
language and communication needs affecting one in four (25.7 per cent)
pupils.? This is followed by social, emotional and mental health needs (23.6
per cent) and moderate learning difficulties, which account for 14.4 per cent
of cases. We heard across the evidence that there has been a particular

NAO, Support for children and young people with special educational needs, HC 299,

National Network of Parent Carer Forums (NNPCF) (SEN0248), SEN0413, SENO700

7.
8.
20
October 2024
21
29 Q58
23

DfE, Special educational needs in England: 2024/25, gov.uk

Page 140
g 12



https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135596/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25

increase in speech, language and communication needs and social,
emotional and mental health needs since the pandemic and subsequent
lockdown.?* These figures are presented in the bar chart below:

Pupils with an EHC plan or SEN support by type of need, 2024/25

Source: DfE, Special educational needs in England, 2024-25%

The increased complexity of SEND need was reflected in what we heard from
Phil Haslett, Deputy Chair of F40, a cross-party local authority campaign
group set up by the lowest-funded councils for education in England. He
told us that the “predominant element of the rise” seen amongst the local
authorities represented by F40 was found in social and emotional mental
health and speech and language.?® Similarly, we were told by Dr Luke
Sibieta, Research Fellow at Institute for Fiscal Studies:

24

25
26

Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266), Malden Oaks School and Tuition Centre (SEN0282)
DfE, Special educational needs in England: 2024/25, gov.uk

Q63

Pa%e 141


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135748/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england/2024-25
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/

10.

If you look across local authorities in terms of the types of need

that are driving demand, it is autistic spectrum disorders, speech,
language and communication needs, and social and emotional mental
health needs, including ADHD. It is really consistent across local
authorities and regions.”

SEND support by education phase and setting

The increase of EHC plans and SEN Support varies across school type and
phase; however, the proportion of pupils with SEN has increased in most
school phases:

In state-funded nurseries, 16.7 per cent of pupils receive SEN support
and 2.1 per cent have an EHC plan, an increase from 12.1 per cent and
increase from 0.6 per cent in 2015 respectively.?

Across state-funded primary schools, 14.8 per cent receive SEN
support and 3.5 per cent have an EHC plan, an increase from 13

per cent and 1.4 per cent in 2015 respectively—in 2025, primary
schools saw the largest increase in the number of EHC plans, with an
additional 21,000 pupils with plans since 2024.%

Across all state-funded secondary schools, 13.4 per cent receive SEN
support and 3.1 per cent have an EHC plan, an increase from 12.4 and
1.8 per cent respectively since 2015.%°

Across all independent schools, 6.5 per cent have an EHC plan and
17.6 per cent receive SEN support, an increase from 5.7 per cent and
16.7 per cent respectively. However, when disaggregated, it is clear
that the overwhelming majority of these pupils with EHC plans attend
specialist independent schools with 94.5 per cent of these pupils with
EHC plans attending specialist independent schools compared to 1.4
per cent in attending mainstream independent schools.

In state-funded Alternative Provision (AP), 83.4 per cent have an EHC
plan or SEN support, an increase from 82.2 per cent.”

27
28

29

30

31

Q63

Includes state-funded nursery, non-maintained special schools, state-funded alternative
provision schools and independent schools

Includes state-funded primary and special schools, non-maintained special schools,
state-funded alternative provision schools and independent schools

Includes state-funded secondary and special schools, non-maintained special schools,
state-funded alternative provision schools and independent schools

DfE, ‘Pupils in all schools, by type of SEN provision - 2016 to 2025’ from ‘Special
educational needs in England’, August 2025 (accessed 18 August 2025)

Page 142
g 14



https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/66bee975-a1b9-4038-28b4-08ddd64dbb93
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/66bee975-a1b9-4038-28b4-08ddd64dbb93

1.

12.

We received evidence from local authorities about the increased use of
expensive independent school placements for children and young people
with SEND. According to the Department for Education’s written evidence
there were 728 independent special schools in 2024, compared to 658

in 2023 and 477 in 2018. Placements in independent special schools are
“overwhelmingly” funded by the state, with the School Census showing that,
for 80 per cent of the sector, 90 per cent or more pupils have EHC plans and
the figures in the above bullet points showing that 94.5 per cent of pupils
with an EHC plan attending an Independent school are attending specialist
independent school.* This data shows the commonality of local authorities
paying for specialist places in independent schools to meet children’s
needs.* Susan Acland-Hood, Permanent Secretary at the Department for
Education, told the Public Accounts Committee that the Department is
“committed to and working on really hard” to reduce current reliance on
the independent sector and has indicated its full plan will be set out in the
upcoming SEND White Paper, due in Autumn 2025.3*

EHC plans

Across England, children and young people are facing increasingly long
waits for their Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans) to be issued.
Delays have worsened in recent years: in 2024, only 46.4 per cent of EHC
plans were issued within the statutory 20-week timeframe, compared to
around 60 per cent between 2018 and 2021. The graphic below illustrates
the proportion of new EHC plans issued within 20 weeks in 2024.

32

33
34

DfE, Academic Year 2024/25 Schools, pupils and their characteristics, June 2025
(accessed July 2025)

Department for Education (SEN0887)

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, October 2024, Oral evidence taken by the Public Accounts Committee on

18 November 2024, Q52 [Susan Acland-Hood]

Pa%e 143



https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-pupils-and-their-characteristics/2024-25
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15007/html/

Percentage of new EHC plans issued within 20 weeks in 2024

Source: Department for Education statistics on education, health and care
plans, June 2025

Page 144
9 16



13.

14.

15.

16.

EHC plan delays are in part due to increased waiting times to see specialists
such as speech and language therapists or educational psychologists.
Waiting to receive an assessment protracts the EHC plan process,
particularly when children are on multiple waiting lists. The charity Kids
highlights that this waiting has a “devastating impact on children and
families”, delaying referrals to other health professionals and limiting
access to support.*

Families can challenge individual decisions made by local authorities about
EHC plans through the SEND tribunal. For example, if a local authority
refuses to issue an EHC plan after assessment or issues an EHC plan but
families are unhappy with the description of the child’s needs or the special
educational provision listed. Local authorities told us that decisions not to
issue an EHC plan or to offer less support than is needed are often driven

by limited resources, capacity constraints, or a lack of authority to compel
other services into action.*® The most recent statistics show that only 2.5 per
cent of local authority decisions on EHC plans were appealed at a tribunal in
2023/24. However, of these, the tribunals found partly or wholly in favour of
parents and carers in 99 per cent of cases.”’

Attainment, outcomes and curriculum

Pupils with EHC plans or receiving SEN support generally have lower
academic attainment than pupils with no SEN identified. There are also
attainment gaps between pupils with EHC plans and those receiving SEN
support, likely reflecting the more complex need of students with EHC plans.

Key stage 2 attainment

In 2015/16, 62 per cent of pupils with no SEN identified met the expected
standard for attainment across state-funded schools, compared to only
14% with either an EHC plan or in receipt of SEN support amounting to

a 48 percentage point gap. In 2023/24 this gap had increased closed
with 72 per cent of pupils with no SEN identified meeting the expected
standard for attainment across state-funded schools and 22 per cent of
pupils with either an EHC plan or in receipt of SEN support amounting to
a 50 percentage point gap.

35

36
37

Kids, Kids Policy Solutions: Delivering cost-effective support to tackle SEND waiting lists
and reduce the mounting - and costly - crisis in provision for disabled children and their
families, October 2024

The County Councils Network (SEN0850)

MoJ, Tribunal Statistics Quarterly: July to September 2024, gov.uk, 12 December 2024

Pa%e 145



https://www.kids.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Kids-Policy-Solutions-October-202.pdf
https://www.kids.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Kids-Policy-Solutions-October-202.pdf
https://www.kids.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Kids-Policy-Solutions-October-202.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137336/html/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/tribunals-statistics-quarterly-july-to-september-2024/tribunal-statistics-quarterly-july-to-september-2024

17.

18.

19.

Comparing over the same period, there is a gap between the percentage of
pupils with and without SEND exceeding standard expectations. In 2015/16,
6 per cent of those without SEN met this higher standard while only one per
cent of those with an EHC plan or receiving SEN support did, amounting

to a five percentage point gap. In 2023/24, while the percentage of pupils
without SEN reaching this higher standard increased to nine per cent, the
percentage for children with either an EHC plan or in receipt of SEN support
remained at one per cent.

Key stage 4 attainment

At the Key Stage 4 level, gaps in attainment are also prevalent. In 2014/15,
66.4 per cent of pupils without SEND achieved a grade 4/C or above in English
and maths GCSEs while only 24.2 per cent of pupils identified with SEND
achieved these grades. This amounts to a 42.2 percentage point gap. In
2023/24, 72.3 per cent of pupils without SEND achieved a grade 4/C or above
in English and maths GCSEs while 30.8 per cent of pupils identified with SEND
achieved these grades, amounting to a 41.5 percentage point gap.

In its analysis of the post-16 landscape, commissioned by the County
Councils Network and the Local Government Association, I1sos Partnership
found that just 30 per cent of young people with Education, Health and
Care Plans (EHC plans) achieved Level 2 qualifications by age 19—down
from nearly 37 per cent in 2014/15. Isos Partnership also reported that
94.6 per cent of young people without SEND were in sustained education,
apprenticeships, or employment, compared to 50.2 per cent of those with
EHC plans in the 2021/22 cohort. The table below shows that on the whole,
the proportion of young people in sustained education, apprenticeships and
employment has remained broadly stable with some small improvements,
in education and work. However, there has been a 0.5 decline in the
percentage of those in sustained apprenticeships which raises concerns
considering the focus of skills policy on the apprenticeship route, as the
table below shows.*®

38

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Page 146
g 18



https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england

20.

21.

Table 1: Post-16 destinations of young people with EHC plans, 2015/16
and 2021/22

Overall Education, Apprentice- Work, NEET Destination
percentage of  sustained  ships, sustained unknown
young people sustained

with EHC plans

in education,

apprenticeships
or employment,
sustained

2015/ | 90.0 per cent 86.4 1.4 2.2 5.4 1.2
16
2021/ | 50.2 per cent 86.8 0.9 2.5 4.8 1.9
22

Source: County Councils Network and Local Government Association,
Towards an effective and financially sustainable approach to SEND in
England, July 2024

Throughout the inquiry we heard about the need for the curriculum to be
more expansive and less rigid so it can be better adapted to the needs and
abilities of pupils. Annamarie Hassall MBE, CEO at National Association for
Special Educational Needs (Nasen), told us:**

We have to have a curriculum that is more flexible and broader, and
that enables school leaders to make decisions about what works for
their learner population, to bring in creativity and movement and,
within that, opportunities for teachers to be able to reflect and talk
with each other.

When asked how the current curriculum and assessment framework could
be improved, young people with SEND similarly told us that the curriculum
and assessment framework lacks sufficient flexibility, making it harder for
them and their peers to engage with both positively. We heard from Lucy
Bowerman, aged 22, that “flexibility is the most important thing”.*° Madeline
Thomas, aged 19, expanded on what this might look like in practice, saying:

we could look more at the way that children learn, in terms of what
could be effective within the curriculum for disabled children and
young people, with the possibility of having more flexibility in how
they tackle classroom activities or homework. Instead of saying that
something has to be done within a very specific standard—an essay—

39
40

Q84
Q106

Pa%e 147


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

22.

23.

24.

it would be interesting, especially in the younger years, to see the
change that could come from having children go off and find their own
ways of displaying that information for themselves and having more
flexibility and freedom.*

Attendance, exclusion and suspensions

Parents and carers consistently reported in their evidence to our inquiry
that their children’s school attendance was negatively affected by the

lack of appropriate support for their SEND within educational settings.*
This is reflected in the attendance rates for pupils with SEND. The overall
absence rate for pupils with an EHC plan was 12.52 per cent in 2024/25. This
compares to 9.2 per cent for pupils with SEN support and 5.4 per cent with
no identified SEN.* There has been a consistent, albeit very small decrease
in persistent absence amongst pupils identified with SEN identified;
however, these percentages remain disproportionately high compared to
pupils without identified SEN.

Across the evidence we heard particular concern about the prevalence of
persistent absence for children and young people with SEND, compared to
pupils with no SEND identified. In 2014/15, nine per cent of pupils with any
type of SEND were persistent absentees compared to 3.7 percent of the total
pupil population.** In 2023/24, 34.18 per cent of pupils with EHC plans were
persistently absent and 26.3 per cent of pupils in receipt of SEN support
were persistently absent, while only 14.7 per cent of pupils with no identified
SEN were persistently absent.*® Further, viewed in isolation, these rates are
unacceptably high and are likely to contribute directly to poorer long-term
outcomes for children and young people with SEND. This level of disparity
cannot be regarded as acceptable within an inclusive education system.

During the inquiry, we heard concerns that behavioural policies in
mainstream schools can disproportionately affect children with SEND. This
is reflected in suspension rates: pupils with an EHC plan had a suspension
rate of 25.6 per cent, slightly lower than the rate for those receiving SEN
support, which stood at 29.4 per cent. In comparison, the rate for pupils
with no identified SEN was 7.6 per cent—more than three times lower.

A similar pattern is evident in permanent exclusions. The rate among
pupils with an EHC plan was 0.3 per cent, again lower than for those with
SEN support at 0.4 per cent, while pupils with no SEN had a much lower

41
49
43
44
45

Q107

Thematic summary of evidence submitted by parents and carers (SEN0894)

DfE, Pupil absence in schools in England: Autumn term 2024/25, gov.uk, August 2025
DfE, Pupil absence in schools in England: 2014 to 2015 , March 2016 (accessed August 2025)
DfE, Pupil absence in schools in England: Autumn term 2024/25, gov.uk, August 2025

Page 148
90



https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148142/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england/2024-25-autumn-term
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a815ebee5274a2e87dbd42d/SFR10_2016_text.pdf
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england/2024-25-autumn-term

25.

26.

exclusion rate of 0.1 per cent.*® The exclusion rates for students with SEND
which has not been formally identified are assumed to be even higher,
although data are not collected or monitored. Autistic students represent
the largest SEND group affected by exclusions. We heard that for many
students with SEND, exclusions from mainstream schools often stem from
unmet SEND needs that are “misunderstood” and then misinterpreted and
viewed as “bad behaviour” resulting in an “unhelpful disciplinarian culture”
rather than an inclusive environment.”’

Specialist provision

The Department for Education did not begin to systematically collect

and monitor data on specialist school places until 2023. The absence of
reliable data prior to this has hindered effective planning for new specialist
provision, because it meant there was no reliable data underpinning
decisions on the delivery of new specialist school places and the data now
available is still limited in scope and maturity. There are no published DfE
statistics on how many special schools have waiting lists or how long these
lists are. However, there are some data on special school capacity. It should
be noted that the most recent data, collected in May 2024, do not include
independent special schools, or special units attached to mainstream
schools. Of state-funded special schools:

There were 153,000 special school places reported across all phases;

There were around 160,000 pupils on roll across these schools, so a
net excess of around 7,000 pupils across all phases; and

Around two-thirds of special schools reported being at or over
capacity.*®

There are no published data on how far pupils are travelling to attend
specialist placements; however, there are data on the proportion of special
school pupils attending school in a different local authority area to the

one they live in. The proportion attending school out of area has remained
relatively stable in recent years at around 9 per cent, as shown in the table
below. However, this data excludes independent sector pupils.

46
47

48

DfE, Suspensions and permanent exclusions in England, gov.uk, July 2025

Global Black Maternal Health, Black Child SEND report, Accessing special educational
needs and disabilities (SEND) provisions for Black and mixed Black heritage children:
Lived experiences from parents and professionals living in South London, 2024

DfE, School capacity: 2023/24 academic year, gov.uk, March 2025

Pa%e 149



https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/suspensions-and-permanent-exclusions-in-england/2023-24
https://www.blackchildsend.com/_files/ugd/6e0914_096b4feb22b84593bf7db08f3c23ef26.pdf
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-capacity/2023-24

27.

28.

Table 2: Special school pupils attending school outside home local
authority 2023/24 academic year

Within local Outside local Percentage out of
authority authority area

2019-20 103,609 9,860 8.7

2020-21 108,838 10,474 8.8

2021-22 114,897 11,269 8.9

2022-23 121,205 11,946 9.0

2023-24 127,595 12,658 9.0

Source: Department for Education, Academic year 2023/24, Schools, pupils
and their characteristics, June 2024*°

We have heard that home to school transport costs are a “key factor” in
the financial difficulties being faced by local authorities.*® Published data
shows that in 2023-24, local authorities spent £2.24 billion on transporting
children and young people to school and college. This represents a dramatic
increase of £1.23 billion—or 122 per cent—over the past decade. However,
the most significant cost pressures have emerged in the last three years.
Between 2015-16 and 2019-20, annual expenditure grew by an average of
7per cent a year. In contrast, from 2020-21 to 2023-24, average annual
growth rose sharply by 20 per cent.* In a recent survey by the Local
Government Association, local authorities identified the placement of
children with EHC plans in schools—particularly in special schools located
further from home or outside the local authority area—as the second most
significant factor driving up the cost of SEND home-to-school transport. Of
the 51 councils that responded, 14 cited this as the most important factor,
while a further 23 ranked it as the second most important.

Inclusive education

The Government has stated its intention to improve the effectiveness of

the SEND system by enabling the majority of children with SEND to have
their needs met in inclusive, mainstream education settings.> However, the
Department is yet to publish a definition of inclusive mainstream education.
When asked what the Department’s working definition of an inclusive
mainstream setting is, then Minister McKinnell outlined early identification,

49

50
51

52
53

Department for Education, Academic year 2023/24, Schools, pupils and their
characteristics, June 2024

Q66

Local Government Association, The future of Home to School Transport, June 2025

Local Government Association, The future of Home to School Transport, June 2025

DfE, Press Release, “Sir Kevan Collins appointed at DfE as Non-Executive Board Member”,
10 July 2024

P 150
age 1


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-pupils-and-their-characteristics/2023-24
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-pupils-and-their-characteristics/2023-24
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/future-home-school-transport
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/future-home-school-transport
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/sir-kevan-collins-appointed-at-dfe-as-non-executive-board-member

29.

30.

31.

effective support, high-quality teaching and the effective allocation

of resources as key features of inclusivity but did not set out a clear
definition.>* We have heard from charities, school leaders and the wider
sector that without an official definition of inclusive mainstream education
from the Department for Education there is little clarity about what inclusive
mainstream education actually entails. Reflecting on the early years
context, Catherine McLeod MBE, CEO of Dingley’s Promise, told us:

what we really want to see is a situation where the local authority,
the settings and the families have a shared understanding of what
inclusive practice looks like. At the moment, | would say we do not.>®

This lack of clarity and shared understanding poses challenges to
accountability and reduces the likelihood of inclusive mainstream education
becoming a practical reality. Katie Ghose, CEO of Kids, a charity that
supports children and young people with special educational needs and
disabilities and their families, told us:

We welcome the Government’s drive for inclusive education in
mainstream schools to become a reality. For that to happen, the
Department for Education should clearly define inclusive education...
that would take us some way forward.>®

Margaret Mulholland, SEND and Inclusion Specialist, Association of

School and College Leaders (ASCL), explained that a definition of inclusive
mainstream education from the Department for Education would enable
schools and local areas to understand what action is needed to support this
and how they should work collaboratively to achieve it: “[t]hat is what we
need to be clear about—that participation and engagement, how schools
and local areas support that, and how we work collaboratively”.”’

We also heard that although the intention to create an inclusive mainstream
education system is positive, the role of other education settings, in
particular specialist schools in the wider SEND system, should not be
forgotten. Margaret Mulholland, SEND and Inclusion Specialist, Association
of School and College Leaders (ASCL), said: “I think we get mixed messages
that simply having high numbers of children with SEND in school and not

in specialist settings is somehow indicative of inclusion.”® Similarly, Clare
Howard OBE, CEO of Natspec, the membership association for organisations
which offer specialist provision for students with learning difficulties and
disabilities, told us that while she agrees that having the majority of

54
55
56
57
58

Q231
Q87
Q3
Q88
Q88

Page 151
3


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

32.

33.

34.

children and young people in mainstream education is “the right ambition”
this is “only one part of inclusion”.*®* When giving oral evidence, then Minister
Catherine McKinnell acknowledged the role specialist education provision
has for some children and young people with SEND, saying: “[sJome

children will always need that more specialist provision, and it is important
that those places are available for those children who need it and their
families™.°

Clarity on the definition of inclusive mainstream education would also
allow the Department for Education, local authorities and schools to have
a better understanding of the time, resource and investment needed to
achieve an inclusive mainstream education system. Without clarity on what
a reformed, inclusive mainstream education system is, the Government

will not be able to articulate a programme for delivering it or measure and
monitor progress. Jo Hutchinson, Director for SEND and additional needs at
the Education Policy Institute (EPI), told us:

We have to be realistic about the timeframes in which one can build
that new inclusive mainstream system ... We have to be realistic about
the fact that that involves investing up front.®'

Minister McKinnell cited the £1 billion added to the high needs budget in
the Autum Budget 2024 and the £740 million capital funding announced

in March 2025 to adapt mainstream state schools as evidence of the
Department providing the funding and resourcing to deliver inclusive
mainstream education. However, when pressed, the Minister was unable to
confirm whether the Department would be receiving more money from the
Treasury in the future to invest in an inclusive mainstream and specialist
provision.®

CONCLUSION
We welcome the Department’s focus on inclusive education; however,
we are concerned about the absence of a Departmental definition

of this and the subsequent lack of clarity about what ‘inclusive
mainstream’ education looks like and means in practice for educators,
education settings, pupils and families. We are also concerned that
the Department does not appear to have a clear understanding of

the timescale and level of investment that is needed to achieve a truly
inclusive mainstream education system.

59
60
61

62

Q88
Q269
Q209
Q233

Page 152
9 24


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

RECOMMENDATION
It is unacceptable that a clear definition of inclusive education is still
lacking. The Department must publish a definition of inclusive education
and rationale for this vision alongside examples of good practice across
different phases of education and settings within the next 3 months.
Continued ambiguity undermines progress and accountability.

RECOMMENDATION

An inclusive mainstream education system must be underpinned by
several key elements, all of which we would expect to be included

in the Department’s definition at a level of detail sufficient to enable
professionals and families to have a clear understanding of the
Government’s approach:

education settings and environments must be accessible, safe, and
designed to meet a wide range of sensory and physical needs;

teachers and teaching assistants and other support staff should
have the expertise, training, and confidence to support diverse
learners, underpinned by regular access to embedded specialist
professionals;

the curriculum must be flexible, relevant, and reflect the
representation of young people with SEND; and the Government
must ensure the curriculum itself and the assessment of it reflect
and accommodate their needs;

accountability systems must examine and prioritise the progress
and outcomes of all pupils, on a rounded set of indicators which
include but are not limited to academic attainment, so that
inclusion is embedded as an essential component of quality for all
settings. The proportion of pupils with SEND should be published
and compared with other local schools and multi-academy trusts,
to act as a disincentive to exclusionary practices; and

critically, good inclusive practice must always ensure rigorous,
systemic approaches to understanding the individual needs of
every child and delivering personalised support.

Pag%e 153



37.

38.

39.

40.

RECOMMENDATION
The UK is a signatory member of the UNCRPD (UN Convention on the
Rights of Persons with Disabilities) since 2008. It would be helpful in
developing any definition of inclusive education for the Department for
Education to draw on the principles and substantive materials in relevant
articles of this Convention. This should include Article 24 on education,
Article 25 on health and others, for example, Article 30 on participation
in cultural life, recreation, leisure and sport. It may also be helpful for
the Government to consider the UN general comment number 4 on
Article 24 - the right to inclusive education, as well as the UNICEF report
(2017) expanding on these issues in practice.®®

RECOMMENDATION
The Department must urgently assess the funding required to implement
meaningful reforms to SEND provision. There must be a clear plan for
how the Department will work towards this level of investment in the
short and medium term, which aligns with the timeline for SEND reforms.

RECOMMENDATION
As part of delivering a fully inclusive mainstream, the Government must
set out how it will deliver, over time, a system in which highly skilled
professionals, including educational psychologists and speech and
language therapists, are less tied up in undertaking assessments and
writing reports and more effectively deployed in delivering the support
children need. It should be clear what professional skills and expertise
an inclusive mainstream school should be able to draw on, and how this
expertise will be made available.

Drivers of the SEND crisis and barriers to
inclusive education

Throughout the inquiry, we heard about several key issues that need to be
addressed in order to solve the SEND crisis and ensure progress towards

inclusive mainstream education. These are set out briefly below, with possible
solutions that are explored in greater detail in the rest of the report.

63

UNICEF, Inclusive education: Including children with disabilities in quality learning: what

needs to be done?, September 2017

Page 154
g 26



https://www.unicef.org/eca/sites/unicef.org.eca/files/IE_summary_accessible_220917_brief.pdf
https://www.unicef.org/eca/sites/unicef.org.eca/files/IE_summary_accessible_220917_brief.pdf

41.

42.

43.

44,

Inclusive education is yet to be secured

SEND support is currently limited and inconsistent, often leading to
escalating needs and increased demand for statutory interventions. For
inclusive mainstream education to succeed, the quality and consistency

of ordinarily available provision and SEN support must be significantly
enhanced. Appropriate specialist support must continue to be accessible for
those who need it, and aspects of education such as the curriculum and the
physical environment carefully designed to meet the needs of all children
and young people.

Parents and carers have limited trust and confidence in
the SEND system

The current SEND system suffers from a lack of accountability, eroding the
trust and confidence of children and young people with SEND and their
families in local authorities, schools and the Department for Education,
statutory duties are frequently unmet and exclusionary practices persist.
Building a truly inclusive mainstream education system requires meaningful
engagement with parents and robust accountability mechanisms across all
levels and services involved in delivering and supporting the education of
children and young people.

The education workforce is not equipped to support
pupils with SEND

The current education workforce lacks the capacity, training and resources
consistently to support children and young people with SEND in mainstream
settings. This is driven by shortages of specialists such as SENCOs,

reduced access to external services like educational psychologists and
therapists, and insufficient training and CPD for mainstream teachers. Many
educators lack the skills and confidence to meet complex needs, leading to
inconsistent provision. To address this, high-quality SEND training must be
embedded throughout teacher training, resources for specialist teachers
must be increased, and routine access to external specialist services must
be significantly improved to provide timely, coordinated, and effective
support. We have received evidence that local authority staff also need
more rigorous and systematic training.

Funding and finance

The current SEND system is critically underfunded at both local authority
and school levels. Funding has failed to keep pace with the rising number
and complexity of SEND cases, leaving many local authorities in financial

Pa297e 155



45.

46.

47.

distress and unable fully to meet their statutory duties. Schools often

lack the resources needed for specialist staff, tailored interventions, and
inclusive environments. Furthermore, the current accountability framework
provides little incentive for schools to prioritise existing resources towards
meeting the needs of children with SEND. This prevents timely, high-quality
support, increases pressure on families, and drives greater reliance on EHC
plans. To achieve truly inclusive mainstream education, sustainable and
adequate funding for both local authorities and schools is essential.

Partnership between services is weak

Coordination between services responsible for assessing and delivering
SEND support remains limited, with many operating in silos. This
fragmentation leads to inefficiencies and delays. To achieve inclusive
mainstream education, priorities must be aligned, roles and responsibilities
clearly defined, and effective mechanisms put in place to ensure seamless
collaboration across all services.

Lack of intervention in the early years is leading to the
escalation of need

SEND support in the early years sector is significantly under-resourced,
underfunded and inconsistently available, resulting in a failure to deliver at
a critical stage for the early identification of children’s needs. Investment

in early years provision is required to ensure that practitioners are
adequately equipped with the skills, resources, and capacity to identify
needs promptly, provide appropriate and effective support, where possible,
mitigate the escalation of more complex needs in later childhood, and refer
on to assessment teams and specialists, so that a child’s needs are well
understood and properly documented as early as possible.

Post-16

Young people with SEND frequently experience a reduction in support once
they reach the age of 16. This gap in provision can limit their opportunities
and undermine the progress made during earlier stages of education.

A comprehensive approach is required to ensure that young people with
SEND have access to sustained, tailored support beyond the age of 16,
underpinned by a diverse range of pathways for progression and their
needs are adequately reflected in the Government’s current and future
skills strategies.

P 156
age 1



48.

49.

CONCLUSION

The SEND system is not delivering for children and young people or their
families, with poor experiences and outcomes becoming the norm in
many places across England. Rising need coupled with limited school
resourcing, stretched local authority budgets and a mismatch between
local authority responsibilities and their powers has resulted in a costly
and adversarial system. Over a decade on from the 2014 reforms, the key
challenges are evident: preparedness of the education workforce, lack
of parental trust and confidence in the system, limited accountability
across schools, multi-academy trusts, NHS services and local
authorities, disjointed working across the various agencies and families,
limited capacity and the inadequacy and unsustainability of funding.

RECOMMENDATION

It is essential that the Department addresses these challenges if it is
going to succeed in making mainstream education inclusive and fixing
the broken SEND system. The Department must involve stakeholders

in reforms and begin to consult with parent-led organisations now. It
should set out a clear timeline for SEND reforms and report on progress
at least on an annual basis.

Pag%e 157



50.

51.

52.

3 Securing inclusive
education

Section 66 of the Children and Families Act 2014 directs education settings
to use their “best endeavours” to provide appropriate support for children
and young people with SEND.®* The SEND code of practice describes a
graduated approach to supporting children and young people with SEND
spanning the three types of support set out in the previous Chapter:

Ordinarily available provision: general support that should be
available in mainstream schools for children and young people with
special educational needs, without the need for an Education, Health
and Care (EHC) plan;

SEN support: tailored support given to children and young people with
special educational needs who do not have an EHC plan; and

EHC plan: a legal document for children and young people aged 0-25
who have special educational needs or disabilities and need more
support than is available through SEN Support.

While we heard broad support for the graduated approach throughout
our inquiry, it is clear that improvements are needed at every level, from
ordinarily available provision to SEN Support and EHC plans, to ensure its
effectiveness and to realise an inclusive education system.®

Ordinarily available provision

The SEND code of practice sets out what schools and local authorities
should provide as part of their ordinarily available support for children

with SEND. It states that mainstream schools must make reasonable
adjustments and provide targeted support for pupils without needing an
EHC plan.®® This can include interventions that can be made at the SEN
Support level. The SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan states:

64
65
66

Children and Families Act 2014
Q83, Q92
DfE and DHSC, SEND code of practice: O to 25 years (accessed April 2025)

P 158
age 1



https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25

53.

“[w]e want ordinarily available provision and high-quality teaching to
meet children and young people’s needs wherever possible, and specialist
support to complement the skills and expertise of the wider workforce”.®’

Clear guidance on ordinarily available provision and what this entails is
important in giving clarity to education settings on “what they are expected
to do for all children as a minimum?, allowing families to see what their
children should be offered and enabling local authorities to hold education
settings to account when these expectations are not met.®® However, we
found that in practice there is often a lack of clarity. A coalition of local
councils including Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council,
East Sussex County Council and Brighton and Hove City Council told us that
“the ordinarily available offer differs across local authorities, some offers
are not consistent even within the same local authority”.®® We heard that
this inconsistency is due to the absence of a clear and consistent definition
of ordinarily available provision. Dr Peter Gray, Co-Coordinator at the SEN
Policy Forum, told us “we are experiencing issues about how to define
ordinarily available provision”.” This is similar to what we heard from Alison
Ismail, Director of SEND and Alternative Provision at the Department for
Education, who told us:

What we see from the visits we do and talking to schools is that
provision for children with additional needs in one school might be
done through their core offer, perhaps even without giving the label of
SEND support, and in another school it might be considered to require
an EHC plan application. There is that interesting disconnect in the
consistency of practice and consistency of expectations, which we
know is really important to parents and carers.”

54. We also heard about the need for greater consistency in ordinarily available

provision from Amanda Allard, CEO of the Council for Disabled Children, who
told us:

We need some national standards. There need to be clear
expectations. Children, young people and their parents need

to understand what they can expect to have as ordinarily
available provision in schools, and schools need to be inspected
against whether that level of support is provided.”

67

68
69

70
71
72

DfE, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative Provision (AP)
Improvement Plan, gov.uk, March 2023, p. 53

Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)

Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266)

Q196

Q237

Q3

Page 159


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/63ff39d28fa8f527fb67cb06/SEND_and_alternative_provision_improvement_plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/63ff39d28fa8f527fb67cb06/SEND_and_alternative_provision_improvement_plan.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

55.

56.

57.

We have received evidence suggesting that some local authorities have
independently developed guidance on ordinarily available provision to
support education settings. For example, Pinpoint Cambridgeshire, a SEND
parent/carer forum based in Cambridgeshire, reported that the settings
valued these resources; however, the guidance was “not being used
consistently in every school all of the time”.”® We also heard that not all
local authorities provide such guidance, leaving schools and parents unsure
about what ordinarily available provision entails. An anonymous parent
told us: “[t]here seems to be little local authority guidance and support for
parents or schools about what support is and must be ordinarily available
or monitoring of school compliance™.™

Much of our evidence argued that to resolve this and achieve greater
clarity and accountability around the expectations of ‘ordinarily available
provision’, an improved definition and national standards for ordinarily
available provision are necessary. Pinpoint Cambridgeshire told us that

the Department for Education needs to be more specific about ordinarily
available provision so it is “consistent everywhere” and schools can be
resourced and held accountable for delivering it.”” Similarly, Rhianedd
Hughes, the Head of SEN Statutory Service at Brighton and Hove City
Council told us: “[a] national version of ordinarily available provision should
be implemented with a staged approach at SEN support with clear levels
so that everyone is clear about expectations and there is a national level of
consistency”.”®

The Department for Education acknowledges the need for the SEND code of
practice to update and clarify ordinarily available provision and indicated
that this will be a part of the upcoming SEND White Paper expected in
Autumn 2025. Alison Ismail, Director of SEND and Alternative Provision at
the Department for Education, told us:

From what we hear and from the evidence that you have taken

as a Committee, that needs to be perhaps clearer, updated and
more accessible as something that we can clearly point to for the
expectation on the core offer... | expect that as part of looking at the
overall system, we would definitely review whether there is more we
can do to improve the code of practice.”

73
74
75
76

77

Pinpoint Cambridgeshire (SEN0205)

Anonymous (SEN0104)

Pinpoint Cambridgeshire (SEN0205)

Ms Rhianedd Hughes (Head of SEN Statutory Service at Brighton and Hove City Council)
(SEN0043)

Q237

P 1
age3260


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135303/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133918/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135303/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133453/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

58.

59.

60.

However, we heard that standardisation should not come at the expense

of locality and context, as “there will always need to be room for local
variance but some core principles to guide local authorities in establishing
their core offer would be beneficial”, for example, the minimum expectations
associated with specialist outreach and therapy services.”

We also heard about the importance of local authorities and schools taking
strategic, locally tailored approaches to underpin any national standards
for ‘ordinarily available provision’. Dr Susana Castro-Kemp, Associate
Professor at the Institute of Education, Psychology & Human Development
and lead researcher of ScopeSEND, told us:

Having a common understanding of what is meant by high-quality
provision for all is important, but one caveat of just standardising
practice nationally without having a clear strategy underneath it is
that it might make us neglect specific local needs... If we have written
standards alone, it might not be effective but that is not to say that we
should not have written standards. They should be accompanied by a
very clear strategic and systemic approach to inclusion.”

SEN support

SEN Support is non-statutory and involves reasonable adjustments in
education given to a child or young person at pre-school, school or college,
supplementing ordinarily available provision for children and young people
with SEND. The below table outlines some the type of support that should be
available to pupils through SEN Support.

78

79

Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266)
Q196

Page 161
E


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/

61.

62.

Table 3: Department for Education, Children with special educational
needs and disabilities®®

SEN support for children under 5 SEN Support for children between

5-15
- a written progress check when - a special learning programme

your child is 2 years old
- extra help from a teacher or

- a child health visitor carrying out a | assistant

health check for your child if they’re )
aged 2 to 3 - to work in a smaller group

. o written assessment in the - observation in class or at break
summer term of your child's first - help taking part in class activities
year of primary school

_ ) - extra encouragement in their
- making reasonable adjustments learning, for example to ask

for disabled children, like providing questions or to try something they
aids like tactile signs find difficult

- help communicating with other
children

- support with physical or personal
care difficulties, for example eating,
getting around school safely or
using the toilet

According to the Department for Education, young people aged 16 or over in
further education should have their parents or carers contact their college
before starting to ensure the setting is able to meet their need and the
setting and local authority should talk with the young person about the
support they need.”

Throughout our inquiry we heard about the varied quality and availability
of SEN support. Nasen highlight that this is in part driven by the significant
disparity in how SEND is identified and supported across education settings
and what their “best endeavours” looks like. In some settings, learners may
receive tailored support, while in others, the same needs may not even be
recognised. The Identifying SEND report by the Education Policy Institute
(EPI) found inconsistencies amongst primary and secondary schools in
approaches to identifying SEND to be a major driver in a child’s chances

of receiving support. The EPI found that this variation between schools

80

81

DfE, Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), gov.uk (accessed
November 2024)
DfE, Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), gov.uk (accessed

July 2025)
Page 162
34



https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/special-educational-needs-support
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs/special-educational-needs-support

63.

accounted for two-thirds of the differences between those identified with
SEND and those not identified.?? Georgina Downard, Senior solicitor at
Independent Provider of Special Education Advice (IPSEA) told us:

We hear of schools and local authorities interpreting .... [best
endeavour] duties differently and quite often a child falls through the
gap... these different interpretations that we see reflect how current
duties around SEN support lack clarity and, if necessary, are difficult to
enforce.®

This aligns with what we heard from Daniel Constable Phelps, Executive
Headteacher at St Mary’s Primary and Nursery School who told us:

The issue with [SEN support] is the language that is used within that
guidance. Instead of language like “you must provide the following”,
it is “should”. That for me is why the quality you sometimes see varies.
Particularly in my job where | go to different schools to help, | see that
variability because what that “should” looks like is not set in stone.?

Conrad Bourne, Director for SEND at The Mercian Trust, told us “the code of
practice gives us some pointers, but one challenge that I have always felt is
that it does not give us the structure and framework.”®> And Nicole Dempsey,
Director of SEND and Safeguarding at Dixons Academies Trust, said:

We definitely need greater clarity and guidance in the SEN support
space... By this | mean the need for specific guidance around the
universal offering in the SEN support stage, access to services, how
we understand inclusive leadership and create a culture of belonging
for all children, and how we implement effective responsive provision
that does not take children away from their lessons and the shared
experiences of education.®®

Some of the written evidence we received attributed the increase in demand
for EHC plans to the inconsistency of support offered to those without an
EHC plan. Department for Education findings from Phase One of Delivering
Better Value in SEND, published in October 2024, found that better support
in mainstream schools could lead to 30,000 more children having their
needs met through SEN Support rather than via an EHC plan and 35,000

82
83
84

85
86

Education Policy Institute, Identifying SEND, February 2025

Q179

[NB: Statutory Guidance is issued under powers granted by legislation. It often uses
“must” and “should” to distinguish between mandatory duties and recommended
practices. For example, local authorities “must” follow certain safeguarding procedures,
while they “should” follow others and be able to give objectively good reasons why they
have not if they choose not to do so.], Q212

Q212

Q213

Pasgse 163


https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/identifying-send-2/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/

64.

65.

66.

67.

more children having their needs met in a mainstream setting rather than

a specialist placement, including 15,000 more children supported through
resourced provision.?” These findings were repeated to us by then Minister

McKinnell and reflect how the current inadequacy of SEN support is driving
need for EHC plans.®®

Susan Acland-Hood, Permanent Secretary of the DfE, told the Public
Accounts Committee in November 2024 that the 40 per cent increase in
demand for EHC plans has been caused by a lack of clarity about what
children and young people with SEND should receive through SEN support
as well as the inconsistency of this support. Acland-Hood argued that “it’s
really important that it’s possible for people to get more support without
having to go through an [EHC] assessment process™.®

The current inconsistency in SEN support and ordinarily available provision
across England means that children with SEND are experiencing vastly
different levels of support, leading to inequitable outcomes that undermine
the very principles of inclusion and fairness. These disparities are fuelled
by vague guidance and inconsistent interpretations of the legal duty to

use ‘best endeavours’, resulting in delayed identification of needs, patchy
provision, and an excessive reliance on EHC plans. Amanda Allard, CEO of
the Council for Disabled Children, told us:

| now meet parents, which | never did before, who are saying to me,
“My child should never have needed a plan. Their need should have
been met within mainstream schools.” ... . We must get to a situation
where we are not making parents go down that route when it should
not be necessary.®

Similarly, Contact, a charity that works with families with disabled children,
explained that currently the only way to get provision such as speech and
language therapy or support from an educational psychologist is through
an EHC plan. It is therefore “unsurprising that the number of requests for
assessment-followed by the issuing of EHC plans has increased.”™”

Our written evidence was clear that SEN support needs to be consistent,
strong and effective if more children’s needs are to be met in mainstream
schools. The families of children with SEND highlighted the need to
“empower and fund schools and local authorities to provide interventions
and support which may reduce the need for EHC plans.” Evidence

87
88
89

90
91
92

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Q236

Oral evidence taken by the Public Accounts Committee on 18 November 2024 [Susan
Acland-Hood]

Q3

Contact (SENO174)

Anonymous (SEN01071)

Page 164
g 36


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/event/22316/formal-meeting-oral-evidence-session/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133892/html/

68.

69.

from those working in the SEND system shared this perspective, telling

us “parents should feel confident in SEN support not having to push

for statutory Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment”.** A SEN
caseworker emphasised the need for parents to have a credible alternative
in seeking support for their child:

Trustworthy, clear, and accessible support mechanisms should

be put in place that allow parents to feel confident their children’s
needs are being met without the need for lengthy and often stressful
applications. This could help to reduce the dramatic rise in EHC plan
applications, many of which are for children with low-level SEN.**

Some of the evidence we received and heard advocated strengthening the
Children and Families Act 2014 to place SEN Support on a statutory footing
in order to improve SEN, the consistency of support in mainstream schools
and reduce demand for EHC plans. Contact, a charity for families with
disabled children, told us that the Children and Families Act 2014 currently
places “minimal and vague duties” on schools to support those pupils who
have SEN, but no EHC plan.®® Being non-statutory, a “lack of enforceability
[of SEN support] enables non-inclusive practice in mainstream schools”.®
Contact argued that strengthening the Act would provide a “major
improvement” for children and young people who don’t need an EHC plan
but do need extra provision and support.”” Other evidence suggested that,
in practice, putting SEN support on a statutory footing would involve an
increased emphasis on inclusive practices and provision of support for
children with SEND in mainstream settings by requiring the introduction of
national standards for SEN support and an avenue for redress.®®

Whilst exploring the potential benefits of placing SEN support on a
statutory footing, we also heard concerns about what this might mean in
practice. For example, Annemarie Hassall, CEO of Nasen, raised concerns
about “unintended consequences” such as limiting access to SEN support
through the introduction of rigid or overly prescriptive criteria and Margaret
Mulholland, SEND & Inclusion specialist at the Association of School and
College Leaders told us about the risk of “pathologising” those in need

of this support instead of focusing on broader, universal provision.®
Another key issue highlighted in evidence was that, without the allocation

93

94
95
96
97
98
99

Ms Rhianedd Hughes (Head of SEN Statutory Service at Brighton and Hove City Council)
(SEN0043)

Miss Joan Northage (SEN Casework Manager at Brighton & Hove City Council) (SEN0052)
Contact, Contact’s 3 Asks to improve England’s SEN system (accessed July 2025)
Contact (SENO174)

Contact (SENO174)

Mr David Robinson (Architect at Robinson+ limited) (SENO059)

Q85

Page 165


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133453/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133508/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133572/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

70.

71.

72.

of additional resources, relevant expertise, and targeted investment,
there was no assurance that making SEN support statutory would lead to
meaningful improvements. Clare Howard, CEO of Natspec, told us:

[making SEN support statutory is] not a magic bullet. Just creating a
statutory framework does not mean that it will happen, as we have
seen with the unlawful practice that is happening in other areas of the
system [EHC plans].'®®

We heard that the effectiveness of SEN Support is being significantly
undermined by both resource constraints and wider systemic issues.
Stakeholders described how, even where guidance on effective SEN
provision is available such as through ordinarily available provision
frameworks, schools often lack the staffing, funding, and specialist input
needed to implement it effectively. This issue is examined in greater detail in
Chapter 7.

In addition to these capacity issues within schools, we also heard concerns
about a lack of alignment between what schools are expected to provide
as part of SEN Support and what local authorities actually fund or make
available. This mismatch can create confusion and frustration: schools are
held accountable for delivering provision they cannot realistically resource,
while families may be left unclear about what their child is entitled to

and who is responsible for securing it. This gap between local authority
expectations and school-level capacity is placing additional strain on the
SEN system and, ultimately, limiting the support available to children and
young people with SEN. A more detailed exploration of this can be found in
Chapter 9.

CONCLUSION
The current inconsistency in SEN support and ordinarily available
provision across England is unacceptable and results in deeply inequitable
experiences for children and young people with SEND. The lack of
consistent good practice in SEN support, driven by insufficiently clear and
specific guidance and inconsistent interpretations of ‘best endeavours’

are causing delays in identifying needs, inadequate support, and an
overreliance on EHC plans. This not only undermines trust in the system
but also places unnecessary strain on families. National standards must
be introduced without delay to establish clear, enforceable expectations
while allowing for local flexibility where appropriate.

100 Q85

P 1
age3866


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

73.

74.

75.

76.

CONCLUSION

Insufficient funding and resources and a mismatch between local
authority responsibilities and powers negatively impacts the adequacy
of ordinarily available provision and SEN support. We have heard from
school leaders and SENCOs that without sufficient resources, settings
are struggling to provide the high quality, consistent support necessary
to achieve inclusive mainstream education.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department for Education should publish a unified national
framework for ordinarily available provision and SEN support. This
should offer clear, evidence-led guidance and include practical, real-
world examples tailored to educators and educational settings, ensuring
that all practitioners have access to quality-assured strategies and
interventions.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department should publish statutory requirements mandating the
minimum resources, specialist expertise, and equipment that every
educational setting must have access to as a part of their offer of SEN
support and in order to deliver an inclusive education. This will establish
a clear, enforceable baseline covering staffing, training, physical
materials, and assistive technologies. This will also ensure that all
schools and multi-academy trusts are adequately equipped to support
children and young people with SEND through ordinarily available
provision and SEN support, reducing the need for EHC plans.

Access to specialists

Currently the role and availability of specialists such as educational
psychologists and allied health professionals, including occupational
therapists and speech and language therapists, in education settings is
inconsistent. This is due to capacity issues which are explored in further
detail in Chapter 7 as well as funding and resourcing. The Local Government
Association and County Councils Network report, Towards an effective

and financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, states that

the most inclusive mainstream schools have multi-disciplinary teams,
including relevant allied health professionals, based on site; however, these
positions are typically funded from the schools’ own resources.” We also
heard evidence that many schools no longer have the budget to access

101

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Pag%e 167



https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england

77.

78.

educational psychologists and their expertise, leaving them, in their words
“isolated and on their own in providing and funding support”.'® This is of
concern because of the significant role educational psychologists can play
in supporting schools in early identification and intervention; enabling
children’s needs to be met without the need for an EHC plan.'® Similarly,
we received evidence suggesting the need for more speech and language
therapists in schools as a form of early intervention. It is this importance
of direct involvement from parts of the health workforce that led the Local
Government Association and County Councils Network to identify each
mainstream school having easy access to a team of multi-disciplinary
specialists physically present in settings for a specified number of days

a week as a “core element” of achieving a more inclusive mainstream
education system.”**

However, according to written evidence, financial constraints are leading
many schools to apply for EHC plans in order to access the expertise

they need, describing it as “impossible for schools to get advice from an
educational psychologist when needed any other way”.'°® This is reflective of
evidence we received from Contact which stated:

If the only way to get necessary provision such as speech and
language therapy or support from an educational psychologist is
via an EHC needs assessment, it’s unsurprising that the number of
requests for assessment—followed by the issuing of EHC plans—
has increased.’*®

However, this is furthering the capacity challenges for the workforce and
undermining the availability of SEN support in schools. The Royal College of
Speech and Language Therapists stated:

As a result of limited resources and pressure to cut waiting

times, some NHS speech and language therapy services are now
commissioned only to provide therapy for children with EHC plans.
Many more have such limited capacity that, although in theory they
offer a service to all children who need it, in practice there is little
resource available for children and young people on SEN support once
statutory requirements have been met."”’

102
103
104

105
106
107

Anonymous (SEN0101), Anonymous (SENOO013)

Anonymous (SEN0122), Surrey County Council (SEN0389), Anonymous (SENOO031)
County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Anonymous (SEN01071)

Contact (SENO174)

Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (SENO707)

P 1
age4068



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133892/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133206/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134380/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133358/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133892/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137069/html/

79.

80.

81.

This creates a cycle where the time of the specialist workers is taken up with
completing assessments and paperwork at the expense of spending time

in education settings working with children to deliver meaningful support
and upskill teaching and support staff to deliver therapeutic interventions
and support. To address this issue, Tameside Local Authority recommend
that schools directly receive “significant funding” to build workforce
capacity and give schools access to external expertise, such as educational
psychologists without relying on EHC plans to “unlock” this resource.'®

Education, Health and Care Plans

Education, Health and Care Plans (EHC Plans) are a type of statutory
support for children and young people aged up to 25 who need more
support than is available through ordinarily available provision and SEN
support. EHC plans describe an individual’s special educational needs, the
support they need, and the outcomes they would like to achieve.®® When
first introduced through the Children’s and Families Act 2014, EHC plans
were intended to be used only for those with the most acute SEN needs.
Introducing EHC plans, the SEND code of practice 2014 states:

The majority of children and young people with SEN or disabilities will
have their needs met within local mainstream early years settings,
schools or colleges [ ... ] some children and young people may require
an EHC needs assessment in order for the local authority to decide
whether it is necessary for it to make provision in accordance with an
EHC plan.™

All the young people who gave oral evidence to our inquiry in March 2025
eventually received EHC plans, which they found beneficial. Madeline
Thomas, aged 19, told us she “definitely had more support after gaining an
EHC plan when | was 14, which my mother applied for;[ ... Jthe EHC plan, and
then further on with a Disability Support Allowance when | got to university,
has definitely been a massive help”.™ Katie Nellist, aged 17, told us that her
support “got a bit better” after her autism diagnosis and receiving an EHC
plan." Similarly, we heard from Lucy Bowerman, aged 22, that getting an
EHC plan “did help things™.™

108
109

10
m

12
13

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Council for Disabled Children, What is an Education Health and Care Plan? (accessed July
2025)

DfE and DHSC, SEND code of practice 2014, June 2014

Q97

Q100

Q97

Page 169


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/about-us-0/networks/information-advice-and-support-programme/useful-resources-publications/what-2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

82.

83.

84.

85.

As outlined in the previous section, Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans
are increasingly being used to fill the gaps left by insufficient SEN support
and inadequate ordinarily available provision, where parents feel that their
children’s needs are not being met and applying for an ECHP is the only
way to “unlock” the support they need.™ However, we have seen evidence
that if mainstream schools embed an inclusive approach, it is not always
necessary to apply for an EHC plan to meet a child’s needs. For example,
during our visit to Aylsham High School in Norwich, we saw and heard how
the school’s strong emphasis on high-quality ordinarily available provision,
alongside effective SEN support, meant that many pupils’ needs were being
met without the need for an EHC plan. The proactive and inclusive approach
of the school appeared to reduce the demand for formal statutory support
by ensuring early intervention and effective approaches are embedded into
everyday practice.

The Head of SEN Services at a city council told us the EHC plan process
“should only be for children and young people with the greatest of needs
and parents should feel confident in SEN support, not having to push for
statutory [Education Health and Care Needs Assessments]”."™ Although
some needs could be addressed through improvements in ordinarily
available provision and SEN support, it is important to remember that some
children and young people have needs that require the long term support
and individualised intervention provided by EHC plans. Dr Peter Gray, Co-
Coordinator at the SEN Policy Research Forum, told us: “we need to be
improving ordinarily available provision and build on that while recognising
that there are some children who have very significant needs and challenges
that we need to address more substantially”."

In addition, as a statutory entitlement, EHC plans are a critical mechanism
for ensuring accountability within the SEND system. They provide a legally
binding framework that sets out the support a child or young person is
entitled to receive, offering families a route to challenge decisions and seek
redress when provision is inadequate or not delivered through mediation
and the SEND Tribunal (See Chapter 4). In a system where non-statutory
support such as SEN support and ordinarily available provision is often
inconsistent or insufficient, EHC plans serve as a vital safeguard for those
with the most complex needs.

The total number of EHC plans has risen from 256,315 to 517,049 between
2016 and 2025, a 102 per cent increase." There is recognition across the
sector that this “escalation” is an issue, putting unsustainable pressure on
the SEND system, from local authority finances (explored in Chapter 8) to

N4
15
16
n7

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Dr Deborah Lawson (Disability Advocate) (SEN0048)

Q201

DfE, Education, health and care plans: 2024 , gov.uk, June 2024

Page 170
g 49



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133473/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans

86.

the capacity of specialist provision (explored in Chapter 10) and workforce
(explored in Chapter 7)."® There is a clear appetite across the sector—

from parents and school leaders to local authorities—for this issue to

be addressed in order to make the SEND system more sustainable in the
long term. As Minister McKinnell told us, there is a “need for long-term
sustainability” within the system. However, despite this pressure and desire
for change, we heard from Jo Hutchinson, Director for SEND and additional
needs at the Education Policy Institute that it is crucial that any reform does
not “pull away lifeboats in the meantime” and take away this statutory
support.™

In addition to the increase in volume of Education, Health and Care Needs
Assessments, the waiting time for issuing EHC plans has also increased in
recent years. In 2024, 46.4 per cent of new EHC plans were issued within
the twenty-week statutory timeframe. This is lower than in 2023, when this
figure was 50.3 per cent. Previously, between 2018-21, this was around

60 per cent.”” We received a substantial amount of evidence referencing
waiting months and sometimes years for diagnosis and EHC plans.”” EHC
plan delays are in part due to increased waiting times to see specialists such
as speech and language therapists or educational psychologists. We heard
about various factors contributing to extended waiting times, such as staff
shortages and local authorities “considerably” reducing their Educational
Psychology services in addition to “chaotic commissioning practices”.””?

18
19
120
121
122

Q86
Q209
DfE, Education, health and care plans, gov.uk, June 2025
DfE, Education, health and care plans, gov.uk, June 2025
Q123

Page 171
2


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans/2025
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/education-health-and-care-plans/2025
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

87.

88.

Box 3: Models of disability

Over the past few decades, a number of different understandings of
development and disability have emerged:

The medical model, which focuses on the individual’s impairment as
the source of the problem;

The social model, which views the source of difficulty as lying within
the environment, not the individual; and

The biopsychosocial model, which adopts a systemic view of
development and of needs and strengths, recognising that disability
arises from restrictions in everyday life participation—defined as
involvement in everyday life activities.

Source: ScopeSEND™

In England, entitlement to an EHC plan is not, in law, determined by a
medical diagnosis. However, throughout the inquiry we heard that in
practice access is often treated as dependent on a formal diagnosis. By
contrast, during our visit to Toronto, Ontario, we observed a system where
entitlement to an Individual Education Plan (equivalent to an EHC plan) is
explicitly based on an individual pupil’s needs rather than on a medical
diagnosis, both in guidance and, crucially, in practice.” For example,
Individual Education Plans are developed regardless of whether a student
has been formally diagnosed or identified as “exceptional pupils” by an
identification, placement and review committee.” Individual Education
Plans are also available to students who have not been formally identified
as exceptional, but who require a special education programme or services
to attend school, achieve curriculum expectations or demonstrate learning.
This contrasts with experiences we heard about from families seeking

to access an EHC plan, where the lack of a formal diagnosis was often a
barrier to this support.

The ScopeSEND project found that within countries with broader, needs-
based definitions of SEND—aligned with biopsychosocial rather than
medicalised models—parents tend to have more positive views of policy
implementation.” In contrast, England’s approach reflects a mix of medical
and biopsychosocial models, combining reliance on formal diagnosis with

123
124
125

126

Scope SEND, An international analysis of SEND policy and practice: ScopeSEND, June 2025
Government of Ontario, Individual Education Plan, Ontario.ca (accessed March 2025)
Government of Ontario, Identifying students with special education needs, Ontario.ca
(accessed March 2025)

Nuffield Foundation, An international analysis of SEND policy and practice: ScopeSEND,
February 2025

Page 172
9 44


https://www.scopesend.com/outputs
https://www.ontario.ca/page/individual-education-plans
https://www.ontario.ca/page/identifying-students-special-education-needs
https://www.nuffieldfoundation.org/project/an-international-analysis-of-send-policy-and-practice-scopesend

89.

elements of individual needs and participation-based support. Dr Susana
Castro-Kemp, Associate Professor at the Institute of Education, Psychology
& Human Development and lead researcher of ScopeSEND, told us that
although a diagnosis isn’t legally required for support, in practice it is seen
as a de facto gateway or “passport” to access services, largely due to weak
guidance, limited training, and poor systems for assessing need.”’

Furthermore, the Children’s Commissioner for England indicates that in
practice the approach taken in England is more medical-based with lack of
a diagnosis sometimes being a barrier to support and adaptations.'”® Across
the evidence, we heard that waiting to receive a formal diagnosis can have
a “devastating impact on children and families”, exacerbating existing need,
blocking support and delaying referrals to other professionals.™®

Our evidence consistently highlighted that even when EHC plans are issued,
they are not always fully implemented, often due to resource and capacity
shortages and insufficient training on delivering inclusive practice. Sarah
Cobb, a 20-year-old with SEND who spoke directly to us in Spring 2025,

when | started secondary school that support all started to fall apart.
Yes, | still had the EHC plan, but there was not enough support for me.
It turned out being things like the staff not giving me a TA in PE or my
predicted grade happened to be lowered because | was not getting
the right support.”°

The Local Government Association and County Councils Network
commissioned report, Towards an effective and financially sustainable
approach to SEND in England, published in 2024, highlights the role
financial and resource limitations play in the poor implementation of EHC
plans despite them being a statutory obligation.™ For example, even when
a specific setting is named or an educational psychology assessment is
requested within a EHC plan, places or appointments may not be available.
We were told by Kate Foale, Spokesperson for SEND at the County Councils
Network, that local authorities often do not have the “levers, the capital or
the money to put [EHC plans] into practice”.™ This raises significant concern

Children’s Commissioner for England, Experiences of children with SEND, October 2023
Kids, Delivering cost-effective support to tackle SEND waiting lists and reduce the
mounting - and costly - crisis in provision for disabled children and their families,

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

90.
told us:
91.
127 Q198
128
129
October 2024
130 Q97
131
132 Q66

Page 173
yo


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/blog/experiences-of-children-with-send/
https://www.kids.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Kids-Policy-Solutions-October-202.pdf
https://www.kids.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Kids-Policy-Solutions-October-202.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/

because it means that in some cases local authorities lack the resources
and power to offer the SEND provision to which a child or young person is
legally entitled and which it is the local authority’s legal duty to deliver.

CONCLUSION
Current levels of EHC plans are unsustainable; however, the solution to
this cannot be to remove the statutory entitlements from a system which
lacks accountability in many other areas and in which parents already
have so little trust and confidence. We have heard throughout our
inquiry from parents, schools, and the Department for Education that
the increased need for EHC plans is due to support not being provided
through ordinarily available provision and SEN support, leading to a
lack of trust from parents. We have also seen that for many children

and young people with less complex needs, high quality support can

be provided without a plan. While some pupils will always need an EHC
plan, evidence indicates that mainstream schools and multi-academy
trusts practising real inclusivity generate fewer EHC plans, as they meet
more students’ needs effectively without them.

RECOMMENDATION
Support should be provided as soon as a need is identified, rather than
only once an EHC plan is in place. This would bring England in line with
good practice found internationally, for example in in Ontario, Canada,
where entitlement is based on need rather than lengthy assessment
processes. Such a change would prevent the current situation in which
many children receive little or no effective support while waiting for

an EHC plan and would ensure timely intervention that can improve
outcomes and reduce escalation of need. The Department’s SEND
reforms must not be based on any withdrawal of statutory entitlements
for children and young people with SEND. The Department must instead
set out plans for reform which increase accountability across the whole
of the SEND system, so that many more parents and carers can be
confident that their children’s needs will be met regardless of whether
they have a diagnosis or EHC plan.

Page 174
9 46



94.

RECOMMENDATION
Where EHC plans are issued, they carry a statutory duty which must be
delivered in full. To make this a reality, the Department for Education
should strengthen the ability of local authorities to meet these
obligations by ensuring that the necessary levers are in place to compel
other services, for example, NHS services, and commissioners such as
local Integrated Healthcare Boards (ICBs). This must include coordinated
action with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
to address wider pressures on local authority budgets and capacity, so
that councils are properly equipped to deliver the provision set out in
every EHC plan.

Pa%e 175



95.

96.

4 Restoring parent trust
and confidence

At present, there is very little trust and confidence in the SEND system
among parents and carers of children and young people with SEND.

Many feel let down by inconsistent support, delays, and unfulfilled
promises. If the Government’s plans for SEND reform are to succeed, this
trust must be rebuilt. Parents and carers need to feel confident that the
changes will genuinely benefit their children. This chapter explores how
parental involvement and engagement can be strengthened, drawing on
international and domestic examples of good practice. It then considers
how school accountability can be made more robust. Next, it examines
local authority accountability, and the changes required to ensure greater
transparency and responsiveness. Finally, it looks at the accountability of
health services and how these can be improved to work more effectively for
children and young people with SEND.

Parental involvement

Parents and carers lack trust and confidence in the SEND system. Across
the evidence we heard from parents and carers of children and young
people with SEND about adverse experiences engaging and interacting with
schools, local authorities and other professionals in the SEND system.”* A
parent of an autistic 11 year old described feeling a “deep mistrust in the
system” due to her own experiences and the experiences of others, including
services misrepresenting the level of support being provided.”* Jo Harrison,
Director and Co-Chair at National Network of Parent Carer Forums, told

us that “many parents and carers feel unheard, often blamed, quite

often shamed, when they are advocating their child’s and young person’s
needs.”™* Another parent told us:

133
134
135

Mrs Melanie Fernandez (SENO037)
Miss Claudine Allen (SEN0304)
Q34

Page 176
g 48


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133399/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135810/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

97.

98.

99.

The overall treatment of SEND families by local authorities is appalling.
Families are left feeling abandoned, disrespected, and forced to fight
every step of the way to secure what their children are legally entitled
to... the current system exacerbates the struggles faced by SEND
families rather than supporting them.™®

We heard that this results in distrust, frustration and makes the system
adversarial where such processes should instead be non-adversarial,
transparent, and supportive.” This was echoed by then Minister McKinnell,
who told us: “[w]e desperately need to move away from this adversarial
system where parents feel they need to fight for every bit of their child’s
education and for their child to get the education they deserve”.’*

The evidence consistently highlighted the importance of parents feeling
comfortable and empowered to engage meaningfully with the SEND system
and the process of accessing SEND support. However, it is clear that this

is not the reality for many families. Agnes Agyepong, CEO and founder of
Global Black Maternal Health, told us “parents need to feel safe, we need to
be able to feel safe to be able to participate in this process, and oftentimes
parents don’t”."®® On our visit in June 2025 to Aylsham High School in
Norwich, we observed that meaningful and empathetic engagement with,
and support for, parents of children with SEND is both achievable and
effective. We heard how the school establishes regular contact with parents
even before admission, helping to build relationships and trust, and giving
parents confidence that their child’s needs can be met without requiring a
specialist placement. One parent described Aylsham High School as “the
shining light at the end of a very long dark tunnel”.*

On our visit to Ontario, Canada, we saw a system where parents are kept
informed and involved in such processes. The identification, placement

and review committee (IPRC), which decides whether a student should be
identified as ‘exceptional’, what any ‘exceptionality’ is and the appropriate
placement for the student, must notify the parent or guardian when their
child is being discussed. Additionally, parents and students who are 16 years
of age or older have the right to:

Be present at and participate in all committee discussions about the
student;

Be present when the committee’s identification and placement
decision is made; and

136
137
138
139
140

Mrs Charlotte Plant (SEN0O038)

Dr Deborah Lawson (Disability Advocate) (SEN0048), Q14
Q235

Q34

Corrine Bruce (SEN0893)

Page 177
%


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133419/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133473/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148035/html/

Be provided with relevant documentation including information about
the child received by the IPRC chair such as assessment results."

100. This represents a more collaborative and transparent approach than
in England. School leaders in Ontario told us that this model fosters
constructive relationships between schools and parents, avoiding the
adversarial dynamic often reported in the English system. They emphasised
the importance of engaging parents early in the process, noting that clear,
honest communication from the outset helps to ensure understanding,
build trust and manage expectations. Teachers and school leaders also
highlighted that early conversations include open discussions about
resource limitations and the types of support realistically available,
ensuring that families are informed and involved partners in the decision-
making process. Such openness would undoubtedly be beneficial in England
at the local authority level. Amanda Allard, Director of the Council for
Disabled Children, told us:

The local authorities that manage to be less adversarial have a really
good relationship with the parents, an open-door policy and a real
understanding. It can be incredibly difficult when money is tight, and a
natural reaction can be to defend and guard that pot. Opening up and
having pragmatic but realistic discussions about what we can achieve
with what we have works a lot better in local areas.™?

101. CONCLUSION
Parents and carers of children and young people with SEND often feel
excluded from the processes that affect their children’s education and
support. However, meaningful and collaborative parental involvement is
essential to the success of the SEND system. When parents and carers
are actively engaged in the planning, decision-making, and delivery
of support, both satisfaction and outcomes improve significantly.
Engagement fosters greater trust, transparency, and confidence in the
system, and helps build constructive, collaborative relationships between
families, professionals, support and advice services including SENDIASS.
Ensuring parents and carers are treated as equal partners in any process
must be a fundamental feature of any reformed SEND system.

141 Government of Ontario, Identifying students with special education needs, Ontario.ca
(accessed March 2025)
142 Q18

Page 178
g 50


https://www.ontario.ca/page/identifying-students-special-education-needs
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

102.

103.

RECOMMENDATION
Parents and carers must be actively and meaningfully involved in all
processes that affect their child’s education, support, and overall
wellbeing. This includes being fully informed and invited to participate

in all relevant meetings where decisions about their child’s needs or
provision are being discussed at the school and local authority level.
Families should have access to independent advocacy to enable and
strengthen their engagement in the process. Parental insights and lived
experience are invaluable in shaping effective and appropriate support.
Embedding parental involvement as a standard part of decision-making
not only enhances transparency and trust but also leads to better-
informed, more tailored outcomes for children and young people with
SEND. Local authorities must actively engage and be properly equipped
to support and respond to parental engagement in a positive way. This
requires dedicated resourcing and ongoing training to ensure staff have
the skills, capacity and confidence to work effectively with families, build
trust, and act on their concerns in a timely and constructive way. These
changes would need to be subject to a New Burdens Assessment to
ensure that local authorities had the resources to support better parent
and carer engagement.

Future reforms

Given the deep-rooted lack of trust and confidence among parents and carers
of children and young people with SEND, it is essential that any future reforms
are developed and implemented with transparency, collaboration, and a
strong focus on rebuilding relationships with families. Minister McKinnell
acknowledged this, telling us: “consultation is key to not only getting it right,
which is our No. 1 priority, but also to rebuilding that trust and confidence”.*
During the course of our inquiry, numerous media reports have speculated

on government proposals to reform the SEND system. These reports have
generated considerable concern and anxiety among parents, professionals,
and organisations across the sector, prompting the launch of the Save Our
Children’s Rights campaign and the publication of a joint letter on retaining
the right to an education, health and care plan.™** Both express concern that
the proposed reforms could remove crucial elements of support and lead to
poorer outcomes, ultimately undermining the Department for Education’s aim
of achieving inclusive mainstream education.

143
144

Q247
Save Our Children’s Rights (accessed July 2025), Guardian, The right to an education,
health and care plan must be retained, 6 July 2025

Pa%e 179



https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://www.saveourchildrensrights.org.uk/
https://www.theguardian.com/education/2025/jul/06/the-right-to-an-education-health-and-care-plan-must-be-retained
https://www.theguardian.com/education/2025/jul/06/the-right-to-an-education-health-and-care-plan-must-be-retained

104.

105.

106.

In March 2025, we wrote to then Minister McKinnell to seek clarity on
the nature of these changes and to insist that any future reforms are
communicated transparently and developed in consultation with those
directly affected." In response the Minister wrote to us saying:

You reference timings for any government announcement and note the
article in The Guardian about plans to reform the SEND system. | can
assure the committee that the article in question was speculative and
we do not comment on such speculation.

Putting right the support for children with special educational needs
will take time, and it is important that we listen to children and young
people, parents, teachers and those who work within the system.®

In June 2025, the Department announced that a White Paper outlining future
SEND reforms would be published in Autumn 2025. In July 2025 we asked

the Minister what plans the Department had for engaging with parents and
carers in advance of the White Paper. The Minister was unable to provide
specific detail; however, she told us:

engagement is important for us, not only because we want to hear
about current experiences, but because we want to make sure that any
changes that we make build that confidence of parents, of families, of
stakeholders. That is a real priority for us.

She confirmed that there would be a period of consultation with
stakeholders after the publication of the White Paper."’

We also asked Minister McKinnell whether changes announced in the
White Paper due Autumn 2025 would result in the removal of existing SEND
support. Minister McKinnell told us:

| want to be really clear from the outset that we will not be removing
any existing effective support. We want to identify where there is good
practice in the system, where we are seeing the delivery of consistent
high-quality provision that is helping young people to thrive in a timely
and effective way as they move into adult life. That is what we want to
build on and expand across the system.®

145

146
147
148

Letter from Chair to Catherine McKinnell MP, then Minister of State for School Standards,
on Government SEND Policy, 11 March 2025

Letter from Minister for Children, Families and Wellbeing to Chair, 13 October 2023

Q246

Q231

P 1
age5280


https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/47028/documents/243183/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/41645/documents/206396/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

107.

108.

109.

CONCLUSION

Children and young people with SEND, and their families, have little
trust and confidence in the SEND system, often shaped by adverse
experiences. Inadequate communication and engagement from the
Department with parents and carers and their organisations about
future reforms, as well as media speculation, has further undermined
parental trust in the Department for Education and in the future

SEND system. It is wholly unacceptable that families already under
considerable pressure should face additional anxiety and disruption.
While there is widespread recognition among parents and carers that
reform is necessary, there remains deep concern about the form these
changes will take and whether they will lead to meaningful and lasting
improvements.

RECOMMENDATION

To avoid causing undue alarm and to help rebuild confidence and trust in
the system, parents and carers must be fully engaged and any reforms
must be implemented gradually and in a carefully phased manner. New
approaches should first be piloted through a pathfinder model, allowing
for thorough testing in real-world settings before national rollout. This
will provide an opportunity to identify potential challenges, address
inefficiencies, consult with parents’ and carers’ groups and make
necessary adjustments to ensure reforms are effective, practical, and
responsive to the needs of children, young people, and their families.

At all times, the Department for Education must have an effective
communication strategy, regularly setting out the clear vision for change,
and providing reassurance to all affected agencies and individuals that
planned reforms are fully planned, coordinated, and funded.

School accountability

Throughout our evidence the accountability of schools and other education
settings has been highlighted as crucial to the success of SEND inclusivity.*®
However, the Public Accounts Committee concluded in their Support for
children and young people with special educational needs report that

there are currently “few incentives for schools to be inclusive” within the
current accountability framework."® Achieving the Government’s agenda
for inclusive mainstream education will require significant improvements

in this area. The need to improve accountability is acknowledged by the

149
150

Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)
Public Accounts Committee, First Report of Session 2024-25, Support for children and
young people with special educational needs, pg4, HC 353

Pas%e 181



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/html/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html

110.

.

12.

Department for Education, who stated in their evidence to us that they
intend to “strengthen accountability to ensure that mainstream schools are
as inclusive as possible”.”

Ofsted

Currently Ofsted considers SEND provision within mainstream school
inspections; however, our evidence raises concerns that the provision of
support for children with SEND in mainstream schools does not receive
enough attention or scrutiny by Ofsted. In September 2024, Ofsted
announced that as a part of its wider reform of the inspection framework,
‘inclusion’ would be introduced as a new criterion for inspection.”” These
reforms are expected to be gradually introduced from November 2025.5

During the inquiry we received evidence that the current Ofsted
accountability framework encourages “exclusionary practices to maintain
academic performance” or “skew educational performance metrics”.** The
evidence refers to exclusionary admissions practices, off-rolling of children
with SEND, not prioritising funding and resources for SEND, inappropriate
use of part-time timetables and the disproportionate use of exclusion in
mainstream schools.”™ When questioned about this, Adam Sproston, Senior
Inspector for SEND and Alternative Provision at Ofsted, told us that Ofsted
has “long been committed to tackling off-rolling and any other exclusionary
practices such as gaming, for example, where something is done not in

the best interests of the child”.*® Howeuver, it is evident from the available
evidence that despite these efforts, significant further action is required.

Evidence also highlighted the need for Ofsted inspections to place a
stronger focus on how educational settings support children with SEND.™’
Ofsted reported a similar sentiment from those who engaged with its
consultation, The Big Listen.”® Respondents to this consultation felt that
“inspections should pay closer attention to how schools support pupils
with SEND, and whether they meet their needs and ensure that they make
progress” and that “schools should be commended for inclusivity and for

151
152
153

154
155
156
157
158

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Schools Week, ‘Inclusion’ a key ‘criterion’ for new Ofsted report cards, September 2024
Times Educational Supplement, Ofsted set to stagger full inspection launch in November,
July 2025

Dr Deborah Lawson (Disability Advocate) (SEN0048)

Ms S White (SEN0023), Q180-182

Q180-2 [Adam Sproston, Sharon Chappell, Georgina Downard]

Thematic summary of evidence submitted by parents and carers (SEN0894)

Ofsted, The Big Listen, 2024

P 182
ages4


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/inclusion-a-key-criterion-for-new-ofsted-report-cards/
https://www.tes.com/magazine/news/general/ofsted-stagger-full-inspection-launch-november
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133473/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133298/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148142/html/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen

13.

14.

measuring the progress of children with SEND based on their individual
starting points, rather than solely on their academic outcomes”.*® Adam
Sproston told us:

We [Ofsted] work to find out about children’s starting points, talk to
leaders about that and what is being put in place for the support

and guidance for the child. Again, if there is something that is
different from mainstream peers, our inspectors will seek to explore
why that decision has been made and what the end point proposed for
the child is.'®®

We heard from Katie Ghose, CEO of Kids, about the opportunity Ofsted’s new
inclusion criterion provides to

have a much more expansive vision of what ‘good’ looks like. It is not
just the academic standards, and the qualifications met, but itis a
wonderful rounded, inclusive education.’

In February 2025 Ofsted launched a consultation on education which
outlined Ofsted’s working definition of inclusion. This definition outlines
various expectations for inclusive education settings such as:

providers placing every child and learner at the centre of their work,
setting high expectations and prioritising support for those with the
greatest needs, including those with SEND;

leaders promoting a clear, ambitious vision for inclusion, creating a
culture of belonging and ensuring access to high-quality education;
and

settings working closely with parents, carers, and external agencies
to achieve the best outcomes, and are committed to identifying and
removing barriers to learning so all children can succeed.™?

Though we welcome the publication of this definition, we are also aware
of some criticism within the sector that the new definition and framework
risk holding schools accountable for failures beyond their control. For
example, leaders are expected to ensure effective support for pupils with
SEND, including from external specialists; this expectation often overlooks

159

160
161
162

Ofsted, Findings of Ofsted’s Big Listen public consultation, March 2024; Ofsted, Hearing
feedback, accepting criticism and building a better Ofsted: the response to the Big
Listen, September 2024

Q87

Q22

Ofsted, Improving the way Ofsted inspects education: consultation document, June 2025

Pas%e 183



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsted-big-listen-supporting-documents/findings-of-ofsteds-big-listen-public-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen/outcome/hearing-feedback-accepting-criticism-and-building-a-better-ofsted-the-response-to-the-big-listen
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen/outcome/hearing-feedback-accepting-criticism-and-building-a-better-ofsted-the-response-to-the-big-listen
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ofsted-big-listen/outcome/hearing-feedback-accepting-criticism-and-building-a-better-ofsted-the-response-to-the-big-listen
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

115.

116.

the limited availability of such services. Delays and capacity issues in local
authority and NHS provision frequently prevent schools from accessing the
necessary support.'s

Minister McKinnell suggested to us that the introduction of this inclusion
criterion will introduce incentives for schools to be more inclusive, telling us:

A core part of its inspection framework will be inclusivity and the
provision of inclusive mainstream education within the school system.
Therefore, schools will want to make sure that they have the best
training and the best support available for their workforce to deliver
on that, to deliver on the outcomes for the children that we all want to
see and that will be inspected as part of the Ofsted process.'®

However, we heard that unless Ofsted adopts a more comprehensive
approach to inclusion, its new criteria will struggle to effectively incentivise
inclusive mainstream education. We were told that this new criterion
should consider “how well schools meet the diverse needs of their students,
how staff are trained, and how resources are allocated to support SEND
learners™.'®® For example, this could include whether schools are effectively
implementing pupils’ EHC plans and providing effective SEN support,

the prioritisation of funding and resources to SEND and whether schools
are adapting teaching and learning to suit the capabilities of pupils with
SEND."® Nasen told us that “by broadening the scope of what’s measured,
schools can gain a more comprehensive understanding of their impact

on learners with SEND” and about the importance of “looking beyond
traditional metrics to assess and evaluate inclusion™.'®” For example, this
could include looking at data such as attendance patterns, the proportion
of children with SEND compared to other schools in the local area, levels
of co-production and tracking outcomes beyond the school environment to
assess how well learners are being prepared for adulthood. Katie Ghose,
CEO of Kids, also told us about the importance of measuring “negative
data” such as the level of exclusion of children with SEND from that school
as well as “positive data” such as equal and adapted access to PE and sport
support for children with SEND in the school."®® We heard from Ofsted that
inspectors have “robust evidence, pre-inspection information that comes

163

164
165

166

167
168

Special Needs Jungle, How will Ofsted’s inspection overhaul affect children with SEND?
And why you need to respond to the consultation, February 2025

Q252

Ms Rhianedd Hughes (Head of SEN Statutory Service at Brighton and Hove City Council)
(SEN0043)

Justify Foundation (SEN0068), Mr David Robinson (Architect at Robinson+ limited)
(SEN0059), Dr Neil Alexander-Passe (Former SENDCO, Now Exam Access Assessor.
Researcher and author at City and Islington College) (SEN0069)

Nasen (SENO809)

Q22

Page 184
g 56


https://www.specialneedsjungle.com/how-ofsteds-inspection-overhaul-affect-children-send-respond-consultation/
https://www.specialneedsjungle.com/how-ofsteds-inspection-overhaul-affect-children-send-respond-consultation/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133453/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133597/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133572/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133600/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137188/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

through, that can lead to some lines of inquiry” on attendance, exclusions
and off-rolling. Adam Sproston, senior inspector for SEND and Alternative
Provision at Ofsted, further expanded:

We do have colleagues in our data and insights team who identify any
possible patterns in pupils’ attendance that may alert inspectors to
possible off-rolling or concerns with attendance at the school, we will
always explore those with leaders on the ground. In the handbook, we
are ultimately committed that if we find exclusionary practices, off-
rolling or gaming for whatever reason, there will be consequences to
the school.”®®

17. Let Us Learn Too, a campaign group of parents and carers of disabled
children, told us that schools and inspections “need to [have] greater focus
on grade progression rather than just the amount of ‘top’ grades” and that
“greater weighting” should be given to SEND in Ofsted inspections."” For
example, this might include examining the internal process by which pupils
are assessed for additional support talking to parents of children with SEND
at schools to understand their experiences and assessing samples of EHC
plans to see whether provision is met.

118. CONCLUSION
We have heard that accountability pressures relating to narrower
measures of attainment and behaviour may incentivise schools and
multi-academy trusts to adopt non-inclusive practices in order to
meet narrow performance metrics. The introduction of the new Ofsted
inspection framework presents a valuable opportunity to shift this
dynamic. By placing greater emphasis on inclusion and the experiences
and progression of all learners, the framework has the potential to
ensure that schools and multi-academy trusts are more meaningfully
held to account for the inclusivity and accessibility of the education they
deliver, thereby promoting a more equitable and supportive environment
for every student.

169 Q180
170  Let Us learn Too (SEN0130)

Pasg7e 185


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134440/html/

19.

120.

121.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department must urgently engage with Ofsted to ensure that

the inclusion criterion within the new inspection framework is robust,
measurable, and reflective of the experiences of all pupils, particularly,
those with SEND. This should include incorporating metrics such as

the proportion of pupils with SEND on roll, their attendance rates,
exclusion figures, school swaps, progression and attainment and other
indicators of engagement and outcomes, to provide a clearer picture of
how effectively schools and multi-academy trusts are supporting these
learners. It is important that the new framework does not disadvantage
schools with high levels of SEND pupils, particularly in disadvantaged
areas, by contextualising quantitative indicators with qualitative
evidence, recognising systemic barriers, and balancing accountability
with constructive support to avoid disproportionate pressure on
teachers’ workloads.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department for Education should introduce mandatory,
comprehensive SEND training for all Ofsted inspectors. The success of
the new framework depends on inspectors having a deep understanding
of SEND, including how to identify, assess, and evaluate inclusive
practice. Without this expertise, there is a significant risk that
inspections will be inconsistent, fail to identify gaps in provision, and
ultimately undermine the objectives of the framework.

We heard consistently during our inquiry about the need to strengthen
opportunities for parental engagement in the Ofsted inspection process.
Witnesses emphasised that parents and carers should have a more
meaningful role in providing feedback and shaping how inspections reflect
the lived experiences of families. Hayley Harding, founder of Let Us Learn
Too, stressed that Ofsted must prioritise parental voices, as parents of
children with SEND offer a critical perspective and first-hand insight into
both the inclusivity of educational settings and the effectiveness of SEND
provision, telling us:

Parents are living it; that is what is forgotten about. We live it, we
breathe it, we reap the consequences when things go wrong... the
reality is we actually know the results, so we really need Ofsted to
listen to us and rate that as high, if not higher than any other factors
in their decision-making."”

171

Q33

P 1
age5886


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

122.

123.

124.

RECOMMENDATION

Area SEND inspections should engage with parents across the locality
to gather the perspective of parents of children with SEND on the
admissions policies and inclusive practices of local authorities, schools
and multi-academy trusts in the area.

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

When parents or carers wish to challenge or complain about a school

or local authority’s decision making about SEND, another route for
accountability is the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
(LGSCO), the statutory and independent body for complaints about councils
in England which addresses claims of “maladministration leading to
injustice” and can be used challenge a local authority and some school
decision without going to court.” In 2024, the Local Government and

Social Care Ombudsman identified SEND as a priority, reporting that

their casework had become “dominated” by complaints about SEND and
the actions of schools or local authorities, including failure of councils

to carry out EHC plan assessments and reviews in a timely manner, and
failure to provide the support stated in an EHC plan once a child has one.™”
These complaints made up 26 per cent of all complaints received by the
Ombudsman in 2023-24 and were 42 per cent of all the cases the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman upheld. In the area of SEND the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman found fault in 92 per cent of
the cases investigated and this number is “increasing rapidly”.”

At present, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman is able

to investigate complaints about some aspects of the education system,
such as admissions appeals and exclusions for local authority-maintained
schools. However, we heard that the exclusion of academies and free
schools from this scrutiny creates a “complex landscape where different
people have access to different levels of redress depending on which
school their child attends or have no access to redress at all”. The Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman told us this is “neither logical
nor is it fair”.””> SOS! SEN, a charity supporting parents and carers of
children and young people with SEND, recommended that the remit of the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman be expanded to include

172
173

174

175

LGSCO (SENO576)

LGSCO, Press Notice, “Ombudsman highlights priorities to improve public services over
next three years”, November 2024

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, Local government and social care in
2024 and beyond: time to rebuild, pg 7, November 2024

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, Local government and social care in
2024 and beyond: time to rebuild, pg 7, November 2024

Pas%e 187



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136879/html/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2024/nov/ombudsman-highlights-priorities-to-improve-public-services-over-next-three-years
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2024/nov/ombudsman-highlights-priorities-to-improve-public-services-over-next-three-years
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf

academies and free schools, in addition to maintained schools.” Further,
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) powers do

not extend to investigating how a school implements EHC plans or SEN
Support. This presents a significant gap in accountability, particularly for
children and young people who do not meet the threshold for an EHC plan
but would nonetheless benefit from the additional support that schools

are legally required to provide under SEN Support. As highlighted by the
Independent Provider of Special Education Advice (IPSEA), without access
to the LGSCO as a route of redress, these pupils and their families are left
with few options to challenge inadequate provision, leaving unmet needs
unaddressed and undermining trust in the system."”” Our conclusions in
Chapter 3 regarding the inconsistency in the delivery of SEN Support and
EHC plan provision highlight the critical need for a clear and accessible
route of redress. Ensuring accountability is essential—particularly if the
Department for Education is serious about restoring trust and confidence in
these fundamental elements of the SEND system. Without this, families may
continue to feel unsupported and lose faith in the system’s ability to meet
their children’s needs. In order to strengthen accountability within the SEND
system and improve services for children and young people with SEND, the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has repeatedly
called for increased powers to:

investigate the way Education, Health and Care Plans are implemented
in schools;

investigate cases where children and young people with additional
needs are admitted to or excluded from schools; and

investigate issues with the support children and young people with
SEND are offered in the school setting."”

125. Recognising the vital role that strengthened SEND accountability could

play in alleviating wider pressures on the system, the LGSCO wrote in their
Triennial Review 2021-2024:

The legal protection afforded by a plan, and the lack of accountability
and redress for those children and young people who fall below

the threshold for a plan, makes it more likely parents and carers

will ask for assessments and challenge any refusal. We could help

176
177
178

SOS Special Educational Needs (SEN0834)

IPSEA (Independent Provider of Special Education Advice) (SENO678)

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, Local government and social care in
2024 and beyond: time to rebuild Triennial Review, November 2024

P 1
age6088



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137213/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137033/html/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6680/Triennial-Review-F.pdf

address that pressure if we were given the ability to hold schools
and academies to account when they fail to meet the needs of those
children with SEND, but without an EHC plan.”

126. This call has been repeated across evidence submitted to our inquiry.'®
Georgina Downard, senior solicitor at IPSEA, told us “we believe that the
ombudsman’s jurisdiction should be extended, and its ability to strengthen
accountability would be further strengthened by SEN support being made
statutory”.”® The Department for Education told us that it will review and
consider the Ombudsman’s call for further powers as it reforms the SEND
system.'®?

127. CONCLUSION
We have heard about significant variability in the provision of SEN
support and inconsistencies in the implementation of EHC plans
across education settings. The limitations of the Local Government
Ombudsman’s powers mean there is insufficient accountability for the
delivery of SEND support, as well as other aspects of school-based
provision. This has led to repeated failures to meet children’s needs.
This is a serious and unacceptable accountability gap that must be
closed if inclusive mainstream education is to be a reality.

128. RECOMMENDATION
The Government must extend the powers of the Local Government
Ombudsman to cover complaints about the delivery of EHC plans, SEN
support and other appropriate inclusive education for children with
SEND in schools, multi-academy trusts and other education settings.
This would strengthen accountability, provide families with a clearer
route to redress, and help ensure that statutory responsibilities are
met consistently across the system. Without this change, serious
shortcomings in support will continue to go unaddressed.

179  Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman, Review, Refresh, Renew Triennial Review of

Local Government and Social Care Complaints and Public Accountability Arrangements,
pg 16, December 2021

180  SOS Special Educational Needs (SEN0834)

181 Q183

182  Department for Education (SENO887)

Page 189



http://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6192/Triennial-Review-2021-2024-FINAL.pdf
http://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6192/Triennial-Review-2021-2024-FINAL.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137213/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/

129. RECOMMENDATION
To ensure accountability for inclusive practice, SEND expertise should be
embedded within schools and multi-academy trust (MAT) governance
structures, for example, by making it mandatory to appoint governors or
trustees with specific responsibility for and relevant expertise (including
lived experience) of SEND as we saw in Ontario. Without this, inclusive
education risks being sidelined at the strategic level, and outcomes for
pupils with SEND will continue to be deprioritised.

Local authority accountability

130. Local authorities play a central role in the delivery of SEND support. Under
the Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND code of practice, local
authorities are required to ensure that children and young people with
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) receive the support they
need by:

identifying and assessing special educational needs and disabilities
for children and young people in their area by deciding whether to
carry out an Education, Health and Care (EHC) needs assessment if
requested;

commissioning and providing support to children and young people if
an EHC plan is issued; and

publishing a Local Offer to inform families about the services and
support for SEND available in their area.

131. These responsibilities make it essential that robust and effective
accountability systems are in place. However, lack of local authority
accountability has been highlighted as a concern across the sector.
Evidence from the Independent Provider of Special Education Advice (IPSEA),
one of the leading charities in the field of SEND law, states that the current
legal framework for SEND is clear about what children and young people
are entitled to and where responsibility lies. However, in their view local
authorities frequently “exercise a level of discretion in their local policies
and decision-making that the law does not permit”, resulting in children
and young people’s rights not being upheld and SEND support and provision
being inadequate.’®

132. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman raised the following
concerns about local authorities’ provision of SEND:

183  IPSEA (Independent Provider of Special Education Advice) (SENO678)

P 1
age6290


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137033/html/

133.

134.

135.

136.

the repeated failure of local councils to complete EHC plan
assessments and reviews within the required timeframes; and

the frequent failure to deliver the support and provision set out in @
child’s EHC plan once it has been issued.”*

Much of our evidence referenced these issues. Katie Ghose, CEO at Kids, a
charity that supports disabled children and young people, told us: “[t]he
system is so deeply letting down families and young people, and so many of
the behaviours are just delay, delay, delay and very adversarial”.'®®

In such cases the LGSCO aims to “get people back in the position they
would have been in, had the fault not occurred”; however, Sharon Chappell,
Assistant Ombudsman at Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
acknowledged that the LGSCO “simply cannot do that for a child or

young person who either has been out of school for an extended period

or has not had the provision that they are entitled to for an extended
period.”® This underscores the critical importance of ensuring that the
processes and decisions made by local authorities are correct and timely
from the outset.

SEND Tribunal

Parents and carers can appeal to the SEND Tribunal if they are unhappy with
a decision made by a local authority related to an EHC plan, for example:

a decision to not conduct an EHC needs assessment;
a decision not to issue an EHC plan after an assessment; and

the description of the child’s needs, special educational provision
listed, or the education setting named (or not named) in an EHC plan.

The success rate of parents in these tribunals is extremely high. Out of the
11,000 cases decided by the Tribunal in 2023-24, parents were successful
and had their appeals fully or partially upheld in 95 per cent of cases,
highlighting that frequency at which local authorities are making decisions
on SEND that are either partially or wholly non-compliant with the law."’
Such a trend suggests systemic issues in initial decision-making processes,
leading to costly legal battles that authorities frequently lose. In 2021-22,
local authorities collectively spent over £46 million defending SEND Tribunal
appeals, while the Department for Education incurred more than £13 million

184
185
186
187

LGSCO (SEN0576)

Q18

Q159

Education Law Advice, Press Notice, SEND tribunal statistics, January 2025

Page 191
&3



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136879/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://www.educationlawadvice.com/2025/01/24/send-tribunal-statistics/

137.

138.

in court costs to facilitate these tribunals.™® These figures highlight that a
significant amount of public funds are allocated to legal disputes rather than
the direct provision of SEND support. Georgina Downard of IPSEA told us:

We need a zero-tolerance approach to authorities not complying

with their legal duties to children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities, and by that, | mean not complying
with the existing legal framework. Local authorities should be
expected to make lawful decisions about these children, and they
should be sanctioned if they don’t. At the moment we see the same
authorities making the same unlawful decisions on repeat and they
can effectively put off revisiting that until a tribunal hearing many
months down the line."°

Our evidence shows clear frustration amongst parents and carers of
children and young people at being drawn into lengthy and complex
processes in order to secure the support to which they are legally entitled.
For example, Parent Carers Together, a group of parents and carers of
disabled children based in Bournemouth, told us: “parents have expressed
frustration over the lack of accountability in ensuring Education, Health &
Care Plans are followed”.”*° Similarly, Georgina Downard, senior solicitor at
IPSEA, who provides parents and carers with independent advice on SEND
law, told us:

The onus should not be on parents to fight for what their child needs
and what they are entitled to and go through the lengthy appeals
referred to. It would not be if local authorities were adequately
resourced and if they made decisions in line with the law the first time
around. It should not be accepted that they do not.”™’

The Department for Education appears to understand and want to change
this, with then Minister McKinnell telling us that she recognised that this
process can be “incredibly time consuming and incredibly stressful” and
saying “we want that to change ... We want that to end”.’®® Across the
evidence there was consensus that the SEND Tribunal should only be used
as the “very last resort”.”*® IPSEA says that the “key” to resolving the SEND
crisis and reducing the use of the SEND Tribunal lies in finding a way to
ensure that local authorities comply with the existing law and fulfil their
duties to children and young people. They raise concerns that reducing the

188

189
190
191

192
193

Pro Bono Economics, Press Notice, “Wasting money, wasting potential: The cost of SEND

tribunals”, April 2024; Schools Week, SEND tribunal costs spiral to £13m, October 2024
Q154

Parent Carers Together (SEN0249)

Q154

Q242

Stuart Marpole (SEN0297)

P 192
age64


https://www.probonoeconomics.com/wasting-money-wasting-potential-the-cost-of-send-tribunals
https://www.probonoeconomics.com/wasting-money-wasting-potential-the-cost-of-send-tribunals
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/send-tribunal-costs-spiral-to-13m/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135601/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135779/html/

legal duties of local authorities would reduce the availability of support
for children and young people with SEND but not their need for support.™*
Alison Stewart, Head of SEND at the South West London ICB, told us:

we cannot manage this only thinking about the tribunal response.
The initial point has to be the development of the education and
healthcare plan, do we have good enough advice from our health
services around the table at the beginning in order to inform the
development of a plan?'

Along similar lines, Marie Gascoigne, consultant at Better Communications

We have to prevent people needing to go to tribunal, through giving
confidence and giving a good service further upstream [because] a
tribunal should be a last resort. That is what it was there for originally
and now it is being quite a norm, which is clearly not helpful.™®

Despite this, there has been an increase in the number of appeals going to
the SEND Tribunal. In the 2023/24 academic year, the number of registered
SEND Tribunal cases reached a high of 21,000, a 55 per cent increase from
the previous year. Of these appeals:

59 per cent were in relation to the contents of an EHC plan;

27 per cent were in relation to the Local Authority’s refusal to secure
an Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment (EHCNA); and

360 appeals were registered in relation to disability discrimination,
a 9 per cent increase compared to the previous year."’

Preventing disagreements about EHC plan decisions from escalating to the
SEND Tribunal requires a multifaceted approach. We heard about the need
for more training on SEND law to help decision-makers at local authorities
make fair and lawful decisions from the outset. Imogen Steele, Policy and
Public Affairs Officer at Contact, told us she would “strongly suggest” that
local authority officials receive additional training on SEND law, particularly
its practical application, to help ensure the right decisions are made from
the outset.”® IPSEA do this work, offering such training to local authorities
to improve their knowledge and understanding of the SEN legal framework.
In addition to training, we also heard about the important role dispute
resolution and mediation can play in avoiding the escalation of issues to

IPSEA (Independent Provider of Special Education Advice) (SENO678)

Lexology, 2024 SEND Tribunal data is published showing appeals increased by 55%
(accessed July 2025)

139.
CIC, told us:
140.
141.
194
195 Q145
196 Q145
197
198 QI8

P 1
agse 93


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137033/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

142.

143.

144.

the SEND Tribunal.”® The benefits of a more collaborative approach were
recognised by former Minister McKinnell, who told us: “[w]e want to create a
much less adversarial and more sustainable redress system where families
and local authorities work together to resolve disputes much earlier”.>*°

However, written evidence indicates that the current quality and
effectiveness of these approaches varies considerably due to engagement
from local authorities and health services often being limited.?’ Georgina
Downard of IPSEA told us:

In some cases when a parent is fully informed and perhaps when you
are there to support them, mediation can be effective in resolving
issues without the need for an appeal and quicker, but only if the local
authority, and where relevant the integrated care board, complies with
the governing law. We frequently hear that that does not happen.*?

Along similar lines, we heard from Alison Stewart, Head of SEND at South
West London Integrated Care Board, who stated that “robust [and] joint
dispute resolution” is needed in relation to issues or complaints around
SEND support.>® Such an approach is essential to ensure the roles and
responsibilities of the relevant services across education, health, and social
care are properly understood, fulfilled, and examined.

CONCLUSION
Tribunals are an important feature of the accountability system,
allowing families to challenge local authorities’ decisions regarding
their children’s support; however, they should only need to be used as a
last resort. We are deeply concerned by the number of local authorities
found to have failed to meet their statutory obligations at the SEND
Tribunal. A 97 per cent loss rate for Tribunal cases suggests a pattern
of non-compliance which is unacceptable, particularly given that the
entitlements of children and young people with SEND are clearly set
out in the existing legislative framework. Greater efforts are needed to
prevent cases from escalating to SEND Tribunals by prioritising good
partnership working with parents and carers, effective mediation and
ensuring local authorities have the resources and the powers to fulfil
their statutory obligations.

199
200
201
202
203

Q16
Q42
Kids (SEN0624)
Q16
QU3

Page 194
g 66


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136958/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

145.

146.

RECOMMENDATION

The SEND Tribunal must remain as a backstop of the accountability
process. The Department for Education and Department of Health

and Social Care must systematically monitor SEND Tribunal outcomes
and identify local authorities that repeatedly fail to comply with their
statutory duties. The Government should mandate the framework for
reporting SEND Tribunal data and undertake focused work with poor
performing local authorities to understand why they are so often failing
to uphold their statutory duties and support them through resourcing
and targeted intervention, including specialised training, to address
underlying issues and ensure that the rights of children and young
people with SEND are upheld. The SEND White Paper should explicitly
identify and set out plans to address any structural or resource-related
barriers to effective support.

Area SEND inspections

Box 4: Area SEND inspection outcomes

There are 3 possible full inspection outcomes, leading to different
subsequent inspection activity:

1.  The local area partnership’s SEND arrangements typically lead to
positive experiences and outcomes for children and young people
with SEND. The local area partnership is taking action where
improvements are needed.

2. The local area partnership’s arrangements lead to inconsistent
experiences and outcomes for children and young people
with SEND. The local area partnership must work jointly to make
improvements.

3.  There are widespread and/or systemic failings leading to significant
concerns about the experiences and outcomes of children and
young people with SEND, which the local area partnership must
address urgently.

Source: Ofsted, Main findings: area SEND inspections and outcomes in
England as at 31 December 2024%°*

Ofsted and the CQC conduct area SEND inspections to evaluate the
experiences and outcomes of children and young people with SEND aged
0-25 and how well members of a local area partnership work together.

204

Ofsted, Main findings: area SEND inspections and outcomes in England as at 31 December

2024, June 2025

Pa(sg7e 195


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/area-send-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-as-at-31-december-2024/main-findings-area-send-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-as-at-31-december-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/area-send-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-as-at-31-december-2024/main-findings-area-send-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-as-at-31-december-2024

147.

148.

These inspections focus on how well a partnership supports and meets the
needs of children and young people with SEND, either those with an EHC
plan or those receiving SEN support. This partnership includes health,
education, social care services across a local authority. The current Ofsted
and CQC area SEND inspection framework was launched in January 2023
with all local areas due to receive a full inspection within 5 years.?® Since
the introduction of the new framework, Ofsted and the CQC have completed
64 inspections out of 153 local area partnerships. We were told by Adam
Sproston, Senior inspector for SEND and Alternative Provision at Ofsted,
that around a third received an outcome of widespread and systemic
failings, around half inconsistent experiences, and approximately a quarter
typically positive experiences and outcomes.?*® Where a council does not
meet its duties, the Department for Education told us they are able to take
action that prioritises children’s needs and supports local areas to bring
about improvement. The Department for Education also offers a range of
universal, targeted and intensive support through Department for Education
managed programmes, such as the Sector Led Improvement Partners which
provides peer-to-peer tailored support.>’

In response to Ofsted’s Big Listen survey, Ofsted and the CQC launched an
area SEND review. Based on this they have committed to several actions to
improve their area SEND inspections:

improving children, young people and their families’ ability to feedback
to inspectors, for example by improving the surveys used to gather
their views;

specifying more clearly which member of the partnership should take
forward areas for improvement, where appropriate; and

working with the Ofsted Academy to continue recruiting inspectors
with relevant experience in SEND and alternative provision.?®

In June 2025 the reviewed and updated Area SEND inspections: framework
and handbook was published.?*?

However, throughout the evidence we received, there was a clear sense of
dissatisfaction with the area SEND inspection process. Many contributors
expressed serious concerns about the lack of meaningful engagement
with parents and carers of children with SEND, including the reduction of
in person meetings with parents in favour of online surveys or other forms

205
206
207
208
209

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Q160

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Ofsted and CQC, Area SEND review: what we heard and how we are improving, June 2025
Ofsted and CQC, Area SEND inspections: framework and handbook, July 2025

P 1
age6896



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-review-what-we-heard-and-how-we-are-improving

149.

150.

of engagement.”® When asked about the role of parent engagement in the
inspection process, Adam Sproston and Lucy Harte told us that the SEND
area review will clarify how Ofsted and the CQC plan to strengthen the
voices of parents and carers and clarified their approach to engagement
meetings. In June 2025, Ofsted and the CQC published their analysis of
the SEND area review.”" They found “a strong desire from children, young
people, families and representative groups to have more opportunities

to share their experiences with inspectors”.*? To improve this, Ofsted and
the CQC have committed to providing more opportunities for children,
young people and families to share their experiences. Inspectors will now
also meet with parent and carer forum groups during the week of on-site
inspection in addition to during the second week of inspection. The aim of
this change is to allow inspectors to compare feedback from these groups
with the evidence that they have gathered and further test it in subsequent
inspection activities. Evidence-collection activities will also be changed so
that inspection teams can gather more first-hand evidence from children,
young people and families.

Georgina Downard, senior solicitor at IPSEA, told us that area SEND
inspections should “prioritise monitoring [ ... ] compliance with the

legal duties to children [with SEND]”.?" Lucy Harte, Deputy Director of
Multi-agency Operations at the CQC, told us that such data is used as

an “important starting point for the inspection team” and informs the
development of Ofsted and the CQCs line of inquiry; however that the
inspection framework focuses on the experience and outcomes of children
with SEND.**

RECOMMENDATION

The outcomes of SEND Tribunal cases must be factored into area SEND
inspections, with clear scrutiny of how repeated non-compliance reflects
the quality and effectiveness of local provision. Where local authorities
fail to uphold their statutory duties, this should directly lower their
inspection rating. Ongoing failure must have clear consequences if
accountability is to mean anything.

210
2n
212

213
214

Q33

Ofsted and CQC, Area SEND review: what we heard and how we are improving, June 2025
Letter from Adam Sproston HMI, Ofsted and Lucy Harte, Deputy Director, Multi-agency
Operations, Care Quality Commission on Joint local area SEND inspections, dated
12.06.25

Q153

Q166

Page 197
&


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/area-send-review-what-we-heard-and-how-we-are-improving
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/48476/documents/253917/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/48476/documents/253917/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/48476/documents/253917/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/

151.

152.

153.

Health accountability

Section 25 of the Children and Families Act 2014 focuses on the promotion

of integration, mandating that local authorities ensure integration between
educational, health, and social care services when it benefits children and
young people with SEND.?™ Section 42 of the Act also provides for joint working
between health care and education services to secure special education
provision and health care provision, placing a legal duty on health bodies to
arrange the health care provision specified in an EHC plan.”®

Area SEND inspections

Although area SEND inspections cover multiple agencies and services

there is a persistent lack of engagement from health services on SEND
support. Research by the County Councils Network and Local Government
Association found that in practice, the “burden of improvement” typically
falls on local authorities rather than health services.”” Further, the research
found that local authorities lack the levers to compel education settings

or health services such as Integrated Care Boards into action. There was
widespread agreement from witnesses that accountability needs to be more
“equally spread” between local authorities, ICBs and schools.”® Along these
lines, Jo Harrison, Director and Co-Chair at National Network of Parent
Carer Forums (NNPCF), told us:

a lot of the accountability sits within the local authority yet the
responsibility to deliver the provision sits within the school—sits not
even within the ICBs but the providers that they then commission

to deliver health support, and within social care. There is very little
accountability for the local authority to hold that to account.?™

Amanda Allard, Director at the Council for Disabled Children, gave us
examples of limited engagement from health services on SEND support and
told us that often ICBs only begin to engage with local authorities after a
local area has systemic failings identified by an area SEND inspection.?*
We were told about the need for more shared accountability across health,
education and social care. Alison Stewart, Head of SEND at South West
London ICB, said:

215
216
217

218
219
220

Children and Families Act 2014, section 25

Children and Families Act 2014, section 42

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Q142

Q30

Q16

P 1
age7o98


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/25
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/42
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

154.

155.

there does need to be an increased accountability for the local areaq,
the local system. That should be the local authority, the ICB and the
providers.?

Similarly, Marie Gascoigne told us that accountability should be “more
equally spread”.??

There is a lack of interdepartmental coordination between the Department
for Education and the Department of Health and Social Care resulting in
gaps in support and inconsistencies in outcomes. We heard that greater
collaboration between the Department for Education and the Department of
Health and Social Care would help strengthen multi-agency accountability.
Alison Stewart, Head of SEND at South West London Integrated Care Board
told us that cross-departmental collaboration would “support” shared
responsibility and accountability with health services by providing cross-
departmental oversight.?** Similarly the County Councils Network and
Local Government Association report, Towards an effective and financially
sustainable approach to SEND in England, suggested more joined-up
thinking on the standards for partnerships and expectations of their
respective agencies.?* We also heard about the particular need for health
specific accountability around SEND to improve. Amanda Allard of the
Council for Disabled Children proposed the inspection of individual health
services and ICBs to assess how their services contribute to the support of
children and young people with SEND.**

SEND Tribunal and health

Under the Children and Families Act 2014, education, health, and social care
services are not jointly responsible for the delivery of special educational
provision. Several contributors to our inquiry recommended amending

the legislation to establish joint responsibility across these services.
Specifically, they called for changes to the Act that would make education,
health, and social care “jointly responsible” for ensuring the delivery of
appropriate support for children and young people with SEND.?* This would
enable the SEND Tribunal to make legally binding decisions regarding health
and social care provision as well as educational provision requiring action
and accountability from partners across these sectors.

221

222
223
224

225
226

Q142

As above

Q128

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Q19

Contact (SEN0174)

Pa%e 199


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/

156. At present, the recommendations made by the SEND Tribunal in relation to

157.

158.

health and children’s social care are not legally binding. This means that
while the Tribunal can advise on what should be provided in these areas,
there is no legal obligation on the relevant services to implement those
recommendations. This lack of enforceability can lead to inconsistent
provision and undermines the accountability of health and social care
bodies in meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND. We
heard strong support for increasing the accountability of health services
by enabling SEND Tribunals to make binding decisions on health and
social care. Alison Stewart told us that it would be “helpful” to make such
recommendations enforceable.?®” However, she also emphasised the
importance of earlier and increased involvement from health services to
help prevent disputes from escalating to the SEND Tribunal stage saying:

In dispute management what we often see is that complaints around
the experience of children and young people with SEND come into the
local authority, they sit with the local authority and do not always
make it into the health service field of complaints management. That
reinforces some of the challenge that we have with accountability. If
we could get to a position of robust joint dispute resolution where we
are looking at how the combined offer, the combined services for a
child or young person are contributing to that complaint, we may get
to a much better place of resolution.??®

CONCLUSION

The limited engagement of health services in the SEND system stems
from a lack of robust and enforceable accountability mechanisms.
Despite being a critical enabler of positive educational outcomes for
children with SEND, health services are not held to the same standards
of responsibility as education providers. To deliver on the promise of
inclusive education, the Department for Education and the Department
of Health and Social Care must strengthen accountability frameworks
to ensure health partners are fully integrated and responsive within the
SEND system.

RECOMMENDATION
There must be mandatory training for health commissioners on good
practice in meeting the needs of children with SEND.

227
228

Q144
Q143

P 2
age7200


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

159.

160.

RECOMMENDATION
The powers of the SEND Tribunal should be extended to allow it to

issue binding recommendations to health services, not just education
providers. This would ensure that when a failure to deliver a health
provision specified in an EHC plan occurs, health bodies are legally
obligated to take corrective action. This should include the introduction
of a statutory duty on health services to respond to Tribunal decisions
within a defined timeframe, with clear consequences for non-
compliance.

RECOMMENDATION
The Department for Education must significantly improve cross-
departmental coordination with the Department of Health and Social
Care and NHS England to establish clear, consistent accountability for
SEND at the ICB level. Current arrangements are fragmented and lack
clarity. Strengthening the role, authority, and visibility of the Senior
Responsible Officer for SEND within ICBs is essential to ensure health
services are fully held to account for their responsibilities. Without
stronger oversight, health bodies will continue to operate without
sufficient scrutiny or consequence.

Pa%e 201



161.

162.

5 Improving early years for
lasting impact

The Department for Education told us in their evidence: “we know that early
intervention prevents unmet needs from escalating... getting it right in the
early years is essential to supporting children’s development, health and
life chances™.?®® We also heard from Catherine McLeod, CEO of Dingley’s
Promise, who emphasised the importance of the early years due to the
lasting impact this can have on children’s attainment:

There needs to be that value and recognition of the early years ... what
we know is that, by the end of the early years, you can fairly accurately
predict what children are going to achieve at age 16, at their GCSEs.>*°

Understanding this significance, the Department for Education has invested
in two early intervention programmes: the Early Language and Support

for Every Child pathfinder and the Nuffield Early Language Intervention
programme. The Early Language Support for Every Child (ELSEC) pathfinder
is a joint initiative by the DfE and NHS England. It funds nine joint ICBs

and local area partnerships to trial new ways of working to better identify
and support children with speech, language and communication needs

in early years and primary schools, utilising pre-qualification Therapy
Support Assistants.?®' The Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists
highlights the programme as a positive example of joint working and early
identification and in their evidence, call for the programme to be extended
beyond 2025, when it is currently due to end.?? Multiple local authorities and
councils described ELSEC to us as a “truly multi-professional approach to
early intervention” that has been “very effective in identifying and meeting
needs earlier”. However, they also warned that further investment is

needed to sustain and build on progress.?* Similarly, we were told that the
programme is “showing promise”; however, given the importance of early
language intervention and support, it needs to be rolled out universally
across England.®*

229
230
231

232
233

234

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Q84

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists (SENO707)

Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266)

pdnet (SEN0283)

P 202
age74


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137069/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135749/html/

163. The Nuffield Early Language Intervention (NELI) is a programme for
four to five-year-olds. The programme consists of LanguageScreen, an
assessment to select children for intervention and monitor individual and
whole-class progress, CPD certified training with mentor support and a 20-
week intervention delivered by teaching assistants (TAs) or teachers.” In
September 2023, the Education Endowment Foundation published its final
evaluation of NELI at scale, marking the culmination of nearly 20 years of
rigorous trials and high-quality research. The findings show that four- and
five-year-olds who received the targeted oral language intervention made,
on average, four months’ additional progress in language skills compared to
their peers. The impact was even greater for children receiving free school
meals, who gained an average of seven months’ additional progress.>*®
As of now, 11,700 schools are registered for the NELI programme. Between
September 2020 and July 2024, it is estimated to have improved the speech
and language skills of around 211,700 children aged four to five. In total,
over 640,000 primary school children have been screened to identify those
with language development difficulties.”” We received lots of evidence in
favour of the NELI programme with many including the Confederation of
School Trusts recommending that it is “immediately” scaled up.?*®

164. CONCLUSION
ELSEC and NELI are positive initiatives, but far more must be done to
sustain and build on the progress they are achieving. Without ongoing
commitment and resources, any gains risk being temporary and
insufficient to address long-term needs.

165. RECOMMENDATION
A national rollout of ELSEC and NELI is essential and should be
accompanied by comprehensive, long-term funding and resources to
meet the scale of children’s speech and language needs. In addition,
the Government should undertake further work to understand where
the balance of resource should sit between early years and reception in
order to ensure it is able to achieve its goal of 75 per cent of 5-year-olds
in England to have a good level of development by 2028.

235 Department for Education (SEN0O887)

236 Confederation of School Trusts (SENO760), Education Endowment Foundation, Nuffield
Early Language Intervention (NELI) - Reception, August 2025

237 Department for Education (SEN0O887)

238 Confederation of School Trusts (SENO760)

Pa%e 203



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137132/default/
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/projects-and-evaluation/projects/nuffield-early-language-intervention-neli
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/projects-and-evaluation/projects/nuffield-early-language-intervention-neli
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137132/default/

166.

167.

Funding

Evidence from the Department points to the SEN Inclusion Fund (SENIF)

as a tool of early intervention. SENIF supports early years providers in
delivering additional support for children who have low and emerging SEND.
It applies to children aged 2-4 who are accessing free early education

and require extra support that goes beyond what is ordinarily available. In
2024-25, total planned spend on SENIF was £123m. In 2024, the Department
reviewed early years SEND funding arrangements including SENIF and found
“significant variations in how LAs manage EY SEND funding, particularly

in application processes, accountability, and fund usage”.?° This reflects

a critique from Dingley’s Promise that there is a “vast range of SENIF
processes with no consistent model for allocating this funding to children
with SEND in the early years”.**° The Department for Education has said
work is being done to explore how to improve consistency in the delivery of
SENIFs.** However, according to Dingley’s Promise, existing efforts have not
been sufficient and the issue of inconsistency and a “wide range of differing
practice in early years SEND at all levels of the system” has resulted in
demand for more national guidance documents and formats to improve
effectiveness and consistency of the delivery and support for children with
SEND. In addition to these inconsistencies, Dingley’s Promise highlight SENIF
being absorbed by children with medium to high needs, while they are
going through the process of securing EHC plans, leaving limited funding for
children with low and emerging needs, which is what the fund was initially
designed to support, as a “common theme in many areas”.**?

The Disability Access Fund provides additional financial support to early
years providers with the aim to enable early years settings to make
reasonable adjustments that improve accessibility and inclusion such as
purchasing specialist equipment, adapting learning spaces or funding
additional staff training. The Disability Access Fund offers a one-off annual
payment of £910 per child, paid directly to the setting the child attends.
When first introduced eligible children had to be three or four years old,

in receipt of Disability Living Allowance and accessing their funded early
education entitlement. However, from 2024 to 2025, the age eligibility was
extended to 2-year-olds and children 9 months old to 2 years. Dingley’s
Promise told us that the disability access fund is underspent across various
local authorities because of its link to the disability living Allowance.*** We
were told that not all parents feel ready to do this at an early nor are some
comfortable with the details required in the “deficit focused” application.

239
240
241

242
243

Department for Education (SEN0887)
Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)
Department for Education (SEN0887)
Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)
Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)

P 204
age76


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/html/

Further, The DLA application process is often lengthy, complex, and
dependent on parental awareness and capacity to navigate the system

This can impact a settings willingness to take a child with SEND as without
disability access funding there is limited funding to implement the changes
and adaptations needed to support a young child with SEND properly. These
dynamic risks excluding the very children the policy was designed to help.

168. CONCLUSION
There is a clear need to improve the consistency and effectiveness
of the SENIF across early years provision. At present, practice varies
significantly between local authorities, with differences in how funding
is managed and allocated. This means there is inconsistency in access
to early years SEND support. Such variation undermines the principle
of equitable access to early education and can place additional
pressure on providers in areas with less generous or less flexible SENIF
arrangements. In addition, the eligibility criteria for the Disability
Access Fund limits its effectiveness. Tying this funding to Disability
Living Allowance, creates an unnecessary barrier to eligibility that risks
excluding the very children the funding was created to help and shifts the
burden of unmet need onto providers and families.

169. RECOMMENDATION
To address inconsistency in the delivery of early years provision and the
Special Educational Needs Inclusion Fund (SENIF), the Department for
Education must establish a set of national inclusivity requirements for
early years settings. These requirements should be backed by increased,
funding to ensure providers are able to deliver inclusive practice in a
sustainable way. At the same time, the Disability Access Fund should be
reformed by removing its dependency on Disability Living Allowance. The
current eligibility criteria act as a barrier for many families, restricting
uptake and undermining the fund’s effectiveness. Without these reforms,
there is a risk that the system continues to perpetuate inequity and
discourage inclusive practice at the earliest stage of education.

Family Hubs and Best Start

170. The importance of early intervention was emphasised in research by the
Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) into the short- and medium-term impacts
of Sure Start on educational outcomes. This looked at the policy of Sure
Start centres, which was in place from the early 2000s. The IFS found that
while identification of SEND at age five was higher amongst children who
lived near Sure Start Centres, it was lower for these same children at ages
11 and 16, suggesting that early intervention led to a reduction in long term

Pa7g7e 205



needs and better outcomes for children.*** In addition to better outcomes
for children, Dingley’s Promise also highlight in their evidence that early
identification and intervention also reduces spend in the education system
as a whole.*”

171.  Family Hubs were launched in the late 2000s. Since 2022 the Government
has allocated £69 million to continue expanding Family Hubs, with £57
million from the DHSC supporting Start for Life services for families from
pregnancy to age two.**

172. Family Hubs provide integrated support for children aged 0-19 (or 0-25
for those with SEND), improving access to services and strengthening
connections between families, professionals, and providers. Local
authorities have enhanced SEND support through Family Hubs by
ensuring staff are trained in SEND services, can guide families to the
right support, and assist with EHC plan referrals. The Family Hubs also
coordinate with health visiting teams, who play a crucial role in early
childhood development, providing preventative care, safeguarding, and
early intervention. The Department for Education has funded the EY SEND
Partnership Consortium led by the Council for Disabled Children from August
2023 to March 2025.2*” This involves three main strands of activity to help
Family Hubs best support disabled children and children with SEN during
their earliest years:

Strategic support to family hub areas through regular meetings or
‘action learning sets’;

Targeted training for practitioners from family hub areas; and
Open-access training for parents and carers.

173. In July 2025, the Government launched their Best Start in Life strategy which
commits £1.5bn over the next three years to expand family services, make
early education and childcare more accessible and affordable, and improve
quality across the early years system.* This has the goal of 75 per cent of
five-year-olds in England having a good level of development by 2028. Best
Start Family Hubs will be rolled out across England as a part of this strategy
building on the existing Family Hubs programme. According to Government
plans each Best Start Family Hub will have a children and family services
professional trained to support children with additional needs. These will help:

244 IFS, The short- and medium-term impacts of Sure Start on educational outcomes,
April 2024

245  Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)

246  Department for Education (SEN0887)

247  National Children’s Bureau, Early Years SEND Partnership (accessed July 2025)

248 DfE, Giving every child the best start in life (accessed July 2025)

P 2
age7806



https://ifs.org.uk/publications/short-and-medium-term-impacts-sure-start-educational-outcomes
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/default/
https://www.ncb.org.uk/what-we-do/practice/focusing-early-years/early-years-send-partnership
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/686bd62a10d550c668de3be7/Giving_every_child_the_best_start_in_life.pdf

174.

175.

176.

Identify children who may need extra support before starting school
Connect parents with local early years settings and health services

Train family support staff to spot early signs that a child might need
extra help

Provide guidance for navigating what can be a complex system

CONCLUSION
Best Start Family Hubs and the expansion of childcare provision present
a valuable opportunity to engage with families earlier and identify SEND
needs at the earliest possible stage. We welcome the announcement
that every Best Start Family Hub will have a SENCO. However, SEND
awareness is not currently sufficiently embedded amongst all early years
staff, nor are there currently sufficient opportunities for early screenings
that could facilitate timely support and referrals. We note the current
inquiry at the time of publication of the Health Social Care Committee

on ‘The First 1000 Days: a renewed focus’ and the further work we have
agreed to undertake on early years, all of which should be taken full
account of by the Government.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department for Education must ensure that Best Start Family Hubs
incorporate routine SEND screening and awareness as a core part

of their early years services, supported by targeted training for staff
and childcare providers to enhance early identification and referral.
Additionally, dedicated funding must be allocated within childcare
expansion and Family Hub budgets specifically to support SEND-
related training for early years staff and families of children with SEND,
resources, and integrated multi-agency working, ensuring sustainable
and effective early intervention.

RECOMMENDATION
The commitment for every Best Start Family Hub to have a dedicated
SENCO should be embedded within the SEND workforce strategy and
extend to educational psychologists and speech and language therapists.

Pa7gge 207



177.

RECOMMENDATION
There is a need to increase access to CPD and ensure that staff from

all agencies in every early years setting has the expertise to undertake
the effective early identification of SEND needs. Through the Best Start

in Life strategy the Government should also ensure that there is a

strong and consistent framework for building SEND capacity and good
practice in early years settings through the deployment of educational
psychologists, speech and language therapists and other specialists

in training the workforce. From September 2025, 80 per cent of the
funding for early years providers will come from the Government, and the
Department should introduce a new set of inclusivity requirements for all
early years settings, provide the foundation for greater inclusivity across
all early years settings.

P 2
age8008



178.

179.

6 Post-16

The evidence we received indicates that students with SEND are often
overlooked in further education (FE) and skills policies, while FE itself

receives insufficient attention within SEND policy. Natspec describe FE and
skills policy as “lacking” meaningful attention to SEND because successive
Governments have focused their FE and skills policies mainly on qualifications
and apprenticeships—pathways that are not always accessible for students
with SEND. At the same time, SEND policy often focuses on schools and
inaccurately assumes FE settings are operating in the same context. In reality,
FE is a “distinct and complex sector” with different funding arrangements,
policy contexts and catchments to schools.**

Qualifications, assessments and outcomes

The County Councils Network and Local Government Association found that
94.6 per cent of young people without SEND were in sustained education,
apprenticeships, or work, compared to 50.2 per cent of those with EHC
plans in the 2021/22 cohort. However, this is only a 0.2 percentage point
increase when compared to the 2015/16 cohort of young people with EHC
plans, who completed Key Stage 4 before the 2014 SEND reforms were
implemented, as seen in the table below.*° More concerning is the one-
third decline in sustained apprenticeships over this period. Across the
inquiry we heard that apprenticeships are an important option for young
people with SEND, offering practical, skills-based learning and a supported
transition into employment.®' The reduction in young people with SEND
remaining in apprenticeships risks limiting career prospects, undermining
efforts to improve inclusion in the labour market, and increasing the
likelihood of poorer long-term outcomes. It also raises concerns about

the extent to which the apprenticeship pathway is genuinely inclusive for
young people with SEND. Ensuring that these pathways are accessible,

and that young people with SEND are supported to sustain and complete
their apprenticeships, is vital. This is critical to enabling them to build
independence and secure meaningful employment.

249
250

251

Natspec (SEN0305), Natspec (SEN0O895)

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Twinkl (SEN0192), Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246), National Network of Parent Carer

Forums (NNPCF) (SEN02438)
Page 209
1



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135814/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148256/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135236/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135596/html/

180.

Table 4: Post-16 destinations of young people with EHC plans, 2015/16
and 2021/22

Overall Education, Apprentice- Work, NEET Destination
percentage of  sustained  ships, sustained unknown
young people sustained

with EHC plans

in education,

apprenticeships
or employment,
sustained

2015/ | 90.0 per cent 86.4 1.4 2.2 5.4 1.2
16
2021/ | 50.2 per cent 86.8 0.9 2.5 4.8 1.9
22

Source: County Councils Network and Local Government Association,
Towards an effective and financially sustainable approach to SEND in
England, July 2024

The County Councils Network and Local Government Association also

found that only 30 per cent of young people with EHC plans achieved Level

2 qualifications by age 19, compared to nearly 37 per cent in 2014/15.% Let

Us Learn Too suggest “bridging the gap” between support pupils receive in
school and the support received in universities; and improving the support
given in sixth form colleges. Their evidence states that “young people with
learning disabilities are likely to need much more input in further education”
so existing support should be sustained during these transition phases.>**

The need for improvement is clear from statistics showing the low progression
rates to university among young people with SEND. 21.1 per cent of students
with any special educational need progressed to higher education by the

age of 19 in 2023-24. This is the highest on record, however, well below the
progression rates of their peers without SEN which was more than 50 per
cent. Further, the gap between progression to high tariff providers (the top 33
per cent of higher education institutions) is even larger, 14.9 per cent for those
without SEN and 3.8 per cent for those with SEN.>**®

252

253

254
255

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Let Us learn Too (SENO130)

David Kernchan, “Just 329 students with an EHCP got to a high tariff provider last year?,
WonkHE, July 2025

P 210
age82


https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134440/html/
https://wonkhe.com/blogs/just-329-students-with-an-ehcp-got-to-a-high-tariff-provider-last-year/

181.

182.

183.

Across the inquiry we were reminded that positive outcomes are not limited
to academic success and that qualifications and assessment should be
varied to account for the different needs and abilities of students with

SEND. Natspec advocates for more flexibility in post-16 education, and that
qualifications and apprenticeships should be “one strand in a set of policies
inclusive of all young people with SEND”.?** We saw this approach in action
during our visit to Ontario in March 2025 and to Norwich City College in June
2025 where we saw children with SEND develop life skills, functional skills,
undertake work experience and build confidence through a more diverse
post-16 offering.

During our visit to Toronto in March 2025 we visited St Mary’s Catholic
Academy. Here we were introduced to their ‘Students training to acquire
real life skills’ (STARS) programme, a specialised alternative programme for
students from Grades 9-12+ (ages 14-19) with varying special educational
needs. The main goal of the programme is to provide opportunities for
students to develop skills which allow them to become more confident
and independent. It involves a non-credit course which focuses on two
main areas: social skills development and personal life skills. As a part
of this, students partner with the Student Council to co-ordinate and

run school events, develop their entrepreneurial skills by organizing
fundraisers and running a catering business to provide refreshments for
events, and develop their collaboration and organisational skills by meal
planning and preparation.?’ During our visit to West Credit Secondary
School, we observed a strong focus on skills-based education, with
on-site provision in areas such as carpentry, hair and beauty, and pet
care. The school had also developed long term partnerships with local
employers, enabling post-16 students to access structured work experience
placements that complement their classroom learning and help prepare
them for employment or further training. We heard from students how
this programme has improved their confidence, given them real life work
experience and supported them in learning how to use community spaces
and socialise beyond an education setting.

On our visit to Norwich City College in June 2025 we heard about their ‘MINT’
programme which provides supported internships for young people with
SEND but without an EHC plan across the admin, care, hospitality, customer
service and retail sectors.?*® This programme includes:

A referral and employment profile

1:1 support with a job coach

256
257
258

Natspec (SEN0305)

St Mary Catholic Academy, Special Education Services (accessed March 2025)

City College Norwich, Helping young people into sustainable paid employment (accessed
August 2025)

Page 211
&


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135814/html/
https://www.tcdsb.org/o/stmarycatholicacademy/page/special-services
https://www.ccn.ac.uk/mint/

Pre-employment projects
Functional skills
A work placement and in work support

Outdoor activity days

184. We heard that since 2010/11 this programme has delivered an average of

185.

66 job outcomes per year, including long term employment for alumni.

Maths and English GCSE resits

Since 2014, successive Governments have maintained the condition of
funding requirement that full-time students aged 16 to 18 who have not
attained grade 4 (grade C under the previous grading system) in GCSE
maths and/or English have an entitlement to continue to study an approved
qualification in those subjects and work towards achieving the required
pass grade.?® The majority of these students continue to study the relevant
GCSE. However, some students are eligible to take a functional skills
qualification in maths or English (also a level 2 qualification), which aims to
teach numeracy and literacy skills needed in daily life and the workplace.
Students with SEN support are around 40 per cent less likely to pass English
and maths whilst students with EHC plans are 40 per cent and 28 per cent
less likely to pass English and maths, respectively. Research conducted by
the Education Policy Institute (EPI) shows that these students are also less
likely to attain a pass grade by age 19.%°° We saw this on our visit to City
College Norwich in June 2025 where we were told that on average, a third of
their students resitting maths and/or English require access arrangements
related to SEND. Nasen emphasised the “pressing need” to establish a cut-
off point for learners who, despite repeated efforts, are unable to achieve a
Grade 4 in English and maths, raising concerns that requirements to pass
English and maths limit access to post-16 pathways, and can force students
onto unsuitable routes just to progress. Nasen describe this as “particularly
disheartening” for young people with SEND who may never attain a GCSE
grade 4 in either or both subjects and highlight how changes to BTECs

and T-Levels have further undermined accessibility.?®' Nasen view greater
flexibility in post-16 pathways, including elevating the status of functional
skills, as a solution to this. We heard that “flexibility is the most important
thing” from Lucy Bowerman, 22 a young person with SEND who spoke to us
earlier this year. She told us:

259
260
261

HC Deb, 2 July 2014, col 57WS [Commons written ministerial statement]
“Time for a resit reset?”, Education Policy Institute, 31 January 2024
Nasen (SENO809)

Page 212
9 84


https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/blog-time-for-a-resit-reset/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137188/default/

186.

187.

Some subjects might not work for some students. Rather than
continually drumming into them, “You need to do this as part of the
national curriculum. You have to learn this”... maybe schools should
think about whether, actually, if students are finding a subject that
difficult, they are gaining anything from being forced to sit in that
lesson? ... Is there some sort of vocational course that might work a
lot better for them and that might not only give them life skills but
significantly improve their wellbeing?*®

CONCLUSION
The post-16 condition of funding, whereby students who have not
achieved a grade 4 or above in GCSE English and maths are effectively
repeatedly required to take GCSE resits in those subjects as part of their
programme of study, must be reformed. Despite a modest rise in overall
attainment over the past ten years, the progression rate from age 16 to
19 remains low, with 72 per cent of those who did not achieve grade 4 at
16 still not achieving that grade by 19. This policy can be demoralising for
students and a huge strain on colleges and their staff. Whilst ensuring
that students continue to make progress in literacy and numeracy, an
alternative approach is necessary.

RECOMMENDATION

The Government must introduce a three-route model for those who
have not attained grade 4 GCSE in maths and/or English based on their
level of attainment at age 16 and their chosen post-16 qualification/
employment pathway:

Students who, based on their GCSE results at age 16 and prior
attainment, have a realistic prospect of achieving grade 4 in
maths and/or English should be supported to work towards those
qualifications.

Vocational courses of study, for which the English and maths
content required can be easily identified, should have that content
built into the curriculum. Students taking courses with embedded
English and maths content which have been rigorously quality
assured could then, in consultation with employers, be considered
for exemption from the requirement to re-sit English and maths
GCSE.

Students who, based on past performance, are very unlikely to
attain grade 4 in maths and/or English despite multiple resits and
who would benefit from pursuing a functional skills qualification in

262

Q106

P 213
aggse


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

188.

189.

maths and/or English—for example, focused on financial literacy,
debt and interest and household budgeting—should be supported
to achieve a pass in that form of qualification.

Funding

We received considerable evidence from further education providers that
funding pressures undermine the support that can be provided and their
efforts to build inclusive education for young people with SEND. Natspec
told us that the extension of the SEND system to 25 was never fully costed,
ultimately leaving further education “disproportionately underfunded”.®?
For example, there is no dedicated funding for SEN support given to the
post-16 sector. This means there is no additional funding available to
support the learning of students in this sector with SEN but without an EHC
plan. Further, even though 26.3 per cent of EHC plan holders are aged 16-25,
less than 10 per cent of the high needs budget goes to this age group and
only half of FE EHC plan holders are high-needs funded. Despite this, these
students are “rarely seen as a priority for funding” by either local authorities
or the Government across SEND and FE policy.**

CONCLUSION

Greater policy focus is required on further education provision for young
people with SEND. At present, both FE and SEND policy frameworks

give limited consideration to the specific needs of learners post-16, and
funding arrangements often fail to provide adequate resources to meet
those needs. This lack of targeted attention and investment contributes
to significant gaps in provision and support, leaving many of these young
people effectively overlooked within the education system. Without
dedicated and sufficient funding for SEN support beyond the age of

16, mainstream further education settings will struggle to provide the
adjustments, specialist staff, and tailored resources necessary to meet
learners’ needs and achieve good outcomes. This is incompatible with
the Government’s vision for inclusive mainstream education. Without
targeted reform and investment, the FE sector risks falling behind other
parts of the education system.

263
264

Natspec (SEN0305)
Natspec (SEN0895)

Page 214
g 86


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135814/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148256/html/

190.

191.

192.

RECOMMENDATION
The Department for Education should introduce a dedicated and ring-
fenced funding stream for SEN support beyond the age of 16. This would
enable further education providers to recruit and retain specialist

staff, provide tailored learning resources, and make the reasonable
adjustments necessary to meet the diverse needs of learners with SEND.
Such investment is essential to ensuring that mainstream FE provision

is genuinely inclusive and that young people with SEND have equitable
opportunities to succeed.

RECOMMENDATION
When Ofsted considers the accountability of post-16 education settings,
it should ensure a stronger focus on inclusivity and outcomes for young
people with SEND.

Home to school transport

The cost of home to school transportation for pupils with specific needs
has risen in recent years, impacting local authority finances. In November
2023, the County Councils Network (CCN) report on making school services
sustainable found that costs could rise nationally by 2027/28 to £2.2bn,
with county councils responsible for £1.1bn of this figure.?®* According to the
report by the CCN, these rising costs have been driven by the increase in
EHC plans that include transport to education settings, longer journeys to
specialist settings further away.?®® This was also reflected in the evidence
which highlighted a reliance on out-of-area placements due to inadequate
local provision.?®” Despite rising costs in home to school transport, transport
provision for young people with SEND is not comprehensive. Currently,
young people over 16 do not have the same rights to local authority

funded transport as under-16s, despite those aged 16 and 17 having to
remain in education or training.?®® Transport provision for 16-19-year-olds
is discretionary. If a local authority chooses to continue offering the same
transport arrangements a student had before turning 16, it may charge for
this service or request a parental contribution towards the cost. We heard
this described as a “loophole” by charities in the sector and is particularly

265

266

267
268

County Councils Network, Press Notice, “Spiralling SEND transport budgets threaten
financial sustainability of England’s largest councils, report reveals”, November 2023
(accessed November 2024)

County Councils Network, Press Notice, “Spiralling SEND transport budgets threaten
financial sustainability of England’s largest councils, report reveals”, November 2023
(accessed November 2024)

Surrey County Council (SEN0389), Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Contact, Press Notice, “Lack of school or college transport forces over 16°s to stay at
home”, January 2025

Pa897e 215


https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/spiralling-send-transport-budgets-threaten-financial-sustainability-of-englands-largest-councils-report-reveals/
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/spiralling-send-transport-budgets-threaten-financial-sustainability-of-englands-largest-councils-report-reveals/
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/spiralling-send-transport-budgets-threaten-financial-sustainability-of-englands-largest-councils-report-reveals/
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/spiralling-send-transport-budgets-threaten-financial-sustainability-of-englands-largest-councils-report-reveals/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://contact.org.uk/about-contact/news-and-views/lack-of-school-or-college-transport-forces-over-16s-to-stay-at-home/
https://contact.org.uk/about-contact/news-and-views/lack-of-school-or-college-transport-forces-over-16s-to-stay-at-home/

193.

concerning given the crucial role transport plays in enabling young people
with SEND to attend and engage fully in education. For example, Contact
describe school transport as the “the glue that helps hold things together
for families with disabled children”.?®® Contact’s research shows that almost
60 per cent of disabled teenagers face changes to their school transport
arrangements when they turn 16 with one in seven losing it altogether—
jeopardising their ability to continue at school or college.?”

Amanda Allard of the Disabled Children’s Partnership told us about the
importance of reviewing transport arrangements at transition points as
well as independent travel training as a way to reduce reliance on home
to school transport where appropriate.®” This was recognised across the
written evidence. Tameside Local Authority outlined numerous strategies
“aimed at fostering independence and optimising resources” such as:

Embedding travel training into EHC plans where this is appropriate for
the young person is a key step, equipping students with the skills to
navigate public transport and reducing long-term reliance on funded
services.

Encouraging families to utilise Disability Living Allowance (DLA) or
Personal Independence Payment (PIP) for travel costs also promotes
independent management of transport needs while alleviating
pressure on local authority funding.

Collaborative planning during transitions can identify cost-effective
solutions, including shared transport arrangements for students
attending the same provider. Partnerships with local transport
providers for subsidised travel and offering personal travel budgets to
families can further enhance flexibility and efficiency.*?

269

270

271
272

Contact, Press Notice, “Lack of school or college transport forces over 16°s to stay at
home”, January 2025

Contact, School transport survey 2024 for parents with disabled children online survey,
February 2025

Q17

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

P 216
age88



https://contact.org.uk/about-contact/news-and-views/lack-of-school-or-college-transport-forces-over-16s-to-stay-at-home/
https://contact.org.uk/about-contact/news-and-views/lack-of-school-or-college-transport-forces-over-16s-to-stay-at-home/
https://contact.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/CONTACT-TRANSPORT-MATTERS-SURVEY-2024.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/

194. CONCLUSION
We know that some young people in some areas will have a long-term
need for home to school transport due to extremely limited public
transport options in their local area or their individual needs. We are
concerned about the impact that lack of statutory home to school
transport for 16-19-year-olds with SEND has on the ability of these young
people to access education. No young person should be locked out of
education because of a transport need. Evidence also indicates a lack
of adequate travel training for this age group in some areas, which
increases reliance on home to school transport, creating significant
barriers to attendance and participation in learning.

195. RECOMMENDATION
The Department should review home to school transport and identify
costs across regions. Additionally, the Department must mandate
that all local authorities provide travel training programmes for young
people with SEND in this age group to promote independence and safe
travel where this is appropriate. Statutory transport provision should
be guaranteed based on clear criteria such as distance from education
settings, level of need, and other relevant factors to ensure no young
person is unfairly disadvantaged. We welcome the acknowledgement
in the Government’s fair funding review of the need for comprehensive
costings for current and future home to school transport need. The
Department for Education must work with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government and the Department for Transport
as they prepare to introduce a bespoke formula to recognise Home to
School transport costs. As part of this collaboration, the Department
for Education should ensure that there is transparency around how
outcomes are measured and reported. We support the recommendation
of the Transport Select Committee with regard to the provision of bus
passes for under 22-year-olds.?”

273  House of Commons Transport Committee, Third Report of Session 2024-25 Buses
connecting communities, August 2025

Page 217
5



https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmtrans/494/report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmtrans/494/report.html

196.

197.

198.

7 Equipping the workforce

Achieving an inclusive mainstream education system requires all
professionals involved in assessing, supporting, and delivering SEND
provision to be better equipped. This chapter examines how this can be
achieved. It begins by considering the education workforce and the role of
training, continuing professional development, and leadership in embedding
a whole-school approach to SEND. It then turns to the local authority
workforce, highlighting the importance of equipping staff to engage with
families empathetically. Finally, it addresses the capacity challenges facing
educational psychologists, speech and language therapists and other
relevant allied health professionals.

Education workforce

Initial Teacher Training and the Early Career Framework

The Department’s evidence states that high-quality teaching and learning

is “central” to ensuring that pupils with SEND are supported through
education.”” However, we heard from a range of witnesses that there is
much room for improvement in this area. For example, we were told by Katie
Ghose, CEO of Kids, that better training was “top of the list” in the “drive for
inclusive education”.?” Similarly, Luke Sibieta, Research Fellow at the IFS,
identified a lack of high-quality training as one of the “main challenge[s]”

of improving the SEND system, he told us:

What is lacking at the moment is proper support and funding to
provide training for both teachers and TAs to provide better support.
That would help provide good quality provision in mainstream
settings.”’®

Across the inquiry, we heard about the importance and effectiveness of a
whole setting approach to SEND. This requires SEND training for all staff,
“top to toe” to improve confidence and capacity to support pupils with SEND
and deliver inclusive education beyond SENCOs.?”” We received evidence

274
275
276
277

Department for Education (SEN0887)
Q3

Q55

Kids (SEN0624)

P 218
age90


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136958/default/

highlighting the need for training on a range of SEND issues.?’® For example,
a survey by the National Autistic Society found that 58 per cent of teachers
do not feel prepared to support autistic students while the Department for
Education found 31 per cent of teachers lack confidence in teaching children
with neurodiverse conditions.”? If teachers are ill-equipped and unconfident
teachers will not be able to:

Recognise early signs of neurodiversity and intervene before a child
falls behind;

Implement simple, effective strategies that foster inclusion;

Prevent unnecessary disciplinary actions that disproportionately
impact neurodiverse students; and

Support families who are already struggling within a system full of
barriers rather than solutions.?°

199. The combined and updated Initial Teacher Training and Early Career
Framework published in January 2024 contains “significantly more content”
related to adaptive teaching and supporting pupils with SEND, including
content on making effective use of specialist technology to support pupils
with SEND.*' However we heard that although the updated Framework is
“an improvement” there remains “a long way still to go” with regards to
enhancing and embedding SEND throughout the framework to make SEND
“intrinsic and explicit”.?®? Isos Partnership wrote to us saying that SEND
should form a “much more significant element” of Initial Teacher Training
and should be a “golden thread” that runs through every teacher’s career.?®®
Annamarie Hassall CEO at Nasen explained to us that to achieve inclusive
mainstream education:

We need a teaching workforce that comes out of their initial teacher
education expecting to see an inclusive classroom and that is part of
their remit, rather than an added extra.?*

This reflects written evidence from a collective of city councils which said,
“inclusive practice should not be a separate ‘thing’ but something which is
entirely embedded in everyday practice”.?*

278  Bright Future Training Limited (SEN0519)

279 National Autistic Society (SEN0O646)

280 Mr Christopher Moore (SEN0522)

281  Department for Education (SEN0O887)

282  Association of School & College Leaders (SEN0663)

283 Isos Partnership (SEN0427)

284 Q93

285  Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266)

Pagle 219


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136673/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136986/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136686/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137015/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136089/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/html/

200. We heard that the current framework would be improved by including the

201.

202.

practical skills teachers need to be able to adapt their teaching to meet the
“diverse and fluctuating needs of all learners”.?® Further, that there should
be focus on improving teachers’ confidence in their understanding and
management of SEND requirements across Initial Teacher Training and the
Early Carer Framework to ensure that inclusivity is promoted from the start
of their careers.?®” We heard suggestions across the written evidence that
compulsory experience in specialist settings for trainee teachers would help
achieve this.*®

Such training is also vital for those working in the early years. According

to Dingley’s Promise, inclusion training for early years educators is “key to
ensuring high quality inclusion”.?¢° The SEND in Early Years Initial Teacher
Training, the early years practitioner (level 2) and early years educator
(level 3) qualifications and in the National Professional Qualification in EY
Leadership (NPQ EYL) all include content on SEND and inclusion to help
equip staff with the knowledge they need. To supplement this, in September
2024 the Department and for Education launched an online training module
and SEND assessment guidance.”® These were aimed at supporting early
years educators to identify, assess and support children with SEND and
developmental differences and delays in their settings.

CONCLUSION

While the Department for Education’s update to the Initial Teacher
Training and Early Career Framework is a positive move, it needs to go
further to adequately prepare teachers to support pupils with SEND.
SEND is still not fully integrated across all training modules, and there
is a clear lack of focus on how to apply this knowledge practically in the
classroom. This shortfall risks leaving teachers unprepared to meet the
needs of pupils with SEND effectively.

286
287
288

289
290

Anonymous (SEN0384)

HMC (The Heads’ Conference) (SEN0414)

North Northamptonshire Parent Carer Voices (SEN0423), Bloomfield Dyslexia Centre
(SEN0429)

Dingley’s Promise (SEN0334)

Dingley’s Promise and Department for Education, EY SEND assessment guidance
(accessed July 2025)

P 220
age92


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136007/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136074/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136091/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136090/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/html/
https://dingley.org.uk/ey-send-assessment-guidance/

203.

204.

205.

206.

RECOMMENDATION
The Department for Education must implement a continuous review and
update cycle for the ITT and ECF to keep training relevant and effective.
It must urgently increase the number of ITT placements and explore

the viability of mandating every teacher to complete a placement in

a specialist setting during ITT or ECF. Without practical, hands-on
experience supporting children and young people with SEND, teachers
will remain ill-equipped to meet their needs.

RECOMMENDATION
The Department for Education should provide comprehensive training
within ITT and clear guidance for schools, multi-academy trusts

and education staff on delivering inclusive education practice. This

will ensure that all settings understand their legal obligations and

are equipped to make the necessary accommodations to support
pupils with SEND effectively. Embedding this knowledge is crucial for
promoting inclusive practices, preventing discrimination, and fostering
environments where every child can thrive.

Continued Professional Development (CPD)

In addition to Initial Teacher Training and the Early Career Framework,

we heard strong evidence about the vital role of Continued Professional
Development (CPD) in equipping the education workforce to deliver truly
inclusive mainstream education. CPD was consistently identified as essential
to building the knowledge, skills, and confidence needed to effectively
support children and young people with SEND in everyday classroom
settings. Annemarie Hassall, CEO of Nasen told us:

I do not think we will ever be able to have somebody leaving
their initial teacher education and their first couple of years of
early teaching topped up with everything they need to know. The
commitment to ongoing professional development is essential.?’

Similarly, Jo Hutchinson, Director for SEND and Additional Needs at the
Education Policy Institute (EPI), emphasised to us the importance of
continued professional development, noting that because understanding of
SEND is continually evolving, it is essential that training and best practice
evolve in parallel to ensure the education workforce remains informed and
effective. She explained:

291

Qo3

Page 221
:


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15502/html/

It will not be possible to inject all the knowledge needed for a whole
career during initial teacher training, nor is it likely to be very feasible
to add that much to the curriculum in ITT, but it is possible to make it a
priority across all the various phases of professional development that
teachers go through.?*?

207. Despite its recognised importance, CPD focused on SEND is not mandatory

208.

in England. While current accountability frameworks encourage schools to
demonstrate evidence of staff engagement with CPD, there is no specific
requirement for ongoing professional development in SEND. Furthermore,
initial findings of ScopeSEND, a three-year research project examining and
comparing SEND policy in different countries, indicate that much of the
CPD available in England is typically delivered through standalone courses,
workshops, or one-off training sessions. As a result, it often lacks integration
into the everyday practice and culture of schools, limiting its effectiveness
in driving sustained, inclusive teaching approaches across the education
system. Dr Castro-Kemp of the Scope SEND research team explained the
importance of having an embedded culture of CPD to us, saying:

When CPD is embedded, there is a culture of personal and professional
development... [even if] it is not mandatory [it] is encouraged and
expected professionally, so it is seen more as a professional right
rather than a professional obligation ... [and there is a] sustained
culture of engagement in professional development that is more
context specific as a right of the workforce.*?

The Department for Education funds the Universal SEND Services
programme as a key part of the Department’s CPD offer.?** Universal SEND
Services programme is delivered by Nasen and provides SEND focused CPD
to the school and further education workforce. Since launching in 2022
over 20,000 online training units have been completed on various SEND
related topics and over 220,000 professionals have undertaken autism
training.?*® Alison Ismail, Director of the SEND and Alternative Provision at
DFE, praised the programme for driving “that whole school approach to
SEND and mak[ing] sure that the whole school workforce feels equipped to
support children”.?¢ We were told by witnesses that this programme has
been helpful in addressing “gaps in confidence or understanding within the
workforce”.?®” However, funding for the Universal SEND services programme
is due to end in 2026. When we raised concerns with then Minister
McKinnell about whether the benefits of the programme will be embedded

292
293
294
295
296
297

Q206

Q205

Nasen, Whole School SEND, Universal SEND Services programme (accessed July 2025)
Department for Education (SEN0887)

Q251

Nasen (SENO809)

Page 222
9 94


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://www.wholeschoolsend.org.uk/page/universal-send-services
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137188/html/

209.

210.

211.

and sustained over the long term we were told that the Department for
Education intend to “turbocharge” the approach that underpins the
universal SEND services programme, where “excellent SEND provision [is]
at the heart of the core business of all schools” and that further detail will
be set out in the upcoming White Paper, due autumn 2025.2%

CONCLUSION

It is deeply concerning that SEND-specific continuing professional
development (CPD) is not mandatory. The education workforce must
be consistently equipped with up-to-date, evidence-based knowledge
through ongoing CPD to ensure an inclusive mainstream with high-
quality support for children and young people with SEND.

CONCLUSION

Continuous professional development in SEND should not be viewed
solely as a support mechanism for specialist SEND educators. When all
teachers are trained to understand and respond to the needs of pupils
with SEND, the entire workforce becomes more inclusive, adaptive, and
confident in managing diverse classrooms. An essential skill set in the
modern classroom, this not only improves outcomes for pupils with
SEND but also supports teacher resilience and wellbeing, enhancing the
learning experience for all students by fostering a more empathetic,
dynamic and flexible teaching environment. We have seen evidence that
deploying this approach reduces the need for EHC plans.

RECOMMENDATION

SEND CPD should be made mandatory to ensure that all educators
are equipped to meet the diverse needs of children and young people
with SEND. This could be achieved through a nationally recognised
supplementary qualification in SEND that all existing teachers must
complete within a defined timeframe (e.g. three years), similar to the Early
Career Framework but focused on inclusion and SEND best practice; or
through the incorporation of mandatory SEND modules into existing CPD
requirements; or through performance management frameworks, ensuring
ongoing engagement and application in classroom settings.

298

Q251

P 223
a9g5e


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

Special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOs)

Box 5: Special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOSs)

SENCOs lead and co-ordinate a school’s provision for children and young
people with special educational needs and disabilities. In September
2024, the Government introduced a new leadership level NPQ for SENCOs
as mandatory training that must be complete within three years of
taking up their position.>*°

The SENCO NPQ training covers eight topics:
school culture

statutory framework

identification of need

teaching, behaviour

leading and managing provision
professional development
implementation.®°°

This training intends to provide SENCOs with the knowledge and skills to
work with other leaders to create an inclusive environment.

Source: Special Educational Needs Co-ordinators’ national professional
qualification, Department for Education®”

212. We understand the important role SENCOs can play in disseminating
knowledge and best practice on inclusive teaching and education from
school leaders and teacher unions. However, some evidence we received
reflects the struggles being faced by those in this role including the “huge
inconsistency” in how SENCOs are valued and deployed within schools and
the expansion of their workload.**> One primary school SENCO summarised
their experience to us as “overworked, undervalued and isolated”.>*

299 DfE, Special educational needs co-ordinator’s (SENCO) national professional qualification
(accessed July 2025)

300 DfE, Special educational needs co-ordinator’s (SENCO) national professional
qualification, February 2024

301 DfE, Special educational needs co-ordinator’s (SENCO) national professional
qualification, February 2024

302 Miss Kate Worrall (SENCO at East Peckham Primary School) (SENO003), Justify
Foundation (SENOO68), Mr Eugene McFadden (SENCO at Truro Penwith Academy Trust)
(SEN0O017), Mrs Judy Cooper (SEN0092)

303 Miss Kate Worrall (SENCO at East Peckham Primary School) (SENO003)

Page 224
9 96



https://www.gov.uk/guidance/special-educational-needs-co-ordinators-national-professional-qualification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/special-educational-needs-co-ordinators-national-professional-qualification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/special-educational-needs-co-ordinators-national-professional-qualification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/special-educational-needs-co-ordinators-national-professional-qualification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/special-educational-needs-co-ordinators-national-professional-qualification
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133094/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133597/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133223/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133722/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133094/html/

213.

214.

The then Minister McKinnell acknowledged these challenges and stated
her intention for them to be fully addressed in the upcoming SEND White
Paper. She also highlighted work already underway by the Department,
particularly the introduction of the new SENCO NPQ in 2024, describing
this as a “training programme for SENCOs to be skilled up... supported

in the challenging work that they do, because we want to make sure that
they do have high-quality and evidence-based training so that they know
what works”.3°* This qualification has been welcomed by the sector, with
the Association of School and College Leaders describing it as “crucial”.?®
However, current funding limits the number of staff per school able to
access this training, leading to calls within our evidence for further
investment to expand its offer and meet the “overwhelming demand”
from schools.?°°

From the evidence it is clear to us that SENCOs would benefit from access to
ongoing, high-quality training to support them in their roles. Conrad Bourne,
Director for SEND at The Mercian Trust told us he was “surprised” that there
is no other statutory requirement for training or professional development
beyond the ASENC or NPQ.*°” Along similar lines, Nicole Dempsey, Director
of SEND and safeguarding at Dixons Trust Academy, highlighted the value
she found in additional, local authority-led SENCO training she had been a
part of. This training, initiated by the local authority connected SENCOs to
local services and systems, focusing on the practical application of skills
and knowledge.?*® We view such initiatives as imperative if an inclusive
mainstream education system is going to be practically achieved.

The feeling of being isolated and undervalued reported by SENCOs often
stems from limited support or engagement from senior leadership. Nasen
told us that if SENCO expertise to be valued and recognised it must be
“embedded at a strategic level”, giving SENCOs “meaningful opportunities
to influence senior leadership and drive forward inclusive practice within
their schools”.**° This was acknowledged by then Minister McKinnell who
told us about the importance of SENCO being “supported with knowledge
and skills to be able to work with all leaders in their school to create that
inclusive environment”.*"° Some evidence we received suggested appointing
SENCOs to a setting’s Senior Leadership Team would elevate the status of
SENCO, improving their support and engagement from senior leadership.*"

304
305
306
307
308
309
310
3M

Q248

Association of School & College Leaders (SENO663)
Association of School & College Leaders (SENO663)
Q224

Q225

Nasen (SENO809)

Q248

Justify Foundation (SENOO68)

Pag%e 225


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137015/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137015/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137188/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133597/html/

215.

216.

However, we were warned that this may have a particularly adverse impact
on early career teachers. Conrad Bourne, Director for SEND at The Mercian
Trust told us:

A SENCO should not necessarily be on the senior team because you
may not want to be on the senior team as a SENCO. It may not be

your career ambition. Also, we see SENCOs at different stages of their
careers of becoming SENCOs. | see a number of colleagues in primary
settings taking on the role of SENCO quite early in their teaching career
and more so in secondary now. Often, as we see with senior leaders,
you probably will not just be the SENCO. You will have other leadership
portfolios and that means that you need a developed level of training
to take on those. | would not want to put that pressure on.*”

The Department for Education highlighted to us that all leadership NPQs contain
a section on ‘Additional and Special Educational Needs and Disabilities’, which
includes supporting leaders to understand how adaptive teaching can increase
pupil success and the importance of working with families and staff to ensure
effective support for pupils with SEND is in place.*™ The Association of School
and College Leaders argues that school leaders should be expected to complete
the SENCO NPQ as a marker of effective leadership, and goes further to propose
that it could become a prerequisite for undertaking the NPQ for Headship in
order to develop a “leadership pipeline and strengthen whole school confidence
with the support required to co-ordinate SEND provision”.*" This would build
on the current leadership NPQ which contains a section on ‘Additional and
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities’, which covers understanding
how adaptive teaching can increase pupil success and the importance of
working with families and staff to ensure effective support for pupils with
SEND is in place. This would also align with what we heard from Nicole
Dempsey, Director of SEND and Safeguarding at Dixons Academies Trust
who told us that “having advocacy and knowledge and understanding [of
SEND] on the senior leadership team is an absolute must”.?"*

CONCLUSION
We welcome the introduction of the new National Professional
Qualification (NPQ) for SENCOs as a positive step towards enhancing

the leadership and expertise of SEND provision in schools and multi-
academy trusts. However, further action is urgently needed. The scale of
the challenges facing SENCOs including excessive workloads, insufficient
time to carry out their statutory duties, and a lack of support requires
immediate attention.

312
313
314
315

Q224

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Association of School & College Leaders (SENO663)
Q225

P 226
age98


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137015/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/

217. CONCLUSION
Strong leadership on SEND is essential to delivering effective and
inclusive education. Often the bulk of responsibility for SEND inclusion
falls to a single SENCO and this should not be the case. Evidence shows
that when senior leadership prioritises inclusion, this commitment
permeates throughout the school, positively influencing staff attitudes
and pupil experiences. Embedding SEND awareness and inclusion as a
strategic focus at the highest-level drives culture change and ensures
that inclusive practices are consistently implemented.

218. RECOMMENDATION
To strengthen leadership on SEND, the Department should, in the short
term, mandate that at least one member of the Senior Leadership
Team in every school and every multi-academy trust holds SENCO
qualifications.

219. RECOMMENDATION
The Department should also publish guidance on appropriate SENCO-to-
pupil ratios and develop a national strategy to ensure these ratios are
achieved consistently across schools and multi-academy trusts.

220. RECOMMENDATION
Within four years, the Department should introduce a requirement for all
new headteachers to hold a SEND-specific qualification. Ensuring that
SEND expertise is embedded at the highest levels of school or multi-
academy trust leadership will promote strategic oversight, improve
the quality of inclusive practice, and better meet the needs of pupils
with SEND.

Teaching assistants and learning support assistants

221. Across the inquiry we heard about the significant role support staff and
teaching assistants have in the delivery of SEND support in mainstream
education settings. A 2023 DfE survey on the use of teaching assistants in
schools reflects this, finding that across all settings, teaching assistants
most commonly support pupils with SEND, including those with EHC plans.*®
The then Minister McKinnell reiterated this, saying “support staff play such
a crucial role in schools, and teaching assistants in particular often work
very closely with children with special educational needs and disabilities™.*”

316 Department for Education (SENO887)
317 Q249

Page 227
%


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

222.

Despite such staff providing the majority of the 1:1 support given to children
and young people with SEND in mainstream settings, much of the evidence
we received raises concerns about their “minimal training,” resulting in a
situation where the “least qualified staff [are] working with the highest-need
students™.*® This evidence raises significant concerns, particularly given

the Department’s intention for these staff to play a key role in delivering an
inclusive mainstream education system. The submissions we received make
it clear that currently many teaching and learning support assistants are
not sufficiently prepared to meet the needs of children with SEND. If they are
to fulfil their intended role effectively, it is essential that they receive more
comprehensive training, guidance, and support to enable them to provide
high-quality, inclusive education for all learners.

The 2023 Departmental survey found that just over two thirds (67 per cent)
of teaching assistants have received training to deliver targeted SEND
interventions and indicate an interest in training on working with pupils with
SEND and/or other learning needs.*” As a result, much of the evidence we
received highlighted the need for teaching assistants and support staff to
have more opportunities to engage with SEND specific training. The then
Minister McKinnell acknowledged that supporting teaching assistants to
develop their skills was “very important™ and cited the level 5 specialist
teaching assistant apprenticeship approved in 2024 as an avenue for
upskilling.*?° The specialist teaching assistant apprenticeship has also been
cited as a solution to issues with the recruitment and retention of teaching
assistants support staff with Unison welcoming this as an opportunity to
make a “real difference”.*®' However, across the evidence many cite low pay
as the main contributing factor to poor recruitment and retention.*? This
was reflected in Unison’s warning that level 5 specialist teaching assistant
apprenticeship “must be paid at the going rate for the job and there should
be no teaching on the cheap”.?® Further, we received evidence, from an
experienced SENCO who described the struggle schools are having recruiting
and retaining teaching assistants and support staff because salaries do not
“match the expectations and responsibilities of their roles”.3**

318

319
320
321

322
323

324

Mrs Judy Cooper (SEN0092), Anonymous (SEN0047), Dr Neil Alexander-Passe (Former
SENDCO, Now Exam Access Assessor. Researcher and author at City and Islington
College) (SEN0O069)

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Q249

Schools Week, “New apprenticeship to equip teaching assistants on SEND”,
September 2024

Dr Neil Alexander-Passe (Former SENDCO, Now Exam Access Assessor. Researcher and
author at City and Islington College) (SENO0G9)

Schools Week, “New apprenticeship to equip teaching assistants on SEND”,
September 2024

St Mark’s CE Primary, Vicarage Park CE Primary, Crosscrake CE Primary (SENO369)

Page 228
100



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133722/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133467/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133600/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/new-apprenticeship-to-equip-teaching-assistants-on-send/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133600/html/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/new-apprenticeship-to-equip-teaching-assistants-on-send/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135978/html/

223.

224,

225.

CONCLUSION

Learning support assistants and teaching assistants are integral to

the effective delivery of SEND support and resourcing their deployment
properly can help reduce the need for expensive specialist placements.
To sustain and strengthen their contribution, improvements are urgently
needed in the recruitment, training, CPD and retention of this workforce.
We are particularly concerned by evidence that many LSAs and TAs

lack adequate SEND-specific training to perform their roles safely and
effectively.

RECOMMENDATION

SEND content should be an integral part of teaching assistant training,
and they should be provided with regular opportunities for CPD and peer
support. This could be through incentivised or ring-fenced funding for
schools and multi-academy trusts to release teaching assistants and
learning support assistants for SEND CPD, removing practical barriers to
participation and ensuring consistent take-up across the sector.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department should issue guidance on teaching assistant-to-pupil
ratios and urgently address the worsening crisis in recruiting and
retaining TAs and learning support assistants to ensure these ratios

can be met. These professionals are vital to the delivery of inclusive
education, yet their contribution continues to be undervalued and under-
supported. A robust and comprehensive strategy is urgently required.
This must include:

A clear career progression framework with opportunities to develop
specialist expertise and the opportunity for some TAs to progress to
qualified teacher status.

Competitive pay increases that reflect the skill, responsibility, and
complexity of their roles.

Expanded and better-promoted apprenticeship pathways to attract
new entrants and diversify the workforce.

Clearer communication to schools, multi-academy trusts and
stakeholders about the distinct functions, expectations, and career
progression routes within TA and LSA roles.

Pe%%e 229



226.

227.

228.

RECOMMENDATION
These measures are essential. Without decisive action, the system will
continue to lose experienced staff, leaving vulnerable pupils without the
support they need and deserve.

Local authority workforce

Local authority staff are another key part of the SEND workforce. This
includes professionals across support services who play a vital role in
assessing needs, coordinating provision, and ensuring children and families
can access the support they are entitled to. Given their close involvement
in the SEND system, it is essential that local authority staff have a strong
understanding of SEND and receive appropriate training to carry out their
responsibilities effectively and empathetically. However, we heard that
this is not always the case, with parents of children with SEND reporting
that local authorities often fail to respond to their queries and provide
timely or adequate support. One parent described their local authority
response to their concerns as “purely lip service, rather than actual
empathic acknowledgement.”?* Such experiences mean parents often feel
“completely at a loss with the system” instead of genuinely supported.?*

We heard that, in order to improve the experience of children with SEND
and their families, local authorities must significantly strengthen their
communication practices. This includes ensuring that communication is
more consistent, timely, and delivered with empathy and understanding.
One proposal we heard was the introduction of dedicated caseworkers to
support families in navigating the process of accessing SEND support.®*’
These caseworkers would keep families informed about progress and
decisions, helping to foster greater trust, confidence, and consistency in the
system. Another recommendation we heard was for enhanced training for
local authority staff on SEND legislation and their legal responsibilities.?*®
Imogen Steele, Policy and Public Affairs Officer at Contact told us that “a lot
more” training for local authority officials on SEND law would help improve
interactions between local authority staff and children with SEND and their
families and reduce the adversarial nature of interactions.** This is because
such training would help improve understanding of the processes related

to SEND support and decision making ensuring the correct decisions are
made earlier.

325

326
327
328
329

Dr Karen Broomhead (Degree Programme Leader/Senior Lecturer at Liverpool John
Moores University) (SENOO5T)

Q9

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

IPSEA (Independent Provider of Special Education Advice) (SENO678)

Q18
Page 230
102



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133497/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137033/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

229.

230.

231.

CONCLUSION
Many children with SEND and their families continue to have
unsatisfactory experiences when navigating the SEND system,
particularly in their interactions with local authority staff. These
challenges are often rooted in a failure to work empathetically in
partnership with parents and carers and demonstrate a limited
understanding of the assessment process and its significance. In some
cases, local authority staff make poor or inadequate contributions to
EHC plans, undermining their quality and failing to reflect the needs
of the child. These issues not only erode trust in the system but also
contribute to delays, disputes, and ultimately poorer outcomes for
children and young people with SEND.

RECOMMENDATION
Local authority staff require improved training on child development,
SEND law, parent engagement and mediation, alongside changes in
practice that strengthen accountability and foster more constructive
relationships with parents and carers. This should include meaningful
parental involvement at every stage of the decision-making process
regarding a child’s needs and support. Embedding a more collaborative
and transparent approach would not only enhance trust and outcomes
for families but also help alleviate the pressures contributing to staff
burnout within local authorities.

Health workforce

Research by the County Councils Network and Local Government
Association suggests that where investment in specialist support services
has not kept pace with the needs of children and young people with SEND
the offer of targeted support available to children and young people

has “narrowed”, resulting in EHC plans being seen as one of the only

ways to access additional specialist support.**° This was also reflected

in anonymous evidence we received from a SEND and EHC plan lead at

a specialist school, highlighting the increased demand from schools for
external professionals from the specialist SEND health workforce to address
the needs of pupils.®*

330

331

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024
Anonymous (SEN0013)

Pa}gge 231


https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133206/html/

Box 6: What does the specialist SEND health workforce do in
education settings?

The role of the specialist SEND health workforce in the diagnosis of needs,
Education, Health and Care Needs Assessment (EHCNA) process and
individuals accessing SEND support varies depending on the specialism.

Educational psychologists provide consultation, model and implement
effective interventions and change programmes to support students
learning and wellbeing at the setting level.*** Educational psychologists
also suggest types of support that would help children and young
people with SEND. In most cases, these interventions should fall into
broad categories of support that schools provide as ordinarily available
provision such as small group support or one-on-one help.?**

Speech and language therapists work directly with children, their
families, and other professionals to maximise communication potential.
This can include one-to-one or small group sessions to develop speech
sounds, language comprehension and expression, social communication,
or fluency. Speech and language therapists also provide training and
advice to setting staff, on approaches to supporting speech, language
and communication. For example, adapting learning environment,
resources, and teaching strategies to meet communication needs as
well as promoting inclusive communication through communication aids
(e.g., visuals, signs, symbols, or communication devices).

Occupational therapists share expertise on topics such as handwriting,
school readiness, good seating, student wellbeing, dyspraxia, sensory
regulation and motor skill development. They also support and advise
teachers on creating accessible and inclusive learning environments that
support sensory regulation and participation. This includes recommending
modifications to routines, classrooms, playgrounds and lessons.

Local authority staff play a wide range of roles in the assessment

and delivery of SEND support. They are responsible for identifying and
assessing needs, and for developing and reviewing Education, Health
and Care (EHC) plans. In addition, they provide children and young
people with SEND, and their families, with information and guidance

on the EHC needs assessment process, the support available, and how
to access relevant services. These staff also facilitate collaboration
across education, health and social care, working with professionals and
schools to ensure that the provision set out in EHC plans is implemented
effectively and in a coordinated way.

332
333

Dr Sarah Tighe ; Dr Niamh Wherity (SEN0288)
Anonymous (SEN0104)

Page 232
104



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135766/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133918/html/

232.

233.

Capacity challenges

The County Councils Network and Local Government Association report,
Towards an effective and financially sustainable approach to SEND in

England, highlights the “systemic difficulties” faced across the specialist
SEND health workforce preventing vacancies being filled.*** For example:

According to a survey by the Royal College of Speech and Language
Therapists conducted in spring 2024, across the England, 19 per cent of
speech and language therapy (SLT) posts were vacant in early 2024.3%

In December 2024 the Royal College of Occupational Therapists
surveyed occupational therapists to understand factors making it
difficult for people to access or benefit from occupational therapy.
Of the 675 children’s occupational therapists who responded:

o 72 per cent reported increased demand over the previous
12 months;

@ Only 58 per cent said they were able to provide the necessary
level or type of occupational therapy support children and young
people need.?**

In November 2024 local authorities reported employing 2,700
educational psychologists. In 2015 1,650 educational psychologists
were directly employed by local authorities.**” According to the 2023
Educational psychology services: workforce insights and school
perspectives on impact report by the Department for Education, just
under a quarter (22 per cent) of the educational psychologists they
surveyed anticipated moving to a different job within educational
psychology, often in private practice, while 3 per cent anticipated
leaving the profession.**®

These capacity issues are limiting the support that can be provided. We
heard from parents that their children’s speech and language support was
“virtually non-existent”.** Tameside Local Authority described educational
psychologists to be in “critically short supply”.**° Limited capacity

334

335

336

337

338

339
340

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, 2024

Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists, Vacancy survey (accessed June 2025)
Royal College of Occupational Therapists, Workforce survey report 2023, January 2025
Schools Week, “‘Insufficient’ educational psychologists to ‘meet demand’ from schools,
warns government report”, March 2019 (accessed August 2025), DfE, School workforce in

England, June 2025 (accessed August 2025)

DfE, Research Report, Educational psychology services: workforce insights and school
perspectives on impact report, June 2023

Anonymous (SENO078)

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Pe}gg 233



https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.rcslt.org/policy-and-influencing/uk-wide/vacancy-survey/
https://www.rcot.co.uk/latest-news/workforce-survey-report-2023
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/insufficient-educational-psychologists-to-meet-demand-from-schools-warns-government-report
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/insufficient-educational-psychologists-to-meet-demand-from-schools-warns-government-report
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-workforce-in-england/2024
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/school-workforce-in-england/2024
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/649c4a4406179b00113f7498/Educational_Psychology_services_-_Workforce_insights_and_school_perspectives_on_impact.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/649c4a4406179b00113f7498/Educational_Psychology_services_-_Workforce_insights_and_school_perspectives_on_impact.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133658/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/

234.

235.

throughout the specialist SEND health workforce has resulted in increased
waiting times. A report on support for children and young people with
special educational needs by the Public Accounts Committee, published in
January 2025, highlighted long waits for children’s speech and language
therapy and said that “timely access to health expertise constitutes a
significant barrier in a struggling system”.** This reflects evidence we
received from Tameside Local Authority who wrote:

Long waiting lists for assessments and interventions leave schools
and families frustrated, while educators are forced to fill gaps they are
not trained or resourced to address. The absence of timely specialist
support exacerbates delays in identifying and meeting the needs

of children, impeding children’s access to education and placing
additional strain on an already stretched system.3*

As of November 2024, 65,114 children were waiting for speech and language
therapy.** Of these, 29,693, or 45.6 per cent, had been waiting for over 12
weeks.*** However, waiting times are not only an issue with access to speech
and language therapists. Ofsted has identified that children experience
particularly long waiting times (worsening since the pandemic) for both
speech and language therapists and educational psychologists.*** In July
2024, over 19,000 children and young people in England were waiting to
see an occupational therapist in community (outside of hospitals).**¢ The
widespread issue of waiting times is concerning, as delayed or limited
access to occupational therapists and other allied health professionals can
lead to worsening physical, learning, and mental health needs. This can
result in a greater demand for intensive and costly interventions and risks
intensifying the difficulties experienced by children and young people with
SEND.

In addition to longer waiting times capacity issues are also increasing
reliance on private assessments. This raises concern because it means
families with the financial means could pay for quicker private assessments
and support, leading to inequalities between children with SEND and their
families.**” This was demonstrated in the evidence we received. One parent
wrote:

341

349
343
344
345
346

347

House of Commons Public Accounts Committee, First Report of Session 2024-25, Support
for children and young people with special educational needs, HC 353, January 2025
Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

NHS England, Community health services waiting lists (accessed June 2025)

NHS England, Community health services waiting lists (accessed June 2025)

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024

Royal College of Occupational Therapists, Occupational therapy Workforce Strategy
action plan (accessed June 2025)

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational

needs, HC 299, October 2024
Page 234

106



https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/community-health-services-waiting-lists/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/community-health-services-waiting-lists/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.rcot.co.uk/support-the-profession/workforce-strategy/2024-2027
https://www.rcot.co.uk/support-the-profession/workforce-strategy/2024-2027
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/

My child has had a positive experience of education. This is due

to having the right support in place and I have been fortunately
able to afford to provide professional support privately in the form
of Educational Psychologists, Speech and Language Therapy and
Occupational therapy as local services are inadequate.®*®

236. The NHS Long Term Workforce Plan, published in June 2023 under
the previous government, set an ambition to increase training places by
over 25 per cent to over 18,800 by 2031/32. The plan also includes increasing
the proportion of the speech and language therapy workforce joining via
an apprenticeship route to five per cent. The plan also set an ambition to
increase training places in addition to the proportion of the occupational
therapists workforce joining via an apprenticeship route to between 25-50
per cent by 2031/32.%* To increase the number of Educational Psychologists,
the Department for Education is investing £21 million to train 400 more
Educational Psychologists starting in 2024. This builds on the £10 million
already spent to train over 200 EPs who began their courses in September
2023. In addition, trainees funded by the Department for Education must
now stay in local authority roles for at least three years after qualifying.
This minimum service period has increased from two years for those starting
their training in 2024.%%°

237. The Public Accounts Committee report on Support for children and young
people with special educational needs recommended that the Department
for Health and Social Care sets out how its longer-term workforce plans
will address current and forecast SEN skill shortfalls; and its processes,
plans and targets for reducing related waiting lists within six months of
the report’s publication in January 2025.%' This has yet to be done by the
Department for Health and Social Care. In December 2024, Health and
Social Care Secretary Wes Streeting announced that a refreshed NHS
workforce plan would be published in Summer 2025 and a 10 Year Health
Plan published in Spring 2025 to help address capacity issues and ensure
the NHS has the staff it needs to treat patients in a timely manner.*** King’s
Fund recently published Ten actions the Government can take to improve
children’s health. Two of these actions are of particular relevance to SEND:

348 Anonymous (SEN0031)

349 NHS England, NHS Long Term Workforce Plan, June 2023

350 Department for Education (SEN0O887)

351  House of Commons Public Accounts Committee, First Report of Session 2024-25, HC 353,
Support for children and young people with special educational needs, January 2025

352  DHSC, NHS workforce plan (accessed July 2025), DHSC, 10 Year Health Plan (accessed

July 2025)
Page 235
107



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133358/html/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-workforce-plan/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-to-tackle-nhs-workforce-crisis-with-refreshed-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/road-to-recovery-the-governments-2025-mandate-to-nhs-england/road-to-recovery-the-governments-2025-mandate-to-nhs-england

Place a stronger focus on addressing the shortages in the child health
workforce (including in school nurses, health visitors, midwives and
consultant paediatricians), and improve staff retention across the
medical, nursing and allied health professional specialist children’s
workforce when reviewing the NHS Long Term Workforce Plan.

Set an expectation that every ICS strategy includes specific focus on
children and young people’s health, wellbeing, and health and care
services, including clear pathways to ensure that local systems are
sufficiently prioritising children.3>

238. Despite such efforts capacity issues persist as need outstrips the capacity

239.

of educational psychologists, speech and language therapists and other
allied health professionals in the public sector.®**

CONCLUSION
Shortages of educational psychologists and allied health professionals,
including speech and language therapists, occupational therapists,
and physiotherapists are significantly undermining the availability and
quality of SEND support. These workforce gaps delay assessments,
restrict access to essential interventions, and place additional pressure
on schools and multi-academy trusts to fill specialist roles they are

not equipped to provide. In addition, the shortages have resulted in far
too many highly skilled professionals being deployed predominantly

in undertaking assessments and writing reports rather than working
directly and therapeutically with children and young people. This has

to change, for the benefit of professionals who are becoming harder

to retain, and in order to deliver a genuinely inclusive system in which
access to support is available for every child who needs it.

353

354

King’s Fund, Briefing, Ten actions the government can take to improve children’s health,

April 2025
Association of Educational Psychologists, Interested in a career in Educational
Psychology?

Page 236
108


https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/briefings/ten-actions-government-improve-childrens-health
https://www.aep.org.uk/interested-career-educational-psychology
https://www.aep.org.uk/interested-career-educational-psychology

240.

RECOMMENDATION

The DfE and DHSC should urgently develop a joint SEND workforce plan
to address shortages and build capacity across education, health, and
care services. This should include explicit measures to deliver a shift

in the deployment of educational psychologists, speech and language
therapists and other allied health professionals away from undertaking
assessments and writing reports and towards greater deployment in
education settings, delivering therapeutic support for children and
upskilling early years practitioners, teachers and support staff. This will
enable professionals to concentrate on delivering frontline support. Such
an approach would help retain skilled practitioners within the system
and encourage those who have left the profession, often due to excessive
paperwork and limited direct engagement to return.

Pa}gg 237



241.

242,

243.

8 Getting to a sustainable
model of funding

The current SEND funding model is unsustainable. Parents told us
consistently that insufficient funding is eroding the resources and support
available to children and young people with SEND.** This chapter outlines
how the Department for Education, working with HM Treasury and the
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, can bring stability
to the system and lay the foundations for long-term sustainability. It begins
by examining education funding, including the high needs block and the
national funding formula, then considers local authority finances and
measures to ease financial pressures.

Education funding

Education funding to support pupils with SEND in England is drawn from the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) the funding allocated to local authorities to
fund schools in two main blocks:

the schools block, which is allocated to individual mainstream
schools, and

the high needs block which is managed by local authorities and
supports provision for children and young people with more complex
needs, for example those with Education, Health and Care plans.

The overall size of the schools block funding received by local authorities is
determined by the Department for Education (DfE) and the Education and
Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in relation to the National Funding Formula
(NFF). We discuss both types of funding in more detail below.

Throughout the inquiry, we consistently heard that current levels of funding
for SEND are inadequate. The National Association of Head Teachers
(NAHT)’s funding survey of members in 2024 found that funding for SEND
support is falling short of need. For example:

99 per cent of responding members reported that funding for pupils
requiring SEN support (with no EHC plan) is insufficient.

355

Thematic summary of evidence submitted by parents and carers (SEN0894)

P 2
age11038


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148142/default/

99 per cent of responding members reported that the funding
they receive to fully meet the needs of all pupils with EHC plans
is insufficient.>*®

244. We heard from parents that current levels of funding were incompatible with

245.

246.

the Government’s desire for inclusive mainstream education. One parent told
us that the Department for Education’s “fixation on inclusivity [ ... ] is not
accompanied by the necessary level of investment to make it a reality”.**’
The Department for Education acknowledged that fiscal restraints were
limiting the funding provided for SEND, however suggested that this could be
overcome through the strategic allocation of funds, saying:

More money is not the always the answer (or an option), and the
government’s current fiscal challenges have been set out at the
Budget. What matters is how the money is spent, and what behaviours
we are incentivising within the system from funding allocations.*®

Schools block funding

The Schools Block is the largest component of the Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG), amounting to approximately £48.7 billion in 2025-26.%*° This funding is
primarily allocated to support mainstream schools. By design, the amount
of Schools Block funding each local authority receives per pupil varies.
These differences reflect factors such as local demographics, levels of
deprivation, historical funding patterns, and the application of the National
Funding Formula which “aims to ensure a fair and needs based allocation

of funds™.3¢°

Local authorities are required to identify a notional budget within the
schools block for their mainstream schools to help them comply with their
duty to use their ‘best endeavours’ to meet the special educational needs
(SEN) of pupils.*®' Each mainstream school’s funding allocation includes
funding for the first £6,000 of support costs for each child with SEND;
however, the Department for Education expects that most needs will be met
for less than this amount.***> We heard consensus across the evidence that
the notional £6,000 is insufficient, largely due to the fact that the £6,000

356
357
358
359
360

361

362

National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) (SEN0444)

Mrs Judy Cooper (SENO0992)

Department for Education (SEN0887)

House of Commons Library, Dedicated Schools Grant, Debate Pack CDP-0090, 2 May 2025
Department for Education, The national funding formulae for schools and high needs
2024-25 (accessed July 2025)

DfE and EFSA, The notional SEN budget for mainstream schools: operational guidance
2025 to 2026, November 2024

Mainstream academies are also expected to fund the first £6,000 of support costs for

pupils with SEND.
Page 239
m



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133722/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cdp-2025-0090/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651d2587bef21800156ded01/National_funding_formula_for__schools_and_high_needs_2024_to_2025.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651d2587bef21800156ded01/National_funding_formula_for__schools_and_high_needs_2024_to_2025.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2025-to-2026/the-notional-sen-budget-for-mainstream-schools-operational-guidance-2025-to-2026
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2025-to-2026/the-notional-sen-budget-for-mainstream-schools-operational-guidance-2025-to-2026

247.

248.

figure has not been increased since it was first recommended in 2009 and
introduced in 2014.%%* Another, contributing factor to the inadequacy of this
funding is the increased cost of support services over the past decade. We
were told by Daniel Constable-Phelps, Executive Headteacher at St Mary’s
Primary and Nursery School in Southampton:

| do not believe that the £6,000 is enough. Part of the reason is the
astronomical cost of services has gone up and that has not been in
line with the £6,000 changing at all in the school’s budgets.***

We also heard that often this notional £6,000 is diverted away from SEND
support and provision, “not given to the SENCO or spent on SEND [but] spent
in another area of the school, where it is just as equally needed”.?®* This
practice reflects the broader issue of underfunding across the education
system. Written evidence told us that this diversion of funds results in

the quality of SEND provision in mainstream schools being “weak [and]
inconsistent”.*®® Some witnesses strongly advocated for the ringfencing of
this funding, Katie Ghose, CEO of Kids told us “it [the notional £6,000] should
be ringfenced; money for children with SEND should go to children with
SEND”.**” In addition to ringfencing we heard that an inflationary increase
for this funding is required if mainstream education is going to improve and
an inclusive system be established.**® Similarly, the NAHT advocated for

the “increase and protect[ion of] new funding for children with SEND” with
the hope that this will enable schools and education settings to build the
necessary capacity to deliver inclusive mainstream education.3°

The extensive evidence we received clearly demonstrates that current
levels of funding for SEND are wholly inadequate. Simply reallocating
existing resources will not address the scale of the challenge. Delivering
truly inclusive education in mainstream settings requires sustained and
meaningful investment to cover costs such as teaching assistant and
specialist staff salaries, assistive technology, and other tailored support.
Without this, schools will continue to struggle to meet the needs of all
learners, not because of a lack of will but a lack of resource.

363
364
365
366

367
368
369

9000 Lives SEND Consultancy (SEN0027), Q28

Q228

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246), Q28

Dr Neil Alexander-Passe (Former SENDCO, Now Exam Access Assessor. Researcher and
author at City and Islington College) (SENO0G9)

Q14

9000 Lives SEND Consultancy (SEN0027)

National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) (SEN0O444)

Page 240
g 12



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133325/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133600/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133325/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/

249. CONCLUSION
It is clear that the current levels of funding provided to schools and
multi-academy trusts are inadequate to support the effective inclusion of
pupils with SEND. The notional £6,000 threshold is insufficient to deliver
good SEN support, placing unsustainable pressure on school budgets.
The Department cannot reasonably expect inclusive education to be
realised without a significant increase in investment. Adequate and
sustained resourcing is essential to ensure that mainstream schools,
multi-academy trusts and teaching staff are properly equipped to be
inclusive. However, the Government does not appear to have a realistic
understanding of the scale of investment required to deliver a genuinely
inclusive education system. Without acknowledging and addressing the
true level of resource needed, efforts to improve outcomes for pupils with
SEND risk falling short.

250. RECOMMENDATION
The current £6,000 notional threshold is outdated and inadequate. It
must be automatically uprated each year in line with inflation to prevent
further erosion of support for pupils with SEND. This is a necessary
correction to address years of chronic underfunding. This funding should
also be ringfenced to ensure it is used exclusively for supporting pupils
with SEND and to improve the transparency and accountability of the
resources schools and multi-academy trusts are committing to deliver
inclusivity. However, these measures alone will not be enough to create
the change desperately needed in this failing system. The Department
must set a clear trajectory towards a more sustainable and equitable
funding model that is informed by, and able to deliver, the Department’s
definition of inclusive mainstream education.

High needs block

251. The high needs block allocation to local authorities is set according to the
National Funding Formula (NFF). The high needs block:

provides £10,000 basic per-pupil place funding in state-funded special
and alternative settings and non-maintained special schools;

top-up funding for pupils with needs that cannot be met from settings’
basic budgets (including High needs top-up funding allocated for
SEND support costs that are in excess of £6,000 per pupil from the
high needs block);

meets the cost of placements in independent specialist settings; and

provides specialist SEND services.

Page 241
113



252. The Government will provide nearly £11.9 billion for high needs funding in

2025-26, a nine per cent cash increase compared to 2024-25. According to
the Department for Education the 2025-26 high needs allocations ensure
that every local authority will receive a minimum increase of seven per cent
per head of their 2-18-year-old population, most authorities seeing higher
increases-up to 10 per cent per head. Between 2015-16 and 2024-25 high
needs funding has increased significantly, rising by 59 per cent (or £4 billion)
in real terms.*° This increase makes up about half of the total rise in school
funding during the same period. However, factors such as the increased
funding demand, complexity of pupil need, inflation and more recently the
impact of falling pupil numbers mean the funding available per student
with an EHC plan has dropped by around a third in real terms.*”" Despite
the increased high needs funding, we heard that there had been “no real
improvement in outcomes”.*”” To address this, Alison Ismail, Director for
SEND and Alternative Provision at the Department for Education told us it
would look carefully at making resource available at an earlier stage.®”
Across the inquiry we have heard a consistent message: early intervention
can avoid the escalation of SEND need and complexity. In line with this
Kids, a charity supporting children and young people who are disabled,
advocates for a portion of the High Needs Block to be dedicated towards
funding early education for children with SEND because currently only 6 per
cent of local authorities offer sufficient childcare for children with SEND.*™
This was echoed by Amanda Allard of the Council for Disabled Children who
told us “the money could not be spent more badly... than it currently is ...
there is no money for early intervention and we are pushing children into
requiring more specialist support.””

253. CONCLUSION
We have seen and heard evidence that delivering inclusive practice in
education improves long term outcomes for children and young people
with SEND which has wider benefits to the economy as well as costing
less to deliver than expensive specialist placements.
370 DfE, High needs funding: 2024 to 2025 operational guide, December 2024
371 IFS, Spending on special educational needs in England: something has to change;
F40 (SEN0327)
372 Q257
373 Q257
374  Kids, Press Notice, “Only 6 per cent of local authorities offer sufficient childcare for
children with SEND” (accessed June 2025)
375 Q14

Page 242
d 14


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2024-to-2025/high-needs-funding-2024-to-2025-operational-guide
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://www.kids.org.uk/news/only-6-of-local-authorities-offer-enough-send-childcare/
https://www.kids.org.uk/news/only-6-of-local-authorities-offer-enough-send-childcare/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

254.

255.

256.

RECOMMENDATION
The Government should undertake a rigorous cost-benefit analysis to
understand the short- and long-term economic benefits of investing in a
fully inclusive education system.

CONCLUSION
Funding must be strategically deployed to deliver the best outcomes

for children and young people with SEND. This should include prioritised
investment in early intervention. Timely and targeted support is essential
and can prevent some needs such as speech and language and SEMH
needs from escalating, reducing long-term costs to the system, and
improving educational and life outcomes. Prioritising early support in
such areas not only represents better value for money but also aligns
with a preventative, rather than reactive, approach to SEND provision.
Ensuring that schools, multi-academy trusts and services are resourced
to identify and meet speech and language and SEMH needs at the
earliest stage should be a central principle of any funding reform.
However, the Department must recognise that while early intervention
plays a crucial role in supporting children with disabilities, it is not a
solution for all needs. Some children will require consistent, long-term
support throughout their lives. Where this is the case, it is essential that
adequate and sustained funding and resources are in place to ensure
these children receive the ongoing support they need to thrive.

RECOMMENDATION
The High Needs Block should be refocused to enable and incentivise
earlier intervention. Currently, a significant proportion of this funding

is directed towards supporting high-cost, specialist provision once
needs have escalated. While such provision is vital for some, a more
preventative approach is needed to reduce long-term need and improve
outcomes. Redirecting a greater share of High Needs funding towards
early identification and support within mainstream settings and through
multi-agency services will help address emerging needs and ensure that
good support is put in place at the outset.

National funding formula (NFF)

257. Despite increased funding many local authorities, trade unions and think

tanks are in favour of reviewing the NFF to take better account of inflation,
deprivation and the increasing volume and complexity of additional
needs.*” In addition to these issues another concern we heard about is the

376

Surrey County Council (SEN0389), F40 (SEN0327)

Pal%e 243


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/

258.

259.

unequal nature of per pupil allocations of high needs funding across local
authorities in England by the NFF. Rob Williams, Senior Policy Advisor at
NAHT told us that the formula:

perpetuates the historical inconsistencies that are already in the
system [ ... ] from our members’ perspective that does not make

any sense at all and from the parents’ perspective it doesn’t either.
Particularly if they move between schools in two different areas their
expectation of what their child might get may look very different if they
move to a different school. That is difficult to explain in a system that is
supposed to be a national SEN system.*”

Though we recognise and understand the need for regional differences
within the formula to account for differences in local costs and deprivation,
current disparities are too large. To reduce disparities and make the
allocation of funding fairer F40 suggest that the NFF determining schools
block and high needs funding should be based on current need profiles
and the lowest funded areas given an uplift.*”® Though the then Minister
McKinnell acknowledged the challenges around the inequity of the NFF,
she emphasised that any change must be done “very carefully and needs a
significant amount of work and input”.*”® Alison Ismail, Director of SEND at
the Department for Education and Alternative Provision told us:

we are alive to some of the disparities in the system, but | would agree
with the Minister that it is how we approach it in the round to try to
address some of those without creating instability.*®°

CONCLUSION
The National Funding Formula must ensure that funding for SEND is both
fair and sufficient to meet the needs of children and young people across
the country. While some geographical variation is to be expected, this
should reflect the prevalence and relative level of need in each area.
The formula must guarantee that all local areas are equipped with the
necessary resources to deliver consistent, high-quality SEND provision
and support equitable outcomes for all learners.

377
378
379
380

Q37
F40 (SEN0327)
Q258
Q258

Page 244
16


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

260.

261.

262.

RECOMMENDATION
A comprehensive review of the National Funding Formula is urgently
needed to ensure funding is allocated fairly and reflects the real level
of need across the country. The current formula fails to address historic
underfunding, ignores rising inflation, does not account for regional
differences in cost and need and ignores hidden pockets of deprivation.
These gaps are driving deep and persistent inequalities in SEND
provision. Any credible funding system must correct these failures and
provide a stable, needs-based foundation for support.

Local authority finances

Many reports have highlighted the immense financial pressure local
authorities are under due to growing SEND need and related expenditure.®®
Failure to keep up with the growth of need and in turn expenditure has
resulted in education budget deficits at the local authority level. In 2022-
23, 101 local authorities overspent their high-needs budget which has
contributed to growing cumulative deficits within their dedicated schools
grant.®? Currently the Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimates that

this deficit totalled at least £3.3 billion by the end of 2024. The National
Association of Head Teachers identifies high-needs deficits across local
authorities as a “challenge in developing greater inclusivity”.?®* They view
such deficits as a symptom of the “burden of high-needs underinvestment by
the previous government and subsequent overspend in local authorities™.?#*
To overcome this challenge they suggested that the Government should
write off all local authority high-needs deficits so new funding set aside for
pupils with SEND is not consumed by this debt.

Measures to alleviate financial pressures

The Government has used a variety of interventions to alleviate and manage
the financial pressures being faced by local authorities due to SEND
associated costs.

381

382

383
384

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

NAO, Support for children and young people with special educational needs, HC 299,
October 2024

National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) (SEN0O444)

National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) (SEN0444)

Pa%e 245



https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/

263.

264.

Statutory override

In 2020 the then-Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
introduced the ‘statutory override’ which allows local authorities to exclude
any deficits on their Dedicated Schools Grant spending from their main
revenue budgets. This was subsequently extended to run until the end of
March 2026. In June 2025 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government announced a further two-year extension until 2027-28.3%° The
evidence we have received from, local councils highlight the significance of
these deficits and how they undermine local authorities’ ability to support
children and young people with SEND. F40 suggested that these deficits
should be written off by central government, saying:

the crisis in SEND cannot be resolved whilst local authorities have
these deficits hanging over them. The system needs reform and

more funding, and local authorities need the deficits paying off by
Government so they can begin to support children with a clean slate.**

In their report, Support for children and young people with special
educational needs, published in October 2024, the NAO recommended the
Department for Education work with the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government and HM Treasury as a “matter of urgency” to develop
and share plans for the financial sustainability of each local authority once
the statutory override ends in 2025-26.%7 The Public Accounts Committee
report into Support for children and young people with special educational
needs made a similar recommendation, however, also highlighting the
complications of any potential solution given local authorities’ differing
financial situations saying there is a “real risk of unfairness” due to varying
financial circumstances of local authorities given some have accrued SEND
related deficits and others have used their own non-education funding

to avoid large deficits.*® To account for this the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government has launched a consultation on these
plans to ensure the local government finance settlement is fair.**® However,
it has been made clear to us that the extension of the statutory override is
not a long-term solution to local government deficits. Wider system change
is needed to achieve financial sustainability. Phil Haslett, deputy chair of f40
told us:

385

386
387

388

389

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Fairer funding for councils
across the country in major reform, June 2025

F40 (SEN0327)

NAO, Support for children and young people with special educational needs, HC 299,
October 2024

Public Accounts Committee, First Report of Session 2024-25, Support for children and
young people with special educational needs, HC 353

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Press Notice, “Fairer funding
for councils across the country in major reform”, June 2025

Page 246
g 118



https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/fairer-funding-for-councils-across-the-country-in-major-reform

The extension of the statutory override is just kicking this issue down
the road. If we extend it again, we are just going to have larger and
larger deficits to deal with. At some point we must make significant
changes ... to make the system financially sustainable so that you
can then have a sensible conversation about what happens to

the accumulated deficits, which is what the statutory override is
covering.>*°

265. Similarly, Cllr Pete Marland, chair of the Local Government Association’s
economy and resources board, said that though greater financial certainty
and a simpler funding system were important:

Council finances remain under pressure and all councils need
adequate resources to meet growing cost and demand pressures.*”

266. The then Minister McKinnell told us that one billion pounds had been added
to the high needs budget to support the creation of 44,500 new paces in
mainstream school by 2028 and £740 million capital funding provided to
adapt existing mainstream state schools buildings and expand specialist
units within mainstream schools was evidence that the Department was
already delivering on funding and resourcing to deliver inclusive mainstream
education.*? However, the IFS found that even with the extra one billion
pounds announced in the 2024 Autumn Budget, local authority deficits
could exceed eight billion pounds by 2027 if funding does not increase in
line with inflation. Further, because EHC plans come with legal obligations,
funding must keep up if these obligations are to be fulfilled.*** Further,
when we pressed the Minister on whether she envisaged more money from
the Treasury to support this on a longer-term basis, the Minister could not
provide confirmation, promising this would be addressed in the upcoming
White Paper on SEND due in autumn 2025.3%4

390 Q60

391 Local Government Chronicle, “BREAKING: Send deficit override extended”, June 2025

392 Q233

393 IFS, Spending on special educational needs in England: something has to change,
December 2024

394 Q233

Pe%%e 247


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://www.lgcplus.com/finance/breaking-send-deficit-override-extended-20-06-2025/?utm_id=7829&delivery_name=8794&utm_campaign=CONE_LGC_EDITORIAL_REGS_DAILY_200625&utm_content=Send%20override%20extended&utm_term=BREAKING%3A%20Send%20deficit%20override%20extended&utm_medium=email&utm_source=Adestra&eea=Nm1PNlJLQ0dVejgzT3dSdG1BdEs5aERsQTh5dGZGRnh6WnUyM00yQUhaTT0%3D
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

267.

268.

CONCLUSION
The extension of the statutory override until 2027/28 is a welcome step,
but it remains a temporary measure in response to the ongoing financial
instability facing local authorities across England. Reducing deficits is
essential to achieving long-term financial sustainability however, this
cannot be done at the expense of local authorities fulfilling their legal
obligations to children and young people with SEND. Any permanent
solution must involve coordinated, cross-departmental action between
the Department for Education, HM Treasury, the Department for Work
and Pensions and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government to address the systemic funding challenges within local
government.

RECOMMENDATION
We believe that a reset of local authority finances through a partial
write-off of SEND-related deficits could provide a necessary step
towards long-term stability. However, this must be approached

with care, recognising the progress made by some local authorities
through the Delivering Better Value in SEND programme and Safety
Valve agreements, and the contributions already made by some local
authorities from their General Fund towards SEND over and above
contributions from their High Needs education block. It is essential

that the Department for Education engages meaningfully with local
government representatives to develop a fair and transparent approach
that supports improvement while ensuring accountability. The
Department must provide further detail on this in the upcoming SEND
white paper due in Autumn 2025.

Page 248
120



9 Building stronger
partnerships

269. Healthcare is an “essential enabler” for children and young people with
SEND to be in, and stay in, education.*** Recognising this, a “core aim” of
the 2014 SEND reforms was to establish a more joined up, whole system
approach across education, health and care on SEND.3%¢ This chapter
explores the legislation and guidance governing multi-agency working in
SEND. It examines how differing priorities and incentives across partner
organisations are hindering effective collaboration, and considers the
changes needed to bring these into alignment. We go on to explore how
clearer roles, stronger accountability, and joint commissioning could
enhance the impact of multi-agency working. Finally, we review the
collaborative work currently taking place at departmental level and discuss
how this can be sustained and strengthened.

Box 7: SEND legislation and statutory guidance on multi-agency working

Children and Families Act 2014

Section 25 of the Children and Families Act 2014 focuses on the
promotion of integration, mandating that local authorities ensure
integration between educational, health, and social care services when
it benefits children and young people with SEND. It says:

(1) A local authority in England must exercise its functions under this
Part with a view to ensuring the integration of educational provision
and training provision with health care provision and social care
provision, where it thinks that this would:

(a) promote the well-being of children or young people in its area
who have special educational needs or a disability, or

(b) improve the quality of special educational provision

(i) made in its area for children or young people who have special
educational needs, or

395 Q10
396 County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Pe%%e 249



https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england

(ii) made outside its area for children or young people for whom it is
responsible who have special educational needs.*’

Section 26 of the Act focuses on the promotion of whole system
approach through joint commissioning arrangements. Through this
section local authorities and partner commissioning bodies (including
health partners) are required to make joint arrangements for delivering
education, health, and care provisions for children and young people
with SEND:

(1) A local authority in England and its partner commissioning bodies
must make arrangements (“joint commissioning arrangements™)
about the education, health and care provision to be secured for:

(a) children and young people for whom the authority is responsible
who have special educational needs, and

(b) children and young people in the authority’s area who have a
disability.**®

Section 42 of the Act also seeks to promote joint working between
healthcare and education services to secure special education provision
and health care provision, placing a legal duty on health bodies to
arrange the health care provision specified in an Education, Health and
Care (EHC) plan:

(3) If a plan specifies health care provision, the responsible
commissioning body must arrange the specified health care provision
for the child or young person.?¥°

The SEND code of practice: O to 25 years

The SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years was published by the
Department for Education and the Department of Health in 2015 to
support the implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014.

It provides statutory guidance, including explaining the practical
responsibilities of health partners. Chapter 3 of the code of practice,
titled Working together across education, health and care for joint
outcomes, highlights:

The duty to integrate educational and training provision and health
and social care provision where this would promote wellbeing and
improve the quality of provision for disabled young people and
those with SEND;

397 Children and Families Act 2014, Section 25
398 Children and Families Act 2014, Section 26
399 Children and Families Act 2014, Section 42

Page 250
122


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/25
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/26
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/42

That joint commissioning must be based on a clear understanding
of local needs and should make best use of the resources available
in an area to improve outcomes for children and young people with
SEND.

That partners must agree on how they will collaborate to provide
personalised, integrated support across education, health, and
social care. This support should focus on positive outcomes and
smooth transitions from early childhood to adult life, including key
stages like moving between education settings or transitioning to
adult services.

That the scope of commissioning arrangements includes children
and young people aged 0 to 25 with special educational needs
(SEN) or disabilities, whether they have an EHC plan or not.

The scope of services includes a wide range of provision including
clinical treatments, medication delivery, speech and language
therapy, assistive technology, personal care, CAMHS, occupational
therapy, physiotherapy, nursing supports, specialist equipment or
wheelchairs. Additionally, they may cover highly specialist services
required by a small number of children, such as those with severe
learning disabilities or services commissioned centrally by NHS
England such as alternative communication systems.

The role of Designated Medical Officer should support partners to
meet their statutory obligations towards children and young people
with SEND.

The importance of information sharing between education, health
and care services in order determine the provision needed by the
child or young person.

The ‘tell us once’ approach to sharing information during the
assessment and planning process as good practice so that families
and young people do not have to repeat the same information to
different agencies, or different practitioners and services within
each agency.

The need to consider the range of professionals across health and
care who need to be involved in the assessment process and as
well as their availability and flexibility to be a part of the EHC plan
implementation and continuous improvement.*°°

400 DfE and DHSC, The SEND code of practice: O to 25 years, January 2015

Pe}%e 251



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7dcb85ed915d2ac884d995/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf

SEND and alternative provision improvement plan

The SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right
place, right time, was published by the Department for Education in March
2023. This outlined some interventions to enhance collaboration with
health services to improve outcomes for children and young people with
SEND including:

Improving ICB accountability by requiring each ICB to have a named
Executive Board member responsible for SEND.

Developing national standards that recognise the roles of health
and social care professionals within SEND provision and promoting
interdependent working within the existing statutory framework.

Updating the Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) Area SEND
inspections to focus on the outcomes and experiences of children
and young people with SEND, reinforcing the importance of health
services in education settings.

Developing standards for multi-agency and advisory panels to
facilitate better cooperation between the education, health, and
social care sectors.*”

270. Despite legislation and guidance setting out the roles and responsibilities

271.

of schools, health commissioners and local authorities in the delivery of the
SEND system, we found that “misaligned priorities and incentives” undermine
collaboration and the adoption of a whole system approach.** Research

by the County Councils Network and Local Government Association found
that leaders across health, education, and local government agree the 2014
SEND reforms have not delivered a more integrated system across education,
health, and care.**® Jo Harrison, Director and Co-Chair at the National
Network of Parent Carer Forums told us that:

We need to strengthen the system... because we don’t have the multi-
agency working that we should have, based on current legislation.**

The written evidence also raised concerns about the limited effectiveness
of multi-agency and joined up working across education, health and social
care. A carer of three children with SEND echoed the frustrations of many

401

402

403

404

DfE, SEND and alternative provision improvement plan: right support, right place, right
time, March 2023

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Q30

Page 252
124


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-alternative-provision-improvement-plan
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

272.

parents and carers when they described the educational, health and social
care systems as “completely separate” and highlighted that professionals
in these sectors “don’t talk to one another”.*®® This lack of communication
was highlighted as undermining information sharing, the EHC plan
assessment process and the overall provision of support to children and
young people with SEND. We heard that another preventable consequence
of limited multi-agency working was “children routinely fall through cracks
and conditions worsen resulting in greater need”.*°® We heard that this is
particularly the case with the SEND system and CAMHS. Jo Hutchinson,
Director for SEND and Additional Needs at EPI told us her research found a
“surprisingly low overlap between the two” systems despite their relevance
to each other. Jo told us that there is more work to be done to build a
shared understanding of what and how each service contributes to the
assessment of needs as well as treatment and intervention.*®” Tameside
Local Authority emphasised the need for professionals across health and
education to “provide timely, high-quality contributions to the process,
ensuring that families are not burdened with chasing missing input”.*°® The
Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill proposal to introduce a single unique
identifier, applied consistently across education, health, and social care
services, represents a positive step towards strengthening information
sharing and more joined-up support for children and families. When asked
about this, then Minister McKinnell told us about the potential for the
single unique identifier in the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill to be an
“important tool” for sharing information between different partners such
as healthcare, the local authority and schools.**

Different priorities and incentives across
education and health

We have heard repeated concerns that SEND was not enough of a priority
for health services and the Department of Health and Social Care. NHS
England has 32 priorities for 2024/25, however, only two of these pertain
to people with learning disabilities, with one focused on those under

18 years old.*° This is in direct contrast to the Department for Education

405
406
407
408
409
410

Anonymous (SENO090)

Anonymous (SEN01071)

Q208

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Q285

NHS England, 2024/25 priorities and operational planning guidance (accessed July 2025).
The objectives are to reduce reliance on mental health inpatient care for people with a
learning disability and autistic people, to the target of no more than 30 adults or 12-15

Pe}gjse 253



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133714/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133892/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/2024-25-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance/

273.

274.

which has identified SEND as a departmental priority.*” The NAO described
these different priorities and incentives as “obstacles to building a cohesive
system”.*? In January 2025 the Public Accounts Committee report on Support
for children and young people with special educational needs, recommended
that the Department for Health and Social Care set out how Integrated

Care Boards (ICBs) would consider SEND alongside wider priorities within

six months.*® The Government agreed with this recommendation and has
committed to implementing it by December 2025.4**

We heard repeated calls for the Department of Health and Social Care to
better prioritise and invest in SEND. For example, the Council for Disabled
Children told us that the SEND sector is “begging for some real leadership
from DHSC on this issue”.*" Similarly, Katie Ghose, CEO at Kids, emphasised
to us the importance of building in the mechanisms and the structures so
that the working across health and education is “given, not an add-on”

at all levels. Ghose went on to tell us that Kids “would expect the Health
and Social Care Department to be seeking SEND money from the spending
review in the way that the Department for Education would be”.*® However,
in the most recent spending review the Department for Health and Social
Care did not receive any funding towards SEND. Wider cuts to funding
across health also pose a risk.

In March 2025, the Secretary of State for Health, Wes Streeting MP,
announced that NHS England would be abolished, and that, as part of this
process, ICBs would be required to reduce their running costs by 50 per
cent.*” We heard that these reductions, coupled with the 30 per cent cut
in running costs over the past three years, have hindered the involvement
of health services. It is therefore “unsurprising” that efforts to strengthen
collaboration and partnership between local government, schools, and
other partners have been limited.*® Sarah Walter, Director of Integrated
Care System Network at the NHS Confederation told us that these system
and structural changes will inevitably result in an “additional degree of

41
412

413

414

415

416

417
418

under 18s for every 1 million population and to ensure 75% of people aged 14 and over
on GP learning disability registers receive an annual health check in the year to 31 March
2025.

Department for Education (SEN0887)

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024

Public Accounts Committee, First Report of Session 2024-25, Support for children and
young people with special educational needs, HC 353

HM Treasury, Treasury minutes: Government response to the Committee of Public
Accounts on the First report from Session 2024-25, CP 1306, April 2025

Q19

Q19

NHS Confederation, Abolishing NHS England: what you need to know, March 2025
Q129

Page 254
126


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5901/cmselect/cmpubacc/353/report.html
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67ed0859632d0f88e8248b9b/Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67ed0859632d0f88e8248b9b/Treasury_Minutes_Accessible.pdf
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/abolishing-nhs-england-what-you-need-know
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

instability” across the system, weakening capacity.””® However, Sarah also
told us that these changes could also provide an “opportunity” in the longer
term with ICBs having to focus on “strategic commissioning” and assessing
population needs.**

275. CONCLUSION
The current failure to embed Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) as a shared priority across government departments is not just a
policy oversight, it is a profound injustice to some of the most vulnerable
children in our society. It is evident that SEND is not sufficiently seen as
a priority by the health system. The education system is increasingly
shouldering the weight of responsibilities for supporting children and
young people with SEND that should, in part, be met by health services.
This chronic imbalance places unsustainable pressure on schools, multi-
academy trusts and local authorities and undermines the principle of
joint responsibility set out in the SEND Code of Practice. The erosion of
funding to Integrated Care Boards (ICBs), alongside ongoing structural
upheaval within the health sector, risks further weakening the capacity
of health services to meet their statutory duties. If we are serious
about improving outcomes for children with SEND, then coordinated
investment, shared accountability, and genuine cross-departmental
collaboration must become non-negotiable. Without it, the burden will
continue to fall disproportionately on schools and local authorities,
compromising outcomes for children and placing additional strain on an
already stretched education system.

276. RECOMMENDATION
SEND should be identified as a priority across the health system and
ongoing NHS restructuring must be used as an opportunity to strengthen
the role and accountability of health services in supporting children
and young people with SEND. This includes ensuring that ICBs are fully
engaged in local SEND systems, with clearly defined responsibilities
and mechanisms for joint planning and delivery. The seniority, authority
and visibility of senior responsible officers for SEND within ICBs must be
increased.

277. RECOMMENDATION
Bringing education and health more closely together should be
supported by an evidence-led approach, drawing on the role of NICE
(National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) to produce new SEND
guidelines and intervention pathways.

419 Q129
420 Q129

Pe%%e 255


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

278.

279.

RECOMMENDATION
Crucially, this must be backed by appropriate financial investment
from the health sector to meet statutory duties, provide timely access
to therapies and assessments, and contribute equitably to joint
commissioning arrangements. All areas should have a robust and fully
operational partnership arrangement in place by autumn 2026. This
should be underpinned by clear governance and shared accountability.

Responsibilities, accountability and joint
commissioning

Research commissioned by the County Councils Network and Local
Government Association found that responsibilities for SEND provision

are not equitable, concluding that “despite the fact that SEND is a multi-
agency responsibility, there are few opportunities for joint strategic
oversight, there is a lack of really robust mechanisms for holding ICBs and
social care to account for their contributions”.** For example, the Council
for Disabled Children told us that often the first time an ICB comes to the
table to work with local authorities on SEND is after a negative local area
SEND inspection.** We also heard from Let Us Learn Too about the need
for “meaningful involvement from health and care providers”, including
committing to provision.** To improve the effectiveness of multi-agency
working Contact proposed strengthening the Children and Families Act 2014
to place joint legal duties on health, social care and education authorities
instead of education authorities alone as is the current situation. According
to Contact this change would “ensure that disabled children receive a
complete package to meet their needs”.*** Imogen Steele, Policy and Public
Affairs Officer at Contact, told us:

For EHC plans in section F, which is where the special education
provision is outlined, the legal duty to provide that provision is

solely on the local authorities [ ... ] if there was a joint legal duty, it
would mean that there was more accountability on health, social
care, equality and education [ ... ] it would currently be a duty on the
local authorities to secure a speech and language therapist, whereas
if it were made joint, health would have to make sure that they
provided it.**

421

422
423
424
425

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

Q16

Let Us learn Too (SEN0O130)

Contact, Contact’s 3 Asks to improve England’s SEN system (accessed March 2025)

Q15

Page 256
128


https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134440/html/
https://contact.org.uk/help-for-families/campaigns-and-research/contacts-3-asks-to-improve-englands-sen-system/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

280. The NAO found that without these legal duties, and with local authorities

281.

having weak leverage over health services, the responsibilities and costs for
healthcare are being shifted onto schools, colleges and local authorities.**
We heard about the various complications and complexities this is causing
in meeting the needs of pupils with complex medical needs. Katie Ghose,
CEO of Kids, told us of the reluctance of some schools to provide complex
medical support because of “rigidity... worry [and] fear”.*” We were told

by the Council for Disabled Children that a consequence of this is some
children being out of school for extended periods of time. To overcome this,
the Council for Disabled Children recommended an “integrated model where
schools are properly supported”, either through the deployment of medical
staff or upskilling of school staff to meet complex medical needs in the
school setting.*®

However, several education unions (GMB, Unite, Unison and NAHT) have
written to us raising concern about the lack of reference to delegation in the
DfE’s ‘Supporting Pupils’ guidance and the DoH/DfE SEND code of practice,
despite some children with SEND requiring healthcare provision to enable
access to education or training. The unions highlight the lack of statutory,
regulatory and governance schemes linking the health and education
sectors.*” For example, there are no general legal provisions in place at an
organisational level which permit NHS Act 2006 healthcare services to be
delegated from the NHS to schools. Without this, delegation at an individual
level from a registered professional to an unregulated member of staff is
complicated. The unions propose that an NHS-commissioned, needs-led
clinical school nursing service is put in place in conjunction with the local
authority commissioned public health nursing service, in every school.

282. Katie Ghose, CEO of Kids, told us of some great examples where education
staff have been upskilled by clinicians in the medical professions to support
children’s medical needs:

In one of our nurseries our staff were trained by the local nurses to
support a child with a tracheostomy. They said it was the first in
the county.**°

426  National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024

427 Q10

428 QI3

429 Letter from Joint Unions to Chair on Solving the SEND Crisis, dated 28.05.25

430 Q10

Pe}gge 257


https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/49145/documents/262006/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/

283.

284.

285.

286.

Katie noted this as a strong, practical example of how healthcare specialists
are deployed for their unique expertise, while also building up the skills of
the wider SEN workforce. However, evidence from the unions makes it clear
that such examples remain rare, underscoring the need for a systematic
approach to be established at a national level.

CONCLUSION

Guidance on the delegation of healthcare responsibilities within schools
and multi-academy trusts remains weak. There is insufficient clarity

on how and when healthcare tasks can be appropriately and safely
assigned to school or multi-academy trust staff, what training and
safeguards should accompany such delegation, and ultimately where
responsibility lies between education and health services. This lack of
direction creates uncertainty for schools and multi-academy trusts,
risking inconsistency and unsafe practices in the delivery of health
interventions for pupils.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department for Education and the Department of Health and Social
Care should issue joint statutory guidance clarifying how and when
healthcare responsibilities can safely be delegated in schools and multi-
academy trusts. This should be produced in collaboration with school
and multi-academy trust leaders and health and education unions

and set out clear lines of accountability between education and health
services, minimum training requirements for school staff, and safeguards
to ensure consistent and safe delivery of health interventions for pupils.

A lack of clearly defined responsibilities within the health system

can significantly weaken accountability. When roles and obligations

are ambiguous or fragmented, it becomes difficult to hold individual
professionals or organisations to account for the provision of SEND support.
This can lead to delays, inconsistent service delivery, and ultimately poorer
outcomes for children and young people with SEND, who rely on timely and
coordinated input from health services. Currently, the primary mechanism
for promoting joint accountability across education, health and care
services is the area SEND inspection framework. These inspections assess
how effectively local area partnerships work together to identify and meet
the needs of children and young people with SEND. Another mechanism
intended to support joint accountability is the SEND Tribunal, which allows
parents and carers to appeal decisions related to EHC plans. While the
Tribunal plays an important role in upholding the rights of children and
young people with SEND, its focus is primarily on individual cases rather
than systemic accountability. Further detail on our conclusions and
recommendations regarding joint accountability can be found in Chapter 4.

Page 258
130



287.

288.

The joint commissioning of SEND provision between education, health and
social care services is highlighted as an opportunity for joint working and
the sharing of responsibilities in the Children and Families Act 2014 and the
SEND code of practice: 0-25.*" lan Kessler and Annette Boaz’s scoping study
into the supply and demand of therapists for children and young people with
SEND states that joint commissioning is understood to be a “key means” of
securing therapy services because of the interest of education and health
services as well as local authorities.** Further, Kessler and Boaz highlighted
that there was “no shortage of advice and guidance on management of the
commissioning process and on service design”.**® Despite this, significant
variation in the success and use of joint commissioning persists.

The Council for Disabled Children told us they would like joint commissioning
to be a requirement rather than an expectation because since the 2014
reforms they have not seen a significant increase in joint commissioning

as “people’s level of ambition is still too low”.*** The Council for Disabled
Children also highlighted to us the importance of strategic and informed
commissioning, which requires the consistent sharing of information; and
expressed positive anticipation about plans to introduce a unique identifier
for children and young people through the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools
Bill to improve data sharing across education, health and care.** This will
be further explored in chapter 10. We also heard from Sarah Walter, Director
of Integrated Care System Network at the NHS Confederation, who said
that that through improved data and information-sharing, local authorities
can identify and assess “in-depth population needs” and then strategically
commission services for the outcomes they desire.**

431

432

433

434
435
436

DfE and DHSC, SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (accessed April 2025), Children and
Families Act 2014

Kessler, | & Boaz, A 2024, The Demand and Supply of Therapists for Children and Young
People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities: A Scoping Study, NIHR Policy
Research Unit in Health and Social Care Workforce, The Policy Institute, King’s College
London.

Kessler, | & Boaz, A 2024, The Demand and Supply of Therapists for Children and Young
People with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities: A Scoping Study. NIHR Policy
Research Unit in Health and Social Care Workforce, The Policy Institute, King’s College
London.

Q16

Q19

Q129

Pe%%e 259


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/26
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/26
https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/the-demand-and-supply-of-therapists-for-children-and-young-people
https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/the-demand-and-supply-of-therapists-for-children-and-young-people
https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/the-demand-and-supply-of-therapists-for-children-and-young-people
https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/the-demand-and-supply-of-therapists-for-children-and-young-people
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

289.

290.

291.

RECOMMENDATION

The Department of Health and Social Care must urgently appoint a
dedicated national SEND lead to drive accountability and coordination
across the health system. This role must be empowered and mandated
to provide coherent strategic leadership on the delivery of health-related
SEND duties, forge robust partnerships with education and care sectors,
and ensure that the needs of children and young people with SEND

are embedded in the heart of health policy, planning, and workforce
development from senior officials to frontline services.

RECOMMENDATION

The Government should place a clear statutory duty on health services,
including ICBs and NHS providers, to ensure their full and accountable
participation in the planning, commissioning, and delivery of SEND
provision. This duty must align with the Children and Families Act 2014
and the SEND Code of Practice, which emphasises joint commissioning
and integrated working. Strengthening statutory responsibilities for
health is key to ensuring timely access to assessments, therapies, and
interventions, and upholds the principle of a coordinated, child-centred
approach to SEND support.

Cross-departmental partnerships

The then Minister Catherine McKinnell MP told us that the Department for
Education, the Department of Health and Social Care, and the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government were “work[ing] very closely”
to ensure alignment across government on the Department for Education’s
plans for a reformed SEND system.*’ She also highlighted “strong overlaps™
with future plans of the Department of Health such as its neighbourhood
health ambitions, which will introduce neighbourhood health centres and
localise the delivery of health services in its 10-year plan.**® Sarah Walter,
Director of Integrated Care System Network at the NHS Confederation, told
us that ICBs should use the “more proactive, anticipatory” 10 year plan and
its emphasis on local partnerships, early intervention and prevention as an
opportunity to lean into “develop[ing] partnerships across the NHS teams
with local government partners, schools and voluntary sector partners” to
improve collaboration on SEND.**®

437
438

439

Q276
NHS Confederation, Ten-Year Health Plan: what you need to know, July 2025; DHSC,
10 Year Health Plan for England: fit for the future, July 2025

Q146
Page 260
132



https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/ten-year-health-plan-what-you-need-know
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15815/html/

292. The then Minister McKinnell highlighted existing cross-departmental

partnerships on SEND that are proving effective, such as the Partnerships
for Inclusion of Neurodiversity in Schools (PINS) initiative.**° This is a cross-
government initiative led by the DfE, DHSC and NHS England supporting
around 1,600 mainstream primary schools in better meeting the needs of
neurodiverse children by deploying health and education specialists to build
staff capacity. Schools receive up to five days of tailored support, shaped by
self-assessments, pupil feedback, and parent/carer input. The programme
is active in 40 of 42 ICB areas. Projects such as the Early Language Support
for Every Child (ELSEC) pathfinder which is a joint initiative by the DfE

and NHS England and the Nuffield Early Language Intervention (NELI) are
other examples of collaborative efforts to enhance SEND intervention and
provision.** These projects are further explored in chapter 5.

440 Q276

441

Department for Education (SEN0887)

Pe}%e 261


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/

10 Expanding capacity within
the SEND system

293. The current crisis in SEND provision is not just a failure of capacity. Our
evidence showed it was a failure of funding and political will. Addressing the
current crisis and building the Government’s stated objective of an inclusive
mainstream education system will require a significant expansion of
capacity. We heard heartbreaking reports from parents who felt compelled
to send their children to independent specialist or out-of-area schools to
access the support they should have received locally.*** We also heard
pleas from local authorities seeking greater autonomy to design and deliver
provision that reflects the specific needs of their local SEND populations,
needs that were too often lost in a one-size-fits all national framework.
We’ve heard persuasive arguments that strengthening local capacity,
alongside empowering authorities to respond flexibly and innovatively, will
be essential to reducing reliance on placements far from home and ensuring
that every child and young person can access high-quality inclusive
education within their community.

Box 8: Education reforms impacting school capacity since 2010

Academies Act 2010

The Academies Act 2010 transferred power from local authorities to the
Secretary of State and academy trusts. By mandating that new schools
be academies and obliging councils to support conversions, the Act left
LAs with the statutory duty to secure school places (Education Act 1996,
s.14) but without the same legislative powers to deliver them. The Act
came into force in July 2010. Its key provisions were:

Section 1: Allowed the Secretary of State to enter into Academy
arrangements with any maintained school, not just those in difficulty (as
under previous legislation).

Section 4: Enabled the Secretary of State to make an Academy order,
requiring a local authority to cease maintaining a school once it
converted.

442 Thematic summary of evidence submitted by parents and carers (SEN0894)

Page 262
134


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/148142/html/

Section 6: Imposed a duty on local authorities to “take all reasonable
steps” to facilitate the conversion of maintained schools to academies.

Schedule 1: Transferred publicly funded land used by a converting school
to the academy trust (or made it available for free schools).

The Act also amended earlier legislation (notably the School Standards
and Framework Act 1998) to create the framework for free schools, which
are legally academies established from scratch.

Impact on School Capacity

Restriction on new maintained schools: Following the Act, and later
clarified in the Education Act 2011 (s.36), new schools could normally only
be established as academies (the “academy presumption™). This limited
LAs’ ability to expand capacity through traditional community schools.

Fragmented growth: Because free schools could be proposed by groups
outside LA control (parents, trusts, charities), new capacity could be
added in areas not prioritised in LA forecasts.

Statutory responsibility remained with LAs: Under Education Act 1996
(s.14), LAs still had the legal duty to ensure sufficient school places, but
after 2010 they lacked the power to open or expand maintained schools
freely, creating tension between duties and powers.

Impact on Local Authority Powers

Loss of control over schools converting: Once a school became an
academy under the 2010 Act, the LA ceased to maintain it and had no
role in its governance or funding.

Duty to support conversion (s.6): LAs were legally obliged to facilitate,
not resist, conversions.

Reduced role in admissions and expansions: While LAs retain duties
under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (Part Ill) to
coordinate admissions, academies are their own admissions authorities,
reducing LA influence.

The Education Act 2011

The Education Act 2011 received Royal Assent in November 2011. It built
on the Academies Act 2010, further consolidating the academies/free
schools model and reducing local authority functions in education. The
Education Act 2011 deepened the Academies Act 2010 by legislating for
the academy presumption (s.36); it effectively removed local authorities’
ability to establish new maintained schools. Councils kept the statutory

Pe}gse 263




duty to provide sufficient school places (Education Act 1996, s.14) but lost
many of the legislative levers to do so. This created a structural tension:
responsibility without full powers. Its key provisions included:

Section 36: Introduced the “academy presumption”—where a local
authority identifies the need for a new school, it must first seek
proposals for an academy/free school.

Section 37: Allowed the Secretary of State to direct that a new school be
established as a local authority-maintained school only if satisfied that
no suitable academy proposals exist.

Section 43-44: Imposed a duty on converting academies and free
schools to participate in fair admissions and comply with the School
Admissions Code.

Section 45-47: Changed local authority powers over school
improvement, reducing their ability to issue warning notices (later
strengthened in 2016).

Impact on School Capacity

Academy presumption (s.36): Local authorities lost the general power to
open new community schools, including specialist schools, meaning that
almost all new capacity had to come via academies/free schools.

Demand-led but less coordinated growth: While free schools could
provide capacity quickly, they were not necessarily aligned with LA
projections of local need, potentially leading to surpluses in some areas
and shortages in others.

Reinforcement of LAs statutory duty: Under Education Act 1996, s.14, LAs
remained legally responsible for ensuring sufficient school places, but
the 2011 Act restricted their practical mechanisms to fulfil this duty.

Impact on Local Authority Powers

School organisation curtailed: Sections 36-37 meant LAs could no
longer simply establish a new maintained school, including specialist
schools, when needed; the Secretary of State had the decisive role.

Admissions influence reduced: Although LAs still coordinated
admissions under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998,
academies became their own admissions authorities. The 2011 Act
required compliance with the admissions code but placed enforcement
power mainly with the Schools Adjudicator/Secretary of State, not LAs.

Page 264
136




School improvement role weakened: LAs’ intervention powers were
scaled back; central government took more control over failing schools
via academy conversion.

294. This chapter begins by examining current school capacity and the

295.

296.

297.

challenges arising from its limitations. It then explores the shortcomings of
the existing place-planning process, before considering the critical role of
data and how improving its quality and use can help ensure that needs are
met through strengthened local capacity.

Current school capacity

In 2023 the School Capacity Survey began to ask local authorities to provide
data on the capacity of special schools and the capacity of SEN units and
resourced provision in mainstream schools. This was the first time this
data was collected, so there is no data on the period from 2014-2022.
Local authorities reported that in the 2022/23 school year there were
148,000 special school places, alongside 9,000 places in SEN Units and
18,000 places in resourced provision in mainstream schools.*** However,
the Department for Education do not know how many of these places are
unfilled and caveat this data as approximate due to it being the first year
of data collection and data still being developed. The Department for
Education told us they “expect data quality to improve over the coming
years”.***

There are 333 state funded AP schools, including 170 LA-maintained pupil
referral units and 112 AP academies and 51 free schools. There are around
26,900 pupils in state funded AP and an additional 48,130 pupils attending
other types of AP arranged by LAs. The proportion of pupils in state place-
funded AP identified with SEN has remained stable between 2021/22 and
2022/23 at around 82 per cent. However, the proportion of pupils in state
place-funded AP with an EHC plan has more than doubled between 2015/16
and 2022/23, from 10 per cent to 25.5 per cent, respectively.**

The Government’s vision for inclusive mainstream education system

will require capital investment, whether for resource bases, inclusive
infrastructure and adaptations within mainstream settings or additional
specialist settings for those with the highest needs.**® Local authorities
receive SEND capital funding which is also known as the High Needs
Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA). This funding can be used to help
manage pressures in budgets by creating new state school places for

443
444
445
446

Department for Education (SEN0887)
Department for Education (SEN0887)
Department for Education (SEN0887)
Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Pe}%e 265



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/

298.

children and young people with SEND and improving existing state school
facilities for children and young people with SEND.**” However, since 2010,
local authorities have not had the power to directly establish new specialist
schools due to the Academies Act 2010 and Education Act 2011 (more detail
on this can be found in the box at the beginning of this chapter). Instead,
new provision can only be created through the Free Schools programme,
requiring delivery by academy trusts rather than by local authorities
themselves. This shift limited councils’ ability to respond directly to local
need for specialist places, leaving them dependent on the willingness of
academy sponsors to establish and run new schools. Furthermore, local
authorities have been unable to manage pupil place-planning across

their area or influence the admissions policies of academies due to this
legislation, further limiting local authorities’ ability to deliver sufficient
SEND capacity. The Department for Education has used its capacity data
to allocate funding, providing more money to areas with less state special
school capacity. Local authorities can use SEND capital funding to:

Invest in mainstream schools, special units, special schools, early
years settings, and further education colleges;

Make changes to the curriculum;

Provide additional equipment, IT, and teaching materials;
Support small group work and classroom assistance;
Create dedicated SEND areas in schools.

The Department for Education has invested over £3bn in high needs capital
since 2018-19, with over £2.4bn of this being spent through high needs
provision capital allocations since 2022-23. According to the Department
for Education, this investment has created over 50,000 new and re-provided
places in special and mainstream schools.**® According to the NAO the
HNPCA is one of the main routes through which the Government have
sought to increase specialist school places in addition to its free schools
programme.**® In the 2024 Autumn Budget the Secretary of State announced
£740m for high needs capital in 2025-26 to support children and young
people with SEND or who require AP.**° However, with many state special
schools at or over capacity there is consensus that current provision is

447
448
449

450

DfE, High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (accessed July 2025)

Department for Education (SEN0887)

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024

Department for Education (SEN0887)

P 2
age13866



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-provision-capital-allocations
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/

299.

300.

insufficient and will struggle further to meet future need.*' According to the
DfE around 63 per cent of special schools are at or over capacity (52 per
cent are over).*?

Across the evidence, many councils highlighted that the shortage of local
state specialist provision is driving an overreliance on out-of-area and “poor
value for money” independent settings.*>* The Local Government Association
and County Councils Network report, Towards an effective and financially
sustainable approach to SEND in England, explained that:

increasing demand combined with limitations on LAs’ ability to create
new provision can mean that the independent sector is the only part of
the SEND system that can react when additional provision is needed.***

The NAO estimates that an independent special school place costs £61,500
to compared to £23,900 in an equivalent state special school.**> We heard
that in some cases, such costs can be explained by the specialised provision
they offer, particularly where provision for low-incidence needs may not

be available in local state special schools.*** However, such a significant
gap in cost raises questions about cost-effectiveness in other contexts.

A number of our witnesses highlighted that the independent specialist
sector is increasingly being “dominated” by independent schools owned

by private equity firms.**” Concerns were raised that these organisations
are capitalising on the shortage of state specialist places and the gaps in
local provision, with some reportedly charging up to £100,000 per pupil

per year and operating at profit margins as high as 25 per cent. This raises
serious questions about value for money, the sustainability of provision, and
the extent to which profit motives align with the best interests of children
and families, and it further underlines the urgent need to ensure that local
authorities have the ability to deliver new specialist places directly where
they are needed. Ensuring more effective delivery of specialist places in the
state sector can also help to reduce home to school transport costs arising
from children having to travel long distances to school.*®

451

452

453

454

455

456

457
458

Institute for Fiscal Studies, Spending on special educational needs in England: something
has to change, December 2024, F40 (SEN0327)

Department for Education (SEN0887)

F40 (SEN0327), Institute for Government, SEND spending needs reform to stop local
authorities going bust, January 2024, NAO, Support for children and young people with
special educational needs, HC 299, October 2024

County Councils Network and Local Government Association, Towards an effective and
financially sustainable approach to SEND in England, July 2024

National Audit Office, Support for children and young people with special educational
needs, HC 299, October 2024, p. 20

Q68

SEN0630, Oxfordshire County Council (SENO770)

SENO0603, New Economics Foundation (SENO710), Seashell (SENO700)

Pe}gge 267



https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/spending-special-educational-needs-england-something-has-change
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/comment/send-spending-reform-local-authorities
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/comment/send-spending-reform-local-authorities
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/towards-effective-and-financially-sustainable-approach-send-england
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137147/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137075/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137060/html/

301.

302.

303.

Resource bases

The Department for Education is placing significant emphasis on expanding
resource bases as the primary mechanism for delivering specialist places
within mainstream education. This approach reflects a commitment to
increasing access to specialist provision while promoting inclusion; however,
it also raises important considerations about consistency, quality, and the
integration of resource bases within broader school communities. Resource
bases come in the form of SEN units and resourced provisions.

SEN units are special provisions within a mainstream school where the
pupils with SEN are taught within separate classes for at least half of their
time. In January 2025, there were 449 schools in England with SEN units.
SEN units:

are designated by the local authority specifically for making SEN
provision, and sometimes accommodate pupils registered at other
schools on a part-time basis;

receive funding of £6,000 or £10,000 per place, and usually top-up
funding for any additional costs of support required by individual

pupils;

cater for a specific type or types of SEN (for example autistic spectrum
disorder); and

are usually for pupils with an EHC plan (but may also provide support
for pupils with SEN support).

Resourced provisions are places that are reserved at a mainstream
school for pupils with a specific type of SEN, taught for at least half of their
time within mainstream classes, but requiring a base and some specialist
facilities around the school. In January 2025 there were 1,217 schools with
resourced provision. Resourced provisions:

are designated by the local authority specifically for making this kind
of SEN provision;

receive funding of £6,000 or £10,000 per place, and usually top-up
funding for any additional costs of support required by individual

pupils;

cater for a specific area or areas of SEN (for example specific learning
difficulties); and

are usually for pupils with an EHC plan, but could include pupils with
SEN support.

Page 268
140



304. We received some evidence across the inquiry supporting the expansion of

resource bases.*° However, it was made clear to us that expansion alone
will not make mainstream settings inclusive. Further, that the quality of
resource bases can vary depending on staff qualifications, the extent to
which the provision is appropriately tailored to the needs of the children it
serves, and the overall inclusivity of the culture within the host school.*®°
This makes it clear that the expansion of resource bases within mainstream
settings must be accompanied by greater clarity on good practice,
improvements in training, teaching and accountability measures.*®' We
also received evidence suggesting that the proliferation of resource bases
could amplify the “othering” of children and young people with SEND,
segregating them from mainstream classrooms.**® In Ontario we saw an
effective use of a resource base-type approach. The settings we visited
allowed students to access specialist provision within mainstream schools
through a flexible, individualised, child-centred approach. Children spent
time in specialist classrooms when they required targeted support and
otherwise participated in mainstream classrooms enabling individualised
learning pathways as well as promoting inclusion and social integration.
The extent of time each child spent in a specialist or mainstream classroom
was specific to that child. This model demonstrated how specialist and
mainstream provision can be integrated to meet the diverse needs of
learners without segregating them from their peers. Our visit made it clear
to us that a clear understanding of the role of resource bases and the role
they play within an inclusive mainstream school, combined with strong
governance and oversight and access to appropriate expertise are essential
for this approach to be successful.

459
460
461

462

Surrey County Council (SEN0389)
Staffordshire County Council (SEN0417)
Staffordshire County Council (SEN0417)

Solihull Council (SEN0450)
Page 269
141



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136080/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136080/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136203/html/

305. RECOMMENDATION
If the Department for Education expands the use of resource bases
to increase specialist provision within mainstream schools and multi-
academy trusts, it must set out a detailed implementation plan. This
plan should clearly specify how resource bases should be staffed,
including required qualifications, expertise, and staff-to-pupil ratios
to ensure all children with SEND receive appropriate support. The
Department must also define mandatory standards of good practice
for resource bases, covering physical facilities and equipment and
good practice approaches to integration with the wider school or multi-
academy trust community. By establishing these standards and holding
schools and multi-academy trusts accountable for meeting them, the
Department can ensure that the expansion of resource bases delivers
high-quality, consistent, and inclusive provision, meeting the needs of
children with SEND while strengthening inclusion across mainstream
education.

Planning

306. There are various factors contributing to limited specialist capacity, for
example, the inefficiencies of the funding application process. The current
process for securing high needs capital funding is set out below:

Consultation: Local authorities are expected to consult an
“appropriate and proportionate manner” with local parents, carers,
young people, and providers when developing their local capital
strategy for HNPCA.

Application submission: Authorities submit detailed proposals
outlining the scope, objectives, and anticipated outcomes of the
projects.

Evaluation: The Department reviews submissions to ensure they align
with funding criteria and effectively address the needs of the local
SEND population.

Funding disbursement: Approved projects receive funding in
instalments, with specific timelines for each financial year.

Monitoring and reporting: Authorities must monitor the progress of
funded projects and report on outcomes to ensure compliance with
grant conditions and to demonstrate the effective use of public funds.

307. We heard from local authorities that this process is cumbersome and slow,
delaying delivery of vital places. Further, that it is “essential” that this
process changes. Tameside Local Authority told us:

Page 270
142



308.

309.

The current system for securing funding and establishing new SEND
schools is often slow and overly complex, delaying the delivery of
critical places. LEAs require more flexibility to allocate funds based
on local needs, with simplified national frameworks that enable faster
decision-making.*®®

High Needs Capital Funding agreements in England are typically allocated
on a multi-year basis, but individual project funding can be subject to
short-term funding cycles. For example, the High Needs Provision Capital
Allocations (HNPCA) programme received £2.6 billion in funding between
2021 and 2025, distributed to local authorities over multiple financial years.
However, individual project funding agreements usually last for a single
financial year, with local authorities required to allocate and spend the
funds within specified timeframes. While the overall investment strategy
spans several years, the short-term nature of annual funding cycles can
create challenges for long-term planning and project delivery. The short-
term nature of capital funding cycles is a “key issue” that undermines long-
term capital investment.*** We heard that guaranteed, multi-year capital
funding cycles over the next decade would help stabilise the system and
enable the proactive expansion of SEND provision rather than this always
being reactive. This would help allow local education authorities to phase
developments over time according to need, “address[ing] gaps in specific
types of provision” and “avoid[ing] sudden shortfalls”.*%

The Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill will give local authorities a greater
role in key decision-making areas relevant to SEND capacity where they
were previously lacking. For example, the Bill expands local authority
admission powers, giving local authorities the ability to direct both
maintained schools and academies to admit a child under statutory criteria,
with new duties to cooperate on admissions planning, including published
admission numbers. This has the potential to give local authorities a much
wider range of options when seeking to place a child without access to a
school place. Local authorities will also regain the power to propose and
establish new state schools, including specialist state schools. This is a
change from only academies, free schools and trusts being able to establish
new schools. Along with this power the Bill also gives local authorities more
responsibility for monitoring the availability of school places in their area,
identifying and addressing gaps in provision, and ensuring that new schools
meet local demand.*®®

463
464
465
466

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246), Q58

Bevan Brittan, Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill - key education issues for local
authorities, January 2025

Pe}%e 271


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://www.bevanbrittan.com/insights/articles/2025/children-s-wellbeing-and-schools-bill-key-education-issues-for-local-authorities/
https://www.bevanbrittan.com/insights/articles/2025/children-s-wellbeing-and-schools-bill-key-education-issues-for-local-authorities/

310.

3mM.

312.

CONCLUSION
The allocation of £740 million in high needs capital funding for 2025-26
is a welcome investment and reflects a growing recognition of the urgent
need to expand and improve SEND provision. However, this funding
should be seen as a starting point rather than a solution. One-off or
short-term funding cycles make it difficult for local authorities and
providers to plan, commission, and deliver the specialist and inclusive
provision needed to meet rising need. We have heard consistent
evidence highlighting the need for longer-term, multi-year funding
settlements to support more strategic and sustainable planning at the
local level.

RECOMMENDATION
The Department for Education should develop and implement a
comprehensive capital investment strategy for SEND. This strategy
should provide clarity over future funding streams, enable better
forecasting and planning, and support the development of high-quality,
fit-for-purpose settings across both mainstream and specialist provision.

CONCLUSION
We welcome the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill, particularly

the proposed reforms that give local authorities a greater role in key
decision-making areas such as the establishment of new schools,
oversight of admissions, and the placement of pupils. These changes
represent a positive step toward restoring strategic oversight at the
local level. Empowering local authorities in these areas is essential for
improving coordination across the system, addressing local sufficiency
gaps, and reducing reliance on costly out-of-area or independent
placements. Currently, without this, local authorities have been unable
to ensure that sufficient and suitable provision is available for children
and young people with SEND in their area.

Page 272
144



313.

314.

315.

316.

CONCLUSION
The Department for Education should expand specialist SEND provision
by investing in high-quality specialist state schools and mainstream
resource bases and other mainstream provision. This should be achieved
through shifting funding from some independent specialist school
provision to better value for money state specialist school provision. This
will help meet rising need, support inclusive mainstream education, and
reduce reliance on costly or distant placements. This expansion must be
aligned with robust local planning and forecasting, ensuring that new
provision is responsive to patterns of demand and delivered in a way
that reduces pressure on over-capacity special schools and minimises
reliance on distant or expensive independent placements.

RECOMMENDATION
As part of the expansion of specialist SEND, the highest-performing
state specialist schools should be designated as Centres of Excellence.
These schools would play a leading role in supporting the development
of expertise across other schools, local authorities or multi-academy
trusts by providing training, sharing best practice, and offering targeted
support to meet complex and specialist needs across the system.

RECOMMENDATION
The Government should continue to review whether local authorities
have the necessary powers to fulfil their legal obligations to children
and young people with SEND in order to address the mismatch between
powers and responsibilities which has arisen as a consequence of
previous reforms.

RECOMMENDATION

As it seeks to expand the capacity of specialist state schools and
deliver inclusive mainstream schools, the Government should monitor
and report on an annual basis on the number of pupils with SEND in
mainstream schools, in specialist independent schools and specialist
state schools.

Pe}%e 273



Data

317. Surrey County Council highlighted the importance of “data-driven decision-

making” involving enhanced data collection and outcome monitoring in
improving the capacity of SEND provision.*®” Similarly, Tameside Local
Authority told us:

A comprehensive understanding of SEND sufficiency is the foundation
for effective planning. LEAs must have accurate data on the
prevalence and types of SEND in their area, mapped against existing
provision. This requires ongoing analysis of current and future
demand, accounting for trends such as demographic changes,
medical advancements, and the long-term impact of the pandemic
on developmental needs. With this information, LEAs can develop a
clear and detailed roadmap for SEND provision across all phases of
education—early years, primary, secondary, and post-16.%

318. According to the Department for Education, the targeting of high needs

capital has improved since 2024, when it began using school capacity data
to determine how funding is allocated. Since then, funding allocations
have been determined by taking into account each local authority’s

size and its pupil-to-capacity ratio. However, in January 2025 the Public
Accounts Committee concluded that “reform of the [SEND] system is
hindered by a lack of data” and recommended that the Department for
Education “urgently improve” data collection.*®® We heard from a range

of stakeholders that further progress is still needed in how data is used to
ensure capital investment is effectively targeted to meet local needs and
demand. Evidence from NAHT identifies high-quality data and the “granular
detail” it provides as “essential” to local authorities being able to make
informed decisions about capital investments.*”° Tameside Local Authority
told us:

Local Education Authorities (LEAs) face significant challenges in
planning and delivering the SEND school places required to meet the
growing and evolving needs of children with SEND. To address these
challenges, LEAs need a strategic, long-term approach, grounded in
robust data, collaborative planning across their area, and guaranteed
capital investment funding over an extended period.*”

467
468
469

470
471

Surrey County Council (SEN0389)

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

NAO, Support for children and young people with special educational needs, HC 299,
October 2024

National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) (SEN0444)

Tameside Local Authority (SEN0246)

Page 274
146



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://www.nao.org.uk/reports/support-for-children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/

319.

320.

321.

From the evidence we have received, it is clear that the availability of robust
and comprehensive data, including accurate information on the number
and location of current specialist SEND places, is essential to improving the
allocation of capital funding. Without this, there is a risk that investments
will not be targeted to areas of greatest need. A stronger data-led
approach would help ensure that funding is directed where pressures on
places are most acute. Expanding provision within the state sector, across
both mainstream and specialist settings, in areas of identified shortage
would not only improve access for children and families but also help to
reduce the escalating costs of home-to-school transport and limit reliance
on costly independent special school placements.

The Council for Disabled Children also highlighted to us the importance of
“outcomes-based commissioning” which requires more sophisticated data
and systematic approach to information sharing. The Council for Disabled
Children told us that they welcome plans to introduce a unique identifier for
children and young people through the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools
Bill to improve data sharing across education, health and care.*? Evidence
from Let Us Learn Too also highlighted the need for greater collaboration
and information sharing between the Department for Education and local
authorities to improve projections of the number of pupils who will require
support throughout their education journey, and to develop capacity
accordingly.*”® When asked about this, then Minister McKinnell told us that
the Department for Education had a data strategy and wanted to make
improvements to the data and the oversight of the SEND system to drive
improvement and reform.**

CONCLUSION

The data currently collected and available to the DfE on both
mainstream and specialist SEND need is limited and inconsistent.
Comprehensive data at the local, regional and national level is essential
to assessing the sufficiency of capacity and determining funding
allocations for education settings.

479
473
474

Q19
Let Us Learn Too (SENO130)
Q285

Pe}%e 275


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15318/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

322.

323.

324.

RECOMMENDATION
To plan effectively for future capacity and ensure the right support is in
place, the Department must take a data-driven approach, developing

a more robust understanding of need by systematically gathering and
analysing relevant, high-quality data. This should include a national
SEND data strategy that requires local authorities and education settings
to collect and report standardised, high-quality data on levels of need,
current provision, capacity, and projected demand. This would require
clear definitions and metrics for identifying and categorising SEND
across mainstream and specialist settings and mandatory annual data
submissions aligned with school and local authority planning cycles.

Evidence from Let Us Learn Too suggested that the Department should
require any new mainstream school over a certain size to have a specialist
base or unit to avoid shortfalls and gaps in provision. Tameside Local
Authority agreed that some national oversight is necessary to ensure equity
in provision, however, highlighted that local flexibility is “equally important”,
saying:

LEAs must retain the capacity to review and adapt provision over
time. SEND needs are not static, and local authorities must be able
to adjust plans as circumstances change. This requires a system of
regular monitoring, flexible funding for expansions, and mechanisms
to evaluate the effectiveness of new schools and places once
established.*®

To resolve this and increase state specialist capacity, Surrey County
Council called for more investment to build new specialist resource bases
within mainstream schools and new specialist settings to meet rising local
demand.*® A collective of city councils specifically highlighted the need

for greater capital investment in the early years sector to enable local
authorities to provide “opportunities for earlier intervention that may result
in a better transition into mainstream provision”.*”’

475
476
477

Let Us Learn Too (SENO130)

Surrey County Council (SEN0389)

Portsmouth City Council, West Sussex County Council, East Sussex County Council,
Brighton and Hove (SEN0266)

Page 276
148



https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/default/

325.

326.

327.

11 Conclusion

The SEND system in England is at a breaking point. Despite the ambition for
inclusive mainstream education, the reality for many children and young
people with SEND is one of unmet needs, delayed support, and fractured
services. Families are forced into adversarial battles for basic entitlements,
while educators and professionals operate within systems that are under-
resourced and overwhelmed. The evidence is clear: the current model

is unsustainable, inequitable, and failing to deliver the outcomes our
children deserve.

In this inquiry we listened to those who have the most experience of and
insight into the current system. The conclusions and recommendations we
make in this report present a comprehensive roadmap for reform, grounded
in the lived experiences of families, educators, and professionals—a reform
programme which will put children and young people with SEND back at

the centre of our education system, and in doing so, deliver benefits for the
system as a whole. We call for national standards to ensure consistency in
provision, statutory duties to strengthen accountability, and a workforce
strategy that equips all professionals to deliver inclusive education. Crucially,
we conclude that SEND provision demands a sustainable funding model
that reflects the true scale and complexity of need, alongside stronger
partnerships across education, health, and care. These reforms must be
underpinned by transparency, collaboration, and a commitment to restoring
trust in the system highlighting issues, concerns and good practice.

Change is not optional—it is urgent and essential. The Department for
Education must act decisively, working across government and with all
stakeholders including children with SEND and their families to deliver a
SEND system that is inclusive, fair, and fit for the future. Every child and
young person with SEND has the right to thrive in education. We must not
wait another decade to make that a reality.

Pe}gge 277



Appendix 1: Insight from
Norwich

Box 9: Committee visit to Norwich

In June 2025 we visited Norfolk as a part of our inquiry into Solving the
SEND crisis to see examples of SEND delivery. During this visit we went to
Aylsham High School and Norwich City College. At Aylsham High school
we saw:

A senior leadership team that is highly trained and deeply committed
to mainstream inclusion, with this commitment reinforced by
testimonies from parents of children with SEND, who reported feeling
listened to, respected, and supported with empathy.

A resource base that responded to the individual needs of each
pupil, while being fully integrated within the mainstream school.
This involved a flexible approach that allowed pupils to spend time
in the specialist classroom when targeted support is needed, and
in the mainstream classroom when appropriate.

Broad learning opportunities for pupils with SEND, including access
to vocational subjects such as horticulture and construction.

Intentional transition support, before pupils enter secondary school
with engagement with parents and pupils from as early as year 4 in
some cases and pupils spending time in their new class before the
summer holiday break to help reduce anxiety and familiarise pupils
with new staff and routines.

At Norwich City College we saw:

The significant resources and effort that post-16 settings are dedicating
to supporting Maths and English GCSE resits including closing the
college to other students during exam periods to accommodate for the
space and rooms required to meet access needs.

The importance of supported internships through the colleges

MINT programme which helped young people with SEND build their
employability by gaining meaningful work experience and developing
pathways to long term employment.

Page 278
150




Appendix 2: Insight from
Canada

Box 10: Committee visit to Ontario, Canada

In March 2025 we visited Ontario, Canada as a part of our inquiry into
Solving the SEND crisis. Ontario is often cited by parent and carer
organisations in England as a positive example of a non-adversarial
SEND system that works better than the one in England. According to
research by People for Education, Ontario has a high level of children
with SEND in their education system. In 2023-24:

100 per cent of elementary schools and 99 per cent of secondary
schools have at least some students receiving SEN assistance.

On average per school, 16 per cent of elementary and 28 per
cent of secondary students receive some form of SEN support,
a proportion that has remained relatively steady over the last
decade.*®

Legislation

The Education Act mandates all school boards in Canada to provide
special education programs and/or services for students with special
education needs, formally identified as “exceptional pupils”. This
includes students receiving special education programs and/or services
who have been identified as exceptional by an identification, placement
and review committee (IPRC) and students receiving special education
programs and/or services who have not been identified as exceptional by
an IPRC.

Funding

The Ministry of Education allocates funding to Ontario’s 72 district school
boards. In addition to the Pupil Foundation Grant and other grants within
Grants for Student Needs (GSN) funding, the ministry allocates funding

478  People for Education, Access to special education in Ontario schools: The gaps and
challenges (accessed March 2025)

Pe%%e 279



https://peopleforeducation.ca/report/access-to-special-education-in-ontario-schools/
https://peopleforeducation.ca/report/access-to-special-education-in-ontario-schools/

for students with special education needs through the Special Education
Grant. This grant is for the additional costs of the programs, services
and/or equipment these students may require.

Assessment

Exceptional pupils are identified and placed in special education
programs by school board committees called identification, placement
and review committees (IPRCs). The IPRC:

decides if the student should be identified as exceptional;

identifies areas of the student’s exceptionality, according to specific
categories and definitions;

decides an appropriate placement for the student; and

reviews a student’s identification and placement at least once in
each school year.

Before the IPRC considers placing the student in a special education
class, it must consider whether placement in a mainstream class with
appropriate special education services will meet the student’s needs and
be consistent with parental preference.

Parents and teachers are allowed to attend IPRC and one member of the
committee must be a principal or supervisory officer of the school board.

Learning and support in schools
A special education program is an education program that:

is based on and modified by the results of continuous assessment
and evaluation; and

includes an individual education plan (IEP) which has specific
objectives (except when the IEP has accommodations only) and an
outline of special education services that meet a student’s needs.

Special education services are the facilities and resources necessary for
developing and implementing a special education program, including
support personnel and equipment.

An individual education plan (IEP) is a written plan that describes special
education programs, accommodations and services that a school board
will provide for a student. A Standardised IEP template is used, and

any adaptions have to be signed off by the Ministry. IEPs are based on

a thorough assessment of a student’s ability and needs. There are two
ways a student can receive an IEP:

P 2
age15280




An IEP must be developed for every student who has been identified
as an “exceptional pupil” by an Identification, Placement, and
Review Committee (IPRC)

An IEP may be developed for a student who has not been identified by an
IPRC as exceptional, but the board deems to require a special education
program or services in order to attend school, achieve curriculum
expectations or demonstrate learning.

What did we learn and see?

We visited an elementary (primary) school and two secondary schools,
Toronto City Hall to understand their early years programme, and the
Ontario Legislative Assembly to meet the Minister for Education and
government and opposition members with an interest in education.
During these visits we saw a SEND system where:

children and young people with SEND had learning time in resource
bases and mainstream classes but remained integrated in the
wider school community;

parents had positive engagement with teachers and schools and
worked in collaboration to ensure their child’s needs child were
being met and supported appropriately;

post-16 students had opportunities to get work experience,
develop life skills and follow vocational learning pathways such as
hairdressing and construction; and

there was a focus on student employability after the end of
education with strong links to businesses in the community.

Pe}gge 281




Conclusions and
recommendations

The state of inclusive education in England

We welcome the Department’s focus on inclusive education; however, we
are concerned about the absence of a Departmental definition of this and
the subsequent lack of clarity about what ‘inclusive mainstream’ education
looks like and means in practice for educators, education settings, pupils
and families. We are also concerned that the Department does not appear
to have a clear understanding of the timescale and level of investment
that is needed to achieve a truly inclusive mainstream education system.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 34)

It is unacceptable that a clear definition of inclusive education is still
lacking. The Department must publish a definition of inclusive education
and rationale for this vision alongside examples of good practice

across different phases of education and settings within the next 3
months. Continued ambiguity undermines progress and accountability.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 35)

An inclusive mainstream education system must be underpinned by

several key elements, all of which we would expect to be included in the
Department’s definition at a level of detail sufficient to enable professionals
and families to have a clear understanding of the Government’s approach:

education settings and environments must be accessible, safe, and
designed to meet a wide range of sensory and physical needs;

teachers and teaching assistants and other support staff should have
the expertise, training, and confidence to support diverse learners,
underpinned by regular access to embedded specialist professionals;

the curriculum must be flexible, relevant, and reflect the
representation of young people with SEND; and the Government
must ensure the curriculum itself and the assessment of it reflect and
accommodate their needs;

Page 282
154



accountability systems must examine and prioritise the progress and
outcomes of all pupils, on a rounded set of indicators which include
but are not limited to academic attainment, so that inclusion is
embedded as an essential component of quality for all settings. The
proportion of pupils with SEND should be published and compared
with other local schools and multi-academy trusts, to act as a
disincentive to exclusionary practices; and

critically, good inclusive practice must always ensure
rigorous, systemic approaches to understanding the individual
needs of every child and delivering personalised support.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 36)

The UK is a signatory member of the UNCRPD (UN Convention on the Rights
of Persons with Disabilities) since 2008. It would be helpful in developing
any definition of inclusive education for the Department for Education to
draw on the principles and substantive materials in relevant articles of

this Convention. This should include Article 24 on education, Article 25 on
health and others, for example, Article 30 on participation in cultural life,
recreation, leisure and sport. It may also be helpful for the Government

to consider the UN general comment number 4 on Article 24 - the right to
inclusive education, as well as the UNICEF report (2017) expanding on these
issues in practice. (Recommendation, Paragraph 37)

The Department must urgently assess the funding required to implement
meaningful reforms to SEND provision. There must be a clear plan for
how the Department will work towards this level of investment in the
short and medium term, which aligns with the timeline for SEND reforms.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 38)

As part of delivering a fully inclusive mainstream, the Government must
set out how it will deliver, over time, a system in which highly skilled
professionals, including educational psychologists and speech and
language therapists, are less tied up in undertaking assessments and
writing reports and more effectively deployed in delivering the support
children need. It should be clear what professional skills and expertise
an inclusive mainstream school should be able to draw on, and how this
expertise will be made available. (Recommendation, Paragraph 39)

The SEND system is not delivering for children and young people or their
families, with poor experiences and outcomes becoming the norm in many
places across England. Rising need coupled with limited school resourcing,
stretched local authority budgets and a mismatch between local authority
responsibilities and their powers has resulted in a costly and adversarial
system. Over a decade on from the 2014 reforms, the key challenges are
evident: preparedness of the education workforce, lack of parental trust
and confidence in the system, limited accountability across schools,

Pe}gse 283



10.

1.

12.

multi-academy trusts, NHS services and local authorities, disjointed
working across the various agencies and families, limited capacity and the
inadequacy and unsustainability of funding. (Conclusion, Paragraph 48)

It is essential that the Department addresses these challenges if it is going
to succeed in making mainstream education inclusive and fixing the broken
SEND system. The Department must involve stakeholders in reforms and
begin to consult with parent-led organisations now. It should set out a clear
timeline for SEND reforms and report on progress at least on an annual
basis. (Recommendation, Paragraph 49)

Securing inclusive education

The current inconsistency in SEN support and ordinarily available

provision across England is unacceptable and results in deeply inequitable
experiences for children and young people with SEND. The lack of consistent
good practice in SEN support, driven by insufficiently clear and specific
guidance and inconsistent interpretations of ‘best endeavours’ are causing
delays in identifying needs, inadequate support, and an overreliance on
EHC plans. This not only undermines trust in the system but also places
unnecessary strain on families. National standards must be introduced
without delay to establish clear, enforceable expectations while allowing for
local flexibility where appropriate. (Conclusion, Paragraph 72)

Insufficient funding and resources and a mismatch between local authority
responsibilities and powers negatively impacts the adequacy of ordinarily
available provision and SEN support. We have heard from school leaders
and SENCOs that without sufficient resources, settings are struggling to
provide the high quality, consistent support necessary to achieve inclusive
mainstream education. (Conclusion, Paragraph 73)

The Department for Education should publish a unified national framework
for ordinarily available provision and SEN support. This should offer

clear, evidence-led guidance and include practical, real-world examples
tailored to educators and educational settings, ensuring that all
practitioners have access to quality-assured strategies and interventions.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 74)

The Department should publish statutory requirements mandating the
minimum resources, specialist expertise, and equipment that every
educational setting must have access to as a part of their offer of SEN
support and in order to deliver an inclusive education. This will establish a
clear, enforceable baseline covering staffing, training, physical materials,
and assistive technologies. This will also ensure that all schools and multi-

Page 284
156



13.

14.

15.

academy trusts are adequately equipped to support children and young
people with SEND through ordinarily available provision and SEN support,
reducing the need for EHC plans. (Recommendation, Paragraph 75)

Current levels of EHC plans are unsustainable; however, the solution to this
cannot be to remove the statutory entitlements from a system which lacks
accountability in many other areas and in which parents already have so
little trust and confidence. We have heard throughout our inquiry from
parents, schools, and the Department for Education that the increased
need for EHC plans is due to support not being provided through ordinarily
available provision and SEN support, leading to a lack of trust from
parents. We have also seen that for many children and young people with
less complex needs, high quality support can be provided without a plan.
While some pupils will always need an EHC plan, evidence indicates that
mainstream schools and multi-academy trusts practising real inclusivity
generate fewer EHC plans, as they meet more students’ needs effectively
without them. (Conclusion, Paragraph 92)

Support should be provided as soon as a need is identified, rather than only
once an EHC plan is in place. This would bring England in line with good
practice found internationally, for example in in Ontario, Canada, where
entitlement is based on need rather than lengthy assessment processes.
Such a change would prevent the current situation in which many children
receive little or no effective support while waiting for an EHC plan and
would ensure timely intervention that can improve outcomes and reduce
escalation of need. The Department’s SEND reforms must not be based on
any withdrawal of statutory entitlements for children and young people
with SEND. The Department must instead set out plans for reform which
increase accountability across the whole of the SEND system, so that
many more parents and carers can be confident that their children’s needs
will be met regardless of whether they have a diagnosis or EHC plan.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 93)

Where EHC plans are issued, they carry a statutory duty which must be
delivered in full. To make this a reality, the Department for Education should
strengthen the ability of local authorities to meet these obligations by
ensuring that the necessary levers are in place to compel other services,

for example, NHS services, and commissioners such as local Integrated
Healthcare Boards (ICBs). This must include coordinated action with

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government to address
wider pressures on local authority budgets and capacity, so that councils
are properly equipped to deliver the provision set out in every EHC plan.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 94)

Pe}%e 285



16.

17.

18.

Restoring parent trust and confidence

Parents and carers of children and young people with SEND often feel
excluded from the processes that affect their children’s education and
support. However, meaningful and collaborative parental involvement is
essential to the success of the SEND system. When parents and carers are
actively engaged in the planning, decision-making, and delivery of support,
both satisfaction and outcomes improve significantly. Engagement fosters
greater trust, transparency, and confidence in the system, and helps build
constructive, collaborative relationships between families, professionals,
support and advice services including SENDIASS. Ensuring parents and
carers are treated as equal partners in any process must be a fundamental
feature of any reformed SEND system. (Conclusion, Paragraph 101)

Parents and carers must be actively and meaningfully involved in all
processes that affect their child’s education, support, and overall
wellbeing. This includes being fully informed and invited to participate in
all relevant meetings where decisions about their child’s needs or provision
are being discussed at the school and local authority level. Families
should have access to independent advocacy to enable and strengthen
their engagement in the process. Parental insights and lived experience
are invaluable in shaping effective and appropriate support. Embedding
parental involvement as a standard part of decision-making not only
enhances transparency and trust but also leads to better-informed,

more tailored outcomes for children and young people with SEND. Local
authorities must actively engage and be properly equipped to support and
respond to parental engagement in a positive way. This requires dedicated
resourcing and ongoing training to ensure staff have the skills, capacity
and confidence to work effectively with families, build trust, and act on their
concerns in a timely and constructive way. These changes would need to
be subject to a New Burdens Assessment to ensure that local authorities
had the resources to support better parent and carer engagement.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 102)

Children and young people with SEND, and their families, have little trust
and confidence in the SEND system, often shaped by adverse experiences.
Inadequate communication and engagement from the Department with
parents and carers and their organisations about future reforms, as

well as media speculation, has further undermined parental trust in the
Department for Education and in the future SEND system. It is wholly
unacceptable that families already under considerable pressure should face
additional anxiety and disruption. While there is widespread recognition
among parents and carers that reform is necessary, there remains deep
concern about the form these changes will take and whether they will lead
to meaningful and lasting improvements. (Conclusion, Paragraph 107)

P 2
age15886



19.

20.

21.

22.

To avoid causing undue alarm and to help rebuild confidence and trust in
the system, parents and carers must be fully engaged and any reforms
must be implemented gradually and in a carefully phased manner. New
approaches should first be piloted through a pathfinder model, allowing
for thorough testing in real-world settings before national rollout. This

will provide an opportunity to identify potential challenges, address
inefficiencies, consult with parents’ and carers’ groups and make necessary
adjustments to ensure reforms are effective, practical, and responsive to
the needs of children, young people, and their families. At all times, the
Department for Education must have an effective communication strategy,
regularly setting out the clear vision for change, and providing reassurance
to all affected agencies and individuals that planned reforms are fully
planned, coordinated, and funded. (Recommendation, Paragraph 108)

We have heard that accountability pressures relating to narrower measures
of attainment and behaviour may incentivise schools and multi-academy
trusts to adopt non-inclusive practices in order to meet narrow performance
metrics. The introduction of the new Ofsted inspection framework presents
a valuable opportunity to shift this dynamic. By placing greater emphasis on
inclusion and the experiences and progression of all learners, the framework
has the potential to ensure that schools and multi-academy trusts are more
meaningfully held to account for the inclusivity and accessibility of the
education they deliver, thereby promoting a more equitable and supportive
environment for every student. (Conclusion, Paragraph 118)

The Department must urgently engage with Ofsted to ensure that

the inclusion criterion within the new inspection framework is robust,
measurable, and reflective of the experiences of all pupils, particularly,
those with SEND. This should include incorporating metrics such as

the proportion of pupils with SEND on roll, their attendance rates,
exclusion figures, school swaps, progression and attainment and other
indicators of engagement and outcomes, to provide a clearer picture of
how effectively schools and multi-academy trusts are supporting these
learners. It is important that the new framework does not disadvantage
schools with high levels of SEND pupils, particularly in disadvantaged
areas, by contextualising quantitative indicators with qualitative
evidence, recognising systemic barriers, and balancing accountability
with constructive support to avoid disproportionate pressure on teachers’
workloads. (Recommendation, Paragraph 119)

The Department for Education should introduce mandatory, comprehensive
SEND training for all Ofsted inspectors. The success of the new framework
depends on inspectors having a deep understanding of SEND, including
how to identify, assess, and evaluate inclusive practice. Without this

Pe}gge 287



23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

expertise, there is a significant risk that inspections will be inconsistent, fail
to identify gaps in provision, and ultimately undermine the objectives of the
framework. (Recommendation, Paragraph 120)

Area SEND inspections should engage with parents across the locality to
gather the perspective of parents of children with SEND on the admissions
policies and inclusive practices of local authorities, schools and multi-
academy trusts in the area. (Recommendation, Paragraph 122)

We have heard about significant variability in the provision of SEN support
and inconsistencies in the implementation of EHC plans across education
settings. The limitations of the Local Government Ombudsman’s powers
mean there is insufficient accountability for the delivery of SEND support,
as well as other aspects of school-based provision. This has led to repeated
failures to meet children’s needs. This is a serious and unacceptable
accountability gap that must be closed if inclusive mainstream education is
to be a reality. (Conclusion, Paragraph 127)

The Government must extend the powers of the Local Government
Ombudsman to cover complaints about the delivery of EHC plans, SEN
support and other appropriate inclusive education for children with SEND
in schools, multi-academy trusts and other education settings. This would
strengthen accountability, provide families with a clearer route to redress,
and help ensure that statutory responsibilities are met consistently across
the system. Without this change, serious shortcomings in support will
continue to go unaddressed. (Recommendation, Paragraph 128)

To ensure accountability for inclusive practice, SEND expertise should be
embedded within schools and multi-academy trust (MAT) governance
structures, for example, by making it mandatory to appoint governors
or trustees with specific responsibility for and relevant expertise
(including lived experience) of SEND as we saw in Ontario. Without

this, inclusive education risks being sidelined at the strategic level,

and outcomes for pupils with SEND will continue to be deprioritised.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 129)

Tribunals are an important feature of the accountability system, allowing
families to challenge local authorities’ decisions regarding their children’s
support; however, they should only need to be used as a last resort. We are
deeply concerned by the number of local authorities found to have failed

to meet their statutory obligations at the SEND Tribunal. A 97 per cent

loss rate for Tribunal cases suggests a pattern of non-compliance which is
unacceptable, particularly given that the entitlements of children and young
people with SEND are clearly set out in the existing legislative framework.
Greater efforts are needed to prevent cases from escalating to SEND

Page 288
160



28.

29.

30.

31

32.

Tribunals by prioritising good partnership working with parents and carers,
effective mediation and ensuring local authorities have the resources and
the powers to fulfil their statutory obligations. (Conclusion, Paragraph 144)

The SEND Tribunal must remain as a backstop of the accountability
process. The Department for Education and Department of Health and
Social Care must systematically monitor SEND Tribunal outcomes and
identify local authorities that repeatedly fail to comply with their statutory
duties. The Government should mandate the framework for reporting
SEND Tribunal data and undertake focused work with poor performing
local authorities to understand why they are so often failing to uphold
their statutory duties and support them through resourcing and targeted
intervention, including specialised training, to address underlying issues
and ensure that the rights of children and young people with SEND are
upheld. The SEND White Paper should explicitly identify and set out plans
to address any structural or resource-related barriers to effective support.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 145)

The outcomes of SEND Tribunal cases must be factored into area SEND
inspections, with clear scrutiny of how repeated non-compliance reflects
the quality and effectiveness of local provision. Where local authorities fail
to uphold their statutory duties, this should directly lower their inspection
rating. Ongoing failure must have clear consequences if accountability is to
mean anything. (Recommendation, Paragraph 150)

The limited engagement of health services in the SEND system stems from
a lack of robust and enforceable accountability mechanisms. Despite
being a critical enabler of positive educational outcomes for children with
SEND, health services are not held to the same standards of responsibility
as education providers. To deliver on the promise of inclusive education,
the Department for Education and the Department of Health and Social
Care must strengthen accountability frameworks to ensure health
partners are fully integrated and responsive within the SEND system.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 157)

There must be mandatory training for health commissioners
on good practice in meeting the needs of children with SEND.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 158)

The powers of the SEND Tribunal should be extended to allow it to issue
binding recommendations to health services, not just education providers.
This would ensure that when a failure to deliver a health provision specified
in an EHC plan occurs, health bodies are legally obligated to take corrective
action. This should include the introduction of a statutory duty on health
services to respond to Tribunal decisions within a defined timeframe, with
clear consequences for non-compliance. (Recommendation, Paragraph 159)

Pe%e 289



33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

The Department for Education must significantly improve cross-
departmental coordination with the Department of Health and Social Care
and NHS England to establish clear, consistent accountability for SEND

at the ICB level. Current arrangements are fragmented and lack clarity.
Strengthening the role, authority, and visibility of the Senior Responsible
Officer for SEND within ICBs is essential to ensure health services are fully
held to account for their responsibilities. Without stronger oversight, health
bodies will continue to operate without sufficient scrutiny or consequence.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 160)

Improving early years for lasting impact

ELSEC and NELI are positive initiatives, but far more must be done to sustain
and build on the progress they are achieving. Without ongoing commitment
and resources, any gains risk being temporary and insufficient to address
long-term needs. (Conclusion, Paragraph 164)

A national rollout of ELSEC and NELI is essential and should be accompanied
by comprehensive, long-term funding and resources to meet the scale of
children’s speech and language needs. In addition, the Government should
undertake further work to understand where the balance of resource should
sit between early years and reception in order to ensure it is able to achieve
its goal of 75 per cent of 5-year-olds in England to have a good level of
development by 2028. (Recommendation, Paragraph 165)

There is a clear need to improve the consistency and effectiveness of the
SENIF across early years provision. At present, practice varies significantly
between local authorities, with differences in how funding is managed and
allocated. This means there is inconsistency in access to early years SEND
support. Such variation undermines the principle of equitable access to
early education and can place additional pressure on providers in areas
with less generous or less flexible SENIF arrangements. In addition, the
eligibility criteria for the Disability Access Fund limits its effectiveness. Tying
this funding to Disability Living Allowance, creates an unnecessary barrier
to eligibility that risks excluding the very children the funding was created
to help and shifts the burden of unmet need onto providers and families.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 168)

To address inconsistency in the delivery of early years provision and the
Special Educational Needs Inclusion Fund (SENIF), the Department for
Education must establish a set of national inclusivity requirements for
early years settings. These requirements should be backed by increased,
funding to ensure providers are able to deliver inclusive practice in a
sustainable way. At the same time, the Disability Access Fund should be
reformed by removing its dependency on Disability Living Allowance. The

P 2
age16290



38.

39.

40.

41.

current eligibility criteria act as a barrier for many families, restricting
uptake and undermining the fund’s effectiveness. Without these
reforms, there is a risk that the system continues to perpetuate inequity
and discourage inclusive practice at the earliest stage of education.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 169)

Best Start Family Hubs and the expansion of childcare provision present

a valuable opportunity to engage with families earlier and identify SEND
needs at the earliest possible stage. We welcome the announcement that
every Best Start Family Hub will have a SENCO. However, SEND awareness
is not currently sufficiently embedded amongst all early years staff, nor
are there currently sufficient opportunities for early screenings that could
facilitate timely support and referrals. We note the current inquiry at

the time of publication of the Health Social Care Committee on ‘The First
1000 Days: a renewed focus’ and the further work we have agreed to
undertake on early years, all of which should be taken full account of by the
Government. (Conclusion, Paragraph 174)

The Department for Education must ensure that Best Start Family Hubs
incorporate routine SEND screening and awareness as a core part of

their early years services, supported by targeted training for staff and
childcare providers to enhance early identification and referral. Additionally,
dedicated funding must be allocated within childcare expansion and Family
Hub budgets specifically to support SEND-related training for early years
staff and families of children with SEND, resources, and integrated multi-
agency working, ensuring sustainable and effective early intervention.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 175)

The commitment for every Best Start Family Hub to have a dedicated
SENCO should be embedded within the SEND workforce strategy and
extend to educational psychologists and speech and language therapists.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 176)

There is a need to increase access to CPD and ensure that staff from all
agencies in every early years setting has the expertise to undertake the
effective early identification of SEND needs. Through the Best Start in Life
strategy the Government should also ensure that there is a strong and
consistent framework for building SEND capacity and good practice in
early years settings through the deployment of educational psychologists,
speech and language therapists and other specialists in training the
workforce. From September 2025, 80 per cent of the funding for early years
providers will come from the Government, and the Department should
introduce a new set of inclusivity requirements for all early years settings,
provide the foundation for greater inclusivity across all early years settings.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 177)

Pe}gge 291



Post-16

42. The post-16 condition of funding, whereby students who have not achieved
a grade 4 or above in GCSE English and maths are effectively repeatedly
required to take GCSE resits in those subjects as part of their programme of
study, must be reformed. Despite a modest rise in overall attainment over
the past ten years, the progression rate from age 16 to 19 remains low, with
72 per cent of those who did not achieve grade 4 at 16 still not achieving that
grade by 19. This policy can be demoralising for students and a huge strain
on colleges and their staff. Whilst ensuring that students continue to make
progress in literacy and numeracy, an alternative approach is necessary.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 186)

43. The Government must introduce a three-route model for those who have
not attained grade 4 GCSE in maths and/or English based on their level of
attainment at age 16 and their chosen post-16 qualification/employment
pathway:

Students who, based on their GCSE results at age 16 and prior
attainment, have a realistic prospect of achieving grade 4 in
maths and/or English should be supported to work towards those
qualifications.

Vocational courses of study, for which the English and maths content
required can be easily identified, should have that content built into
the curriculum. Students taking courses with embedded English and
maths content which have been rigorously quality assured could then,
in consultation with employers, be considered for exemption from the
requirement to re-sit English and maths GCSE.

Students who, based on past performance, are very unlikely to attain
grade 4 in maths and/or English despite multiple resits and who would
benefit from pursuing a functional skills qualification in maths and/or
English—for example, focused on financial literacy, debt and interest
and household budgeting—should be supported to achieve a pass in
that form of qualification. (Recommendation, Paragraph 187)

44. Greater policy focus is required on further education provision for young
people with SEND. At present, both FE and SEND policy frameworks give
limited consideration to the specific needs of learners post-16, and funding
arrangements often fail to provide adequate resources to meet those needs.
This lack of targeted attention and investment contributes to significant
gaps in provision and support, leaving many of these young people
effectively overlooked within the education system. Without dedicated and
sufficient funding for SEN support beyond the age of 16, mainstream further

Page 292
164



45.

46.

47.

48.

education settings will struggle to provide the adjustments, specialist staff,
and tailored resources necessary to meet learners’ needs and achieve
good outcomes. This is incompatible with the Government’s vision for
inclusive mainstream education. Without targeted reform and investment,
the FE sector risks falling behind other parts of the education system.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 189)

The Department for Education should introduce a dedicated and ring-
fenced funding stream for SEN support beyond the age of 16. This would
enable further education providers to recruit and retain specialist staff,
provide tailored learning resources, and make the reasonable adjustments
necessary to meet the diverse needs of learners with SEND. Such investment
is essential to ensuring that mainstream FE provision is genuinely inclusive
and that young people with SEND have equitable opportunities to succeed.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 190)

When Ofsted considers the accountability of post-16 education settings, it
should ensure a stronger focus on inclusivity and outcomes for young people
with SEND. (Recommendation, Paragraph 191)

We know that some young people in some areas will have a long-term need
for home to school transport due to extremely limited public transport
options in their local area or their individual needs. We are concerned about
the impact that lack of statutory home to school transport for 16-19-year-
olds with SEND has on the ability of these young people to access education.
No young person should be locked out of education because of a transport
need. Evidence also indicates a lack of adequate travel training for this age
group in some areas, which increases reliance on home to school transport,
creating significant barriers to attendance and participation in learning.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 194)

The Department should review home to school transport and identify costs
across regions. Additionally, the Department must mandate that all local
authorities provide travel training programmes for young people with

SEND in this age group to promote independence and safe travel where

this is appropriate. Statutory transport provision should be guaranteed
based on clear criteria such as distance from education settings, level

of need, and other relevant factors to ensure no young person is unfairly
disadvantaged. We welcome the acknowledgement in the Government’s fair
funding review of the need for comprehensive costings for current and future
home to school transport need. The Department for Education must work
with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and the
Department for Transport as they prepare to introduce a bespoke formula
to recognise Home to School transport costs. As part of this collaboration,
the Department should ensure that there is transparency around how

Pe}gse 293



49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

outcomes are measured and reported. We support the recommendation of
the Transport Select Committee with regard to the provision of bus passes
for under 22-year-olds. (Recommendation, Paragraph 195)

Equipping the workforce

While the Department’s update to the Initial Teacher Training and Early
Career Framework is a positive move, it needs to go further to adequately
prepare teachers to support pupils with SEND. SEND is still not fully
integrated across all training modules, and there is a clear lack of focus
on how to apply this knowledge practically in the classroom. This shortfall
risks leaving teachers unprepared to meet the needs of pupils with SEND
effectively. (Conclusion, Paragraph 202)

The Department for Education must implement a continuous review and
update cycle for the ITT and ECF to keep training relevant and effective.

It must urgently increase the number of ITT placements and explore

the viability of mandating every teacher to complete a placement in a
specialist setting during ITT or ECF. Without practical, hands-on experience
supporting children and young people with SEND, teachers will remain ill-
equipped to meet their needs. (Recommendation, Paragraph 203)

The Department should provide comprehensive training within ITT and
clear guidance for schools, multi-academy trusts and education staff on
delivering inclusive education practice. This will ensure that all settings
understand their legal obligations and are equipped to make the necessary
accommodations to support pupils with SEND effectively. Embedding

this knowledge is crucial for promoting inclusive practices, preventing
discrimination, and fostering environments where every child can thrive.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 204)

It is deeply concerning that SEND-specific continuing professional
development (CPD) is not mandatory. The education workforce must be
consistently equipped with up-to-date, evidence-based knowledge through
ongoing CPD to ensure an inclusive mainstream with high-quality support
for children and young people with SEND. (Conclusion, Paragraph 209)

Continuous professional development in SEND should not be viewed

solely as a support mechanism for specialist SEND educators. When all
teachers are trained to understand and respond to the needs of pupils
with SEND, the entire workforce becomes more inclusive, adaptive, and
confident in managing diverse classrooms. An essential skill set in the
modern classroom, this not only improves outcomes for pupils with SEND
but also supports teacher resilience and wellbeing, enhancing the learning

Page 294
166



54,

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

experience for all students by fostering a more empathetic, dynamic and
flexible teaching environment. We have seen evidence that deploying this
approach reduces the need for EHC plans. (Conclusion, Paragraph 210)

SEND CPD should be made mandatory to ensure that all educators

are equipped to meet the diverse needs of children and young people
with SEND. This could be achieved through a nationally recognised
supplementary qualification in SEND that all existing teachers must
complete within a defined timeframe (e.g. three years), similar to the
Early Career Framework but focused on inclusion and SEND best practice;
or through the incorporation of mandatory SEND modules into existing
CPD requirements; or through performance management frameworks,
ensuring ongoing engagement and application in classroom settings.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 211)

We welcome the introduction of the new National Professional Qualification
(NPQ) for SENCOs as a positive step towards enhancing the leadership

and expertise of SEND provision in schools and multi-academy trusts.
However, further action is urgently needed. The scale of the challenges
facing SENCOs including excessive workloads, insufficient time to carry out
their statutory duties, and a lack of support requires immediate attention.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 216)

Strong leadership on SEND is essential to delivering effective and inclusive
education. Often the bulk of responsibility for SEND inclusion falls to a single
SENCO and this should not be the case. Evidence shows that when senior
leadership prioritises inclusion, this commitment permeates throughout
the school, positively influencing staff attitudes and pupil experiences.
Embedding SEND awareness and inclusion as a strategic focus at the
highest-level drives culture change and ensures that inclusive practices are
consistently implemented. (Conclusion, Paragraph 217)

To strengthen leadership on SEND, the Department should, in the short
term, mandate that at least one member of the Senior Leadership Team in
every school and every multi-academy trust holds SENCO qualifications.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 218)

The Department should also publish guidance on appropriate SENCO-
to-pupil ratios and develop a national strategy to ensure these ratios
are achieved consistently across schools and multi-academy trusts.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 219)

Within four years, the Department should introduce a requirement for
all new headteachers to hold a SEND-specific qualification. Ensuring
that SEND expertise is embedded at the highest levels of school or multi-

Pe}%e 295



academy trust leadership will promote strategic oversight, improve the
quality of inclusive practice, and better meet the needs of pupils with SEND.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 220)

60. Learning support assistants and teaching assistants are integral to
the effective delivery of SEND support and resourcing their deployment
properly can help reduce the need for expensive specialist placements.
To sustain and strengthen their contribution, improvements are urgently
needed in the recruitment, training, CPD and retention of this workforce.
We are particularly concerned by evidence that many LSAs and TAs lack
adequate SEND-specific training to perform their roles safely and effectively.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 223)

61. SEND content should be an integral part of teaching assistant training,
and they should be provided with regular opportunities for CPD and peer
support. This could be through incentivised or ring-fenced funding for
schools and multi-academy trusts to release teaching assistants and
learning support assistants for SEND CPD, removing practical barriers
to participation and ensuring consistent take-up across the sector.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 224)

62. The Department should issue guidance on teaching assistant-to-pupil
ratios and urgently address the worsening crisis in recruiting and retaining
TAs and learning support assistants to ensure these ratios can be met.
These professionals are vital to the delivery of inclusive education, yet their
contribution continues to be undervalued and under-supported. A robust
and comprehensive strategy is urgently required. This must include:

A clear career progression framework with opportunities to develop
specialist expertise and the opportunity for some TAs to progress to
qualified teacher status.

Competitive pay increases that reflect the skill, responsibility, and
complexity of their roles.

Expanded and better-promoted apprenticeship pathways to attract
new entrants and diversify the workforce.

Clearer communication to schools, multi-academy trusts
and stakeholders about the distinct functions, expectations,
and career progression routes within TA and LSA roles.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 225)

63. These measures are essential. Without decisive action, the system will
continue to lose experienced staff, leaving vulnerable pupils without the
support they need and deserve. (Recommendation, Paragraph 226)

P 2
age16896



64.

65.

66.

67.

Many children with SEND and their families continue to have unsatisfactory
experiences when navigating the SEND system, particularly in their
interactions with local authority staff. These challenges are often rooted in
a failure to work empathetically in partnership with parents and carers and
demonstrate a limited understanding of the assessment process and its
significance. In some cases, local authority staff make poor or inadequate
contributions to EHC plans, undermining their quality and failing to reflect
the needs of the child. These issues not only erode trust in the system but
also contribute to delays, disputes, and ultimately poorer outcomes for
children and young people with SEND. (Conclusion, Paragraph 229)

Local authority staff require improved training on child development, SEND
law, parent engagement and mediation, alongside changes in practice that
strengthen accountability and foster more constructive relationships with
parents and carers. This should include meaningful parental involvement
at every stage of the decision-making process regarding a child’s needs
and support. Embedding a more collaborative and transparent approach
would not only enhance trust and outcomes for families but also help
alleviate the pressures contributing to staff burnout within local authorities.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 230)

Shortages of educational psychologists and allied health professionals,
including speech and language therapists, occupational therapists, and
physiotherapists are significantly undermining the availability and quality of
SEND support. These workforce gaps delay assessments, restrict access to
essential interventions, and place additional pressure on schools and multi-
academy trusts to fill specialist roles they are not equipped to provide.

In addition, the shortages have resulted in far too many highly skilled
professionals being deployed predominantly in undertaking assessments
and writing reports rather than working directly and therapeutically

with children and young people. This has to change, for the benefit of
professionals who are becoming harder to retain, and in order to deliver a
genuinely inclusive system in which access to support is available for every
child who needs it. (Conclusion, Paragraph 239)

The DfE and DHSC should urgently develop a joint SEND workforce plan

to address shortages and build capacity across education, health, and
care services. This should include explicit measures to deliver a shift in the
deployment of educational psychologists, speech and language therapists
and other allied health professionals away from undertaking assessments
and writing reports and towards greater deployment in education settings,
delivering therapeutic support for children and upskilling early years
practitioners, teachers and support staff. This will enable professionals to
concentrate on delivering frontline support. Such an approach would help

Pe}gge 297



68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

retain skilled practitioners within the system and encourage those who have
left the profession, often due to excessive paperwork and limited direct
engagement to return. (Recommendation, Paragraph 240)

Getting to a sustainable model of funding

It is clear that the current levels of funding provided to schools and multi-
academy trusts are inadequate to support the effective inclusion of pupils
with SEND. The notional £6,000 threshold is insufficient to deliver good
SEN support, placing unsustainable pressure on school budgets. The
Department cannot reasonably expect inclusive education to be realised
without a significant increase in investment. Adequate and sustained
resourcing is essential to ensure that mainstream schools, multi-academy
trusts and teaching staff are properly equipped to be inclusive. However,
the Government does not appear to have a realistic understanding of the
scale of investment required to deliver a genuinely inclusive education
system. Without acknowledging and addressing the true level of resource
needed, efforts to improve outcomes for pupils with SEND risk falling short.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 249)

The current £6,000 notional threshold is outdated and inadequate. It must
be automatically uprated each year in line with inflation to prevent further
erosion of support for pupils with SEND. This is a necessary correction

to address years of chronic underfunding. This funding should also be
ringfenced to ensure it is used exclusively for supporting pupils with SEND
and to improve the transparency and accountability of the resources
schools and multi-academy trusts are committing to deliver inclusivity.
However, these measures alone will not be enough to create the change
desperately needed in this failing system. The Department must set a clear
trajectory towards a more sustainable and equitable funding model that
is informed by, and able to deliver, the Department’s definition of inclusive
mainstream education. (Recommendation, Paragraph 250)

We have seen and heard evidence that delivering inclusive practice in
education improves long term outcomes for children and young people with
SEND which has wider benefits to the economy as well as costing less to
deliver than expensive specialist placements. (Conclusion, Paragraph 253)

The Government should undertake a rigorous cost-benefit analysis to
understand the short- and long-term economic benefits of investing in a
fully inclusive education system. (Recommendation, Paragraph 254)

Funding must be strategically deployed to deliver the best outcomes
for children and young people with SEND. This should include prioritised
investment in early intervention. Timely and targeted support is essential

Page 298
170



73.

74.

75.

76.

and can prevent some needs such as speech and language and SEMH needs
from escalating, reducing long-term costs to the system, and improving
educational and life outcomes. Prioritising early support in such areas not
only represents better value for money but also aligns with a preventative,
rather than reactive, approach to SEND provision. Ensuring that schools,
multi-academy trusts and services are resourced to identify and meet
speech and language and SEMH needs at the earliest stage should be a
central principle of any funding reform. However, the Department must
recognise that while early intervention plays a crucial role in supporting
children with disabilities, it is not a solution for all needs. Some children will
require consistent, long-term support throughout their lives. Where this is
the case, it is essential that adequate and sustained funding and resources
are in place to ensure these children receive the ongoing support they need
to thrive. (Conclusion, Paragraph 255)

The High Needs Block should be refocused to enable and incentivise

earlier intervention. Currently, a significant proportion of this funding

is directed towards supporting high-cost, specialist provision once

needs have escalated. While such provision is vital for some, a more
preventative approach is needed to reduce long-term need and improve
outcomes. Redirecting a greater share of High Needs funding towards early
identification and support within mainstream settings and through multi-
agency services will help address emerging needs and ensure that good
support is put in place at the outset. (Recommendation, Paragraph 256)

The National Funding Formula must ensure that funding for SEND is both fair
and sufficient to meet the needs of children and young people across the
country. While some geographical variation is to be expected, this should
reflect the prevalence and relative level of need in each area. The formula
must guarantee that all local areas are equipped with the necessary
resources to deliver consistent, high-quality SEND provision and support
equitable outcomes for all learners. (Conclusion, Paragraph 259)

A comprehensive review of the National Funding Formula is urgently needed
to ensure funding is allocated fairly and reflects the real level of need across
the country. The current formula fails to address historic underfunding,
ignores rising inflation, does not account for regional differences in cost

and need and ignores hidden pockets of deprivation. These gaps are driving
deep and persistent inequalities in SEND provision. Any credible funding
system must correct these failures and provide a stable, needs-based
foundation for support. (Recommendation, Paragraph 260)

The extension of the statutory override until 2027/28 is a welcome step,
but it remains a temporary measure in response to the ongoing financial
instability facing local authorities across England. Reducing deficits is
essential to achieving long-term financial sustainability however, this

Pe%%e 299



77.

78.

cannot be done at the expense of local authorities fulfilling their legal
obligations to children and young people with SEND. Any permanent
solution must involve coordinated, cross-departmental action between
the Department for Education, HM Treasury, the Department for Work and
Pensions and the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
to address the systemic funding challenges within local government.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 267)

We believe that a reset of local authority finances through a partial write-
off of SEND-related deficits could provide a necessary step towards long-
term stability. However, this must be approached with care, recognising the
progress made by some local authorities through the Delivering Better Value
in SEND programme and Safety Valve agreements, and the contributions
already made by some local authorities from their General Fund towards
SEND over and above contributions from their High Needs education block.
It is essential that the Department for Education engages meaningfully
with local government representatives to develop a fair and transparent
approach that supports improvement while ensuring accountability. The
Department must provide further detail on this in the upcoming SEND white
paper due in Autumn 2025. (Recommendation, Paragraph 268)

Building stronger partnerships

The current failure to embed Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) as a shared priority across government departments is not just a
policy oversight, it is a profound injustice to some of the most vulnerable
children in our society. It is evident that SEND is not sufficiently seen as

a priority by the health system. The education system is increasingly
shouldering the weight of responsibilities for supporting children and

young people with SEND that should, in part, be met by health services.
This chronic imbalance places unsustainable pressure on schools, multi-
academy trusts and local authorities and undermines the principle of joint
responsibility set out in the SEND Code of Practice. The erosion of funding to
Integrated Care Boards (ICBs), alongside ongoing structural upheaval within
the health sector, risk further weakening the capacity of health services to
meet their statutory duties. If we are serious about improving outcomes for
children with SEND, then coordinated investment, shared accountability,
and genuine cross-departmental collaboration must become non-
negotiable. Without it, the burden will continue to fall disproportionately

on schools and local authorities, compromising outcomes for children

and placing additional strain on an already stretched education system.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 275)

Page 300
172



79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

SEND should be identified as a priority across the health system and
ongoing NHS restructuring must be used as an opportunity to strengthen
the role and accountability of health services in supporting children and
young people with SEND. This includes ensuring that ICBs are fully engaged
in local SEND systems, with clearly defined responsibilities and mechanisms
for joint planning and delivery. The seniority, authority and visibility

of senior responsible officers for SEND within ICBs must be increased.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 276)

Bringing education and health more closely together should be supported
by an evidence led approach, drawing on the role of NICE (National Institute
for Health and Care Excellence) to produce new SEND guidelines and
intervention pathways. (Recommendation, Paragraph 277)

Crucially, this must be backed by appropriate financial investment
from the health sector to meet statutory duties, provide timely access
to therapies and assessments, and contribute equitably to joint
commissioning arrangements. All areas should have a robust and fully
operational partnership arrangement in place by autumn 2026. This
should be underpinned by clear governance and shared accountability.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 278)

Guidance on the delegation of healthcare responsibilities within schools
and multi-academy trusts remains weak. There is insufficient clarity on
how and when healthcare tasks can be appropriately and safely assigned
to school or multi-academy trust staff, what training and safeguards
should accompany such delegation, and ultimately where responsibility
lies between education and health services. This lack of direction creates
uncertainty for schools and multi-academy trusts, risking inconsistency
and unsafe practices in the delivery of health interventions for pupils.
(Conclusion, Paragraph 284)

The Department for Education and the Department of Health and Social
Care should issue joint statutory guidance clarifying how and when
healthcare responsibilities can safely be delegated in schools and multi-
academy trusts. This should be produced in collaboration with school
and multi-academy trust leaders and health and education unions

and set out clear lines of accountability between education and health
services, minimum training requirements for school staff, and safeguards
to ensure consistent and safe delivery of health interventions for pupils.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 285)

The Department of Health and Social Care must urgently appoint a
dedicated national SEND lead to drive accountability and coordination
across the health system. This role must be empowered and mandated
to provide coherent strategic leadership on the delivery of health-
related SEND duties, forge robust partnerships with education and

Pe}%e 301



85.

86.

87.

care sectors, and ensure that the needs of children and young people
with SEND are embedded in the heart of health policy, planning, and
workforce development from senior officials to frontline services.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 289)

The Government should place a clear statutory duty on health services,
including ICBs and NHS providers, to ensure their full and accountable
participation in the planning, commissioning, and delivery of SEND
provision. This duty must align with the Children and Families Act 2014 and
the SEND Code of Practice, which emphasises joint commissioning and
integrated working. Strengthening statutory responsibilities for health is
key to ensuring timely access to assessments, therapies, and interventions,
and uphold the principle of a coordinated, child-centred approach to SEND
support. (Recommendation, Paragraph 290)

Expanding capacity within the SEND
system

If the Department for Education expands the use of resource bases

to increase specialist provision within mainstream schools and multi-
academy trusts, it must set out a detailed implementation plan. This plan
should clearly specify how resource bases should be staffed, including
required qualifications, expertise, and staff-to-pupil ratios to ensure all
children with SEND receive appropriate support. The Department must
also define mandatory standards of good practice for resource bases,
covering, physical facilities and equipment and good practice approaches
to integration with the wider school or multi-academy trust community.

By establishing these standards and holding schools and multi-academy
trusts accountable for meeting them, the Department can ensure that the
expansion of resource bases delivers high-quality, consistent, and inclusive
provision, meeting the needs of children with SEND while strengthening
inclusion across mainstream education. (Recommendation, Paragraph 305)

The allocation of £740 million in high needs capital funding for 2025-26

is a welcome investment and reflects a growing recognition of the urgent
need to expand and improve SEND provision. However, this funding should
be seen as a starting point rather than a solution. One-off or short-term
funding cycles make it difficult for local authorities and providers to plan,
commission, and deliver the specialist and inclusive provision needed to
meet rising need. We have heard consistent evidence highlighting the need
for longer-term, multi-year funding settlements to support more strategic
and sustainable planning at the local level. (Conclusion, Paragraph 310)

Page 302
174



88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

The Department for Education should develop and implement a
comprehensive capital investment strategy for SEND. This strategy should
provide clarity over future funding streams, enable better forecasting
and planning, and support the development of high-quality, fit-for-
purpose settings across both mainstream and specialist provision.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 311)

We welcome the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill, particularly the
proposed reforms that give local authorities a greater role in key decision-
making areas such as the establishment of new schools, oversight of
admissions, and the placement of pupils. These changes represent a
positive step toward restoring strategic oversight at the local level.
Empowering local authorities in these areas is essential for improving
coordination across the system, addressing local sufficiency gaps, and
reducing reliance on costly out-of-area or independent placements.
Currently, without this, local authorities have been unable to ensure that
sufficient and suitable provision is available for children and young people
with SEND in their area. (Conclusion, Paragraph 312)

The Department for Education should expand specialist SEND provision by
investing in high-quality specialist state schools and mainstream resource
bases and other mainstream provision. This should be achieved through
shifting funding from some independent specialist school provision to better
value for money state specialist school provision. This will help meet rising
need, support inclusive mainstream education, and reduce reliance on
costly or distant placements. This expansion must be aligned with robust
local planning and forecasting, ensuring that new provision is responsive to
patterns of demand and delivered in a way that reduces pressure on over-
capacity special schools and minimises reliance on distant or expensive
independent placements. (Conclusion, Paragraph 313)

As part of the expansion of specialist SEND, the highest-performing
state specialist schools should be designated as Centres of Excellence.
These schools would play a leading role in supporting the development
of expertise across other schools, local authorities or multi-academy
trusts by providing training, sharing best practice, and offering targeted
support to meet complex and specialist needs across the system.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 314)

The Government should continue to review whether local authorities have
the necessary powers to fulfil their legal obligations to children and young
people with SEND in order to address the mismatch between powers and
responsibilities which has arisen as a consequence of previous reforms.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 315)

Pe}%e 303



93.

94.

95.

As it seeks to expand the capacity of specialist state schools and deliver
inclusive mainstream schools, the Government should monitor and report
on an annual basis on the number of pupils with SEND in mainstream
schools, in specialist independent schools and specialist state schools.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 316)

The data currently collected and available to the DfE on both mainstream
and specialist SEND need is limited and inconsistent. Comprehensive
data at the local, regional and national level is essential to assessing the
sufficiency of capacity and determining funding allocations for education
settings. (Conclusion, Paragraph 321)

To plan effectively for future capacity and ensure the right support is in
place, the Department must take a data driven approach, developing
a more robust understanding of need by systematically gathering and
analysing relevant, high-quality data. This should include a national
SEND data strategy that requires local authorities and education settings
to collect and report standardised, high-quality data on levels of need,
current provision, capacity, and projected demand. This would require
clear definitions and metrics for identifying and categorising SEND
across mainstream and specialist settings and mandatory annual data
submissions aligned with school and local authority planning cycles.
(Recommendation, Paragraph 322)

Page 304
176



Formal Minutes

Tuesday 2 September 2025

Members present
Helen Hayes, in the Chair
Jess Asato

Mrs Sureena Brackenridge
Amanda Martin

Darren Paffey

Manuella Perteghella

Mark Sewards

Solving the SEND Crisis

Draft Report (Solving the SEND Crisis), proposed by the Chair, brought up
and read.

Ordered, That the draft Report be read a second time, paragraph by
paragraph.

Paragraphs 1to 327 read and agreed to.

Summary agreed to.

Resolved, That the Report be the Fifth Report of the Committee to the House.
Ordered, That the Chair make the Report to the House.

Ordered, That embargoed copies of the Report be made available, in
accordance with the provisions of Standing Order 134.

Adjournment

Adjourned till Wednesday 10 September 2025 at 9.00am

Pe}%e 305



Withesses

The following witnesses gave evidence. Transcripts can be viewed on the
inquiry publications page of the Committee’s website.

Tuesday 28 January 2025

Ms Katie Ghose, CEO, Kids; Amanda Allard, Director, Council for Disabled
Children; Miss Imogen Steele, Policy and Public Affairs Officer, Contact Q1-22

Tania Tirraoro, Co-Director, Special Needs Jungle Ltd; Jo Harrison, Director
and Co-Chair, National Network of Parent Carer Forums (NNPCF); Mrs
Hayley Harding, Founder, Let Us learn Too; Agnes Agyepong, CEO and
founder, Global Black Maternal Health Q23-34

Tuesday 25 February 2025

Phil Haslett, Deputy Chair, F40; Dr Luke Sibieta, Research Fellow,

Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS); Councillor Kate Foale, Spokesperson for
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, County Councils Network; Rob
Williams, Senior Policy Advisor, National Association of Head Teachers;
Claire Dorer OBE, Chief Executive, National Association of Independent
Schools and Non-Maintained Special Schools Q35-81

Tuesday 11 March 2025

Catherine McLeod MBE, CEO, Dingley’s Promise; Ms Annamarie Hassall
MBE, CEO, The National Association for Special Educational Needs (nasen);
Margaret Mulholland, SEND & Inclusion specialist, Association of School
and College Leaders (ASCL); Clare Howard, CEO, Natspec Q82-95

Katie Nellist, Young Person with experience of the SEND system; Miss Lucy
Bowerman, Young Person with experience of the SEND system; Joanna

Hall, Young Person with experience of the SEND system; Sarah Cobb, Young
Person with experience of the SEND system; Madeline Thomas, Young
Person with experience of the SEND system Q96-109

Page 306
178


https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8684/Solving-the-SEND-Crisis/publications
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15317/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15317/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15440/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15501/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15501/html/

Tuesday 29 April 2025

Lisa O’Connor, Vice President, Association of Educational Psychologists;
Professor lan Kessler, Professor of Public Policy and Management,

Kings College London; Janet Harrison, Head of Service at Leicestershire
Partnership NHS Trust and Member, The Royal College of Speech and
Language Therapists Q110-126

Ms Marie Gascoigne, speech, language and communication policy expert,
advisor and consultant, Better Communications CIC; Sarah Walter, Director,
ICS Network, NHS Confederation; Alison Stewart, Head of SEND, South
West London Integrated Care Board Q127-150

Tuesday 13 May 2025

Georgina Downard, Senior Solicitor, Independent Provider of Special
Education Advice (IPSEA); Sharon Chappell, Assistant Ombudsman, Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO); Adam Sproston, Senior
inspector for SEND and Alternative Provision, Ofsted; Lucy Harte, Deputy
Director of Multi-agency Operations, Care Quality Commission (CQC) Q151-193

Tuesday 10 June 2025

Dr Susana Castro-Kemp, Associate Professor in Psychology and Special
Needs at the Centre for Inclusive Education in the Department of Psychology
and Human Development, UCL Faculty of Education and Society (IOE);

Dr Peter Gray, Co-coordinator of the National SEN Policy Research Forum,
SSCYP (Strategic Services for Children & Young People); Jo Hutchinson,
Director for SEND and additional needs, Education Policy Institute Q194-209

Daniel Constable-Phelps, Executive Headteacher, St Mary’s Primary and
Nursery School; Conrad Bourne, Director for SEND, The Mercian Trust;
Nicole Dempsey, Director of SEND and Safeguarding, Dixons Academies
Trust Q210-229

Tuesday 1 July 2025

Catherine McKinnell MP, Minister of State (Minister for School Standards),
Department for Education; Alison Ismail, Director of SEND, Department for
Education Q230-294

Pe}%e 307


https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15814/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15814/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/15895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16075/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16075/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/16258/html/

Published written evidence

The following written evidence was received and can be viewed on the
inquiry publications page of the Committee’s website.

SEN numbers are generated by the evidence processing system and so may
not be complete.

1

© 0o N oo b~ W N

—_
o

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
91

22
23

#BeeWell

20/20health

24x7 Group; and SENDTO

9000 Lives SEND Consultancy
A Little Bit of Sunshine UK
Achieving for Children

Action Cerebral Palsy

Action for Children
Action-attainment CIC

ADHD 360

Adoption UK

Agilisys

Alderson, Naomi

Alessandro Capozzi
Alexander-Passe, Dr Neil
AllChild

Allcock, Mrs Maria

Allen, Miss Claudine

Allen, Mrs Tasha (SENDCO, South View Infant School)
Alliance for Inclusive Education

Alveyn, Mrs Mary (Vice Chair, responsible for SEND, of
Governors, St Peters Catholic Primary School, Winchester)

Ambitious about Autism

Anna Freud

P
age1 5008

SENO816
SEN0256
SENO569
SEN0027

SENO781
SEN0326
SENO507
SENO789
SEN0680
SEN0699
SEN0520

SENO751
SEN0690
SEN0546
SENO069

SENO517
SENOOS5
SEN0304
SENOO036
SENO0349

SEN0456
SENO796
SEN0853


https://committees.parliament.uk/work/8684/Solving-the-SEND-Crisis/publications
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137195/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135629/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136866/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133325/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137160/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135871/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136518/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137168/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137035/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137059/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136674/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137122/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137047/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136820/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133600/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136666/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133537/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135810/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133393/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135938/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136266/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137175/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137339/html/

94
95
926
97
28
29
30
31

32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41

49
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51

52
53
54
55

Anna Freud
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised
Anonymised

Anonymised

Pe%%e 309

SEN0682
SENO0413
SENO104
SEN0229
SEN0239
SEN0238
SENO0695
SEN0346
SEN0384
SEN0343
SENO160
SENO155
SENO117
SENO0122
SENO0140
SENOO0G65
SENO094
SENO101
SENOO78
SENO084

SENO090

SENOOS53
SENO054
SENO047
SENO0O44
SENO0O34
SENOO16
SENOO15
SENOO030
SENOOTM
SENOOOG6
SENOO13


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137038/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136072/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133918/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135517/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135546/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135543/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137054/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135933/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136007/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135929/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134897/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134875/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134323/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134380/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134505/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133588/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133747/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133892/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133658/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133684/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133714/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133509/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133535/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133467/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133454/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133383/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133210/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133209/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133339/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133196/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133156/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133206/html/

56
57
58
59

60

61

62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69

70

71
72
73
74

75

76

Anonymised
Anti-bullying Alliance
Archway Learning Trust

Armed Forces Families and Safeguarding, Ministry of
Defence

Ashworth, Dr Emma (Associate Professor of Child and
Adolescent Mental Health, Liverpool John Moores
University); Prof Lucy Bray (Professor of Children’s

Health Literacy, Edge Hill University); Prof Amel Alghrani
(Professor of Law, University of Liverpool); and Dr Joanna
Kirkby (Research Assistant, Liverpool John Moores
University)

Aspris Children’s Services

Association of Colleges

Association of Educational Psychologists

Association of School & College Leaders

Aubin, Mr Gary (SEND Consultant, SENDMattersUK Ltd)
Auditory Verbal UK

Autism Bedfordshire

Autistica

Azpitarte, Dr Francisco (Senior Lecturer in Social Policy,
Loughborough University); Professor Louise Holt (Professor
Human Geography, Loughborough University); and Dr Sobhi
Berjawi (Research Associate, Loughborough University)

Azpitarte, Dr Francisco (Senior Lecturer in Social Policy,

Loughborough University); Professor Louise Holt (Professor

Human Geography, Loughborough University); and Dr

SENOO18
SENO873
SENO385

SEN0658

SENO144
SENO799
SEN0462
SEN0O686
SEN0663
SENO782
SENO314
SEN0418
SEN0273

SEN0802

Sobhi Berjawi (Research Associate, Loughborough University) SENO772

B HEARD
B4ND (British Association for Neurodiversity)
BMet College

Bagnall, Dr Charlotte (Lecturer in the Psychology of
Education, The University of Manchester)

Bailey, Mr Calvin MP; and Ms Georgina McDonald (Senior
Caseworker, Constituency of Leyton and Wanstead)

Baker, Mrs Debbie (Trust Lead for Inclusion, Eggbuckland
Vale Primary School)

P 1
agengs2 0

SENO0837
SENO552
SEN0442

SEN0402

SEN0596

SEN0465


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133226/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137359/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136008/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137007/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134553/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137178/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136292/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137043/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137015/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137161/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135840/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136082/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135714/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137181/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137149/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137216/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136841/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136155/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136038/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136923/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136301/html/

77
78
79

80
81

82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90

91

92
93
94

95
96
97
98
99

100
101

102

103
104

Barber, Mr P

Barclay, Lisa

Barnard, Mr Matthew (Deputy Headteacher, Kea Primary

School)
Barnes, Mrs Bridie

Barron, Lee MP

Bastin, Mr Ben (Head, Treloar College)

Bateman, Miss Samantha
Baverstock, Ms Wendy
Beeches Junior School
Beechwood Childcare Lim
Beechwood Childcare Lim
Beechwood childcare

Benjamin, Joel

Betoin, (Clinical Psychologist - Relationship Health
Practice, Kendal Primary Care Network)

ited
ited

Better Communication CIC

Better Communication CIC

Bevan,

Beverley, Mrs (Headteacher, Blackshaw lane Primary and

Nursery School)

Bishop Bewick Catholic Education Trust

Black Equity Organisation

Black SEN Mamas (SEN Mamas CIC)

Bloomfield Dyslexia Centre

Bond, Professor Caroline (Professor of Educational
Psychology, The University of Manchester)

Bottomley, Mr Richard (Headteacher, Bradford AP Academy)
Boyd, Dr Diana (Family Carer Advisor, National SEND team,

NHS England)

Brees, Ms Natalie (Outreach Lead Teacher, Oak Grove

College)
Bright Future Training Lim
Bristol City Council

ited

Pe}g?)e 311

SENO147
SENOO14

SEN0272
SENOOQO72
SENO0325
SENO721
SENO358
SENO171

SENO0OO2

SENO728
SENO702
SENO587
SENO855

SENO107
SEN0892
SEN0822

SENO4TT

SEN0270
SEN0669
SENO709
SEN0435
SEN0422

SENO21
SEN0290

SENO744

SEN0548
SENO519
SENO735


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134643/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133207/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135713/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133607/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135869/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137087/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135953/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135009/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133093/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137095/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137062/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136907/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137341/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133956/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/141895/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137201/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136067/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135710/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137023/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137072/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136120/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136090/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135326/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135772/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137114/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136828/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136673/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137103/html/

105

106
107
108
109
10
m
12
13
N4
15
16
17
18
19

120

121

122
123
124
125
126

British Association of Teachers of Deaf Children and Young
People (BATOD)

British Dyslexia Association

British Educational Suppliers Association
Brooks, Mrs Becky (SENDCo, Frogmore Infant School)
Brookwood Primary School

Broomfield South SILC

Broomhead, Dr Karen

Brunel

Burke, Brian

Burke, Mrs Susan

Buxton School

CENMAC - Assistive Technology in Education
CWaC SEND Accountability

Calthorpe Academy

Cambridgeshire Speech & Language Therapy Service -
Cambridgeshire Community Services, NHS Trust

Cant, Ms Ayana (Research Assistant, UCL Great Ormond
Street Institute of Child Health); Dr Vincent Nguyen
(Research Fellow, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of
Child Health); Ms Julia Shumway (Research Assistant, UCL
Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health); Prof Bianca
De Stavola (Emeritus Professor of Medical Statistics, UCL
Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health); Dr Kate Lewis
(Research Fellow, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of
Child Health); Dr Ania Zylbersztejn (Senior Research Fellow,
UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health); Pro Katie
Harron (Professor of Statistics and Health Data Science,
UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health); and Prof
Ruth Gilbert (Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, UCL Great
Ormond Street Institute of Child Health)

Career Connect

Caritas Westminster

Catholic Education Service; and Catholic schools
Catterick’s Garrison ASSIST Project (GAP)
Cavendish Education

Cawston Grange Primary School

Page 312
184

SEN0808
SENO0503
SENO798
SEN0367
SENO0185
SENO786
SENOOS51
SENO878
SEN0847

SENO513
SEN0403
SEN0823

SENO173
SEN0259

SENO675

SENO535
SENO746
SENO537
SENO0562
SENO570
SEN0840
SENOOOQO7


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137187/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136473/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137177/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135976/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135168/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137165/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133497/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137364/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137333/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136638/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136042/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137202/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135083/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135660/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137030/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136742/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137116/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136760/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136855/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136867/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137219/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133157/html/

127
128
129
130
131

132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141

142
143
144
145
146

147
148
149
150
151

152
153

Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education (CSIE)
Challenge Partners

Challenging Behaviour Foundation

Chance UK

Chapman, Mrs Claire

Chartered College of Teaching

Children North East

Children’s Services Development Group (CSDG)
City of York Council

Civil Mediation Council; and College of Mediators
Clark, Dr Sian

Cockburn, Kathryn

Coddi, Ms Cecilia

Coffman, Mrs Lisa

Compass

Compass Learning Partnership

Confederation of School Trusts

Connections in Mind CIC

Contact

Cook, Dr Anna (Surrey Future Fellow, University of Surrey);
Professor Emily Farran (Professor in Developmental
Psychology, University of Surrey); Dr Emma Williams
(Lecturer in Developmental Psychology, University of
Surrey); Dr Jo Moss (Senior Lecturer in Developmental
Psychology, University of Surrey); Dr Marie Martel (Lecturer
in Developmental Psychology, University of Surrey); and

Dr Debbie Gooch (Lecturer in Developmental Psychology,

University of Surrey)

Cooper, Miss Anne (Headteacher, Bell Farm Primary School)

Cooper, Mrs Judy

Cornwall Council

Cornwell, Mrs Megan

Cox, Pam MP

Cranford Park C of E primary

Cranmere Primary School

Pe}gse 313

SENO864
SENO768
SENO555
SENOS571
SEN0475
SENQO757
SEN0491
SENO851
SEN0496
SENO557
SENO0359
SENO871
SENO338
SENOO012
SEN0267
SEN0223
SENO760
SEN0443
SENO174

SENO0814
SEN0494
SEN0092
SEN0637

SENO0132
SENO696
SEN0382
SEN0295


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137350/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137145/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136846/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136870/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136331/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137129/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136401/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137337/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136434/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136848/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135954/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137357/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135914/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133199/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135697/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135449/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137132/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136159/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135084/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137193/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136412/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133722/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136975/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134455/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137055/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136004/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135785/html/

154
155

156
157
158
159
160
161

162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171

172
173
174

175
176
177
178
179
180

181
182
183

Crookhorn College

Cunningham, Mrs Maxine (Trust SEND Improvement and
Inclusion Lead, Voyage Education Partnership)

DFN Project SEARCH

Dallaglio RugbyWorks

Damerall, Miss Sharon (Headteacher, Roselyn House School)
Dean, Mrs Cathy

Dell, Mrs Tracey

Dennis, Angela

Department for Education

Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge
Diamond, Mr Gus

Difolco, Marie

Diggle School

Dingley’s Promise

Disability Rights UK

Disabled Children’s Partnership

Dixons Academies Trust

Down’s Syndrome Association

Drumbeat Outreach

Duffy, Grace

Durning, Mrs Aimee (Director of Inclusion and Community,
University of Cambridge Primary School)

Dyslexia Cornwall

EPIC Think Learn C.I.C.

Eames, Paul

Early Education and Childcare Coalition
EdAct

Ely, Mrs Sonya (Executive Headteacher, Tydd St Mary and
Weston Hills Church of England Primary Schools federation)

Empowering Learning
Enable Trust

England and Wales Cricket Board

Page 314
186

SENO0387

SENO0149
SENO556
SENO0301
SEN0582
SENO134
SEN0342
SEN0629
SEN0887

SENO717
SENOO73
SENO097
SEN0278
SENO0334
SEN0889
SENO722
SEN0858
SEN0526
SENO0S581
SENO797

SENOG65T
SENO566
SENO608
SEN0593
SEN0698
SENO588

SENO567
SENO105
SENO337

SEN0O604


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136011/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134706/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136847/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135805/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136897/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134459/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135924/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136963/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137777/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137082/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133608/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133801/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135734/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135899/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/139605/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137089/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137344/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136702/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136886/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137176/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136996/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136862/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136941/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136917/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137057/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136908/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136863/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133925/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135906/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136936/html/

184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191

192
193
194
195

196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205

206
207
208
209
210
2n

212

213

Enrich Learning Trust

Essex County Council

Etio

Everyone Matters Schools Trust

F40

Faculty of Education, Edge Hill University
Fair Education Alliance Youth Steering Group
Family Action

Farmer, Ms Alison

Farrell, Mrs Margaret

Farrell, Mrs Margaret

Faulkner, Mrs Lucy (Headteacher, Lee-on-the-Solent Junior

School)

Fearman, Mrs Anne
Fernandez, Mrs Melanie
Finn-Kelcey, Mrs Isabelle
First Look SEN

Fisher, Mrs Koreen

Fit 2 Learn

Flat Stan First Aid Limited

Flindall, Dr Sarah (GP partner, East Norfolk Medical Practice)

Fort Royal community Primary school (special school)

Friedman, Dr Samantha (Lecturer in Applied Psychology,
University of Edinburgh); and Dr Sinéad Mullally

Freemantles School

GMB Union

Giles, Gemma

Gill, Mr Charles (Teacher, Secondary School)
Global Child and Maternal Health CIC
Global Mediation

Grahl, Cllr Dr Gwen (Labour Councillor and Lead Member
for Children, Young People and Schools, Cricklewood &
Mapesbury)

Gray, Dr Peter
Page 315
187

SENO7M
SEN0655
SENO591
SENO190
SEN0327
SENO742
SEN06G88
SEN0666
SEN0638
SENO0376
SENO0375

SENO139
SENOO0OS8
SENOO037
SEN0274
SEN0247
SEN0420
SENOOO5
SENO026
SENO0365
SENO0127

SEN0685
SENO579
SENO538
SEN0846
SEN0218
SENO780
SEN0870

SEN0885
SENO176


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137076/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137002/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136913/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135212/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135875/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137111/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137045/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137019/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136976/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135993/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135991/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134501/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133159/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133399/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135715/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135581/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136087/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133155/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133314/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135970/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134415/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137041/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136884/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136768/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137332/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135382/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137159/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137356/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137485/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135124/html/

214
215
216

217

218

219
220
221

222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230

231
232

233

234
235
236
237
238

939
940
941

949

Gray, Mrs Abigail
Great Wood School

Greatorex-Kemp, Miss Sophie (English Teacher, University
of Nottingham)

Green, Mrs Fiona

Greenslade, Mrs N

Greenwood Academies Trust
Groves, Mr Clive

Guide dogs

HMC (The Heads’ Conference)
Hack, Amanda MP

Hackney SEND Parent Carer Forum
Hackney SEND Parent Carer Forum
Haddleton, Mrs Kirsty

Haddleton, Mrs Kirsty

Hagarty, Dr Imogen

Hampshire County Council

Hanley, Professor Mary (Professor of Psychology, Durham
University)

Haringey Council

Harris, James (Founder, The Finding Common Ground
project)

Harris, Mrs Helen (Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Officer,
The Tapscott Learning Trust)

Harrison, Ms Ekaterina

Hatfield, Mrs Debbie

Health Conditions in Schools Alliance
Healthwatch York

Healy, Ms D (Teaching assistant and dyslexia specialist,
Secondary School)

Hertfordshire County Council
Herts Community NHS Trust
Herts Parent Carer Involvement

High Vibe Foundation

P 1
age1é38 6

SENO778
SENO353

SENO046
SENO727
SEN0447
SENO553
SEN0323
SENO888
SEN0O414
SENO684
SENO577
SENO0595
SEN0636
SEN0635
SEN0633
SENO590

SENO506
SEN0872

SEN0473

SENO533
SEN0472
SENQO777
SENQO792
SENO585

SEN0236
SEN0657
SEN0645
SENO756
SEN0234


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137156/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135948/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133465/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137094/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136185/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136842/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135863/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/139604/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136074/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137040/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136881/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136919/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136973/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136972/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136968/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136912/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136495/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137358/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136328/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136734/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136327/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137155/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137171/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136903/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135537/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137006/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136985/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137128/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135534/html/

243

944
945

246
247

248
249
250
251

252
253
254

255
256
257
258
259
260
261

262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269

Hill, Mr Jamie (Head of Specialist Provision for the Deaf,
Medstead C of E Primary School)

Hopton, Mrs Melanie

Hoult, Dr Elizabeth (Professor of Education, Northumbria
University)

Hoyle, Ms Alice (CEO, Sense and Connect)

Hughes, Ms Rhianedd (Head of SEN Statutory Service,
Brighton and Hove City Council)

Hull Parent Carer Forum
Hunter, David
Hyde, Mr Andy

Hyde, Andy; Linda Abdulkabir; Martin Dean; Marion
Strudwick; Carla Correia; and Maria Telesia

IMPACT
IPSEA (Independent Provider of Special Education Advice)

Imich, Dr Andre (SEN and Disability Specialist Adviser,
Al SEND Advisory Service)

Inclusive Solutions UK Ltd

Independent Schools Council

Indoamerican Refugee and Migrant Organisation
Information, Advice and Support Services Network
Institute of Health Visiting

Intensive Interaction Institute

International Coalition Against Restraint and Seclusion’s
(ICARS)

Internet Matters

Iris Possibilities CIC

Isos Partnership
Jeffery, Mr Simon

Jogo Behaviour Support
Johnson, Ms Emma
Jubb, Tracy

Justify Foundation

Pe}gge 317

SENO0277
SENO143

SENO743
SENO083

SEN0043
SENO598

SENO412
SEN0455

SENO0572
SEN0865
SENO678

SENO0542
SENOOO9
SENO758
SENO753
SEN0693
SENO0471
SEN0231

SENO0868
SENOQ774
SENO701
SEN0421
SENO198
SEN0424
SEN0025
SENO167
SENOOGS


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135732/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134521/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137112/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133677/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133453/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136925/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136071/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136261/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136871/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137351/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137033/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136795/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133171/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137130/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137124/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137050/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136324/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135528/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137354/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137151/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137061/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136089/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135261/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136092/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133305/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134949/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133597/html/

270

271
272
273
274
275

276
277
278
279
280
281

282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291

292
293
294
295

296
297
298

Kallitsoglou, Dr Angeliki (Senior Lecturer, University of
Exeter)

Kavanagh, Ms Tonya

Kelvin Grove Primary School
Kelvin Grove Primary School
Kids

King, Dr Stephanie (Early Career Academic, University of
Derby)

King, M

Kinship

Kirkleatham Hall School

Knapman, Nick

Knight, Mr Sam (Deputy Head, Outcomes First Group)
Knight, Mr Simon (Joint Headteacher, Frank Wise School)
LGSCO

Lancashire County Council

Lane

Lawson, Dr Deborah

Learn Sheffield

Learning DNA Ltd

Learning for Life Multi Academy Trust

Learning in Harmony Trust

Leeds Trinity University

Liberty Academy Trust

Linford, Mrs Paula

Little Hearts Matter

Little, Mrs Lucy Emma

Littlewood, Mrs Emily (Inclusion Leader, TAMAT - The
Alliance Multi Academy Trust); Culligan (SENCO, TAMAT);
and Taylor (Inclusion Leader, TAMAT)

Liverman, Susan
Local Government Association

London Borough of Barking & Dagenham

Page 318
190

SEN0454
SENO516
SENO502
SENO550
SEN0624

SEN0490
SEN0844
SENO509
SENO0O42

SENO0216
SENOOT1

SENO179
SEN0576
SEN0594

SENO771
SENO048
SEN0643
SENO0534
SEN0224
SENO714
SEN0O368
SEN0263
SENOOG1
SEN0363
SEN0396

SEN0826
SENO091
SENO415
SENO0813


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136248/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136664/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136465/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136837/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136958/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136398/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137223/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136549/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133447/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135370/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133605/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135139/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136879/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136918/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137148/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133473/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136982/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136737/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135452/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137079/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135977/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135683/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133579/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135963/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136029/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137205/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133717/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136075/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137192/html/

299

300
301

302
303
304
305
306

307
308
309
310
31
312
313
314

315
316
317
318
319

320

London Borough of Camden; North Central London

ICB; Camden Learning; Parliament Hill School; Camden
SENDIASS; Camden Special Parent Forum; Swiss Cottage
School; and Heath School

London Borough of Waltham Forest
London Councils

London South East Academies Trust
London South East Colleges

Long Covid Kids & Friends

Long Marston VA C of E Primary

Luff, Mrs Rosalind (London Regional representative,
National Network of Parent Carer Forums); and Claire
Richmond (London Regional representative, National
Network of Parent Carer Forums)

Lunn, Dr Judith (Senior Lecturer, Lancaster Medical School)

Mable Therapy

MacCleary, James MP

MacCormac, Lorna

Maclay, Leonie

Magic Breakfast

Malden Oaks School and Tuition Centre

Maloy, Dr Liam (Senior Lecturer in Education (Research),
University of Derby); Jo Tolley (Researcher and Research
Administrator, University of Derby); Emma Cross
(Researcher, University of Derby); Nicholas Barwell
(Researcher, University of Derby); and Alex Brown
(Researcher, University of Derby)

Martin, Miss Molly

Martin-Morrissey, Ms Sam (SENCO, Home)
Mason, Mr lan (Headteacher, Mills Hill Primary)
Max Appeal

Macquarrie, Dr Sarah (Senior Lecturer in Psychology of
Education, University of Manchester); and Dr Alexandra
Hennessey (Senior Lecturer in Psychology of Education,
University of Manchester)

SENO747
SEN0425
SENO659
SEN0486
SEN0487
SENO336
SENOO70

SENO0732
SENO750
SENO0331
SEN0525
SEN0439
SENO0560
SENO0523
SEN0282

SENO0563
SENO315
SEN0660
SEN0275
SENO0681

SENO573

McFadden, Mr Eugene (SENCO, Truro Penwith Academy Trust) SENOO17

Pe%%e 319


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137117/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136095/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137011/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136382/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136385/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135905/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133602/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137100/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137121/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135888/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136697/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136127/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136852/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136687/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135748/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136857/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135843/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137012/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135724/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137037/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136873/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133223/html/

321
322

323
324
325
326

327
328
329
330
331

332
333
334
335
336

337
338

339
340
341

342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350

McGrath, J

McLaughlin, Professor Colleen (Professor Emerita,
University of Cambridge)

Melling, Dr Richard (Educational Psychologist, Independent)

Mercuri International (UK) Ltd
Michaels, Dr Sarah (Neurodevelopmental Specialist GP)

Middleton, Dr Tristan (Senior Lecturer in Inclusive
Education, University of Gloucestershire)

Miller, Simon

Milton Keynes City Council

Minerva’s Virtual Academy

Monk, Peter

Moor House Research & Training Institute

Moore, Mr Christopher

More House School, Frensham

Morgan, Stephen J (Early Years Coach and Mentor)
Morris, Hannah (Educational Psychologist, EdPsych4Kids)

Mort, Ms Bethan (Head of SEND Therapies, Southend City
Council)

Mums Supporting Mums Horsham

NAPLIC: National Association of Professional’s Concerned
with Language Impaired Children

NASS (National Association Special Schools)
NASUWT - The Teachers’ Union

NET Academy Trust

NEU

NIHR Children and Families Policy Research Unit
Nasen

National Association for Hospital Education
National Association of Head Teachers (NAHT)
National Association of Virtual School Heads (NAVSH)
National Autistic Society

National Development Team for Inclusion (NDTI)

National Foundation for Educational Research

Page 320
192

SENO096

SENO716
SENO703
SEN0399
SEN0524

SEN0O390
SENOST
SENO712

SENO788

SENO0691

SENO665

SEN0522

SEN0825

SENO109

SEN0200

SENO0451
SEN0621

SENO0539
SEN0287
SEN0289
SENO641
SEN0640
SENO740
SEN0809
SENO879
SEN0444
SEN0453
SEN0646
SEN0222
SEN0697


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133793/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137081/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137065/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136034/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136693/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136017/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136579/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137077/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137167/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137048/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137017/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136686/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137204/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133974/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135272/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136214/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136955/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136782/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135762/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135769/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136979/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136978/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137108/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137188/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137365/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136166/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136243/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136986/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135435/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137056/html/

351

352
353
354
355
356

357
358

359
360
361

362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371

372
373
374
375
376

377
378
379
380

National Governance Association

National Institute of Teaching

National Medicines In Specialist Schools Group
National Network of Parent Carer Forums (NNPCF)
National SENCo Advocacy Network

National SEND Forum; and Federation of Leaders in
Special Education

National Sensory Impairment Partnership

National Society for Eductation (Church of England and
Church in Wales)

National Star
Natspec

Needle, Garry (Head Teacher, Saint Joseph’s Junior, Infant
and Nursery School)

Nellist, Dr Ruth

Neville

New College Worcester
New Bridge Group

New Economics Foundation
Newton, Mrs Faith

Nexus Multi Academy Trust
Ni Chobhthaigh, Sorcha
Nisai Learning

Norfolk County Council
North Northamptonshire Parent Carer Voices
North Somerset Council
North Star Community Trust
Northage, Miss Joan

Nottinghamshire County Council; and Nottingham and
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board

Nystagmus Network
Nurtureuk
Oastlers School

Octavia House Schools

Pe}gg)e 321

SENO785
SENO877

SENO191
SEN0248
SENO146

SENO618
SEN0694

SENO0754
SEN0393
SEN0O305

SENO0306
SENO0341
SENO644
SEN0605
SEN0255
SENO710
SEN0625
SENO0123
SENO0276
SENO787
SENO0371
SEN0423
SEN0804
SENO745
SENOO052

SENO779
SENO501
SENO381
SENO116
SENO0217


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137164/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137363/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135215/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135596/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134632/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136952/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137052/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137125/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136025/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135814/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135816/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135923/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136984/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136937/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135628/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137075/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136959/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134388/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135731/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137166/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135983/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136091/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137183/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137115/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133508/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137157/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136457/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136003/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134322/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135377/html/

381

382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391

392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399

400

401

4092
403
404
405

Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and
Skills (Ofsted)

Olive Academies

Omnia Learning Trust

OnLineTraining Ltd

One education, Creative Psychotherapies in Education
Open University Students Association

Optima Psychology

Orange, Mrs Lisa

Ordinary Classrooms Educational Consultancy Ltd
Orr, Mrs Sally

Our Community Multi Academy Trust

Outcomes First Group

OxEd and Assessment

Oxfordshire County Council

PAGS

PSHE Association

Parent Carer Forum Cheshire West & Chester
Parent Carers Together

Paulmann, Silke (Professor, Head of Department,
University of Essex, Psychology Department); and Claire
Oakley (Lecturer, University of Essex, Department of
Psychology)

Patil, Mr Ash (Chair of Governors, Westfield Primary School
& Nursery, Berkhamsted, Herts); Mr Ronnie Jacob (Trustee
(Finance), Watford Workshop (for disabled people)); and
Dr Tim Coulson (CEO, Unity Schools Patnership (MAT in
Norfolk, Suffolk & North Essex))

Patoss, the Professional Association of Teachers of
Students with Specific Learning Difficulties

Payne, Miss Elizabeth
Pdnet
Perseid School and MSTA

Petersen, Dr Katharine (GP partner and ICB clinical lead in
Mental health neurodivergence and learning disability in
North East North Cumbria)

Page 322
194

SEN0689
SEN0457
SENO181
SENO0128
SENOO75
SEN0O308
SENO0883
SENOQ775
SENO749
SENO161
SEN0460
SEN0829
SEN0347
SENO770
SEN0622
SENO761
SENOO39
SEN0249

SENO776

SENQO737

SEN0667
SENO052

SEN02831

SENO166

SENOT14


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137046/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136273/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135144/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134422/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133624/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135821/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137481/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137153/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137119/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134906/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136287/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137208/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135935/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137147/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136956/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137133/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133424/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135601/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137154/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137105/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137021/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135749/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135749/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134942/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134301/html/

406
407
408
409
410

M

412
413
414

415
416
417
418
419
490
491
4992
493

494
495

426
427

428

Phillips, Claire

Pinpoint Cambridgeshire
Plant, Mrs Charlotte
Platt, Jo MP

Pluquailec, Dr Jill (Senior Lecturer, Sheffield Hallam
University)

Pole, Elizabeth (Kent Professional Lead Speech & Language
Therapist for the Balanced System, Kent County Council);
Hester Mackay (SEND Therapies Lead Teacher, Kent County
Council); Ruth Clement (Head of Kent Children’s Therapies,
Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust); and Helen
Waymouth (Head of CYP Therapies, East Kent Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust)

Portsmouth City Council
Portsmouth City Council

Portsmouth City Council; West Sussex County Council; East
Sussex County Council; and Brighton and Hove

Potential Plus UK

Premier Advisory Group

Prior’s Court Foundation

Pupil Pathways

RAF Families Federation

REAch2 Academy Trust

Raw Learning Community CIC

Renaissance (incorporating GL Assessment)

Research Centre for Global Learning, Coventry University;
and Experts By Experience

Rhodes, Rev Laura (Vicar, Church of England)

Richards, Hannah (KS2 Class Teacher, St Gregory CEVC
Primary School)

Richmond Parent Carer Forum

Richmond, Claire (NNPCF London Regional Director,
NNPCF London Region); and Rosalind Luff (NNPCF London
Regional Director, NNPCF London Region)

River Tees Multi-Academy Trust

Pe}gse 323

SENO723
SEN0205
SENOO38
SEN0182

SEN0280

SENO715
SENO679
SEN0250

SEN0266
SEN0529
SENO080O
SENO0578
SEN0405
SENO0683
SENO677
SEN0202
SENO616

SENO36T
SENO00O4

SEN0440

SEN0836

SENO793
SENO730


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137090/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135303/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133419/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135147/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135739/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137080/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137034/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135607/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135696/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136728/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137179/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136882/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136044/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137039/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137032/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135280/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136950/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135959/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133150/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136128/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137215/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137172/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137097/html/

429

430

431

4392
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441

449
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451

452
453
454
455

456
457
458

Robertson, Christopher (Visiting Professor, Inclusion,

Special Educational Needs and Disability, University of Derby) SENO0731

Robertson, Christopher (Visiting Professor, Inclusion,

Special Educational Needs and Disability, University of Derby) SEN0729

Robinson, Mr David

Rose, Mrs Sarah

Royal British Legion

Royal College of Occupational Therapists
Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists
Royal National College for the Blind

Royal Society for Blind Children

SASC SpLD Assessment Standards Committee
SEN Policy Research Forum

SEND in The Specialists Coalition
SEDSconnective

SNAP

SOS Special Educational Needs

Sadler, Emma

Sandcross Primary School

School-Home Support

Schools North East

Searjeant, James

Seashell

Sefton Council on behalf of Sefton SEND area partnership
Sense

Service Children’s Progression Alliance
Sinclairs Law

Skills Builder Partnership

Snowling, Professor Margaret (Professor Emeritus and
Research Fellow, St. John’s College, Oxford)

Solihull Council
South Thames Colleges Group

Southwark Law Centre; and Action for Education Rights
Group

Page 324
196

SENOO59
SENO0674
SEN0600
SENO0372
SENO707
SEN0843
SENO0431
SENO0333
SENO300
SEN0652
SEN0842
SENO0687
SEN0834
SEN0543
SENO0362
SEN0O668
SENO559
SEN0024
SENO700
SENO312
SENO60T
SENO554
SEN0849
SENO725

SEN0292
SEN0450
SENO0485

SENO317


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137099/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137096/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133572/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137028/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136932/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135984/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137069/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137222/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136108/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135897/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135801/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136998/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137221/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137044/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137213/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136798/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135962/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137022/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136851/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133300/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137060/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135836/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136933/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136844/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137335/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137092/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135781/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136203/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136379/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135845/html/

459
460
461

4692
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
an

479

473
474
475

476
477
478
479
480
481

489
483
484
485
486

487
488
489

Souza, Ms Rhian Davies-De
Spaghetti Bridge

Special Educational Consortium
Special Needs Jungle Ltd

Speech & Language Link

Speech and Language UK
Speech, Language and Communication Alliance
SpeechWise Ltd

Springboard Opportunity Group
St Ann’s Catholic Primary School
St Clare’s Preschool

St Gilbert’s CE Primary School

St Gregory’s CEVC Primary School

St Mark’s CE Primary; Vicarage Park CE Primary; and

Crosscrake CE Primary

St Mark’s CofE Primary School

St. Bartholomew’s C of E Primary School
Staffordshire County Council
Staffordshire Educational Psychology Service
Steele, Ms Marcia

Steer, Kate

Stevens, Emily

Stevens, Mr Andrew

Stevens, Rev Simon

Stocksbridge High School

Stoke Mandeville Combined School
Stone, Mrs Aimee

Stonehouse Park Federation

Strogilos, Dr Vasilis (Associate Professor, University of

Southampton)
Sunshine Support
Supporting Education Group (SEG)

Surrey County Council

Pe}%e 325

SENOO66
SENO0329
SENO734
SENO610
SEN0449
SENO718
SENO704
SENO0631

SENO121
SENO0213
SENO163

SENO350

SEN0882

SENO0369
SENO0321
SEN0233
SEN0417
SENO0812
SENO103
SENO0819
SENO150

SENO082

SEN0632
SENO186

SEN0O404

SEN0348
SENO673

SEN0607
SEN0495
SENO0875
SENO0389


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133590/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135885/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137102/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136943/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136198/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137083/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137066/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136965/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134362/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135337/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134922/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135942/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137478/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135978/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135860/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135532/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136080/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137191/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133909/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137198/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134712/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137206/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136967/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135188/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136043/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135937/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137027/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136939/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136431/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137361/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136016/html/

490

491

492
493

494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501

502
503
504
505
506
507
508

509
510
5N
512

513

514
515
516
517

Sutton, lan (Children & Young People Project Lead, LDA
Programme)

Swift, Dr Diane (Associate Lecturer, The Open University);
and Mr Andy Ogden (Director of CPD, Tarka Trust)

Tameside Local Authority

Tarantini-Amor, Ms Laura (SEND and EAL Consultant,
Harris Federation)

Taylor, Mrs J

The Association of Directors of Children’s Services Ltd
The Aurora Group

The Beckmead Trust

The Bell Foundation

The Blue Tangerine Federation

The British Psychological Society

The Brook Special Primary School
The Centre for Young Lives

The County Councils Network (CCN)
The Disability Policy Centre

The Eastwood Academy

The Henry Beaufort School

The Independent Schools Association

The Kayaks (Kids And Young Adults Klub - Special Needs
support group)
The Licensed Private Hire Car Association (LPHCA)

The Mulberry Bush
The Multi-Schools Council

The National Acquired Brain Injury in Learning and
Education Syndicate (N-ABLES)

The National Association of Principal Education
Psychologists (NAPEP)

The National Deaf Children’s Society

The Nuffield Foundation

The Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB)
The Tutor Trust

Page 326
198

SENOOG4

SENO357
SEN0246

SEN0432
SENOO021
SEN0884
SEN0446
SENO0603
SEN0328
SEN0642
SEN0592
SEN0476
SEN0O803
SEN0850
SEN0498
SEN0286

SENO0142
SEN0410

SEN0221
SENOS55T
SEN0407
SENO0461

SEN0296

SENO0881
SENO564
SEN0380
SEN0226
SENO705


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133585/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135952/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135577/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136110/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133254/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137482/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136181/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136935/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135877/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136980/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136914/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136336/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137182/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137336/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136444/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135761/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134516/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136066/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135414/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136839/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136049/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136289/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135789/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137367/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136860/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136002/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135476/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137067/html/

518

519
520
521

522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531

532

533
534

535
536
537
538
539
540

541
542

543

544

Thomas Pocklington Trust

Thompson, Dr Angela

Thomson, Mrs Lesley

Tidball, Dr Marie MP

Tighe, Dr Sarah; and Dr Niamh Wherity
Together Trust

Torbay Council

Torbay Council

Torbay community paediatrics

Townsend, Mrs Lisa

ToyBox Diversity Lab, Queen Margaret University.
Tracks Autism, Early Years Intervention Centre
Triple P UK

Ttofa, Juliette

Tufts, Miss Sarah (Early Years SENCo, Little Swans
Preschool Norfolk)

Tute Education

Tutt, Dr Rona (Past President of the National Association
of Headteachers (NAHT); Malcolm Reeve (National SEND
Leader, Whole School SEND); Kiran Hingorani (Principal,
Swalcliffe Park School); and Julie Walker (Executive Officer,
Special Educational Needs. Somerset Expertise (sen.se))

Tweseldown Infants

Twinkl

Tydd St Mary C of E Primary School
UNISON

Unity Schools Partnership

University of Exeter Centre for Wellbeing, Inclusion,
Disability in Education Research (WIDER)

University of Liverpool Law Clinic

VIEW (Professional Association of the Vision Impairment
Education Workforce)

Vanderslaghmolen, Mrs Sandra (TA, Primary school); and
Mrs Petra Lee (TA, Primary school)

Vaughan, Mrs Alison

Pe}gge 327

SENO589
SEN0866

SEN0271
SEN0648
SEN0288
SEN0602
SENO739
SENO574
SENO170

SENO049

SEN0204
SEN0302
SENO784
SEN0859

SEN0623
SENO664

SEN0627
SENO137
SENO0192
SENO56T
SEN0489
SENO619

SENO0876
SENO388

SENO613

SENO0330
SEN0839


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136911/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137352/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135711/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136989/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135766/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136934/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137107/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136874/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134977/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133478/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135292/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135808/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137163/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137345/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136957/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137016/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136961/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134480/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135236/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136853/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136396/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136953/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137362/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136012/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136946/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135887/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137218/pdf/

545
546
547
548
549

550
551

552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561

562
563

564
565
566
567
568

569
570
571

572

Voice 21

Voice for Learners (Parent action group for online education)

Warig, Mr Keith
Watson, Mrs Victoria

Waugh, Ms Jolanta; Mr Paul Waugh; Ms Alison Miller;
Ms Charlene Halsey; Ms Caitlin Taylor; Ms Hayley
Thomson-de Boor; Mr Jason Halsey; Ms Camille Deeny;
Ms Heather Penny; and Mr Martin Taylor

Wellstead Primary School
West Nottinghamshire College
West Yorkshire ADHD Support Group
Westbourne School

Western, Andrew MP

Whalley, S

White, Ms S

Whizz Kidz

Whole Education

Wider Ambition

Wilkinson,

Williams, Mrs Naomi (Clinical Academic, Sensory learning
& Play C.I.C.)

Wilson

Wilson, Mark (Chief Executive Officer, Wellspring Academy
Trust)

Wimbledon College

Witherslack Group

Worrall, Miss Kate (SENCO, East Peckham Primary School)
Worrell, Mrs Frances

Worthington, Dr Rachel; Dr Kalum Bodfield; and
Dr Rossella Sorte

Wright, John; and Sally Capper
Yates, Ms Denise
Yemm, Steve MP

Yeovil Opportunity Group

Page 328
200

SEN0568
SEN0466
SEN0227
SENOO77

SENO0818
SEN0320
SENO514
SENO141
SENO0536
SEN0692
SENO0360
SENO0023
SENO303
SENO671
SEN0821
SEN0228

SENO162
SENO0378

SEN0020
SEN0394
SENO504

SENOOO3

SENO0102

SENO08OT
SEN0458
SEN0626
SEN0O886
SENO724


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136864/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136306/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135513/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133650/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137197/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135857/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136652/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134507/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136747/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137049/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135958/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133298/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135809/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137025/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137200/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/135516/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/134910/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136000/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133238/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136026/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136486/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133094/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/133904/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137180/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136279/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136960/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137487/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137091/html/

573 Yorkshire and Humber ADCS sub groups SEN0720
574 Yorkshire and Humber Youth Work Unit SENO0510
575 Youth Sport Trust SENO66T

Page 329
201


https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137086/html/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/136562/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/137013/default/

List of Reports from the
Committee during the current
Parliament

All publications from the Committee are available on the publications page
of the Committee’s website.

Session 2024-25

Number  Title Reference

4th Children’s social care HC 430

3rd Appointment of Professor Edward Peck CBE as HC 731
Chair of the Office for Students

2nd Scrutiny of the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools HC 732
Bill

1st Appointment of Sir lan Bauckham CBE as Chief HC 429

Regulator of the Office of Qualifications and
Examinations Regulation (Ofqual)

4th Scrutiny of the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools HC 925
Special Bill: Government Response
3rd Screen time: Impacts on education and wellbeing: | HC 915
Special Government Response
2nd Delivering effective financial education: HC 628
Special Government Response
1st Teacher recruitment, training and retention: HC 627
Special Government Response

Page 330

202


https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/203/Education-Committee/publications/reports-responses/

22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

i GOV-UK

s s

Education & Skills Department

Funding Agency for Education
Guidance

High needs funding: 2025 to
2026 operational guide

Updated 30 June 2025

Applies to England

Contents

Introduction

Changes to the high needs funding operational guide for 2025 to 2026
Annual 2025 to 2026 funding overview

How funding is allocated to local authorities, schools and colleges
Funding for schools and colleges

High needs place funding

High needs top-up funding (including examples)

© N o o bk w0 Dbd =

Local authority high needs central services and support

©

Funding overview by education setting type

10. Alternative provision (AP) and hospital education
11. High needs funding: post-16 special circumstances
12. Further information

13. Annex 1: other information

14. Annex 2: an example of where plggiglltaengf udent numbers differ from

allocated places
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 1/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

15. Annex 3: special schools minimum funding guarantee

16. Annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding and additional
funding

17. Annex 5: responsibility for children and young people who move
between local authorities

18. Annex 6: health and social care costs
19. Annex 7: permanent exclusions: funding adjustments

20. Annex 8: important dates

Page 332

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 2/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

OGL

© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-
funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

Page 333

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 3/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) closed on 31 March
2025. All activity has moved to the Department for Education (DfE). You
should continue to follow this guidance.

1. Introduction

This guide explains how the 2025 to 2026 financial and academic year high
needs funding system will operate locally and across different educational
settings in England. Some sections of the guide are specific to particular
types of setting.

The guide is to inform local budget planning and consultations in the months
prior to the beginning of the financial year 2025 to 2026, particularly in
agreeing how provision for children and young people with high needs
should be commissioned and funded.

The information detailed in the guide should be used with immediate effect,
as many of the sections are also relevant for the ongoing operational
arrangements in the 2025 to 2026 financial and academic year.

The main updates are highlighted in the changes to the high needs funding
operational guide for 2025 to 2026 section.

1.1 Planned publication of the 2026 to 2027 guide

We will publish the 2026 to 2027 high needs operational guide following the
publication of the national funding formula (NFF) for 2026 to 2027.

1.2 Who is this publication for?

This guidance is mainly for:

e local authorities
e schools and colleges (see ‘Table 1: definitions of terms’ below)

e early years providers, including maintained nursery schools
Page 334

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 4/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

1.3 What is high needs funding?

High needs funding supports:

e provision for children and young people with special educational needs
and disabilities (SEND) who require additional resources to participate in
education and learning, mainly in schools and colleges, from their early
years to age 25 (excluding young people aged 19 to 25 who do not have
an education, health and care plan (EHC) plan and individuals who are
over the age of 25)

e children up to age 16 in alternative provision (AP) who, because of
exclusion, illness, or other reasons, cannot receive their education in
mainstream or special schools

Supporting funding arrangement information for young people with special
educational needs (SEN) who are aged 19 to 25 and do not have an EHC
plan, and those who are over the age of 25 is set out in annex 1: other
information.

High needs funding is provided to local authorities through the high needs
block of the dedicated schools grant (DSG), enabling them to meet their
statutory duties under the Children and Families Act 2014
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted) and the Education
Act 1996. Local authorities must spend that funding in line with the
associated DSG: conditions of grant
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026) and The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made).

Local authorities’ high needs funding allocations through the DSG cover:

« allocations of funding to schools and colleges, including place funding
which forms part of schools’ and colleges delegated annual allocation,
and top-up funding

» funding for high needs services delivered directly by the local authority, or
under a separate service level agreement with a school or college. The
latter can include funding devolved to schools and colleges, for them to
spend within limits specified in the agreement

High needs funding is also provided directly to some schools and colleges

by the Department for Education (DfE) and the respective conditions of
grant and funding agreements apply.

Page 335

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 5/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

1.4 Local special educational needs and disabilities
(SEND) responsibilities and accountability

Local authorities are statutorily responsible for overseeing the local offer of
services and provision to meet the special educational needs of children
and young people in their area. The Children and Families Act 2014
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted) requires them to
do this through co-production with key partners. Local authorities must
ensure that children and young people and their parents/carers are involved
in discussions and decisions about their individual support, as well as
involving them in reviewing and improving local provision, in line with their
statutory duties and the SEND code of practice
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25).

Likewise, local authorities must ensure any changes to SEND provision and
high needs funding arrangements are made in close consultation and co-
production with the schools and colleges which will be affected. The local
authority’s schools forum (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-
forums-operational-and-good-practice-quide-2015) is one way through which
partnership working across the education sector can be strengthened to
ensure the local authority’s spending decisions are most effective. Local
authorities must consult with the schools forum about their high needs
funding arrangements, which should include funding for place number
changes and top-up funding rates, as well as budgets for independent
school placements and central support services.

In addition, all of those providing education to children and young people
from the area should be engaged, regardless of where the provider is
located, to ensure good quality provision can be planned, developed and
sustained in line with available resources. This includes early years settings
and colleges, as well as parents of children and young people

with SEND and young people themselves.

Responsibility within a school or college sits at different levels depending on
how they are organised. For example, the head teacher or principal of an
academy is responsible for the individual school, while the academy trust
oversees a group of academies. This is reflected in the statutory duties and
the practical arrangements. Under the Children and Families Act 2014 the
leader of a specific school or college (for example, a headteacher or
principal) must be consulted over the placement of an individual child or
young person, while the overarching body (a governing body, academy trust
or the proprietor responsible for the school or college) must be involved in
strategic decisions relating to the SEND local offer.

Page 336

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 6/87



22/11/2025, 20:54

High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

In this guidance, references to schools and colleges should be interpreted
as applying to the headteacher, principal, governing body, trust or another
proprietor according to the context.

1.5 Definitions of terms

The definitions of some terms used throughout this guide are detailed in

table 1 below.

Table 1: definitions of terms

Term used

Schools and
colleges

Commissioning
local authority or
commissioning
school

Provider local
authority

Resident local
authority

Definition of term

The term ‘schools and colleges’ is used to refer to all
education provider types, including: all mainstream
schools (pre and post-16, maintained and academies,
which should normally be taken to include free
schools unless these are referred to separately, but
excluding mainstream independent schools),
maintained special schools and non-maintained
special schools (NMSS), special free schools, special
academies, independent special schools, pupil referral
units (PRUs) and AP academies, hospital schools,
general further education (FE) colleges, sixth form
colleges, independent learning providers (ILPs) and
special post-16 institutions (SPIs) — unless specific
references or funding processes are relevant to
particular types of school or college

This is the local authority or school placing a child or
young person at a school or college.

For those with EHC plans this will be the local
authority where they live (the resident local authority).
In the case of AP, schools may also be commissioners
for children placed in AP settings

This is usually the local authority where a school or
college is located. The provider local authority funds
the high needs places at a school or college from its
DSG. For centrally funded schools and colleges, that
is, NMSS, SPIs and a small number of other FE, DfE
is considered the provider local authority

This is the local authority where a child or young
person lives (i@l 33their main residence), as

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

7/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Term used Definition of term

identified in the school census or Individualised
Learner Record (ILR) using their postcode. The local
authority where a child or young person lives will be
responsible for securing any special educational
provision or for making AP, funded from their high
needs budget

2. Changes to the high needs funding
operational guide for 2025 to 2026

We have taken the opportunity to review some aspects of this 2025 to 2026
guide and have consequently made some changes from the 2024 to 2025
version. These changes have resulted in a rearrangement of the order of
some sections; and refinements to the text to improve the readability,
provide greater clarity and remove duplication to aid the reader. Finally,
some sections have also been moved from the main document into
annexes.

In making these changes, we have not altered the substance of the
guidance, as the operational processes and core principles remain
unchanged.

For 2025 to 2026, the main changes are:

2.1 New information:

» overall funding increases and changes to the high needs national funding
formula (NFF) - see annual 2025 to 2026 high needs funding overview

e changes to how legacy funding streams and additional grant funding are
allocated

o 2025 to 2026 special schools minimum funding guarantee

e new VAT rules which apply to some schools and colleges
e 2024 to 2025 academic year 16 to 19 average national funding rate

e 2024 to 2025 academic year exceptional in-year growth methodology /
criteria for SPIs and centrally funded colleges

Page 338

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 8/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

2.2 June 2025 update:

e updated core schools budget grant (CSBG) funding information and
references related to the £83 million to help special and AP schools with
the additional costs relating to the teachers’ and other staff 2025 pay
awards

2.3 March 2025 updates

e information about the distribution methodology for the additional funding
to compensate employers for the increase in National Insurance
contributions (NICs). This funding is being allocated as an additional part
of the 2025 to 2026 CSBG, which already comprises a continuation of 3
separate 2024 to 2025 grants: the teachers’ pay additional grant (TPAG);
2024 teachers’ pension employer contribution grant (TPECG 2024) and
2024 to 2025 CSBG for the 2024 teachers’ pay award and support staff
costs

e information about the commissioning and contract implications for SEND
education placements and services, following the introduction of the
Procurement Act 2023 that took effect from 24 February 2025

o references to updated guidance for local authorities and schools on AP

3. Annual 2025 to 2026 funding overview

3.1 High needs funding allocations to local authorities
for 2025 to 2026

The majority of high needs funding is allocated through the high

needs NFF and included in local authorities’ DSG allocations
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026). The total high needs budget for 2025 to 2026 will be £12 billion, of
which £11.3 billion is initially distributed through the NFF to provide
indicative allocations for local authorities, £145 million is set aside for later
NFF adjustments and allocations outside the NFF, and £605 million is for

the CSBG. Page 339

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

9/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The basic structure of the high needs NFF for 2025 to 2026 has not
changed from the 2024 to 2025 NFF. More details can be found in the

NFF policy document (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-2025-t0-2026), calculation tables and
technical note (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-
formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2025-t0-2026).

The separate CSBG, which local authorities will receive in 2025 to 2026,
and for which we have set aside £605 million, comprises 3 separate grants
they received in 2024 to 2025:

o £480 million for a continuation of 3 separate grants they received in 2024
to 2025:
o TPAG

e TPECG 2024

« a full year allocation of the CSBG which is allocated for the period
September 2024 to March 2025, to help with schools’ overall costs,
including the 2024 teachers’ pay award and support staff costs

o £125 million to reflect the additional costs of the employer NICs increase
that employers will face from April 2025

o £83 million to help special schools and academies, PRUs, AP academies
and providers of hospital education, with the costs of the teachers’ and
other staff 2025 pay awards

Further details of how the 2025 to 2026 CSBG allocations to local
authorities are calculated and how local authorities are required to pass this
CSBG on to eligible special schools, PRUs, AP academies, post-16
institutions and those providing hospital education can be found in the core
schools budget grant (CSBG) 2025 to 2026 for special schools and
alternative provision (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/core-schools-
budget-grant-csbg-2025-t0-2026-for-special-schools-and-alternative-provision).

3.2 Funding increases for 2025 to 2026

All local authorities are receiving an increase in funding in 2025 to 2026,
through the NFF. A funding floor provides a minimum increase of 7% per
head of a local authority’s projected resident 2 to 18 population, and the
NFF provides increases up to a gains limit of 10% per head.

The increases in funding to local authorities are both for the costs of
additional placements (including those as a result of a new EHC plan) and
services, and for any increase in the costs of existing high needs
placements and services. Local gyfpitizposhould therefore discuss with

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 10/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

their schools and colleges the funding that they believe is necessary to
make the required provision, taking into account:

o the number of placements they expect to commission (or schools to
commission in the case of AP) in 2025 to 2026, and which should be
reflected in the allocation of high needs place funding for the places
required

 the anticipated costs of those placements in 2025 to 2026, which may be
reflected in the allocation of high needs top-up funding (or high needs
funding for the full cost of placements in independent special schools and
special post-16 institutions not in receipt of place funding)

e the amount of CSBG that schools are receiving

A minimum funding guarantee (MFG) of 0% continues to offer protection for
special schools. Further details can be found in the section on maintained
special schools and special academies, and in annex 3: special schools
minimum funding guarantee.

3.3 Mainstream schools’ and colleges’ SEND provision

The government has made it clear that the general direction of SEND
reform is towards establishing a mainstream school and college
environment that is more inclusive of children and young people who need
specialist SEND provision, including in SEN units and resourced provision
(RP). DfE is working on a range of reforms that will facilitate that shift.

In the meantime, drawing on the research and examples of existing good
practice that have already been published [fetnote 1] [footnote 2] 5
authorities should consider with their schools and colleges whether changes
to local high needs funding arrangements and other developments could be
taken forward to support an enhanced role for mainstream schools and
colleges in making provision for children and young people with more
complex needs. Many local authorities are already improving SEND
provision in their mainstream schools through the creation of more SEN
units and RP.

The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) for 2025 to 2026, will
allow local authorities to spend from their high needs budget in support of
such initiatives. Specifically, local authorities can incur expenditure and
target funding for the purposes both of encouraging the education of
children and young people with SEN at mainstream schools, and of
collaboration between special and mainstream schools to enable those with
SEN to engage in mainstream scho?g activg) . See further information
below on local authorities’ funding o 3R i ices centrally, and on the

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 11/87




22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

funding for mainstream schools, which can be used to target schools that
are particularly inclusive of children with SEND.

4. How funding is allocated to local
authorities, schools and colleges

4.1 High needs funding for local authorities through
the dedicated schools grant (DSG)

The DSG is the main source of government funding for the provision of
education by local authorities and schools in England. Its use is governed
by the DSG: conditions of grant
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026), one of which requires the grant to be spent in accordance with The
School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made). Schedule 2 to the
regulations sets out the categories of central expenditure from their DSG
that local authorities are permitted to incur. The DSG cannot be used for
purposes other than those specified in the conditions of grant and
regulations. Examples of such high needs expenditure from the DSG that is
not permitted are: local authorities’ spending on their SEND and finance
administration, including EHC needs assessment and planning functions,
and spending on health and social care costs. See annex 6: health and
social care costs for further information.

The DSG is intended to meet:

 the educational costs of early years provision, covered by the early years
block

e primary and secondary mainstream education for pupils up to age 16 in
maintained schools and academies, covered by the schools block

 the educational costs of provision for children and young people aged 0
to 25 with complex SEN (excluding those aged over 19 and up to 25
without an EHC plan), and of AP, covered by the high needs block

 the costs of some services for schools delivered centrally by local
authorities, covered by the central school services block (CSSB)

Local authorities can transfer funding from the high needs block and CSSB
to other budgets funded through the DSG. Transfers from the early years
block can be made in complianc&aietBd 2arly years pass through rate

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 12/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
conditions, details of which can be found in the early years entitlements:
local authority funding operational guide 2025 to 2026
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2025-t0-2026).

The schools block is ringfenced which means that this block must be spent
for the purposes specified in the conditions of grant. Local authorities retain
the ability to transfer up to 0.5% of funding out of the schools block to any
other block, with the agreement of the schools forum. Formal permission
from the Secretary of State (a disapplication of the relevant DSG condition
of grant) will be required for transfers out of the schools block above 0.5%,
or transfers of any amount without schools forum approval.

Further details of transfers out of DSG funding blocks, including how to
request a disapplication, can be found in the transfer between blocks
section of the schools operational guide: 2025 to 2026
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-
guidance-for-2025-t0-2026).

Local authorities should be aware that section 5 of the DSG: conditions of
grant sets out particular requirements relating to how income and
expenditure from the DSG should be accounted for locally, including action
that must be taken in the event of overspends and year-end deficits.

4.2 High needs place deductions

For the following schools and colleges, place funding is included in local
authorities’ initial DSG allocations and then deducted from the provider local
authority’s DSG by DfE to pay the funding direct to:

e mainstream academies and free schools

special academies and free schools

AP academies

16 to 19 academies and free schools

general FE colleges, sixth form colleges and ILPs

The number of high needs places deducted is based on the annual place
change notification process.

We do not deduct in the same way for places at centrally

funded NMSS, SPIs and some FE colleges. Instead, these deductions are
effectively made through the NFF import/export adjustment. Further
information about this NFF adjustment is set out in the 2025 to 2026 NFF
policy document (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-
formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-2025&3€98h3and the data for 2025 to

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 13/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

2026 will be published in May/June 2025. It is important that schools and
colleges complete the school census and ILR respectively during the
academic year with accurate information on the number of pupils and
students for whom they receive high needs top-up funding from a local
authority, as this information is used in the calculation of the import/export
adjustment.

Deductions are made for some places at AP free schools, also based on
school census data. For the 2025 to 2026 academic year, deductions will be
made for places at AP free schools that opened during or before the 2023 to
2024 academic year. The deduction is from the DSG of the local authority
where pupils live, based on the number of pupils aged 5 to 15 years, main
or sole registered at that AP free school at the time of the October 2024
census.

The academic year place funding rates are shown below in table 2, with
further information in table 3 on the type of school. The 2024 to 2025 and
2025 to 2026 academic year place amounts are pro rated as follows, to
calculate DSG deductions for the 2025 to 2026 financial year, by place and
type of school or college.

Table 2: pre-16 DSG deductions by type of school

Type of AP: AP: SEN SEN Special
school 2024 to 2025 to unit/RP: unit/RP:  schools:
2025 2026 2024 to 2025 to 2024 to

academic academic 2025 2026 2025

year (x year (x academic academic academic

five- seven- year (x year (x year (x

twelfths) twelfths) five- seven- five-

twelfths) twelfths) twelfths)

Mainstream N/A N/A  £25000r £3,500 or N/A
academies £4 167 £5,833

and free

schools

Special £4 167 £5,833 N/A N/A £4 167
academies

and free

schools

AP £4.167 £5,833 £4 167 £5,833 N/A
academies

and AP free

schools

Page 344

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 14/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
Table 3: post-16 (SEN places) DSG deductions by school or college
type
Type of school or Schools: Schools: Post-16 Post-16 |
college 2024 to 2025 to schools schools §
2025 2026 (16 to (16to (°
academic academic 18): 2024 18): 2025 wi
year (% year (x to 2025 to 2026

four- eight- academic academic
twelfths) twelfths) year (% year (%
four- eight- ac

twelfths) twelfths)
t
Mainstream £2.000 £4.000 N/A N/A

academies and
free schools

Special academies £3,333 £6,667 N/A N/A
and free schools

AP academies £2,000 £4,000 N/A N/A
16 to 19 N/A N/A £2,000 £4,000

academies/FE/ILPs

The above rates are multiplied by the number of places to calculate the total
deduction amount.

5. Funding for schools and colleges

Schools and colleges receive high needs funding in different ways,
depending on the type of setting.

5.1 Core funding

The annual allocation a school or college receives as high needs place
funding, which is equivalent, or in addition, to the core funding received by
schools and colleges through their respective funding formulae. This
funding is received either directly frofia@e g4%ider local authority (for

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 15/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

maintained schools and PRUs, based on the financial year) or from DfE (for
academies, NMSS, ILPs, FE colleges and SPIs, based on the academic
year). This core funding has been supplemented by various additional
funding streams, which have remained as separate annual allocations and
grants.

5.2 Top-up funding

The funding required over and above the core funding, allocated by local
authorities to schools and colleges from their high needs budget, to enable
a pupil or student with high needs (normally when an EHC plan is in place)
to participate in education and training.

5.3 Funding for the full costs of a placement

Local authorities also allocate high needs funding to independent schools
(including independent special schools), independent AP and SPIs not
receiving place funding, to meet the cost of the placements they
commission, rather than as place and top-up funding.

5.4 Funding under a service level agreement

A local authority can commission a school or college to deliver a SEND or
AP service and fund that from its high needs budget, where permitted by the
regulations.

The sections below explain place funding and top-up funding for all schools
and colleges, and the funding overview by education setting type

section provides further information on the funding of high needs provision
in different types of school or college.

6. High needs place funding

Place funding is allocated as an annual amount of core high needs funding
for schools and colleges. Place funding is allocated at a standard rate for a

Page 346

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 16/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

number of places, reflecting the number of high needs placements which
commissioning local authorities expect to make in the coming year.

Place funding is allocated to:

o all types of special schools, excluding independent special schools
e PRUs and AP academies (including AP free schools)

e all types of mainstream school with a SEN unit or RP and/or with a sixth
form that has pupils with high needs

o all types of colleges that educate students who have high needs, apart
from the SPIs and any other post-16 institutions that are fully funded by a
local authority

The annual process for local authorities to notify DfE of changes to certain
schools’ and colleges’ 2025 to 2026 high needs place number is set out in
the how to complete the high needs place change workbook for 2025 to
2026 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-
arrangements-2025-t0-2026).

The annual allocation of place funding for the school or college is neither
intended to cover particular costs, nor associated with or reserved for a
specific local authority or individual pupil or student. Place funding should
not be withdrawn if an individual does not occupy a funded place, and a
local authority may not seek to recover funding for places it considers
unused in the previous or current academic year.

6.1 Determination of funded place nhumbers

In most cases the provider local authority in whose area a school or college
is located determines the numbers of high needs places to be funded.
Those place numbers are then multiplied by the relevant funding rates to
provide each school’s or college’s place funding allocation. For certain
schools and colleges, the place numbers are aggregated and inform the
place funding deductions that are made by DfE from each local authority’s
DSG allocation.

Exceptions are AP free schools, NMSS, SPIs and a small number of
centrally funded FE colleges and ILPs, where DfE acts as the provider local
authority and determines place numbers. Funding for these providers is
allocated mainly on the basis of the previous year’s data on the number of
high needs pupils or students who attend the school or college, as reported
through the school census and ILR, respectively. Further information on
this is set out under the sections about the different types of school or

college. Page 347

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 17187



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Dialogue between local authorities and all schools and colleges that offer
high needs provision is essential when preparing for the allocations of high
needs place funding for the following academic year. Local authorities
should consult with schools and colleges in their area and discuss both the
current numbers of places being occupied by pupils or students, whose
details are included on the school census and ILR returns, and the number
of places expected to be taken up in future.

In the event of local differences between local authorities and their schools
and colleges about the number of places that will be used for their
allocations of place funding:

e the high needs place change process: 2025 to 2026 place academic year
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026) guidance sets out the process for managing ‘not agreed’
cases for academies (including most free schools), and most FE colleges

o local authorities make the final determination for their maintained schools

6.2 Reporting place numbers for the 2025 to 2026
academic year

The guidance on the high needs place change process: 2025 to 2026
academic year (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-
arrangements-2025-t0-2026) (published October 2024 ) explains the place
change notification process. This sets out the collaborative approach and
supporting process that local authorities, schools and colleges should use
for reviewing, adjusting and reporting to DfE changes to the academic year
2025 to 2026 high needs place numbers from the current 2024 to 2025
published places at: academies, free schools (excluding AP free schools),
FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs and SPIs not previously funded by
DfE. Further details are provided in the funding overview by education,
setting type section.

The outcomes from the high needs place change process for academic year
2025 to 2026 are published in January 2025, and this publication is followed
by a 2-week enquiry window, where local authorities, schools and colleges
can raise significant issues.

Local authorities do not need to report changes in maintained schools
through the annual place change process but must consult their schools
forum and report accurate data annually via the authority proforma tool
(APT) (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-complete-the-authority-
proforma-tool-apt-2025-t0-2026) and section 251 (s251) budget statements
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/section-251-2024-t0-2025), as this
information is used for local and h@&@Bat#¢hding calculations.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 18/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The APT assists local authorities to model and then confirm how they plan
to allocate mainstream school funding, in accordance with the
arrangements set out by DfE. The APT asks for the number of SEN unit or
RP places that are occupied by pupils in the mainstream school to which
that unit or RP is attached, as at the most recent October census. This
allows the distribution of occupied and unoccupied places to be calculated
for academy funding and DSG deductions. In addition, it is important that
the number of places that are being funded in each school is reported
accurately on the local authority’s s251 budget statement, as this data is
used locally for calculating individual schools’ budget share, and nationally
for other local authority grant calculations.

For maintained schools or PRU converting to academies, local authorities
must agree place numbers with the respective school and submit a
‘notification of changes to funded high needs places’ form before conversion
to ensure accurate funding. This document is supplied by DfE’s delivery
officer and must be returned before the school converts. If no notification is
received, September to March place numbers recorded in the 2024 to 2025
s251 budget return will be rolled forward.

A ‘notification of changes to funded high needs places’ form must also be
completed for all mainstream schools or PRUs converting where post-16
places are required. This is because post-16 place data is not differentiated
from pre-16 place numbers in the s251 return. In these cases, completion of
the form will ensure clarity of the split between pre and post-16 place
numbers.

6.3 Where pupil and student numbers differ from
funded places

We recognise that there may be a difference between the number of
funded high needs places and the actual number of pupils or students in
attendance when the new academic year commences, or at other points
during the year. As explained in the high needs place funding section, place
funding is not reserved for specific individuals. It is for schools and colleges
to apportion the total allocated place funding across the actual number of
pupils and students with high needs. In most cases, the variance between
place numbers and pupils or students is small, or only has a marginal
impact on the cost of the provision. We are unlikely to revise annual
allocations to academies and colleges where the number of commissioned
places changes after the annual processes, although there are processes
for exceptional in-year growth in centrally funded colleges (see below).

If the number of pupils or students agreed as having high needs by the
resident local authority exceeds the p@[gbegxpgfunded places, the school or

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide 19/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

college should approach the provider local authority. In practice, that could
result in the school or college incurring additional costs in making special
provision not met through the top-up funding amount normally paid. We
expect the provider local authority to engage with the school or college to
agree how the costs of the additional special provision required are to be
met and these conversations should take place as early as possible. The
provider local authority should not automatically be charged an additional
£10,000 or £6,000 (the relevant place funding amount) per pupil or student.
The amount should reflect the actual costs of making additional special
provision available, which may only be marginal, and which may, therefore,
require no additional funding or, funding that is less than the full amount of
place funding, taking into account the top-up funding paid by the resident
local authority. Importantly, the provider local authority and the school or
college should seek to agree how those costs are to be met.

Where pupils or students attend a school or college in a different local
authority area to the one they live in, the import/export adjustment will
compensate the provider local authority, albeit in the subsequent financial
year. This will avoid the position where the commissioning resident local
authority effectively funds twice — both through increased top-up funding
direct to the school or college and through the £6,000 import/export
adjustment in the NFF. These arrangements apply to colleges and special
schools that are experiencing year-on-year growth in the number of pupils
and students with high needs that they admit.

An example of how the high needs funding arrangements should operate
when a college has more students with high needs than the number of
places is included in annex 2: an example of where pupil and student
numbers differ from allocated places. The same principles apply when a
school has more pupils with high needs than the number of funded places.

Where DfE acts as the ‘provider local authority’ (for NMSS, SPIs and a
small number of centrally funded FE colleges), funding is provided on a
lagged basis. This means that the number of pupils or students who attend
one of these schools or colleges in any given year is used to calculate their
respective place funding allocation for the following year. The funding
allocation will subsequently be deducted from the relevant commissioning
local authorities through the NFF import/export adjustment.

Given these arrangements in place, these centrally funded schools and
colleges should not seek to secure any additional place funding from any
local authority, to avoid a situation where a local authority effectively funds a
place twice.

For SPIs and the centrally funded FE colleges and ILPs, if the number of
high needs students recorded in the academic year 2025 to 2026 ILR R04
return is greater than their funded places, they may receive an in-year
growth award as part of the annygl exc%’ nal in-year growth process,
subject to the annually agreed chJ[?é”}%e ?is a data driven process and no

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 20/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

business case is needed. The methodology for calculating in year growth is
determined annually. In the meantime, and for information, the methodology
for the 2024 to 2025 (academic year) can be found in 16 to 19 funding: in-
year growth funding for the 2024 to 2025 (academic year)
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-funding-in-year-growth-for-
2024-t0-2025).

If a NMSS has significant numbers of pupils or students over and above
their allocated place numbers, which raises funding concerns because of
the lagged data approach, they should contact us via the Customer Help
Portal (https://customerhelpportal.education.gov.uk/).

7. High needs top-up funding (including
examples)

Top-up funding (sometimes referred to as element 3) is the funding which is
required over and above the core funding (sometimes referred to as
elements 1 and 2) a school or college receives to enable a pupil or student
with high needs to participate in education and learning. This is paid by the
commissioning local authority (or sometimes schools in the case of AP).

Most of this section covers how top-up funding works for children and young
people with SEND and includes some examples. Further information about
how top-up funding works for PRUs, AP academies and AP free schools is
set out in the alternative provision section.

Although many pupils and students receiving high needs funding will have
an associated EHC plan, local authorities have the flexibility to provide high
needs funding outside the statutory assessment process for all children and
young people with high needs up to the age of 19.

7.1 Collaboration between local authorities, schools
and colleges to organise local authority top-up funding

Local authorities play an essential statutory and strategic role in planning
education services and funding placements, and in supporting local schools
and colleges, within a robust financial framework. The local approach to top-
up funding should, therefore, be planned so far as possible in the context of
a strategic agreement between commissioning local authorities, schools
and colleges on the available special educational provision and the overall
levels of funding required. Page 351

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 21/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Such strategic discussion should be carried out as part of the local
authority’s statutory duty to keep the special educational provision in their
area under review, working with parents, young people, schools and
colleges, as set out in chapter 4 of the SEND code of practice
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25), and to
publish information about this local offer of services and provision for
children and young people with SEN on their website. The published local
offer must include information about the arrangements the local authority
has for funding children and young people with SEN and disabilities,
including any agreements about how providers will use any funding that has
been allocated to them. A wide range of educational providers are required
to collaborate with local authorities in such reviews, including maintained
schools, academies, FE and sixth form colleges, independent and NMSS,
SPIs and other providers of special educational provision, and relevant early
education providers.

It is always better if funding arrangements are developed collaboratively and
agreed in advance to facilitate a shared understanding of the different types
of provision which should be available, the needs of the children and young
people who are likely to require them and the associated level of top-up
funding (for example, if funding bands are used) to meet their support
needs.

7.2 Other requirements relevant to top-up funding

Local authorities’ expenditure from the DSG is subject to conditions of grant
(https://lwww.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026) set by DfE, which govern the way high needs funding is used,
including the way top-up funding is organised, including:

e local authorities must treat children and young people with high needs on
a fair and equivalent basis when making arrangements for their funding,
regardless of whether they are placed in maintained schools, academies
and free schools, providers in the FE sector, or non-maintained and
independent provision

e local authorities must make payments of top-up funding in a timely
fashion on a basis agreed with the school or college. These must be
monthly, unless otherwise agreed

We will examine cases and consider remedial action where there is clear
evidence from a school or college that a local authority is not meeting the
relevant conditions of grant, providing the local authority’s complaints
processes have been exhausted (see the ‘Resolving funding
disagreements’ section below).

Page 352

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 22/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Where a pupil or student with an EHC plan is due to move between
educational settings or phases, the local authority must review and amend
the EHC plan in the spring of the preceding academic year and issue a
revised EHC plan by 31 March of that same year, as set out in annex 8:
important dates. In no circumstances should an admission of a pupil or
student, or the continuation of a placement at a school or college be
conditional on or delayed by receipt or agreement of top-up funding.

7.3 Determining top-up funding levels

Local authorities are responsible for decisions regarding levels of top-up
funding since they have the statutory responsibility for making the
educational placement. Where a child or young person has an EHC plan,
the local authority must secure the special educational provision specified in
the plan. Local authorities also have statutory duties in respect of children of
compulsory school age without a school place, that require the use of AP.

Local authorities, schools and colleges should consider the following
principles relating to decisions about top-up funding.

7.3.1 Decisions should be timely

Levels of top-up funding should be confirmed at the earliest opportunity,
before the pupil or student has been admitted to the school or college, so
that their placement is not disrupted, and recognising the cashflow and
accounting requirements of schools and colleges.

7.3.2 Decisions should be clear

The local authority should confirm (in writing) the amount of top-up funding
to be paid as soon as possible after the placement has been commissioned.
Where a local authority makes a number of placements, a single schedule
of placements and payments may be sufficient.

7.3.3 Decisions should be evidence-based

The local authority should consider evidence from the school or college
about the costs of offering provision for the pupils and students with high
needs, including cost increases such as for utilities and staff pay awards
that are not met from other sources. Schools and colleges should be
transparent about their costs and how they contribute to delivering the
overall provision for the pupils and students with high needs.

7.3.4 Decisions should reflect relevant costs
Top-up funding is intended to contribute to the costs of special educational
provision for children and young people with high needs. Top-up funding
should therefore take account of other elements of funding that also
contribute to meeting such costs, su&h as rggigstream schools’ and

age

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 23/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

colleges’ formula funding to meet the cost of additional support up to £6,000
per pupil, or special schools’ and colleges’ place funding.

Top -up funding can reflect:

e the provision and facilities required by individual pupils and students,
such as the cost of any specific additional support to meet the individual’s
needs, or free school meals for those entitled to receive them in special
schools

 the costs of the overall provision for all those with SEND, for example, the
costs of buildings for those schools and colleges not able to access
capital funding

However, we do not expect top-up funding to contribute to, or, subsidise:

e overheads attributable to other budgets within the school or college, and
funded from other sources, for example, residential accommodation
funded from the local authority’s social care budget or adult education
provided by a college

e costs that would have had to have been met even if it had no pupils or
students with high needs, for example, the salary of the special
educational needs co-ordinator (SENCO) required by all mainstream
schools

 the costs of legal action against local authority decisions on assessment,
provision, and top-up funding, including support for parents seeking SEN
tribunal judgments on such local authority decisions

e the cost of educational and other assessments (both non-statutory and
EHC needs assessments), for example, by educational psychologists

7.3.5 Decisions should be based on agreed provision and cost
expectations

Agreements over what provision should be ordinarily available, with
associated standardised funding rates, can simplify extensive negotiations
on provision and funding, and avoid disputes arising. By calculating top-up
funding for a cohort of pupils or students, local authorities can create
certainty for schools and colleges on the level of funding they can expect to
receive for the provision. A clearly understood and consistently applied local
‘banding’ framework can therefore be particularly important — see further
information about banded funding arrangements below. In such
circumstances, even where provision is specified in an EHC plan, there is
no statutory requirement that a local authority must pay top-up funding at a
particular rate requested by a school or college.

In some cases, decisions about top-up funding may need to reflect the
normal or expected occupancy of places. The nature of pre-16 AP and
SEND provision in some schools and colleges may result in empty places
arising at some points in the acaf&i8ie , for example, in AP where

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 24/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

referrals begin to be made later, or after the autumn term. Similarly, some
schools may routinely admit a higher number of pupils than the places for
which they are funded.

Place funding comes from the provider local authority’s high needs budget,
and top-up funding from the resident authority’s high needs budget.
Because the sources of these different elements of funding can be different
local authorities, if a school or college has been funded for high needs
places which are not being used (whether at £6,000 or £10,000 per place),
place funding should not simply be deducted from the normal level of top-up
funding. Similarly, if a school or college has filled all of its funded high needs
places, they should not automatically expect the top-up funding rate to be
increased by £6,000 or £10,000 per additional placement. See annex 2: an
example of where pupil and student numbers differ from funded places for
supporting information.

7.4 Banded funding arrangements

Many local authorities have systems which indicate the range of top-up
funding that might be provided for children and young people with a
particular type and complexity of need (sometimes referred to as ‘banded
funding’ systems). These can be helpful in providing clear and transparent
funding arrangements.

Where a local authority makes a large number of placements at a school or
college or at a range of schools and colleges locally, a system which agrees
likely levels of top-up funding in advance can be a very efficient way of
allocating funding. The local authority must be satisfied that the final
allocation of funding (both the top-up funding and other elements of funding)
is sufficient overall to secure suitable provision (for example, that specified
in an EHC plan) and should keep top-up funding levels under review at
regular intervals.

There can be issues when a child or young person is placed in a school or
college located in another local authority area if there are different
expectations of provision and funding. When placing a pupil or student in a
school or college in another local authority’s area, commissioning local
authorities should therefore:

e determine top-up funding in accordance with the funding bands that the
provider local authority uses for their pupils and students, unless there is
clear evidence that the provision required for the child or young person
would require different levels of funding

 collaborate with neighbouring local authorities when reviewing and
developing their top-up funding bdPdgends% view to bringing more

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 25/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

consistency to the levels of top-up funding for schools and colleges used
routinely for placements by more than one local authority

7.5 Resolving funding disagreements

Schools, colleges and local authorities should work together to avoid and
resolve disagreements about commissioning arrangements and the top-up
funding for the placement of individual children and young people. In
addition to following the principles outlined above, the following points of
guidance should help in preventing disputes and resolving any that arise:

« local authorities’ responsibilities for decisions on top-up funding should be
discharged fairly, reasonably and after proper consultation, recognising
that at every level, different types of school and college are also
accountable for their spending

« in the case of children and young people with EHC plans, the statutory
annual review process should also be an opportunity to review the
funding arrangements in the light of evidence about an individual’s needs,
their progress and any changes to the provision they require

e many local authorities use multi-agency panels to provide advice on
decisions relating to EHC plans, placements and high needs funding.
This can be an important way to ensure area-wide approaches (such as
funding bands) are applied consistently and fairly in individual cases.
Such panels can only be advisory: decisions on placements, provision
and funding must remain with an officer of the local authority

Where a funding dispute remains unresolved, a local dispute resolution
protocol can help to resolve this in a timely manner, if the dispute is not
resolved, the complaint may be considered by the Local Government and
Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) (https://www.lgo.org.uk/) if appropriate.

All stages of the local authority’s complaint procedure(s) should be fully
documented before a complaint to the Secretary of State is considered.

7.6 Other information relating to top-up
funding (including public sector procurement)

DfE has published non-statutory guidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procuring-send-education-placements-
and-services) on procuring SEND education placements and services

following the introduction of the @g@@mt Act 2023

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 26/87




22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/54/contents) that took effect from 24
February 2025. The guidance aims to help local authorities and education
providers to understand how the Procurement Act 2023 interacts with the
Children and Families Act 2014 and identify if SEND education placements
and services are in or out of scope of the procurement legislation.

Pupils and students should only be counted as having high needs for
funding purposes (and be recorded on the school census
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/school-census) or ILR
(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/individualised-learner-record-ilr) as
such), if the local authority has determined that top-up funding is payable for
that pupil or student. A pupil or student should not be recorded as having
high needs unless the local authority has made such a determination, even
where a school or college has assessed a pupil or student as requiring
additional support from the local authority’s high needs budget, or where a
pupil or student has been offered a high needs place by that school or
college. In such circumstances, the school or college should use its best
endeavours to make the special provision for the pupil or student, seeking
advice from the local authority, if necessary, as to what additional support
the pupil’'s EHC needs or other assessment may have indicated is
appropriate.

If a pupil or student’s placement is interrupted temporarily for public health
reasons, for example, because a school or college has had to partially
close, the school or college should contact the commissioning local
authority to discuss alternative arrangements for their continuing access to
education and support and for the continuation of top-up funding for the
provision being made. If an absence is expected to be long-term, because a
public or personal health issue affects the young person’s attendance and
ability to engage in their education, the local authority should review the
EHC plan and if necessary, amend it to name a different suitable placement.

8. Local authority high needs central
services and support

While the majority of a local authority’s high needs budget is spent on place
and top-up funding for schools and colleges, local authorities can also use
high needs funding to provide additional or targeted support for children and
young people with SEND, as permitted under schedule 2 of The School and
Early Years Finance (England) Requlations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made). This can take the
form of preventative and early intervention support services, and access to
specialist services or expertise commissioned by the local authority, as well
as additional funding to schools andlggléeeg%%7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 27/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
Specifically, to support the new government’s ambition for a more inclusive
mainstream education system, the regulations allow local authorities incur
expenditure and target funding for the purposes both of encouraging the
education of children and young people with SEN at mainstream schools,
and of collaboration between special and mainstream schools to enable
those with SEN to engage in mainstream school activities.

As in previous years, the amount that the local authority plans to spend on
such support and services should be included on the local authority’s s251
budget statement. The actual expenditure should be reported on the same
basis in the local authority’s s251 outturn statement. The schools forum is
expected to discuss the details, including funding and effectiveness of these
services.

8.1 Specialist support services

Specialist support services can play an important role in enabling
mainstream schools and colleges to meet a wider range of special
educational needs and supports the presumption in law that all children and
young people should be educated in mainstream provision, unless they
require more specialist provision, as determined through the statutory EHC
assessment process.

If mainstream provision is to meet a wide range of SEND, it is important that
mainstream schools and colleges have access to high-quality specialist
support, for example, to help children and young people who have:

e autism spectrum disorder

e speech and language needs

e social, emotional and mental health needs
e sensory impairment

e challenging behaviour associated with their SEND

This typically involves specialist teachers with expertise in supporting pupils
with complex needs who are available to advise, train and support other
teachers and special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOs) in
mainstream schools and colleges. For example, support could be provided
through networking and targeted training or commissioned from a specialist
provider.

It is important that such support is available to mainstream schools
(maintained schools, academies and free schools), general FE colleges,
sixth form colleges and 16 to 19 academies. They are all statutorily required
to identify the SEN of their childrérP8§d3e8ng people and to use their best

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 28/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

endeavours to make sure that a child or young person who has SEN gets
the support they need.

Local authorities and mainstream schools and colleges should discuss how
such specialist support should be delivered when considering how to spend
the high needs funding available to them. Many local authorities employ
specialist teachers, funded directly from their high needs budget. Others
give special schools additional funding to provide specialist support to other
schools and colleges. Such arrangements are frequently accompanied by a
service level agreement confirming what will be delivered in return for the
additional funding.

Specialist support for pupils at risk of suspension or permanent exclusion
may be commissioned by the local authority or by schools (using funding
devolved by the local authority). Further information on centrally
commissioned AP services can be found in the ‘Alternative provision’
section below.

High needs funding cannot be used for local authorities’ costs in relation to
SEND administration, assessment, co-ordination and monitoring, as per
schedule 1 of The School and Early Years Finance (England) Reqgulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made). For example,
educational psychologist costs for the identification of children and young
people with SEND, the assessment of EHC needs and the preparation and
review of EHC plans, cannot be charged directly to the DSG. Annex 6:
health and social care costs provides further guidance on the funding of
health and social care costs.

9. Funding overview by education setting
type

9.1 Early years provider settings

DfE funds local authorities to deliver the early years entitlements using early
years national funding formulae. The 2024 autumn budget confirmed £1.8
billion in 2025 to 2026 to support the expansion of the entitlements. This
means the planned budget for childcare entitlements in 2025 to 2026 will be
over £8 billion.

Local authorities are then responsible for setting individual provider funding
rates in consultation with their providers an%gé:ools forum, and fund
providers using their local funding fofrf8§. 2025 to 2026, local

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 29/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
authorities are required to plan to pass through at least 96% of their funding
received from the government to early years providers. This new 96%
requirement will apply separately to the entitlements for:

e 9-month-old children up to 2-year-olds of eligible working parents
e 2-year-old children of eligible working parents
e 2-year-old children from families receiving additional support

e 3 and 4-year-olds (universal and additional hours)

For 3 and 4-year-olds, whilst the minimum pass-through requirement is
increasing, there is no change to the approach of how this will be
calculated, and the pass-through requirement will apply to the universal and
additional hours in combination. For 2-year-olds and under, the requirement
will apply to each of the entitlements individually. This means that local
authorities cannot meet a combined pass-through requirement on the 2
separate entitlements for 2-year-olds.

The early years entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2025
to 2026 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2025-to-
2026) includes more information on how the early years block funding is
allocated to local authorities and should be distributed to providers to deliver
the early years entitlements.

9.1.1 High needs funding in early years

Children aged 0 to 5 with more complex needs and those with an EHC plan
are also eligible to receive funding from local authorities’ high needs
budgets, funded from the high needs block of the DSG.

Local authorities can meet the costs of children aged 5 and under with high
needs in different ways from their high needs budget. These may include
SEN support provided directly as a central service for young children with
high needs and resources for early years providers to enable them to make
the required provision. Place funding may also be used for early years
provision, for example, at special schools, supplemented by top-up funding
for individual children.

9.1.2 Special educational needs inclusion fund (SENIF)

All local authorities are required to have special educational needs inclusion
funds (SENIFs) for all eligible children with SEN taking up any of the free
entitlements, regardless of the number of hours taken. These funds are
intended to support local authorities to work with providers to address the
needs of individual children with low level or emerging SEN who are taking
up the entitlements. The structure also supports local authorities to
undertake their responsibilities to strategically commission SEN services as
required under the Children and Families Act 2014
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted).

Page 360

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 30/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Local authorities can establish their SENIFs using funding from the early
years block and/or the high needs block of their DSG allocation. Although
local arrangements will vary, local authorities should consider the right
balance to strike in drawing from these 2 blocks of funding, taking into
account the particular pressures on high needs and early years budgets
locally.

9.1.3 Disability access funding

As set out in the early years entitlements: local authority funding operational
guide 2025 to 2026 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-
funding-2025-t0-2026), the disability access fund (DAF) supports eligible
disabled children’s access to any of the entitlements.

9.2 Mainstream schools, academies and free schools

Mainstream schools without SEN units or RP are funded for pre-16 pupils
with SEN as follows:

e core funding: included within the local schools funding formula

 top-up funding: agreed and paid on a per pupil basis by the
commissioning local authority

High needs place funding is only available in pre-16 provision to
mainstream schools with SEN units or RP. It is available for mainstream
schools with sixth forms in the same way as for other post-16 provision.

Maintained mainstream schools will receive notification of their core funding
allocations of pre-16 funding for the new financial year beginning in April, by
the end of the prior February. Mainstream academies and free schools will
receive notification by the end of March, before the subsequent academic
funding year starting in September.

The core funding for mainstream schools includes funding for pupils with
SEND, whose additional support costs are lower than £6,000. Maintained
schools and academies should have sufficient funding in their delegated
budget to enable them to support pupils with SEN as required, up to the
mandatory cost threshold of £6,000 per pupil per annum.

For pupils aged 5 to 15 years in mainstream schools, a notional SEN
budget is identified, and the amount should be shown in a maintained
school’s budget notification and is included in an academy’s general annual
grant (GAG) notification. This is an indicative amount that schools may use
as a guide for how much they might need to spend on supporting their
pupils with SEND. The notional SEN budget for mainstream schools
operational guide (https://www.gov.uk/gmgmm@nt/publications/pre-16-schoo|s-

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 31/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2025-t0-2026) for local authorities explains
how their schools’ notional SEN budget can be calculated using local
funding formula factors, with the aim of achieving greater consistency in that
calculation.

Local authorities should review their schools’ notional SEN budget
calculation for 2025 to 2026 in line with that guidance, to ensure that the
budget identified is reasonable as a guide to what schools might need to
spend on additional support for their pupils with SEND, taking into account
costs up to £6,000 per pupil. Where there is a disproportionate number of
pupils with SEND in a school, additional funding may be provided outside
the main funding formula, as explained below.

9.2.1 Additional funding for mainstream schools

Local authorities can provide additional targeted funding from their high
needs budget, and outside the main funding formula for mainstream schools
and academies on a consistent and fair basis, where:

 there is a disproportionate number of pupils with SEND, and/or with more
complex SEND (for example, a primary school may have developed a
particular expertise or facility for meeting the needs of high achieving
pupils with autism, or pupils with physical disabilities, resulting in more
pupils with these needs being admitted)

o that number cannot be reflected adequately in the funding they receive
through the local funding formula

They should define the circumstances in which additional funding will be
provided from their high needs budget, through a formula or other
methodology agreed with schools. In all cases, the distribution methodology
should be simple and transparent, and devised so that additional funds are
targeted only to a minority of schools which have particular challenges
because of their disproportionate number of pupils with SEN and/or high
needs, or their characteristics.

The criteria and budget should be included in the additional
factors/commentary section of the APT, and the budgeted and outturn
expenditure included in line 1.2.4 (additional high needs targeted funding for
mainstream schools and academies) of the s251 returns.

Where individual pupils require additional support costing more than £6,000,
the excess should be met by top-up funding associated with the individual

pupil.

9.2.2 Sixth forms in mainstream schools

Mainstream school sixth forms are funded for their core funding per student
based on the 16 to 19 funding formula (sometimes referred to as element 1)
and £6,000 per high needs place (element 2). Funding to support students
whose additional support costs apejlgweg@han £6,000 is provided through

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 32/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

the disadvantage factor of the mainstream 16 to 19 funding formula
allocation.

High needs place funding (element 2) is available to schools for students
with SEN requiring additional costs exceeding £6,000. Local authorities
should have engaged with their mainstream schools with sixth forms to
agree place numbers. Local authorities also have flexibility to agree
alternative ways of calculating this element of high needs funding with
maintained schools, academies, and free schools. Further information can
be found within the high needs place funding: local flexibility to allocate
differently section.

We do not require information on changes to places funded in maintained
schools, as local authorities fund these directly and have local flexibility to
change the number of places, as well as the method of calculating the
allocation. Local authorities should, however, notify DfE of changes to place
numbers for academies and free schools, to ensure that they are funded on
the correct basis as part of the annual place change process
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-changes-to-an-
existing-academy).

As explained for pre-16 pupils, where individual pupils require additional
support that costs more than £6,000, the excess should be met by top-up
funding associated with the individual pupil.

9.2.3 Special educational needs (SEN) units and resourced provision
(RP) in mainstream schools

Many maintained mainstream schools and academies have SEN units
and/or RP attached, offering specialist provision formally recognised by the
local authority where the school is located and with high needs places
funded by that authority. Both SEN units and RP are usually for pupils with
an EHC plan, but may also provide for pupils without an EHC plan, and
often cater for a specific type or types of SEN. They sometimes
accommodate pupils registered at other schools on a part-time basis.

SEN units are special provisions within a mainstream school where the

pupils with SEN are taught within separate classes for at least half of their
time.

RP consists of places that are reserved at a mainstream school for pupils
with a specific type of SEN, taught for at least half of their time within
mainstream classes, but requiring a base and some specialist facilities
around the school.

Mainstream schools are funded for SEN units and RP through:

e pre-16 core funding:

Page 363

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 33/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
e a combination of per-pupil funding through the local schools funding
formula, plus £6,000 per place for those occupied by pupils on roll (that
is, recorded on the school census as sole or dual (main) registered at
the school

e £10,000 per place for places that are or will be occupied by a pupil
registered on the roll of another school, places not occupied at the time
of the school census count, but which are likely to be filled and require
funding or places for capacity required for another local reason)

e post-16 core funding: element 1 (based on the 16 to 19 funding formula)
plus element 2 (£6,000 per place) based on the number of places to be
funded

 top-up funding for pupils with high needs, whose additional support costs
more than £6,000, paid by the resident local authority commissioning the
placement(s)

In the case of place numbers for maintained schools with SEN units and RP,
the provider local authority that maintains the school determines the total
number of places to be funded, taking full account of places that may be
commissioned by other local authorities.

DfE confirms:

o the number of funded high needs places in mainstream academies and
free schools following the annual place change notification process

e the place funding amount rate, based on occupancy data provided in the
APT

The total number of places funded is based on the outcomes from the place
change notification process (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-
needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026). The number of places funded at
£6,000 per place is calculated based on the number of places occupied by
pupils on-roll of the school or academy, as recorded in the APT. This would
not exceed the total number of funded places.

For example, if funding for 10 places was agreed through the place change
process, and 12 places were recorded as occupied in the APT, 10 places
would be funded at £6,000 per place. This is because we use the place
change process to determine the place numbers, not the APT.

The number of unoccupied places, funded at £10,000 per place, is
calculated as the funded places (via the place change process), minus the
number of occupied places recorded in the APT. This funding will not be
below zero. In the example above, there are no unoccupied places, given
the total of occupied places is the same as, or above the number notified as
part of the place change process.

Page 364

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 34/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Where there are provision changes such as a new SEN unit or RP at an
academy or free school, this must first be approved through the significant
change process (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-
changes-to-an-existing-academy). Supporting guidance on opening, closing
and making changes to schools (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/opening-closing-
and-making-changes-to-schools) is also available. A signed deed of variation
must be received from the academy trust so place funding can be reflected
in the 2025 to 2026 academic year allocation from DfE, as notified through
the annual place change process
(https://lwww.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026).

Depending on the range and type of services on offer, it is also possible for
such provision to be a centrally funded service commissioned by the local
authority, normally under a service level agreement with the school or
academy. If such an agreement is with an academy, this would be a local
arrangement with the SEN unit or RP funded directly by the local authority
rather than via DfE. More information is included in the 2025 to 2026 place
change technical note.

9.3 Maintained special schools, special academies and
special free schools

Pre-16 and post-16 high needs places at maintained special schools,
special academies and special free schools are funded at £10,000 per
place. Details of how the annual place numbers are determined is detailed
in the high needs place funding section and supporting quidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026).

Maintained special schools are notified of their place funding allocations for
the financial year 2025 to 2026 (that is, their budget shares) by their local
authority (by the end of February 2025). Special academies and free
schools receive their funding allocations from DfE (by the end of March
2025), in advance of the academic year.

Funding for special school growth following the annual place funding
allocation is covered in the ‘Where pupil and student numbers differ from
funded places’ section.

DfE provides additional place funding to local authorities for new and

growing special free schools to cover the cost of their period of growth,
ensuring there is no additional cost to the local authority.

Page 365

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 35/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

For those special free schools that have reached the end of their period of
growth, additional funding has been included in local authorities’ baselines,
informed by data from the previous academic year. Further information can
be found in the special free schools adjustments: a quide for local
authorities (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-
arrangements-2025-t0-2026).

In addition, maintained special schools, special academies and special free
schools receive per pupil top-up funding paid by the commissioning
(resident) local authority.

9.3.1 Special schools minimum funding guarantee

A special school protection, otherwise known as the MFG, will continue to
apply to maintained special schools and special academies (including
special free schools but excluding NMSS and independent schools) in 2025
to 2026. The MFG to be operated by local authorities for 2025 to 2026 must
be 0% using their schools’ 2024 to 2025 funding baseline. The local
authority must have a disapplication request approved to use a negative
percentage.

This means that no special school will receive from their provider local
authority less funding per pupil in 2025 to 2026 on a like-for-like comparison
with their pupil cohort in 2024 to 2025, unless a disapplication request has
been approved. The calculation should assume that the number and type of
places remains the same between 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026. It should
also assume that all pupils in the school are placed by the provider local
authority (usually, where the school is located) and that all top-up funding
rates received by the school are those set by that local authority.

See annex 3: special schools minimum funding guarantee for further
information on the MFG protection, including worked examples.

9.3.2 Special schools additional funding streams

Special schools must also receive the 2025 to 2026 CSBG, which combines
the full-year equivalent of the 2024 to 2025 CSBG with the 2024 to 2025
TPAG and TPECG from their provider local authority. In addition, they must
receive high needs funding that is equivalent to the historic teachers’ pay
and pensions grants, and a continuation of the additional funding first
received in 2023 to 2024. See annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and pensions
funding and additional funding, for details of how this additional funding is to
be calculated by local authorities.

Table 4 below summarises the various funding streams that are relevant for
these special schools.

Table 4: main funding streams for special schools’ core staffing and
other running costs

Page 366

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 36/87



22/11/2025, 20:54

Funding element

Place funding

Top-up funding

Historic teachers’
pay and pensions
funding (previous
TPG and TPECG)

Additional 3.4%
funding
equivalent to
mainstream

schools additional
grant (MSAG)

CSBG
consolidated
grant for 2025 to
2026,
incorporating pay
and pensions
funding allocated

High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Value

Flat rate £10,000
per place

Variable, may
depend on local
system of funding
bands

Locked at 2020 to
2021 value per
place

Locked at 2023 to
2024 value per
place

Locked at 2024 to
2025 full-year
value per place of
combined TPAG,
TPECG and
CSBG, unless

Data used

Number of places
decided by
provider local
authority, in
consultation with
school

Should reflect the
cost of provision
in excess of the
place funding,
necessary to
make the
provision that has
been
commissioned

Number of places
decided by local
authority, in
consultation with
school

Number of places
decided by local
authority, in
consultation with
school

Number of places
decided by local
authority, in
consultation with
school

moving to natioR@ge 367

Inclusion in
2025 to
2026 MFG

Yes

Yes

No, this is a
separate
high needs
funding
stream, not
to be
included in
the MFG
calculation

No, this is a
separate
high needs
funding
stream, not
to be
included in
the MFG
calculation

No, this is a
separate
high needs
funding
stream, not
to be
included in

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

37/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Funding element Value Data used Inclusion in
2025 to
2026 MFG

as separate per-place rate the MFG

grants in the following calculation

previous year and consultation, plus

2025 NICs and 2025 NICs and

staff pay staff pay increase

increases funding  funding block of
CSBG allocated as
above

9.4 Non-maintained special schools

NMSS receive place funding directly from DfE and are subject to a grant
funding agreement. All NMSS places (pre and post-16) are funded at
£10,000 per year.

We base NMSS place funding allocations on the pupil number data from the
latest October school census, uplifted by the difference between the
previous year’s October and January census pupil number data. Only pupils
resident in England and within the school’s age range are included in the
calculation. If there is a reduction in the number of pupils between the
October and January census, DfE does not reduce funding. This ensures
that no school is funded on numbers less than those recorded in their latest
October census. If a school predicts that they will have significantly more
pupils than the number of places on which their funding is calculated, and
they have concerns about how provision for those pupils will be funded,
they should contact us via the Customer Help Portal
(https://customerhelpportal.education.gov.uk/).

In addition, NMSS receive top-up funding paid by the commissioning local
authority, as well as historic teachers’ pay and pensions high needs funding,
and a CSBG allocation directly from DfE.

From 1 January 2025 local authorities’ top-up funding for NMSS in respect
of individual pupils’ placements will be subject to VAT. Under section 33 of
the VAT Act, local authorities are able to reclaim the VAT they pay. Any
invoices submitted to local authorities will therefore need to identify VAT
clearly.

Page 368

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 38/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

9.5 Independent schools

Independent schools, including independent special schools and
independent AP, sit outside the high needs place funding system. Where a
local authority has commissioned a place in an independent school, the
local authority is responsible for funding the school from their high needs
budget to reflect the full cost of provision for that child or young person with
SEND, rather than the school having an allocation of place funding and top-
up funding. Much of the guidance relating to top-up funding will be relevant
in local authorities’ decisions about their funding for independent schools.
The total expenditure on these placements should be included in the
relevant high needs top-up funding line of each local authority’s s251
returns.

Only educational costs (including deemed educational costs) should be
funded by the DSG. In some cases, the integrated package of support will
be costed and charged through a single fee. We encourage schools to be
clear, and where requested provide evidence, about which elements of
provision (and therefore, cost) should be attributed to education, health and
social care so that the local authority can charge non-educational costs to
the responsible partners. Further information can be found in annex 6:
health and social care costs.

From 1 January 2025 the fees charged for placements in independent
schools will be subject to VAT. Under section 33 of the VAT Act, local
authorities are able to reclaim the VAT they pay. Any invoices submitted to
local authorities will therefore need to identify VAT clearly.

CSBG funding to local authorities includes an amount based on SEND
placements in independent schools, as recorded in each local authority’s
alternative provision census return (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-
provision-ap-census). This grant is to support a continuation of any increase in
fees charged by independent schools for the 2024 to 2025 financial year
period as a result of the 2024 teachers’ and other staff pay awards and
teachers’ pension employer contribution rate increase, and to support any
increase in fees as a result of the 2025 NICs and other staff salary
increases.

9.5.1 Parental placements in independent schools

In the event that a child’s parents make suitable alternative arrangements

for their child’s education (for example, by making a private fee-paying

placement in an independent school), the local authority’s duty to secure the

special educational provision specified in the EHC plan will not apply. The

local authority must assure itself that the alternative arrangements are

suitable and has the option of provid"g‘n%gé'sgggonary top-up funding to

ensure they are suitable. More informatton about how local authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 39/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
should discharge their responsibilities for children and young people with
SEND in independent schools is set out in the SEND code of practice
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25), in
particular paragraphs 9.131 to 9.136.

9.5.2 Unregistered independent schools

Where a local authority is considering placing a child or young person with
an EHC plan on a full-time basis in independent provision, they must ensure
the setting is properly registered with DfE before any placement is made.
Any provision that provides full-time education for 5 or more pupils of
compulsory school age, or for one or more pupils of compulsory school age
who have an EHC plan or are looked after by a local authority and which is
not a maintained school, or a non-maintained special school will be
considered an independent school. All independent schools must be
registered with the Secretary of State. Further information on the process
can be found at independent school registration
(https://www.gov.uk/independent-school-registration).

It is an offence to conduct an unregistered independent school, and anyone
who does so is liable on summary conviction to a fine and/or imprisonment.
Local authorities making use of unregistered provision for the purpose of
providing full-time education to children with EHC plans may prejudice
future prosecutions of unlawfully operating settings.

9.6 General further education (FE) colleges, sixth form
colleges, 16 to 19 academies and maintained schools
and independent learning providers

General FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs and 16 to 19 maintained
schools and academies receive core funding based on an amount per
student calculated using the 16 to 19 funding formula (element 1) and, for
their students with high needs, £6,000 per high needs place (element 2).
Top-up funding for students with high needs (element 3) is paid directly by
the local authority commissioning the place.

Element 1 funding, based on student numbers, is allocated directly by DfE
to colleges (or via the provider local authority for 16 to 19 maintained
schools) for students aged 16 to 19 and those aged 19 to 25 with EHC
plans. The number of students and amount of funding paid has no impact
on local authorities’ high needs allocations through their DSG. Funding to
support students with SEN where additional support costs are lower than
£6,000, is provided through the disadvantage factor of the mainstream 16 to
19 funding allocation, since these students do not count as students with

high needs.
Page 370

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 40/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The number of high needs places (element 2) funded at £6,000 per place
for the 2025 to 2026 academic year is determined through the place change
process. As indicated above, it is essential that the provider local authority
(that is, the one in which the main college or provider headquarters is
located) discusses with their colleges how many places should be funded.
Further information about how place funding works, including where
students exceed place numbers, can be found in the ‘High needs place
funding: local flexibility to allocate differently’ section.

FE colleges may also agree an alternative method of calculating this
element of funding with their provider local authority (that is, a calculation
that is not necessarily a number of high needs places multiplied by £6,000),
subject to the requirements outlined in the high needs place funding: local
flexibility to allocate differently section.

There are a number of situations where a 14 to 16-year-old may be studying
in a college. These could be:

o students who achieved a level 2 qualification early and are choosing to
enrol on a full level 3 course, and home-educated students are counted
as 16 to 19-year-olds. Such students are funded alongside 16 to 19-year-
olds via the 16 to 19 funding formula for element 1 and £6,000 per place
for element 2

e students enrolled in a maintained school or academy but studying part-
time in college are not funded as 16 to 19-year-olds, as the maintained
school or academy will receive funding in respect of these students via
the pre-16 process applicable to that school

e some colleges are eligible to be directly funded by DfE for 14 to 16-year-
olds

¢ these students should be recorded in the ILR accordingly and will be
funded for element 1 via the 16 to 19 formula using a separate
process. For element 2, these students are counted as 16 to 19-year-
olds and funded at £6,000 per place using the same process as for 16
to 19-year-olds. Further details for FE colleges on funding for directly
recruited 14 to 16-year-olds in colleges can be found in the enrolment
of 14 to 16 year olds in FE guidance (https://www.gov.uk/quidance/full-
time-enrolment-of-14-to-16-year-olds-in-further-education-and-sixth-form-

colleges).

In addition, colleges receive top-up funding (element 3) paid by the resident
local authority that has commissioned the place for a student with high
needs for the costs of their educational support in excess of £6,000. Further
information on high needs top-up funding (element 3) is set out in the high
needs top-up funding section.

Page 371

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 41/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

9.7 Special post-16 institutions (SPIs)

SPIs can receive all their funding from local authorities, for students with
SEN placed by a local authority in the college. To be eligible to receive high
needs place funding from DfE, however, SPIs must either have already
been in receipt of programme funding from DfE through the 16 to 19 funding
formula (that is, element 1) or have successfully completed the high needs
funding: due diligence process
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-due-diligence-
process-for-new-special-post-16-providers) for SPIs. To receive place funding
from DfE, such SPIs must have been proposed by a local authority through
the annual place change notification process. Their allocations are
determined by the place numbers returned by the local authority in which
they are located, through the place change notification for the first year.

All SPIs in their second year onwards of receiving place funding from DfE
are allocated funding (element 1 and element 2) based on their ILR R06
return. More information on how element 1 is calculated can be found in the
16 to 19 special post-16 institution revenue funding allocations guide
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-funding-allocations-
supporting-documents-for-2024-t0-2025/16-t0-19-special-post-16-institution-spi-
revenue-funding-allocation-guide-2024-t0-2025). Element 2 is £6,000 per place
and is calculated using the number of students flagged in the ILR as being
in receipt of top up funding. In addition, they receive top-up funding paid by
the resident local authority that has commissioned the place for a student.
Further information can be found in the ‘High needs place funding’ and ‘High
needs top-up funding’ sections.

If the number of high needs students recorded in the academic year 2025 to
2026 ILR RO04 return is greater than their funded places, SPIls may receive
an in-year growth award as part of the annual exceptional in-year growth
process, subject to affordability and meeting the annually agreed criteria.
This is a data driven process and no business case is accepted, except
those relating to data errors. DfE publishes the criteria for calculating
elements 1 and 2 of the in-year growth for SPIs once decisions have been
made for the academic year in question - this is normally during that
academic year. The methodology for the 2024 to 2025 (academic year) can
be found in 16 to 19 funding: in-year growth funding for the 2024 to 2025
(academic year) (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-funding-in-
year-growth-for-2024-t0-2025).

From 1 January 2025 fees charged for placements in SPIs may be subject
to VAT. The new VAT rules apply to a SPI:

1. Which is wholly or mainly conciggi iy providing education suitable to
the requirements of persons over<<ompuisory school age but under 19.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 42/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
2. At which full-time education is provided for such persons.

3. Where fees are paid in relation to the provision of full-time education
falling at point 2 (immediately above) is wholly or mainly provision in
respect of which fees or other considerations are payable.

4. Which is not an independent training or learning provider.

Under section 33 of the VAT Act, local authorities are able to reclaim the
VAT they pay. Any invoices submitted to local authorities will therefore need
to identify VAT clearly.

9.8 Centrally funded exceptions (CFE)

There are a small number of post-16 FE colleges and ILPs funded directly
by DfE that do not have their allocations agreed as part of the main place
change process. Their 2025 to 2026 academic year place funding will be
based on the number of high needs students recorded in their academic
year 2024 to 2025 ILR RO06 return.

If the number of high needs students recorded in the academic year 2025 to
2026 ILR RO4 return is greater than their funded places, they may receive
an in-year growth award as part of the annual exceptional in-year growth
process, subject to affordability and meeting the annually agreed criteria.
This is a data driven process and no business case is accepted, except
those relating to data errors. The methodology for the 2024 to 2025
(academic year) can be found in 16 to 19 funding: in-year growth funding for
the 2024 to 2025 (academic year)
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-funding-in-year-growth-for-
2024-t0-2025).

10. Alternative provision (AP) and
hospital education
When children of compulsory school age are not receiving suitable

education, the local authority has a duty, under section 19 of the Education
Act 1996 (http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents) to arrange it.

When arranging AP, the commissioner should clearly define the nature of
the intervention, its objectives, and the timeline to achieve these, accounting
for any statutory SEND responsibilities, especially when an EHC plan is in

place. Arranging Alternative Provision
Page 373

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 43/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision) commissioning
guidance sets out further information.

A child may be placed in an alternative setting for a period of time because
of a suspension or permanent exclusion or where a child has health-related
needs, which mean they are unable to attend a mainstream school full-time.
Many schools make use of AP services, before the need for suspension or
permanent exclusion arises. In most cases the intention is for these children
to return to their mainstream school and the length of the placement should
be determined by the needs of the pupil.

When local authorities make arrangements for AP (including hospital
education), this is normally funded from their high needs budget. There is
flexibility for local authorities to devolve some decision-making and funding
for AP to schools, and there is evidence to show that this can be effective in
promoting inclusion and accountability. Where a pupil remains on-roll of a
mainstream school, the school is effectively acting as a commissioner of AP
and retains accountability for the child’s education. For example, where a
pupil is suspended from a mainstream school for longer than 5 school days,
the school is responsible for commissioning and funding AP from the sixth
school day of the suspension.

10.1 Organising and funding AP

Local authorities, schools and academies use AP to discharge their
statutory responsibilities in different ways. When reviewing and determining
commissioning, funding of AP should take account of the needs of local
schools in determining the demand for AP and how it is delivered and
encourage schools to think collectively about their use of AP and how the
full cost of provision is to be met. Many local areas have developed strong
partnership arrangements which seek to share responsibilities across
schools for AP commissioning, funding, and accountability. Such
arrangements can include the local authority devolving some decision-
making and funding to groups of schools.

Funding devolved to schools, including AP schools, or partnerships of
schools remains as a central budget under the local authority’s central
control, and the terms of its use should be covered by a service level
agreement or memorandum of understanding with the maintained schools
and academies involved. As with other elements of high needs funding held
centrally, under the conditions of grant associated with the DSG, the local
authority must treat maintained schools and academies on an equivalent
basis and make sure that any distribution of such funds is fair and
reasonable.

Page 374

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 44/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The local authority should make sure that there is consultation with the
schools forum on the way AP funding is used and distributed. The schools
forum regulations are intended to ensure that the arrangements for AP
funding are properly discussed at local level — with engagement not only
from the local authority, but also from the mainstream maintained schools
and academies, PRUs and AP academies and free schools. This is
explained in the schools forum operational and good practice guide
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-forums-operational-and-good-
practice-guide-2015).

The regulations and schemes for financing schools
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schemes-for-financing-schools) do not
permit local authorities to make a differential charge on maintained schools’
and academies’ budget shares according to their use or intended use of AP.
It is possible, however, to use funds relating to pupils leaving the school roll,
which have been deducted from maintained schools’ following the
redetermination of their budget shares under regulation 39 of The School
and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made), or under the similar
arrangements with academies to offset some of the cost of places. This is
explained further in annex 7: permanent exclusions: funding adjustments.

10.2 How high needs funding is allocated to AP
AP can receive high needs funding in different ways through:

o core funding: the annual allocation of funding based on an amount per
place (place funding), which a school receives either directly from the
provider local authority (for PRUs, based on the financial year), or from
DfE (for AP academies and AP free schools, based on the academic
year)

 top-up funding: the funding required over and above the core or place
funding, to enable a pupil to participate in education (especially when an
EHC planis in place) is paid by the local authority or school that
commissions each place

e service funding: locally negotiated funding for AP services, such as
outreach, which are outside the place funding and top-up funding model,
usually based on a service level agreement

Core funding provides some certainty for schools, but a stable income and
financial viability will continue to depend on:

e developing strong relationships with local authorities and schools that
commission places
P Page 375

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 45/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
o working out with commissioners, top-up funding rates that reflect the
costs, including (for example) the costs of under-occupancy when places
are not filled. See the section on agreeing top-up funding for AP below

e where appropriate, developing commissioned services that can provide
an income from local authorities and schools on a longer-term basis (for
example, through a 2 or 3 year contract)

PRUs, AP academies and AP free schools must receive from their provider
local authority the 2025 to 2026 CSBG
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/core-schools-budget-grant-csbg-2025-
to-2026-for-special-schools-and-alternative-provision), as well as high needs
funding that is equivalent to the previous teachers’ pay and pensions grants,
and a continuation of the additional funding received in 2023 to 2025. See
annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding and additional funding,
for details of how the additional funding is calculated.

Post-16 students in PRUs, AP academies and AP free schools are not
funded in the same way as pre-16 students. AP is, by definition, set up to
educate children of compulsory school age (up to age 16). A school will
therefore not receive AP place funding for post-16 students because this
type of provision is out of scope. If an AP school has post-16 high needs
students with SEND, usually with an EHC plan, these places can be funded
on the same basis as post-16 students with high needs in mainstream
schools (using a combination of funding through the post-16 funding
formula, £6,000 per place and top-up funding).

Where the local authority commissions a place at a PRU, AP academy or
AP free school, the top-up funding is allocated from the local authority’s high
needs budget.

Where a school commissions a place at a PRU, AP academy or AP free
school, the top-up funding may come from centrally held high needs funding
that has been devolved to that school or a local partnership of schools (for
example, via a service level agreement), or from a maintained school’'s
delegated budget share or academy’s general annual grant.

It is in the interests of the local authority and its schools offering AP to agree
the referral process and process for resolving concerns about admissions. If
the local authority is unable to place a particular pupil because they are not
suited to the type of provision offered by a PRU, AP academy or AP free
school, they would need to make other arrangements.

10.3 Place funding for PRUs, AP academies and AP

free schools
Page 376

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 46/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Each PRU, AP academy, or AP free school usually has a number of places
to offer pupils excluded by schools or who cannot get a school place for
other reasons. In this case the commissioner would normally be the local
authority. Many AP schools will also have places for pupils who are on part-
time or shorter-term placements. In many cases local schools would be the
commissioner for these places.

Although we have not defined a place in the regulations, we expect that a
place will generally be available for occupation by a full-time equivalent
(FTE) pupil. We recognise that in AP, places may not be filled by the same
individual throughout the year, or in some cases, across the week.
Identification of AP places is not determined by pupils’ registration status.
Where pupils are dual registered with a mainstream school, the time they
spend attending a PRU, AP academy or AP free school should be
accounted for in the number of places identified.

Whilst it is important that AP schools are not overfunded where places are
not required, there will be occasions when places remain unoccupied, for
example, to accommodate unpredictable fluctuations in demand. There will
also be places that are occupied by more than one individual attending on a
part-time basis. For example, a place may be filled by a child who attends
for 2 days a week from one school, and another child who attends for 2
days from another school, with no child present for one day a week. AP
schools should also consider with their local authority how to direct
resources into outreach work in mainstream schools.

It may not be appropriate to provide place funding for some AP services
where children are receiving their education offsite, such as a home tuition
service or an outreach service provided by teachers whose base is the PRU
or AP academy/free school. These services should be funded through a
service level agreement with the commissioning local authority or school.

As in previous years, pre-16 AP places will be funded at £10,000 per place
in 2025 to 2026, regardless of whether the place will be commissioned
directly by a school or by a local authority.

The provider local authority is responsible for agreeing and submitting the
number of AP places to be funded in PRUs and AP academies, in
consultation with those schools in the area which may need to commission
places. This may require consultation with other local authorities and their
schools if they are likely to commission places in the PRU or AP academy.
As explained previously, post-16 students are funded on the same basis as
post-16 students in mainstream schools.

Local authorities have flexibility to change the number of places they fund in
2025 to 2026 at PRUs and should only notify DfE of changes to the place
numbers in AP academies, using the 2024 to 2025 place change notification
process. We will contact AP free schools dj $tly in November 2024
detailing how their 2025 to 2026 hig ﬁ'@@ngIace numbers will be

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 47/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

determined. Evidence to support changes in place numbers may be
required, and we recommend that PRUs, AP academies and AP free
schools engage early with local authorities and schools commissioning
places.

As with special academies, 2025 to 2026 places funded at AP academies
are deducted from the DSG of the local authority in whose area the
academy is located, and DfE funds the places directly.

10.4 Place funding for AP free schools

Place funding for new AP free schools for the first 2 years is based on their
financial plan. We review actual pupil numbers against planned places
(occupancy) and under-occupancy in year 1, which may have an impact on
the place numbers funded for year 2.

Beyond year 2, the number of funded places is determined by DfE annually
using evidence of occupancy (pupil numbers) and commissioning evidence
from local authorities and schools. We write to all AP free schools in the
autumn term to begin the place process
(https://lwww.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026) for the following academic year.

10.5 AP free school deductions

For AP free schools, deductions for the 2025 to 2026 academic year are
made from the DSG of the local authority where the pupil lives (based on
October 2024 school census (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complete-the-school-
census) data). These deductions will be notified to local authorities in April
2025. No deduction is made for places in AP free schools opening during
the 2024 to 2025 or 2025 to 2026 academic years. However, a deduction is
made from the DSG for places in AP free schools open before or during the
2023 to 2024 academic year.

AP academies and AP free schools should receive notification of their 2025
to 2026 allocations of place funding from DfE by the end of March 2025 and
PRUs from their local authority by the end of February 2025.

The deductions for 2025 to 2026 financial year are made up of 2 parts: five-
twelfths of the 2024 to 2025 academic year and seven-twelfths of the 2025
to 2026 academic year.

Page 378

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 48/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

10.6 Top-up funding for AP (including examples)

Top-up funding for AP is not usually related to an assessment of SEN. A
standard top-up funding rate is often set for each PRU, AP academy or AP
free school, which reflects the overall budget needed to deliver the provision
for pupils and students attending. The principles of local authorities working
constructively with schools and AP providers to co-produce transparent
local arrangements for the provision offered and the expected cost rates (as
set out in collaboration between local authorities, schools and colleges to
organise local authority top-up funding section) are as important for AP as
for any other form of high needs provision.

Cost transparency is an important feature of the high needs funding
arrangements. Local authorities and schools should be aware of the full cost
of AP in different schools, and placement decisions should be made based
on the cost and quality of what is on offer. The local authority should publish
clear information about how AP is funded, including top-up funding rates for
PRUs and AP academies, and clarity about which organisation is
responsible for providing the top-up funding and place funding for AP. When
determining top-up funding, local authorities should take account of the
overall budget required for the AP to remain financially viable. Local
authorities should consult with the schools forum on providing PRUs, AP
academies and AP free schools with increases in top-up funding rates
comparable to those that are being considered for maintained special
schools and special academies.

There is often a very fluid movement of pupils and students in and out of AP
during a year. The extent of this movement can create uncertainty and
volatility in an AP school’s budget planning. Local authorities should
recognise such fluctuations and trends to inform a more transparent and
simplistic mechanism for administering the distribution of top-up funding.

One such example is where, at the beginning of the year, the AP school and
its main commissioning local authorities and schools agree an estimate of
the places they expect to be used. Top-up funding could then be paid on
account every month throughout the year and a termly or year-end
reconciliation could take place to reflect an actual take-up of places by
individual pupils during the period (the difference between estimated and
actual uptake). This would give the AP school more certainty over its in-year
cash flow, enabling it to employ the staff needed to make the required
provision available (recognising that an increase or decrease in pupils may
not necessarily directly lead to changes in the number of staff needed). This
will ensure a high-quality service throughout the year. The amount and
nature of provision can be changed over time to meet local authorities’ and
schools’ evolving demand. Page 379

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 49/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
It is important that top-up funding relates to pupils actually occupying
places. The aim of the system of place funding and top-up funding is to give
a proper balance between sustainable income for the AP school, and
flexibility to commission AP that meets the needs of individual pupils.
Funding based solely on places, which may or may not be occupied, risks
spending scarce resources on places that are not needed either by local
authorities nor by schools and academies. It also ties up funding that would
otherwise allow decisions to be taken about the most appropriate AP for an
individual pupil.

We are not prescriptive about how the calculation of top-up funding reflects
the period that a child or young person occupies a place. Some AP schools
operate based on a daily rate, but it could be more beneficial for planning
purposes to calculate the top-up funding using longer periods, for example
weekly, monthly, or even termly rates.

It would also be possible to develop a top-up funding system that more
closely reflects the achievement of desired outcomes, as a way of
encouraging high quality AP. For example, the AP school could receive an
enhanced rate of top-up funding after the end of the placement if the
intended outcome for the pupil or student had been achieved. In this
example, a mainstream school could be seeking a particular intervention for
a year 11 student, which would enable the individual to successfully
complete their GCSE exams. It could agree a short-term placement for the
student at a local PRU and an additional amount of top-up funding that
would be paid after the student’s exam results are known, and if the
expected grades had been achieved. Similarly, a local authority may wish to
agree that an additional amount of top-up funding is payable if a year 11
pupil is in education, training, or employment in the year after leaving AP.
Such arrangements are not mandatory, but could be used to secure better
outcomes and improve the quality of AP.

10.7 Commissioned AP services

In many cases the services offered by a PRU, or AP academy or free school
will not fit neatly into the combination of place and top-up funding intended
for full-time educational placements. Teachers at the AP setting may be
involved in outreach work with local maintained schools and academies or
may be employed by them on a consultancy basis, to advise on behaviour
management. The local authority may use a PRU'’s staff to provide home
tuition to children with medical needs or to provide a service to pregnant
teenagers or young mothers who cannot easily attend school. These are
examples of services that would normally be funded by the commissioning
local authority or school, or group of schools, under a service level
agreement that specifies what is %@%d the funding to be paid.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 50/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Where the local authority commissions the service, the funding would come
from its high needs budget.

Where a school or group of schools commissions the service, the funding
would come either from those schools’ delegated budget share, or from
centrally held high needs funding that has been devolved to schools. Any
distribution of devolved AP funding should be fair and treat both maintained
schools and academies in the same way.

As with other centrally held AP budgets, the local authority should make
sure that there is consultation with the schools forum on the amount
retained and how it is used and distributed. For certain centrally held
budgets, including for services relating to the education of children with
behavioural difficulties and other activities for the purpose of avoiding the
permanent exclusion of pupils from schools, the regulations require schools
forum agreement to the amount retained.

10.8 Permanent exclusions adjustments

Details of the adjustments to schools’ funding when a pupil is permanently
excluded or otherwise leaves a school and is admitted to another school or
AP can be found in annex 7: permanent exclusions: funding adjustments.

10.9 Hospital education

Hospital education is defined in The School and Early Years Finance
(England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) as education
provided at a community special school or foundation special school
established in a hospital, or under any arrangements made by the local
authority under section 19 of the Education Act 1996
(https://lwww.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents) (exceptional provision of
education) where the child is being provided with such education by reason
of a decision made by a medical practitioner.

Although we allocate funding to local authorities for hospital education
without reference to the age of the young people receiving the education,
local authorities’ duties differ for young people aged 16 to 19. This may
affect their decisions on funding education for young people in this age
group, such as those in independent hospital schools.

As in previous years, hospital educaﬁon shg Econtinue to be funded by
local authorities based on either an arfidh § place, or as a centrally

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 51/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

funded local authority service. An example of the latter is where the local
authority employs teachers directly to work in a hospital or offer home tuition
to pupils who are confined to their home, because a medical practitioner
has decided that is where they should receive their education.

Some local authorities commission such services through hospital schools
or PRUs. In all cases, local authorities should ensure that there is clarity on
how hospital education is provided and funded locally. Local authorities
should report their planned and actual expenditure on such provision in
maintained schools, or provision funded as a central service, in the relevant
tables of the s251 budget and outturn statements.

Funded hospital education places can be found in maintained special
schools (usually a particular type of special school known as a hospital
school), maintained PRUs (sometimes known as medical PRUs), special
and AP academies and free schools. Often these schools will have a
combination of hospital education places and other high needs (AP and
SEND) places.

The School and Early Years Finance (England) Requlations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) require that hospital
education places in maintained schools and PRUs are funded at least at the
same level per place as in the previous funding year. This requirement is
also reflected in the funding arrangements for hospital education places in
academies. The DSG: conditions of grant
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026) require local authorities to treat academies the same as maintained
schools in their funding arrangements. These requirements will remain in
place and be incorporated in the regulations and conditions of grant for
2025 to 2026.

Local authorities are reminded that the high needs NFF provides them with
a 7% increase in hospital education funding, compared with the 2024 to
2025 allocations of hospital education funding. Local authorities should
consider carefully, following discussion with their maintained hospital
schools, academies, and other providers of hospital education, how much of
this increase is passed on to them, taking into account not only any
increase in their costs, but also the separate CSBG they will also receive. If
a local authority intends to pass on an increase to an academy funded for
hospital education places, this must be notified to DfE via the 2025 to 2026
place change notification process enquiry window in February 2025.

The hospital education funding guidance
(https://lwww.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026) explains the process for those local authorities wishing to
apply for additional funding due to new hospital education provision. Local
authorities should engage with their maintained hospital schools and
academies, other hospital educa Qr(b%ooy#?rs and the relevant NHS
hospital trusts, to plan for 2025 t ;in€luding discussion of the

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 52/87




22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

education funding implications of changes in medical or mental health
provision.

Medium secure adolescent psychiatric forensic units, which cater mainly for
young people aged 16 to 19, are funded using the same hospital education

funding methodology of an amount per place no less than their funding per

place in the previous funding year.

Local authorities’ duties may require them to commission hospital education
from other independent providers, usually registered as independent
schools and not in receipt of funding directly from DfE.

In these circumstances, local authorities would be expected to pay the costs
of this education from their high needs budgets. In discharging their duties,
the law does not necessarily require local authorities to commission a
particular education provider, although decisions about education provision
should not unnecessarily disrupt a child or young person’s education or
treatment.

Independent hospital education provision may be funded either as a single
service by the local authority in whose area the provision is located or
based on the payments for individuals from those authorities where the child
or young person normally resides. In both cases, the provider should
confirm with the relevant local authority that they are content to commission
and fund the education provision.

If funding is provided as payments for individual children and young people,
the provider should receive such confirmation from the local authority in
writing (if possible), before delivering the education provision to the child or
young person and certainly before requesting any funding.

11. High needs funding: post-16 special
circumstances

Mainstream academy and free school sixth forms, including AP academy
sixth forms, and all general FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs, and 16 to
19 maintained schools and academies are funded at £6,000 per high needs
place (sometimes referred to as element 2). This funding is deducted from
the local authority’s DSG and paid to the schools and colleges via DfE,
based on the published data on place nhumbers from the annual place
change notification process. For maintained schools and PRUSs, this funding
remains in local authorities’ DSG high needs allocations to fund schools
direct, and local authorities have flexibility to make changes to the place

numbers.
Page 383

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 53/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

11.1 High needs place funding: local flexibility to
allocate differently

There remains the flexibility whereby a local authority can reach agreement
with any of the types of school or college referred to above, that this
element of the educational provider funding can be calculated and paid in a
different way directly by the local authority, subject to the following
requirements:

e there should be agreement on the alternative funding approach between
the local authority and the school or college involved and this agreement
should ideally be reached in the autumn before the financial year in which
the change takes effect

« the alternative arrangement must ensure a continuation of the £6,000
cost threshold for top-up funding and reflect high needs students
attending from other local authorities to maintain consistency in the high
needs funding system

e in other words, the funding methodology should continue to provide
schools and colleges with funds to meet the additional costs of supporting
students with SEN up to £6,000 per annum, with top-up funding meeting
the costs in excess of that threshold

 local authorities should be aware that the import/export adjustment will
continue to operate as explained above, whatever alternative
methodology is used

The schools and colleges involved must, therefore, continue to provide
information about students with high needs through the school census
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complete-the-school-census) and ILR
(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/individualised-learner-record-ilr)
according to the current definition. This means that such students must
have been assessed by the local authority as having high needs and the
provider must be receiving top-up funding for their support costs in excess
of £6,000. This school census and ILR information provides the data that
allows the import/export adjustment to operate fairly for local authorities.

The local authority can make such alternative funding arrangements by
agreement with its maintained secondary and 16 to 19 schools and PRUs
without any formal notification to DfE.

Where an alternative funding methodology is agreed with an academy or
college, the local authority should notify DfE through the place change
notification process that the place number is to be reduced. The place
number would be zero if the local authority has agreed with the academy or
college that the alternative methd%@ﬁ)@y?’ ers the equivalent of all their

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 54/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

place funding, including those places filled by students placed by other
authorities.

In all cases, the deduction from the local authority’s DSG high needs
allocation would reflect the reduced place number, because the local
authority has agreed the change with the academy or college involved and
will pay the funding to the academy or college concerned directly.

It is important for local authorities to note that no changes will be made to
the import/export adjustment in the NFF, because the provider local
authority (the local authority area where the school or college is based), will
still be expected to meet the costs of all the places in the school or college.
This includes those places to be occupied by students for whom other
commissioning local authorities are paying the top-up funding.

This flexibility encourages local authorities and their schools and colleges to
work together in making special provision for their students. Examples of
alternative approaches could be:

e an agreement to fund a college through a lump sum directly per year over
3 years, to provide certainty to the local authority and college on the level
of provision and funding that will be made subject to specified tolerances
relating to the actual number of students with high needs receiving
support

e an agreement that a school sixth form will be funded for its students with
SEN based on similar proxy measures to those used in the local pre-16
funding formula

We may collect further information from local authorities about any
alternative funding calculations they devise.

11.2 Post-16 study programmes/supported
internships

Most young people with high needs attending a school, college or SPI will
have an EHC plan. Local authorities must use the evidence from the EHC
plan to make consistent, effective and robust assessments of the support
the young person will need to move towards a positive outcome.

Local authorities and the schools and colleges offering places for students
with high needs should work together to agree a suitable study programme
for a young person (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-study-
programmes-guide-for-providers), which must be tailored to their individual
aspirations and support needs.

Page 385

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 55/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

A full-time study programme has minimum planned hours of 580 hours and
there is no set maximum. Neither local authorities, nor schools and colleges
should set an arbitrary maximum number of hours for a study programme,
but instead students should be provided with the number of hours they
require to complete the programme. A funding requirement for all
programmes is that they meet the condition of funding for maths and
English (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/16-to-19-funding-maths-and-english-
condition-of-funding).

A supported internship is a full-time study programme funded by DfE
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supported-internships-for-young-
people-with-learning-difficulties/supported-internships) for young people aged 16
to 25 who have an EHC plan, want to move into employment and need
extra support to do so. The costs of additional support associated with
providing an effective supported internship placement can include indirect
costs (for example, engagement with an employer to ensure the suitability
of a placement for the young person, or with their family to ensure they are
supportive).

Supported interns can apply for Access to Work (https://www.gov.uk/access-to-
work) funding from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) to cover
the costs of practical support in the workplace.

Local authorities should not assume that an application for Access to Work
or other sources of funding for supported internships have been successful
without receiving written confirmation to avoid top-up funding allocations
paying for the support costs twice. Where the costs excluding any other
available funding (such as Access to Work) are more than £6,000, these
may be eligible to be funded from local authorities’ high needs

budgets. Students on supported internships whose support costs are less
than £6,000 must not be regarded as students with high needs, even
though they have an EHC plan.

11.3 Part-time or part year students: post-16

We also consider young people to be high needs students when they are
part-time or part-year and their additional support funding would total more
than £6,000, if provided over the full academic year, as agreed with the local
authority in which the student is resident. For more information, see
guidance regarding the funding rates and formula
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/funding-rates-and-formula), used in
the funding arrangements for 16 to 19-year-olds.

Where a school or college has enrolled, or is considering enrolling, a high
needs student who will attend or:?%éart-é' or part-year basis, they should
hold discussions with the relevarit foas ority as commissioners of high

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 56/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

needs provision. The normal funding approach should then apply, in line
with the principles outlined in this guide.

11.4 Students aged 19 to 25 with EHC plans and
schools: funding restrictions

We would normally expect 19 to 25-year-olds to receive their further
education in colleges (including ILPs and SPIs) as they are better placed to
provide an environment that prepares young people for adult life in their
local community. Paragraph 30 of schedule 2 to The Schools and Early
Years Finance (England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) permits local
authorities to incur expenditure from their high needs budgets on young
people aged 19 to 25 who are receiving further education in settings other
than schools (including 16 to 19 academies, which are classed as FE
colleges), provided they have an EHC plan.

The DSG: conditions of grant
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-
2026) and The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations
require that a local authority must not use DSG funding to fund places in
maintained special schools for young people who are over 18 years old.
There is an exception to this for those aged 19 and over who are continuing
to attend a particular course of secondary education which they began
before they reached the age of 18. This is to ensure consistency with the
law that defines secondary education under section 2 of the Education Act
1996 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents). Special academies
are treated the same in this regard.

Further education can be provided by a school, subject to restrictions such
as its age range or academy funding agreement. It is not possible, however,
for a local authority to incur expenditure from its high needs budget to
support young people receiving further education in mainstream or special
schools (maintained, academy, free schools, non-maintained and
independent). Exceptionally, a local authority can make a disapplication
request (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-
authority-guidance-for-2024-to-2025) to enable the local authority to use its high
needs budget to fund further education provision for a student aged 19 or
over in a school.

If a school considers providing post-16 further education study programmes
and has the appropriate specialist expertise to prepare students aged 19 to
25 with an EHC plan for adult life (including independent living and
employment) it should engage with its local authority. The school would
need to establish separate FE provi@cag@rgaat age group. This would

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 57/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
normally entail the school setting up a legally and financially separate entity
to provide the appropriate environment and curriculum for young people of
that age group. Such new post-19 specialist provision would normally be set
up as an SPI. To be eligible to receive high needs place funding from DfE
for the first time, SPIs must have been included in DfE’s annual place
change notification process by a local authority and must successfully
complete the high needs funding: due diligence process for special post-16
providers (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-due-
diligence-process-for-new-special-post-16-providers).

More information on how new SPIs are funded can be found in the special
post-16 institutions section.

For information on learners aged 19 to 25 without an EHC plan, see annex
1: other information.

11.5 Students aged over 25

A local authority may be required to maintain an EHC plan until a young
person is 25 years old and this must be reviewed annually to ensure the
provision remains appropriate for the individual’'s needs. For a student with
an EHC plan when they are 24 years old, the plan normally ceases when
the student turns age 25, although local authorities have a power to extend
an EHC plan until the end of the academic year in which the student turns
age 25.

If a local authority extends the EHC plan until the end of the academic year,
the local authority must continue to provide top-up funding to the FE college
until that time.

Place funding is allocated to the FE college by DfE for the full academic
year and would not normally be clawed back if the EHC plan is not
extended.

Local authorities are not responsible for commissioning provision for
students with SEND who are aged 19 to 25 without an EHC plan or who are
over the age of 25. Links to the funding arrangements for these students are
at annex 1: other information.

12. Further information

Page 388

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 58/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
If, having read this guidance, there are any points which require clarification,
you can contact us via the Customer Help Portal.
(https://customerhelpportal.education.gov.uk/)

Maintained schools should contact their local authority.

Additional guidance on SEND support for schools, colleges, children’s
services and parents and carers can be found at special educational needs
and disability (SEND) and high needs (https://www.gov.uk/topic/schools-
colleges-childrens-services/special-educational-needs-disabilities).

13. Annex 1: other information

13.1 Special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)
code of practice

Local authority maintained schools, academies, general FE colleges, non-
maintained special schools, and all independent special schools and SPIs
on the section 41 list must have regard to the SEND code of practice: 0 to
25 years (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-
25) on the SEND system for children and young people aged 0 to 25.

13.2 Arranging alternative provision (AP) guidance

The Arranging Alternative provision
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67a1ee367dal1fl1ac64e5fe2c/Arrangi
ng Alternative Provision - A Guide for Local Authorities and Schools.pdf)
document covers updated commissioning guidance local authorities should
refer to when carrying out their duty to arrange suitable education for
children who cannot attend a mainstream school. It also covers the role that
the child’s home school should play when commissioning AP to ensure the
child receives a suitable education in a safe environment.

13.3 Further education (FE) student financial support,

including free meals Page 389

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 59/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

DfE provides a range of financial support for students who need it to enable
them to participate in post-16 education, including free meals, bursaries to
help with the cost of education (such as travel, books, equipment, and trips),
plus support for childcare and residential costs where required. For further
information on this, including where the cost of meals is sometimes included
as part of the package of support that is agreed with local authorities, details
are available at 16 to 19 education: financial support for students
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/16-to-19-education-financial-support-for-students).

13.4 Support funding through the apprenticeships
funding methodology

Funding support is available to support apprentices to complete their
apprenticeship.

13.4.1 Learning support (including exceptional learning support)
Learning support is there to meet costs (incurred by the provider) of putting
in place reasonable adjustments for apprentices to complete their
apprenticeship who have a learning difficulty or disability as defined in
section 15ZA(6) of the Education Act 1996
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents) (as amended by section
41 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009).

More information on learning support (including exceptional learning
support), can be found in support for apprentices with a learning difficulty or
disability (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-for-apprentices-with-
a-learning-difficulty-or-disability) guidance.

13.4.2 Additional Payments

Providers and employers will receive an additional £1,000 payment towards
the additional cost associated with training if, at the start of the
apprenticeship training, the apprentice is:

e aged between 16 and 18-years-old (or 15 years of age if the apprentice’s
16th birthday is between the last Friday of June and 31 August)

e aged between 19 and 24-years-old and has either an EHC plan provided
by their local authority and/or has been in the care of their local authority

Full details on learning support (including exceptional learning support) and
additional payments can be found within the relevant sections of the
apprenticeship funding rules (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apprenticeship-
funding-rules#the-latest-rules-2022-t0-2023).

Page 390

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 60/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

13.5 Funding for adults aged 19 and above without an
EHC plan

High needs funding can only be used to support adults aged 19 to 25 if they
have an EHC plan. There is a range of alternative support available to
adults aged 19 to 25 without an EHC plan, and those aged 25 and over who
require additional support.

The nature of the support available will depend on the education or training
being undertaken, but support is available for adults being funded through
both the adult skills fund (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adult-skills-
fund-funding-rules-for-2024-to-2025) and apprenticeship funding
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeship-funding).

13.6 Pupils and students living in Wales or England
and attending a school or college across the border

DfE is currently engaging with the Welsh Government on the funding
arrangements for pupils and students living in England or Wales who are
attending a school or college across the border and will provide further
guidance in due course.

There are no equivalent statutory arrangements for pupils or students from
other countries in the UK or elsewhere. Local authorities, schools and
colleges are able to negotiate the recovery of costs as they consider
appropriate, taking account of other relevant legislation, such as the
Equality Act 2010 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents).

14. Annex 2: an example of where pupil
and student numbers differ from
allocated places

The following is an example of how the high needs funding arrangements
should operate when a school or college has more pupils or students with
high needs than the number of places for which it has been funded.

Although it is illustrated using a college located in a local authority area (the
provider local authority) with severallpgbeé I§§i| authorities also

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 61/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

commissioning places, similar arrangements may also apply to other
schools and colleges, including special academies.

The example demonstrates how the place funding for schools and colleges
and consequent deductions from local authorities’ high needs allocations
work together with the import/export adjustment. This shows the flow of high
needs funding between local authorities, schools and colleges when a
school or college has to make additional special provision for a number of
pupils or students that exceeds the funded place number, including where
inter-authority collaboration is required:

1.

Following data sharing and discussion with a college and where there is a
change from the previous academic year, the provider local authority
submits the total high needs place numbers to DfE in November, through
the place change notification process, in advance of the start of the
academic year.

. In this example, the local authority and college have agreed on 100

places for the 2025 to 2026 academic year, which comprises the total
number of places to be filled by high needs students from all local
authorities.

. The number of college places to be funded is published by DfE in

January 2024 and, during the subsequent enquiry window, the college
and local authorities check the number, ensuring they are content that it
reflects local discussions.

. DfE issues an allocation to the college in March 2024, in advance of the

academic year. This reflects the 100 places, providing £600,000 of high
needs funding (100 places x £6,000 place funding).

. The provider local authority’s DSG will also be updated in March 2024

and 100 places deducted from their high needs allocation at £6,000 per
place, prorated for the academic year, based on the 8 months from
August to March (100 places x £4,000).

. The resident local authority (the local authority in which the student is

ordinarily resident, and which commissions the place) needs to have
notified the college directly that the student has high needs and have
agreed top-up funding. The provider local authority (if not commissioning
the place) and DfE does not need to be involved in these conversations.
However, we would encourage neighbouring local authorities to
collaborate on the special provision required for their students. This
includes cooperation on associated commissioning arrangements and
top-up funding levels.

. In the lead up to the academic year, several local authorities have

commissioned further high needs places in excess of the 100 places that
the college has received place funding for. Therefore, the college has 120
high needs students at the start of the academic year 2024 to 2025.

Page 392

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 62/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
8. This has resulted in additional costs for the special provision required by

these extra 20 students that the college cannot meet through its existing
funding streams. This includes the £6,000 high needs place funding in
their allocation and standard top-up funding rates in respect of the 120
high needs students. The college should not seek to recover these costs
through the top-up funding sought from the resident authorities
commissioning places for the extra 20 students. This is because places
funded at £6,000 per place are not reserved for individual pupils or
specific local authorities and funding changes may arise from the local
authority net import/export DSG adjustment.

9. Therefore, the college discusses with the provider local authority, if
possible before the start of the academic year, the scale of the additional
special provision that it is being expected to make available and the costs
involved. It is agreed that the provider local authority will allocate a further
£50,000 of high needs funding to contribute to the additional costs
incurred by the college. This is to help meet the additional costs of
making the provision required by the additional students, on top of the
normal funding streams.

10. It is important to note that within DfE’s lagged funding system, we would
normally expect the costs of in-year growth to be met by the college. At
the same time, local authorities will have received an increase in high
needs funding to recognise population and other factors that have
contributed generally to the costs of growth. Where that growth is
significant in a college, it is reasonable for the provider local authority to
consider what extra funding might be needed by the college to maintain
the required level of provision, on an exceptional basis. The college
should not expect the provider local authority to pay an extra £6,000 for
every extra student placed over and above the college’s 100 places. The
provider local authority should be compensated for the costs of the high
needs’ places filled by students resident in other local authorities,
including 5 of the additional 20 students via the import/export adjustment
in the 2025 to 2026 financial year. This includes the final term of the 2024
to 2025 academic year.

11. In this example, 50 students live in other local authorities. This is
recorded on the college’s ILR in February 2025 and + £300,000 (50 x
£6,000) will subsequently contribute to the provider local authority’s net
import/export DSG adjustment for 2025 to 2026.

It is important to note that this example is provided for a college and some
details may vary depending on the school or college or place type.

15. Annex 3: special schools minimum
funding guarantee page 303

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

63/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

The MFG protection for maintained special schools and special academies
in 2025 to 2026 is set by a condition of grant that applies to local authorities’
DSG.

The local authority, in deciding on top-up funding rates for the pupils to be
placed in its maintained special schools, special academies it previously
maintained, and special free schools located in its area, must comply with
the minimum percentage by which the budget of any special school or
special academy would change from the 2024 to 2025 financial year to the
2025 to 2026 financial year. The calculation must assume that all the pupils
in the special school or special academy (or free school) were placed by the
local authority and the number and type of places remained the same in the
2 financial years 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026.

The MFG percentage for 2025 to 2026 is 0%. The local authority can set a
higher percentage increase but must have a disapplication request
approved if any of its special schools would have their top-up funding
reduced, resulting in a lower (negative) percentage change from year to
year.

We expect local authorities to respond appropriately to schools’ cost
pressures in 2025 to 2026 to secure the provision required for the pupils
they place there, taking account of any inescapable cost increases. In
considering top-up funding levels, local authorities should also take into
account that the place funding rate will remain at £10,000 per place in 2025
to 2026, and also that special schools will receive a CSBG allocation to
reflect cost increases already incurred.

The comparison for the MFG calculation will be schools’ 2024 to 2025
funding baselines. If the top-up funding has been adjusted for one or more
schools so as not to breach the 2024 to 2025 MFG, rather than an
adjustment made to the rates applied to all schools, that adjustment should
be included in the baseline for the 2025 to 2026 MFG.

The top-up funding must be set at a rate to ensure a school’s total budget is
no lower on a per pupil basis to that in 2024 to 2025.

Where there are extenuating circumstances, the process to request
disapplication of the MFG will remain in place, with details set out below.

The following funding for 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026 should be
excluded from the MFG calculation:

o the TPAG, TPECG 2024 and CSBG

» high needs (historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding that the school
receives in place of the legacy TPG, the TPECG and the teachers’
pensions supplementary fund

Page 394

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 64/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
e the additional funding for 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026 that local
authorities are required to pass directly to maintained special schools and
special academies, as explained in annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and
pensions funding and additional funding of this guide

DfE is considering whether, and how, these elements of funding could be
included in the MFG calculation from 2026 to 2027 and will provide further
guidance on this as required.

When calculating the protection, local authorities should make sure that
they are comparing like for like. Adjustments should be made for changes in
the nature of the provision. For example, if previous top-up funding rates
included an element for a commissioned service which is no longer
provided by the school, the value of that element can be discounted when
calculating the MFG protected level.

Once the MFG assessment confirms 2025 to 2026 top-up funding rates
received by the school are in line with the guarantee, they can then be
applied to reflect the actual number and type of places at the school. There
may be reasons why a local authority is not planning on passing a level of
top-up funding to one or more of its special schools sufficient to meet the
MFG in 2025 to 2026. For example, a local authority might be working with
all its schools to re-balance the top-up funding that is allocated between
mainstream and special schools, to enable the former to meet a wider range
of needs; or a local authority, given the level of reserves a particular special
school has accumulated, might have undertaken a benchmarking exercise
and aligned top-up funding levels for its schools to ensure similar provision
for pupils with similar levels of need are funded on a consistent basis.

Where a local reorganisation or review of funding levels takes place and
there are changes to bandings, the pupils in the school(s) in 2024 to 2025
and their categories of need should be attributed as far as possible to the
new bandings for 2025 to 2026 to assess whether any school will receive
less than the MFG.

Breaches of the MFG should only be in exceptional circumstances. In all
circumstances where the MFG is proposed to be breached and the local
authority intends to fund one or more schools below the guaranteed level,
the local authority must formally request that the relevant condition of grant
is disapplied using the digital disapplication request form (https:/digital-
forms.education.gov.uk/XtpMm9RF JX/request-to-disapply-regulations)
accompanied by supporting information. Local authorities are expected to
produce a worked MFG calculation prior to considering a disapplication
request — see example tables in the ‘MFG modelling’ section below.

Disapplication requests from local authorities seeking exceptions to the
MFG rule will be considered on a case-by-case basis and each request will

apply for one year only. No prior yeag)ap r?/ will be carried forward.
Local authorities submitting repeat r. ﬁﬁf@t vering the same schools

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 65/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
should ensure the disapplication request is comprehensive, as if a new
request was being presented, comprising the necessary up to date
supporting information and financial modelling, in line with this guidance.

Where a local authority wishes to adjust the top-up funding across several
schools, for example, following a review of its top-up funding rates and as a
result some schools gain funding and others face a reduction, a
disapplication will be required, however the request will only be relevant to
those schools whose funding would fall below the guaranteed level.

Consequently, local authorities should not, through this process, seek
endorsement of the entirety of a new top-up funding scheme that they are
intending to implement across some or all their special schools.

15.1 Disapplication request and supporting
information

Requests for a disapplication are now made using the digital disapplication
request form (https://digital-forms.education.gov.uk/XtpMm9RF JX/request-to-
disapply-regulations). Local authorities wishing to submit a request (other than
those in the safety valve intervention programme - see below) should
complete the digital disapplication request form and read the accompanying
guidance and supporting notes (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-
16-schools-funding-local-authority-guidance-for-2024-to-2025). In advance of
doing so, local authorities should ensure that in their request there is
sufficient relevant and contextual information for an informed, fair and
reasonable decision to be made. The core information should comprise:

o how the impact on specialist education being provided to pupils by the
schools that are not meeting the MFG has been considered

e why this request is the local authority’s preferred option
e what alternatives have been considered
o why the alternatives were discounted (an options appraisal)

e any transitional arrangements that the local authority is putting in place to
minimise the impact on special schools and to provide assurance of their
ongoing viability

e relevant local contextual information, for example, the results of recent
Ofsted inspections

Specific supporting information should be included with the request, as
follows:

Page 396

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 66/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
e financial modelling and the modelling for the preferred option to be in line
with the examples provided in this annex, to show the financial impact on
those schools not meeting the MFG. The modelling should include the
change in total funding between 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026

e information about any previous changes in funding, which have been
approved by the Secretary of State and/or agreed with the schools
affected

e information on the affected schools’ financial health, reserves or deficits
and analysis of in-year balances over previous years, as evidenced from
data sources and interpretation published data (https://financial-
benchmarking-and-insights-tool.education.gov.uk/)

« details of the local authority’s DSG balance as evidenced from local
authority and school expenditure published data (https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/la-and-school-expenditure) and the
forecast balance at the end of the financial year 2024 to 2025. If the local
authority has a DSG deficit, they will need to provide a copy of an up-to-
date recovery plan, and explain how the disapplication of the MFG links
with this plan

e a summary of the consultations that have been undertaken with the
schools affected and other interested parties, such as parent/carer
groups

 there is also a requirement that high needs funding arrangements are
discussed in the local schools forum, so details of any schools forum
consultation or consultations with a wider range of schools and colleges
may be necessary

e an equalities impact assessment of the impact on children and young
people with protected characteristics

We asked local authorities that were planning to submit a disapplication
request to contact us for an initial discussion before starting the process,
with an expectation that a formal request with the necessary comprehensive
supporting information was submitted by 18 November 2024. This was to
allow sufficient time for decisions to be notified to local authorities in
advance of the 2025 to 2026 financial year. Following the NFF allocations,
if there are any requests that local authorities are now actively considering
beyond this deadline, you should contact:

LA.Disapplications@education.gov.uk

To note, all local authorities in the safety valve programme have been
contacted individually with details about how they should submit any
relevant disapplication requests for 2025 to 2026 and where a request is to
be made, this should be submitted to the safety valve team at:

SafetyValve.Programme@education.gov.uk
Page 397

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 67/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

15.2 Minimum funding guarantee (MFG) modelling

The worked modelling examples below provide 2 scenarios of how the MFG
operates in the event of top-up funding changes in 2025 to 2026 for a 100-
place special school. Table 5, a worked modelling baseline example shows
the funding in 2024 to 2025, when it was occupied by a total of 90 pupils, 30
in each of 3 different bands. This is considered a baseline, and the same
number of places, pupils and levels of need should be used for 2025 to
2026. The calculation then highlights the impact of any proposed changes
to the top-up funding rates, assuming the school is offering the same level
of provision.

In table 6, MFG calculation (MFG scenario 1), one of the 3 top-up funding
rates has reduced, and one has increased. Overall, the funding for the
school would be above the 0% MFG, if the number and types of places
remained the same. Therefore, 2025 to 2026 top-up funding rates are in line
with the guarantee and funding to the special school should reflect these
rates (for pupils placed by the provider local authority), the number of pupils
in each band and the actual number of places.

In table 7, MFG calculation (MFG scenario 2), one of the top-up funding
rates has decreased, bringing the funding for the school below the 0% MFG
level. Consequently, the top-up funding for this school will need further
adjustment to be compliant with the MFG. It will not be necessary for the
local authority to adjust all schools’ top-up funding rates.

As part of the MFG assessment, if any top-up funding rates that are applied
across a local authority’s special schools are reduced, this calculation will
be needed for each special school. Local top-up funding arrangements vary,
although many local authorities have developed top-up funding bands that
are the same across all their special schools, it is possible for rates to vary
between schools, or for school-level factors to be included. Such
arrangements can also be used on a temporary or transitional basis to
ensure that all their schools’ funding levels are protected and covered by the
MFG. If top-up funding rates in 2025 to 2026 are set at a level which means
that one or more of the local authority’s special schools’ funding is less than
in 2024 to 2025, taking into account any temporary or transitional top-up
funding, and therefore breaching the 0% MFG — on a like for like
comparison of 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026 funding levels — a
disapplication request must be submitted in respect of those schools.

Table 5: MFG calculation — a worked modelling baseline example

Page 398

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 68/87



22/11/2025, 20:54

Special schools funding:

2024 to 2025
Number of places
Number of pupils
Top-up rate
Place funding
Top-up funding

Total funding

High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Total
30 35 35 100

30 30 30 90
£5,000 £7,500 £10,000 N/A
£300,000 £350,000 £350,000 £1,000,000
£150,000 £225,000 £300,000 £675,000
N/A N/A N/A £1,675,000

Table 6: MFG calculation (MFG scenario 1) - a worked modelling
example where the funding is above the 0% MFG

2025 to 2026:
Number of places
Number of pupils
Top-up rate
Place funding
Top-up funding
Total funding

MFG % difference from
2024 to 2025

Table 7: MFG calculation (MFG scenario 2) — a worked modelling
example where the funding is below 0% MFG

2025 to 2026:

Number of places

Number of pupils

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Total
30 35 35 100

30 30 30 90
£4.600 £8,000 £10,000 N/A
£300,000 £350,000 £350,000 £1,000,000
£138,000 £240,000 £300,000 £678,000
N/A N/A N/A £1,678,000

N/A N/A N/A 0.18%
Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Total
30 35 35 100

90

Bge 399 30 30

69/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

2025 to 2026: Band 1 Band 2 Band 3 Total
Top-up rate £4.600 £7,500 £10,000 N/A
Place funding £300,000 £350,000 £350,000 £1,000,000
Top-up funding £138,000 £225,000 £300,000  £663,000
Total funding N/A N/A N/A £1,663,000
MFG % difference from N/A N/A N/A -0.72%
2024 to 2025

16. Annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and
pensions funding and additional funding

The historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding, and other legacy additional
funding that local authorities were required to pass on to schools following
the 2022 autumn statement, should not be confused with the separate
CSBG for 2025 to 2026. These legacy funding streams, which are part of
the DSG high needs funding block, are covered in this annex.

Table 8 below explains the difference between the legacy funding streams
and the 2025 to 2026 CSBG, which reflects the additional costs of the 2023
and 2024 teachers’ pay award, the teachers’ pension employer contribution
rate increase from April 2024, support staff pay increases for 2024 to 2025,
and other more recent cost increases. Further information on the CSBG for
2025 to 2026 can be found in the core schools budget grant (CSBG) 2025
to 2026 for special schools and alternative provision
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/core-schools-budget-grant-csbg-2025-
to-2026-for-special-schools-and-alternative-provision).

Table 8: differences between legacy funding streams and CSBG 2025
to 2026

Legacy funding, including for historic CSBG 2025
teachers’ pay and pensions cost
increases

This funding covers the
This funding covers the ongoing ongoing costs arising from:
costs arising from:

The teachers’ pay awards in September  The teachers’ pay award from
2018 and 2019 Page 400september 2023

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 70/87



22/11/2025, 20:54

Legacy funding, including for historic
teachers’ pay and pensions cost
increases

This funding covers the ongoing
costs arising from:

The increase in employer contributions
for teachers pensions from September
2019

Additional cost pressures in 2023 to
2024, for which a 3.4% funding increase
was made available, equivalent to the
mainstream schools additional grant
(MSAG)

High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

CSBG 2025

This funding covers the
ongoing costs arising from:

The increase in employer
contributions for teachers in the
Teachers’ Pension Scheme from
April 2024

The teachers’ pay award from
September 2024, support staff
pay increases from April 2024
and other cost increases

The increase in employers’ NICs
from April 2025

The teachers’ pay award from
September 2025 and support
staff pay increase from April
2025

For background on how this legacy funding was originally allocated to local
authorities, and the rules for how it should have been passed on to schools
in 2024 to 2025, the high needs operational quide for 2024 to 2025

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-

2024-t0-2025) provides further information.

This annex explains the modified rules governing local authorities’
allocations of this funding for 2025 to 2026, as set out in the DSG:

conditions of grant for 2025 to 2026

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2025-to-

2026). Local authorities must allocate this funding to:

¢ their maintained special schools and PRUs

e special academies and AP academies they previously maintained or that

are located in their area

e special and AP free schools in their area

e hospital schools and the equivalent academies in their area

There is no recoupment for academies and free schools in respect of this
funding, so local authorities must furRizapadgimies and free schools directly.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide

71/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
This high needs funding must not result in a reduction either:

o to the number of places, for which £10,000 per place is allocated to a
special or AP school or another amount per place is allocated to a
hospital school

e to the top-up funding paid to the school in respect of individual pupils

This funding will not affect the value or operation of the NFF import/export
adjustments, or of the DSG deductions for academies’ place funding.

Furthermore, this funding must be disregarded in applying the protection for
special schools set out in annex 3: special schools minimum funding
guarantee. These are separate high needs funding streams (that is, neither
place funding, which remains at £10,000 per place, nor top-up funding).

16.1 Maintained special schools and PRUs, special and
AP academies and free schools, and maintained
hospital schools and the equivalent academies

Local authorities must allocate the historic teachers’ pay and pensions
employer contribution grant funding to maintained special schools, PRUSs,
special and AP academies and maintained and academy hospital schools,
on a per place basis according to the number of funded places in the
financial year 2025 to 2026, subject to a minimum of 40 places per school.

The amount per place to be funded should be the same as in 2024 to 2025.
The local authority should also include in the allocation of this funding any
historic teachers’ pensions supplementary fund paid by the local authority
for the financial year 2024 to 2025.

The other legacy additional funding, originally calculated as 3.4% of the
place and top-up funding, should be allocated on a per place basis as
follows, using the same place numbers used for funding maintained schools
by the local authority, and for funding academies and free schools as
published by DfE, in the period April 2025 to March 2026:

« for each special school, academy and free school the full-year amount
per place that was used for the period April 2024 to March 2025

o the full-year amount allocated to each PRU, AP academy and free school
for the period April 2024 to March 2025, converted into an amount per
place using the place numbers for that period

For example, a special academy received additional funding of £142,800
(200 places at £714 per place) iq:?é)&é to2025. The place number is

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 72/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

increasing to 220 in academic year 2025 to 2026. The special academy
should therefore receive additional funding in 2025 to 2026 amounting to
five-twelfths of £142,800 (= £59,500) plus seven-twelfths of 220 multiplied
by £714 (= £91,630), which totals £151,130.

Hospital schools and the equivalent academies should be allocated funding
as above, on a basis equivalent to their status as a special school or
academy, or a PRU or AP academy.

There is no requirement to consult schools on these allocations.

16.2 Data to be used for the calculation of additional
allocations

In all cases the place numbers used must be the total place number
published by DfE for each academy and free school, or that reported by
local authorities for funding their maintained schools, in their annual s251
budget statement.

The place numbers for the academic year 2024 to 2025
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-allocated-place-numbers)
were published in autumn 2024 covering all schools and colleges, except
maintained schools. The place numbers for academic year 2025 to 2026 will
normally be known by the local authority as a result of the place change
notification process, as they are used for their DSG deductions, even
though final place numbers for 2025 to 2026 will not be published until
March 2025.

A local authority may wish to request information from DfE on the number of
2025 to 2026 academic year places to be funded in AP free schools, before
requesting a disapplication in the case of an AP free school, although this
information will not be available until March 2025.

Local authorities have provided the 2024 to 2025 academic year place
numbers for their maintained schools through their s251 budget returns
(https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-catalogue/planned-la-and-
school-expenditure) (published 26 September 2024). Local authorities will
have determined their maintained schools’ place numbers for 2025 to 2026
before they are reported in the s251 budget statement for that year and
published by DfE.

16.3 New special and AP f%ggbgols

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 73/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Local authorities must make an allocation of high needs funding for any new
special or AP free school opening between April 2025 and March 2026, to
reflect the historic teachers’ pay and pension funding and additional legacy
funding that other local schools are receiving. Local authorities will continue
to have the flexibility to disburse this funding, following consultation, in
recognition of specific costs not covered by the £10,000 per place and level
of top-up funding that the school is receiving.

This funding must be an amount per place, subject to a full-year minimum of
£660 per place for the historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding and £340
per place for the other legacy additional funding. The place number used
should be the number of places used by DfE for funding the free school in
the period April 2025 to March 2026. There is no requirement for a minimum
place number to be used.

16.4 Request to vary the amounts calculated in
accordance with the specified data

Local authorities can also propose amounts lower than the minimum
calculated using the specified data, by requesting a disapplication of the
relevant condition of grant. They will be able to seek approval to use
different data or a different calculation that gives a lower amount.

We expect such requests to be rare, for example, when a reduction in the
number of places to be funded in 2024 to 2025 has not been agreed
between the local authority and the school. In such cases, we may seek to
resolve any disputed place number, if it relates to an academy, before a
decision on the disapplication request.

Local authorities wishing to submit a disapplication request, other than
those in the safety valve programme, should have done so by 18 November
2024 using the digital disapplication request form (https://digital-
forms.education.gov.uk/XtpMm9RF JX/request-to-disapply-regulations). This was to
allow sufficient time for decisions to be notified to local authorities in
advance of the 2025 to 2026 financial year. Following publication of
guidance on the rules relating to this legacy funding in this annex, and the
information on local authorities’ high needs NFF allocations, if there are any
requests that local authorities are now actively considering beyond this
deadline, they should contact:

LA.Disapplications@education.gov.uk

Page 404

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 74/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

16.5 Non-maintained special schools (NMSS)

NMSS will continue to receive the historic teachers’ pay and pension
funding directly from DfE at a level equivalent to the amounts per place paid
in 2024 to 2025, plus any teachers’ pension supplementary fund payments,
without any recoupment or deductions from local authorities’ high needs
allocations.

These payments will be distinct from any payments of place funding, which
will remain at £10,000 per place.

16.6 Further education (FE) colleges and special post-
16 providers (SPIs)

FE colleges and some SPIs that contribute to the pension scheme receive
the teachers’ pension scheme employer contribution grant
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teachers-pension-scheme-employer-
contribution-grant-further-education-providers), which is based on their audited
contributions into the pension scheme.

These arrangements have been confirmed until the end of the 2024 to 2025
academic year.

17. Annex 5: responsibility for children
and young people who move between
local authorities

Local authorities are responsible for conducting the EHC plan needs
assessment and, where necessary, issuing EHC plans and securing the
provision specified for children and young people in the local authority’s
area (section 24(1) of the Children and Families Act 2014
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/24/enacted)). Local authorities
should fund any special educational provision for children and young people
with EHC plans from the high needs block of the DSG, which is allocated on
a formulaic basis, including factors relating to the children and young people
resident in their area. Further information can be found in the high needs
national funding formula: technical note
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publicafoﬂgﬁaﬂ%l-funding-formula-tables-for-

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 75/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
schools-and-high-needs-2025-t0-2026). Therefore, responsibility for SEN and
high needs funding is normally based on where the child or young person
lives.

Under the Children and Families Act 2014
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted), local authorities
are responsible for children and young people with SEN who are wholly or
mainly resident in their area. These duties are based on where the child or
young person lives and not on where they are educated. Where a child or
young person is educated outside the local authority area where they
usually live, it is the local authority where the child normally lives that is
responsible for conducting the EHC needs assessment and issuing an EHC
plan, where necessary and for securing and funding that provision.

Some children and young people may require residential educational
placements (particularly those with the most complex needs). In such
cases, it is our view that the child or young person continues to be
considered as living in the local authority area that placed them in the
residential provision (since a residential school or college placement, even
for 52 weeks of the year, is educational provision and not a place where a
child or young person lives. That is, the child or young person will remain
resident at their family home), and, therefore, they would continue to have
the duty to maintain any EHC plan.

The high needs NFF includes a basic entitlement factor and import/export
adjustment that together ensure local authorities are appropriately
compensated for the high needs place funding for schools and colleges.
This funding allocation is paid directly to the schools and colleges either by
the local authority that maintains the school or by DfE in the case of
academies, NMSS and colleges.

Where a child or young person moves from the area of one local authority
into the area of another (for example, changes where they usually live), the
new local authority becomes responsible for meeting the statutory SEN
duties (as detailed in the SEND code of practice
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25) section
9.157 to 9.162). This may happen where a child’s family moves, or if a
young person decides to remain living where they have been educated. If
the child or young person already has an EHC plan, the old local authority is
required to transfer the EHC plan to the new local authority on the day of
the move, or within 15 working days of becoming aware of the move. The
new local authority then becomes completely responsible for maintaining
the plan and funding the specified educational provision. The new local
authority must review the EHC plan within 12 months of the plan being
made or being reviewed by the old local authority, or within 3 months of the
plan being transferred (whichever is later). The new local authority may
conduct a new EHC needs assessment, regardless of when the previous
EHC needs assessment took pl?%‘gsénﬁ%gmal variations may mean that
arrangements in the original EHC plan are no longer appropriate.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 76/87




22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

17.1 Looked after children (LAC)

Looked after children (LAC) are those who have been taken into care or
who are being provided with accommodation by a local authority in its
statutory role under the Children Act 1989
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents). More than half of looked
after children have some form of SEN, and it is likely that a significant
proportion of them will have an EHC plan. A significant proportion of looked
after children live with foster parents or in a children’s home and attend
schools in a different local authority to the local authority that looks after
them. The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/contents/made) distinguish between
the responsible authority (the local authority that looks after the child) and
the area authority (the local authority in which the child is placed). Local
authorities placing looked after children in another local authority’s area (for
example, with foster parents) need to be aware of that respective local
authority’s SEND local offer if the children have SEN. Where an EHC plan
assessment has been started, it must be carried out by the local authority
where the child lives (is wholly or mainly resident), which may not be the
same as the local authority that looks after the child, as set out in section
10.8 of the SEND code of practice
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25). If a
disagreement arises, the local authority that looks after the child will act as
the corporate parent in any disagreement resolution.

When a local authority places a looked after child with an EHC plan in
another local authority’s area (for example, with foster parents), the local
authority where the looked after child lives (is wholly or mainly resident)
becomes responsible for maintaining their EHC plan (including paying any
top-up funding), in the same way as any child or young person who moves
from one local authority’s area to another.

The policy intention behind this is that the local authority where the child
lives knows their local schools and educational provision better, so they are
better able to assess whether the child needs special educational provision
on top of what is ordinarily available.

The Inter-authority Recoupment (England) Regulations 2013

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/492/contents/made) permit the local

authority where a looked after child with an EHC plan lives to recoup the

cost of primary or secondary education, which includes additional special

educational provision (for example, the costs of top-up funding), from the

local authority responsible for looking after the child. Recoupment of

education costs will not normally be appropriate, however, as from 2018 the

high needs funding formula and assegiated rangements have been

designed to ensure that local authorities’ allocations of funding for SEND
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 77/87




22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

are based on the characteristics of the children and young people living in
their area, including any looked after children. In addition, there are
adjustments to reflect the costs relating to the movement of pupils and
students living in one local authority area who receive their education in
another local authority area.

Inter-authority recoupment may remain appropriate in some circumstances,
for example for looked after children from Wales. We also recognises that
certain local authorities attract a disproportionate number of looked after
children from other local authorities because of the number of children’s or
foster homes operating in their area. In such circumstances, the local
authorities concerned may wish to come to an agreement on how the costs
of educating looked after children are funded through the local authorities’
respective funding allocations, which may include recoupment of
educational costs from the local authority looking after the child. In the case
of emergency or temporary placements by the local authority responsible for
the looked after child/children, it may also be reasonable for the placing
local authority to pick up the costs (directly or via recoupment) until a more
permanent placement is made and/or the transfer of the EHC plan is
arranged.

It should be noted that the recoupment regulations do not provide for
recoupment of costs of FE provision, so costs of additional SEND provision
for young people in FE settings cannot be recouped in this way.

The Education (Areas to which Pupils and Students Belong) Regulations
1996 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1996/615/contents/made) (the
‘Belonging’ Regulations), as amended
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1301/contents/made), are used to
determine which local authority a person belongs to for the purposes of
recoupment only. Regulation 1(4) makes clear that the ‘Belonging
Regulations’ do not apply for the purpose of determining which local
authority’s area a child is in for the purposes of section 24 of the Children
and Families Act 2014. They should not be used to determine which local
authority is responsible for conducting an EHC needs assessment and
maintaining, securing, and funding the provision in an EHC plan, since this
must be determined under the Children and Families Act 2014.

17.2 Post-19 provision for young people
accommodated under the Care Act 2014

For a young person aged 19 to 25, the local authority where they live is
responsible for conducting any EHC needs assessment, issuing an EHC
plan where necessary, and for securing and funding that provision.

Page 408

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 78/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Children cease to be looked after when they are over the age of 18 (some
children will cease to be looked after at 16 or 17 years old and others will
continue to be looked after until their 18th birthday). The Inter-authority
Recoupment (England) Regulations 2013
(https://lwww.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/492/contents/made) apply only to looked
after children (up to their 18th birthday), and so do not apply to young
people aged 19 or over. Once they are no longer looked after, the
recoupment regulations no longer apply. This should not matter as the local
authority where the young person lives will have been funded through the
high needs funding formula to meet the costs, in the same way as for any
other young person who lives in their area.

Some care leavers will remain living with their former foster parents past
their 18th birthday in staying put arrangements, but they are no longer
looked after. The local authority which looked after a child remains
responsible for meeting their leaving care duties regardless of where the
young person may now be living in England or Wales (section 23A (4) of the
Children Act 1989 (http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents)).

This includes providing the young person with support for the expenses
associated with living near where they are seeking work, working, or
receiving education or training.

Decisions on adult social care placements may change the local authority
responsible for making SEN provision. It is our view that, where a young
adult is accommodated under the Care Act 2014
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted) in a residential
adult social care placement (as opposed to residential education) made on
a long-term basis (for example, with the intention that it is to be permanent
for the foreseeable future), it is likely to be considered to be a change in the
adult’s residence. Therefore, if a young person aged 19 to 25 has been
accommodated under the Care Act 2014, in a permanent residential care
placement in a different local authority area, it is likely they will have moved
into the area of the new local authority, unless there are factors indicating
otherwise. Therefore, for the purposes of the Children and Families Act
2014 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted), the new
local authority would be responsible for securing and maintaining any EHC
plan.

18. Annex 6: health and social care
costs

Where a child or young person with SEND has relevant health or social care
needs, these should be addressed \?thin agér%tegrated EHC plan.
Responsibility for securing the provi igrggp Ifled in the plan sits with the

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 79/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

relevant statutory bodies: the local authority for education and social care
provision, and either the Integrated Care Board (ICB) or (in some cases)
NHS England for health provision.

The high needs funding block of the DSG is intended to meet the
educational costs of children and young people with SEN or who require AP.
The DSG may only be used for the purposes specified in the DSG:
conditions of grant (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-
schools-grant-dsg-2025-t0-2026) and The School and Early Years Finance
(England) Regulations
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) which means that it
may not be used to meet non-educational costs, except where specifically
permitted. The costs of securing health provision (specified in section G of
an EHC plan) should be met by either the ICB or NHS England. The costs
of securing social care provision (specified in sections H1 and H2 of an
EHC plan) should be met by the local authority from their social care
budgets.

However, the Children and Families Act 2014
(https://lwww.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted) acknowledges that
specific types of health or social care provision may be considered as
education or training. The Children and Families Act 2014 requires that
health or social care provision which educates or trains a child or young
person must be treated as special educational provision (that is, deemed
educational provision). This particularly applies to therapies such as speech
and language therapy, physiotherapy and occupational therapy. This means
that it will be recorded in section F of an EHC plan and will be treated as
special educational provision and, therefore, in scope of the high needs
budget. However, all decisions about whether health care provision or social
care provision should be treated as special educational provision must be
made on an individual basis, as set out in section 9.74 of the SEND code of
practice (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-

25).

While independent and non-maintained provision frequently offers
integrated education, health and social care provision, only educational
costs (including deemed educational costs) should be funded by the DSG.
In some cases, the integrated package of support will be costed and
charged through a single fee. In these cases, the local authority should
charge non-educational costs to the responsible partners. We would expect
the relevant partners to have agreed the basis for the placement and its
funding before it is confirmed (for example, before a final EHC plan is
issued). The social care element of accommodating children with SEND in
schools should be charged appropriately.

Page 410

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 80/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

19. Annex 7: permanent exclusions:
funding adjustments

The alternative provision and hospital education section highlights the
importance of ensuring schools and local authorities explore the most
effective arrangements for AP commissioning and funding in their area,
including for children who have been permanently excluded. Where pupils
are excluded, under The School and Early Years Finance (England)
Regulations (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made), funding
should flow in-year from the school that has permanently excluded the pupil
to the provision that takes responsibility for the pupil. If a school
subsequently admits a pupil who has been permanently excluded during
that financial year, it should then receive additional funding.

The provisions also apply to pupils who leave a mainstream school for
reasons other than permanent exclusions and are receiving education
funded by the local authority, other than at a school. The provisions also act
independently of whether a particular pupil has been on the school census
in the first place and whether the school has, therefore, received funding for
them.

Local authorities are responsible for adjusting the budget shares of
mainstream maintained schools if a pupil is permanently excluded, so that
funding follows the pupil. Further information on this, including calculating
the amount to be deducted from the excluding school’s budget and
admitting school’s budget (if appropriate), is available in the
‘Redetermination of budgets where pupils have been excluded’ section of
the schools operational guide: 2025 to 2026
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-
guidance-for-2025-t0-2026).

Different funding arrangements apply in relation to pupils permanently
excluded from PRUs, AP academies, maintained special schools, special
academies and children in designated SEN units or resourced places at
mainstream schools. These schools receive base funding for each place,
which is not linked to individual pupils and so is not withdrawn following a
permanent exclusion. Similarly, the calculation for an admitting school would
not be used for a PRU, AP academy or AP free school. They also receive
top-up funding that is linked to individual pupils. When commissioning
places at one of these types of school, local authorities and schools should
formally agree with the providing school what proportion of this top-up
funding will be returned if a pupil leaves the school (for any reason). See
sections “Top-up funding for alternative provision (including examples)’ or
‘Further information on the approacggég}(%p- funding for PRUs, AP
academies and AP free schools’ abov er information.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 81/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
The only exception to this is where pupil premium is payable in respect of a
pupil attending a PRU or special school maintained by the local authority. In
this situation, local authorities must adjust the school’s budget in
accordance with the same formula that applies to mainstream schools. In
the case of AP and special academies, local authorities should claim from
the academy an amount equivalent to the pupil premium (as calculated
according to the formula in the regulations) or pay the academy the relevant
amount when a previously permanently excluded pupil joins the academy.

Information about regulations covering the movement of funds in relation to
permanently excluded pupils who are placed in provision in other local
authorities can be found under the section ‘Inter-authority funding transfers’
in the schools operational guide: 2025 to 2026
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-16-schools-funding-local-authority-
guidance-for-2025-t0-2026). The regulations relate to situations where a pupil
is permanently excluded from a maintained school in one local authority,
and is either:

e subsequently provided with education in the same financial year at a
maintained school, or otherwise than at school in a second local
authority

e subsequently provided with education in the same financial year at a
PRU, or otherwise than at school in a second local authority, and then at
a maintained school or otherwise than at school in a third local authority

20. Annex 8: important dates

The timeline below shows the implementation of the 2025 to 2026 high
needs funding arrangements, including actions for local authorities and
schools and colleges.

Schools and colleges must ensure the school census
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/school-census) or ILR
(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/individualised-learner-record-ilr)
guidance is followed on all items that are, or will be, used for funding
purposes, including elements of the NFF. It is critical that all schools and
colleges check the latest guidance to make sure that they understand what
is required, including identifying those pupils or students for whom they
receive high needs top-up funding.

October 2024
Page 412

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 82/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK
Department for Education:
e 2025 to 2026 guidance on the place change notification process
published and local authorities workbook issued

e January 2024 school census data for special academies and free schools
published

e 2023 to 2024 and 2024 to 2025 high needs place numbers updated (as of
1 October 2024)

Local authorities:

e continue discussions with all types of schools and colleges and other
local authorities to ensure positive strategic demand and supply planning
to enable agreement to be reached in 2025 to 2026 high needs place
numbers, in preparation for completion of the data return to DfE

Schools and colleges:

e continue discussions with local authorities and reach agreement in 2025
to 2026 high needs place numbers, in preparation for the local authority
data return to DfE

 all maintained schools, academies, NMSS and PRUs, to complete the
autumn school census (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/school-census)

e FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs, 16 to 19 academies and SPls are
to submit 2024 to 2025 ILR R14

November 2024

Department for Education:
o the AP free schools 2025 to 2026 place process launched

 provisional high needs NFF allocations for 2025 to 2026 published

Local authorities:

o deadline for local authority submission of 2025 to 2026 high needs place
number changes and requests for local authority hospital education
funding changes to DfE

o deadline for requests to disapply conditions of grant relating to funding
from the schools block of the DSG

e local authorities’ DSG updated

Schools and colleges:

o complete discussions with local authorities and reach agreement for 2025
to 2026 high needs place numbers, in preparation for the local authority
return to DfE

Page 413

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 83/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

e AP free schools: discuss commissioning arrangements with local
authorities and schools for the 2025 to 2026 academic year

December 2024

Department for Education:
e 2025 to 2026 DSG schools, central school services and high needs block
allocations and DSG: conditions of grant published

e indicative 2025 to 2026 DSG early years block allocations published
FE providers:

e FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs, 16 to 19 maintained schools and
academies, and SPIls submit 2024 to 2025 ILR R04

January 2025

Department for Education:

e 2025 to 2026 high needs place change notification outcomes published
on GOV.UK

e 2023 to 2024 R14 ILR data returned by colleges published

e 2-week enquiry window for local authorities and relevant schools and
colleges to raise place change related issues

e The School and Early Years Finance (England) Reqgulations 2025
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2025/42/contents/made) are published

Local authorities:

« calculate additional funding allocations for special and AP maintained
schools and academies and consult schools on the data and calculations
used

e check published outcomes and ensure queries are discussed with
relevant schools and colleges and, if necessary, those raised during the
2-week enquiry window

e this should include checking the outcomes for schools and colleges
located in other local authorities, where a local authority places large
numbers of students

o deadline for submitting the final 2025 to 2026 APT to DfE. This covers all
mainstream maintained schools and academies: including pupil numbers
on the October 2024 census in RP and SEN units to support the
calculation of funding for occuppggyangtiupoccupied places

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 84/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Schools and colleges :

» schools and colleges to check changes to 2025 to 2026 funded place
numbers are correctly reflected in the published outcomes, ensure any
queries are discussed with the relevant local authority and, if necessary,
raised with DfE during the 2-week enquiry window

o deadline for AP free schools 2025 to 2026 place number returns

« all maintained schools, academies, NMSS and PRUs to complete spring
2025 school census

February 2025

Local authorities:

e 2-week enquiry window closes for raising queries with DfE regarding
2025 to 2026 funded place numbers

e review of, and amendments to EHC plans must be completed by 15
February (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1530/regulation/18) for
pupils moving into, or between, schools in that calendar year

e 2025 to 2026 budgets issued to mainstream schools, special schools and
PRUs

Schools and colleges:
o 2-week enquiry window closes for raising queries with DfE regarding
2025 to 2026 funded place numbers

o FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs, 16 to 19 maintained schools and
academies and SPIs to submit 2024 to 2025 ILR R06

March 2025

Department for Education:
e publication of the 2025 to 2026 high needs place numbers for schools
and colleges

o following details published on how 16 to 19 funding will work
(https://www.gov.uk/guidance/16-to-19-funding-information-for-2025-to-2026) and
the timeline for delivering allocations (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/16-to-19-
education-funding-allocations), 2025 to 2026 academic year allocations will
begin to be issued to the FE colleges and schools with sixth forms:
including free schools (post-16 element), academies (post-16
element), NMSS (post-16 element), SPlIs, ILPs and 16 to 19 academies

» local authorities’ DSG updated Page 415

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 85/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

Local authorities:

 additional high needs funding allocations to special and AP maintained
schools and academies, calculated according to the requirements and
guidance set out in annex 4: historic teachers’ pay and pensions funding
and additional funding

e review of and amendments to EHC plans, including specifying the post-
16 provision and naming the school or college, must be completed by 31
March for students moving from a secondary or special school to a
college or apprenticeship in that calendar year

e complete EHC plan review process by 31 March for students moving
between post-16 colleges, where a young person is expected to transfer
to a new post-16 college in the new academic year

April 2025

Department for Education:

o 2025 to 2026 post-16 academic year allocations — majority of allocations
to be issued to eligible schools and colleges in April with some
exceptions (see March)

Schools and colleges:
e check high needs allocation is received and correct

June 2025

Department for Education:

e issue to local authorities the NFF import/export adjustments data at
school and college level, the special free school adjustments data and
guidance on the import/export data error notification process (supporting
information about new special free school adjustments can be found in
the DSG: technical note 2024 to 2025
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dedicated-schools-grant-dsg-2024-
to-2025) and special free schools adjustment: a guide for local authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-
2025-t0-2026))

Local authorities:
e review NFF import/export adjustment data

FE providers:

« FE colleges, sixth form colleges, ILPs, 16 to 19 academies and SPls to
cubmit 2024 to 2028 ILR R16 PAgE 416

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 86/87



22/11/2025, 20:54 High needs funding: 2025 to 2026 operational guide - GOV.UK

July 2025

Department for Education:
e 2025 to 2026 high needs place numbers updated and published (as of 1
July 2024)

e 2025 to 2026 DSG update to reflect final school and college level
allocation decisions, NFF import/export adjustments and special free
school adjustments (supporting information can be found in the DSG:
technical note 2025 to 2026)

e local authorities’ DSG updated

e local authorities notify DfE of potential data errors in the NFF
import/export adjustments

1. Findings from Phase One - DBV in SEND
(https://www.dbvinsend.com/insights) and

2. High needs budgets: effective management in local authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-budgets-effective-
management-in-local-authorities)

.'*'o

OGL

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated © Crown copyright

Page 417

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-needs-funding-arrangements-2025-t0-2026/high-needs-funding-2025-to-2026-operational-guide ~ 87/87



m¢ Havering

iz LONDON BOROUGH

Schools Funding Forum 27th November 2025 ITEM 6
Subject Heading: Central Schools Services Block (CSSB)
2026-27 Update
Report Author: Hany Moussa — Principal Education
Finance Officer
Eligibility to vote: Information only
‘ SUMMARY ‘

This report summarises the Policy Note update of the DSG Central Schools Services
Block (CSSB) funding for financial year 2026-27.

‘ RECOMMENDATIONS ‘

That the Schools Funding Forum:

0] notes the updated methodology and allocation of CSSB for 2026-27

Page 418



REPORT DETAIL

1. Background

As part of the introduction of a Schools and High Needs National Funding Formula
in 2018-19 the DfE established a fourth funding block, the CSSB, which brought
together funding for central services previously funded through the Schools Block
and the Education Services Grant.

Following the November 2025 policy update, the DfE has confirmed changes to the
CSSB for financial year 2026-27. The incorporation of two grants, NICs and SBSG,
paid separately in 2025-26 for centrally employed staff are now rolled into the CSSB
baseline.

Similar to the schools share of the grant in the baseline for 2026-27, the SBSG has
been annualised. The overall additional grant is then redistributed nationally through
the CSSB NFF, with formula protection criteria put in place.

2. CSSB allocation 2025-26

Before the 2026-27 release was published, an early estimate was produced based
on a predicted 3.0% uplift to the per-pupil rate for ongoing responsibilities.

The projected allocation that was tabled in the October 2025 meeting for the CSSB,
with comparable data from 2025-26 is as follows.

Ongoing responsibilities Hlstc_)ncal Total CSSB
commitments
Per pupil
Pupil nos. £ £ £ £
2026-27 projected 39,883.0 47.43 1,891,651 60,292 1,951,943
2025-26 final 39,883.0 46.05 1,836,613 75,365 1,911,978
Difference 0 1.38 55,038 -15,073 39,965

This pre-release estimate is now superseded by the Policy update’s confirmed CSSB
NFF methodology.

Page 419



3. Policy Update — indicative allocations

The updated DfE indicative allocations includes the rolling-in of the NICs and SBSG
grants by redistribution through the basic per-pupil and deprivation factors. There is
transitional protection for the 2026-27 CSSB NFF with LAs protected for losses up
to 2.5% in comparison to the previous year baseline, and capped to 2.13% gain
against the previous year baseline.

Ongoing responsibilities Hlstprlcal Total CSSB
commitments
Per pupil
Pupil nos. £ £ £ £
2026-27 projected 39,883.0 55.31 2,205,987 60,292 2,266,279
2025-26 final 39,883.0 46.05 1,836,613 75,365 1,911,978
Difference 0 9.26 369,374 -15,073 354,301

Because Havering’s adjusted 2025-26 baseline was higher than the NFF calculation
(after NICs/SBSG roll-in), Havering becomes a loss-protection authority. This

means:

e Havering does not receive the full annualised amount of the rolled-in grants

(£425,939)

e Funding instead rises only up to the maximum permitted gain/loss limit

applied nationally

The table below breaks down the calculation step by step.

Rate

Explanation

Amount

2025-26 adjusted baseline

£56.72971 Includes NICs and SBSG rolled into baseline £2,262,551

per-pupil
2026-27 NFF basic rate £47 98840 Basic per-pupil funding before protection
(post-ACA) ' (Oct-24 = 39883 pupils)

2026-27 NFF deprivation
rate (post-ACA)

FSM6-related factor
(Oct-24 FSM Ever6 = 20.83% = 8308 pupils)

£19.90393

Combined unprotected NFF

rate £52.13457 £47.99 + £19.90 £2,079,283
Year-on-year change -8.10% Fall relative to 2025-26 baseline

(unprotected)

Maximum permitted loss -2.50% CSSB formula protection

Protection applied £3.18 Required uplift to limit the loss to -2.5% £126,704
Final protected per-pupll  £5531147 Havering’s published 2026-27 rate £2,205,987
Final year on year change -2.50% Transitional maximum loss -£56,564

Page 420




4. Services to be funded

The services that LAs can fund from the CSSB are set out in the extract from the
Operational Guidance. The updated table for services to be funded from the CSSB
are as follows:

. Projected . .

. A Final 2025-26 . Projected Projected
Ongoing responsibilities £ 2022—27 change £ change %
Copyright licences 280,000 288,400 8,400 3.0
Admissions 597,932 615,870 17,938 3.0
Schools Forum 49,087 50,560 1,473 3.0
LA responsibilities to all schools 909,594 936,821 27,227 3.0
Staffing Costs funded from Legacy Grants
(NICs and SBSG) - 314,336 314,336 n/a
Total 1,836,613 2,205,987 369,374 20.1

. Projected . .
Historical commitments Final 2025-26 2026-27* Projected Projected
£ £ change £ change %
Schools Partnerships/Schools Causing Concern 75,365 60,292 -15,073 -20.0
[ Total [ 1911978 | 2,266,279 | 354,301 | 18.5 |

Ongoing responsibility element

The copyright licence costs tend to increase each year but LAs are not notified of
the increase until later in the year. An estimated sum of £288,400 has been
included. Areas relating to salary costs have been increased by 3.0%. The actual
increase in cost is likely to be aligned or more than what has been projected.

Historic Commitments element

Continuing the financial year arrangements for this element of the grant, the LA is
proposing that for 2026-27 that this continues to be used for items that are
accessible to a large number of schools. This includes the coaching bursary,
Havering Academy of Leadership and support commissioned on behalf of all
schools.

Schools Funding Forum approved the use of the CSSB at the October 2025
meeting.

Page 421



Havering

s LONDON BOROUGH

Schools Funding Forum 27th November 2025 ITEM 7
Subject Heading: Schools Financial Monitoring
Report Author: Katherine Heffernan — Head of Finance

Business Partnering

Eligibility to vote: Information only

‘ SUMMARY ‘

This report provides an update on the 2025-26 in year financial position of Havering
Maintained Schools and the number of schools in or at risk of going into deficit.

‘ RECOMMENDATIONS ‘

That the Schools Funding Forum notes the report.

‘ REPORT DETAIL ‘

Havering Schools Financial Position

At the end of the 2024-25 financial year there were 16 Havering maintained schools with
overall deficit budgets, all of which had been in deficit for a number of years. For the first time
the overall level of school deficits exceeded the level of surplus meaning that there was an
overall debit balance on the LMS reserve. Schools in deficit had received around £5m of cash
advances from the authority.

When schools set their budgets for 2025-26 and the following years, it showed that there was
a high risk of more schools falling into deficit in this or future years. This reflects the high level
of financial pressure that Havering schools are under. However, the financial regulations
concerning schools financing are clear that deficits should be avoided where possible and
should not be allowed to persist. The legislative framework sets out that deficits should only
be permitted as a temporary measure and schools that need to go into deficit should take

Page 422



steps to recover their position within a reasonable timeframe — with three years being the
suggested period.

Schools were therefore grouped into five risk categories as follows.
e A 9 Schools - Schools forecasting to remain in surplus for at least 3 years

These schools are currently in a sustainable position, and no immediate action is
required. They should however continue to monitor their situation as circumstances can
change.

e B 7 Schools - Schools in surplus in this financial year but forecasting a potential
deficit in the medium term.

The Governing Body should monitor their position carefully and consider what action
they can take now or in future to ensure they do not fall into deficit.

e C 6 Schools - Schools forecasting they are at risk of falling into deficit in year

The Governing Body should urgently consider whether they can take action in year to
avoid falling into deficit. If that is not possible, they can apply for a licensed deficit but
will need to produce a recovery plan showing how they will return to surplus in a few
years.

e D 6 Schools - Schools in deficit now who are forecasting to reduce their deficit
over three years — of which 3 will be in surplus by the end of the time.

The Local Authority will be able to issue a licensed deficit as there is a recovery plan in
place. This will need to be monitored to ensure it is successful in returning the school to
surplus.

e E 10 Schools - Schools in deficit who are forecasting their deficits will increase
over a three-year period.

A recovery plan needs to be developed and implemented to ensure that the school can
start to return to surplus in the future. Given the size of some deficits and the nature of the
issues this may need to take more than the recommended 3 to 5 years.

The Current Situation

Since this initial exercise schools and governing bodies have worked very hard to identify
what action they can take to improve their financial position. In particular most of the six
schools in category C may not now move into deficit this year. This is being confirmed by the
finance team with those five schools. If this is the case, then there is no further action required
in year although the position will need to be monitored.

A further two schools that are in deficit have developed a satisfactory recovery plan and are
now projecting a return to surplus in future year.

However, there are still ten schools that have not yet been able to identify sufficient actions
to return to surplus although many of these schools have taken action to reduce the rate of

Page 423



overspending. These are schools with a very high level of challenges and Finance will
continue to work with them to understand the main drivers of their pressures and what would
help we can provide.

Licensed Deficits

A licensed deficit is an agreement between the Local Authority and a school governing body
that the school may go into deficit for a defined period of time. This is a formal decision shared
between the Director of Children’s Services and the Director of Finance.

A licensed deficit agreement is specific to an individual school and will include the following
information:

- The total amount of deficit a school is permitted to reach

- What funds the authority will advance the school

- What action the school should take to recover its situation

- The timescale over which the school will return to surplus

- When any cash advances will be repaid.

We are in the process of drawing up agreements with the schools who have been able to
produce recovery plans.

For those schools that have not been able to produce recovery plans we will need to formalise
the situation with some kind of interim agreement.

Local Authority Finance Support.

The Local Authority wants to work with schools which are facing financial pressures and to
offer them effective support. The team are therefore reviewing our finance offer and will be
focusing more on its statutory strategic and regulatory roles. This will also lead to more clarity
in the traded offer.

At the same time, we will be working on making changes to our statutory support. This will
include — a review of the Scheme for Financing Schools, improved guidance and advice on
budget setting, focusing more on in year monitoring in the quarterly financial submissions and
more support for schools in deficit.

Page 424



	Agenda
	2 TO AGREE THE NOTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON...
	4 Item 4 Schools Funding 2026-27
	5 Item 4 App A - The_national_funding_formula_for_schools__2026_-_2027
	List of Figures and Tables
	Introduction
	Section 1: The national funding formula for schools
	Rolling the additional grant funding into the schools NFF
	Increasing funding factor values
	Rules governing local authority formulae
	Other key features of the local funding formulae

	Section 2: The national funding formula for central school services
	The central school services block in 2026 to 2027
	Ongoing responsibilities
	Historic commitments

	Annex A: The structure of the schools national funding formula
	Overall design of the formula
	Pupil-led factors
	Basic entitlement

	Additional needs factors
	Deprivation
	Free School Meals
	FSM eligibility at any time in the last 6 years
	Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index
	Low Prior Attainment
	English as an additional language
	Mobility


	School-led factors
	Lump Sum
	Sparsity funding
	Premises
	Rates
	PFI
	Split Sites
	Exceptional Circumstances


	Geographic funding
	Area Cost Adjustment

	Protective elements of the NFF
	Minimum per pupil levels
	The funding floor

	Growth funding
	Falling rolls funding

	Annex B:  Equalities Impact Assessment
	Schools NFF
	Increases to factor values and the rolling in of grants into the schools NFF
	Tightening of local formula rules

	Central School Services Block NFF
	Overall impact

	Item 4 Appendix B NFF Indicative rates 2026-27
	Item 4 App C - LBH DD and Ed Function_1a
	Item 5 High Needs 2025-26
	Item 5 App A - SEN - Support in England_141125
	Summary
	Background
	How many school pupils have SEN?
	Government white paper announcement
	Pressure on local authority finances
	Education Committee report – September 2025

	1 Support for children with Special Educational Needs (SEN)
	1.1 Legislation and Code of Practice
	1.2 Definition of SEN
	1.3 Levels of support
	SEN Support
	Education, Health and Care Plans

	1.4 Key aspects of the system
	The local offer
	EHC plans for 19-25 year olds with SEN
	Personal Budgets
	Requirement for consultation with children, young people, and their parents
	Disputes
	Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

	Advice for parents, carers, children and young people

	1.5 Labour government position on reform and  planned white paper

	2 Funding system
	2.1 Background
	2.2 Reform: a national funding formula
	Funding levels
	Transferring funding between blocks

	2.3 Education Committee funding report (2019)
	Government response

	2.4 Funding policy developments 2019-24
	Consultation on school funding reform
	Bands and tariffs
	Independent schools

	2.5 Additional funding and support for local authorities facing financial challenges
	‘Safety valve’ intervention programme
	Pause of safety valve programme
	Delivering better value in SEND

	2.6 Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Committee report on local authority finances (2024)
	Statutory override
	Longer-term sustainability
	Government response
	Extension of the statutory override to 2028

	2.7 National Audit Office report on system effectiveness and financial sustainability (2024)
	Parliamentary discussion

	2.8 Institute for Fiscal Studies report on spending on SEN (2024)
	2.9 Public Accounts Committee report on special educational needs (2025)
	2.10 SEN and home-to-school transport
	Related pressure on local authority finances and planned funding changes


	3 Accountability: Ofsted and CQC inspections
	Overview of inspections
	Revised approach in 2023
	Area inspection findings
	Background on the introduction of inspections

	4 The SEND Review and the SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan
	4.1 SEND review announcement (2019)
	4.2 SEND and Alternative Provision Green Paper (2022)
	4.3 The SEND and Alternative Provision Improvement Plan (2023)
	Proposals

	4.4 New SENCo qualification

	5 Education Committee report on Solving the SEND Crisis
	5.1 Announcement
	5.2 Report

	6 Statistics
	6.1 Number of pupils with SEN
	6.2 Education, health, and care plans across all age groups (0 to 25 years)
	Trends in number of statements and education, health, and care plans
	Timeliness in issuing new EHC plans
	Placements

	6.3 SEND Tribunals


	Item 5 App B - Solving the SEND Crisis_180925
	Summary
	Securing inclusive education
	Restoring trust and confidence
	Equipping the workforce
	Achieving a sustainable model of funding
	Building partnerships across services
	Expanding SEND capacity
	Improving early years for lasting impact
	Post-16

	1	Introduction
	Our inquiry
	Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in England

	2	The state of inclusive education in England
	Current trends in SEND
	Increasing need for SEND support
	Increased complexity is the “new normal”
	SEND support by education phase and setting
	EHC plans
	Attainment, outcomes and curriculum
	Attendance, exclusion and suspensions
	Specialist provision

	Inclusive education
	Drivers of the SEND crisis and barriers to inclusive education
	Inclusive education is yet to be secured
	Parents and carers have limited trust and confidence in the SEND system
	The education workforce is not equipped to support pupils with SEND
	Funding and finance
	Partnership between services is weak
	Lack of intervention in the early years is leading to the escalation of need
	Post-16


	3	Securing inclusive education
	Ordinarily available provision
	SEN support
	Access to specialists

	Education, Health and Care Plans

	4	Restoring parent trust and confidence
	Parental involvement
	Future reforms
	School accountability
	Ofsted
	Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

	Local authority accountability
	SEND Tribunal
	Area SEND inspections

	Health accountability
	Area SEND inspections
	SEND Tribunal and health


	5	Improving early years for lasting impact
	Funding
	Family Hubs and Best Start

	6	Post-16
	Qualifications, assessments and outcomes
	Maths and English GCSE resits

	Funding
	Home to school transport


	7	Equipping the workforce
	Education workforce
	Initial Teacher Training and the Early Career Framework
	Continued Professional Development (CPD)
	Special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOs)
	Teaching assistants and learning support assistants

	Local authority workforce
	Health workforce
	Capacity challenges


	8	Getting to a sustainable model of funding
	Education funding
	Schools block funding
	High needs block
	National funding formula (NFF)

	Local authority finances
	Measures to alleviate financial pressures


	9	Building stronger partnerships
	Different priorities and incentives across education and health
	Responsibilities, accountability and joint commissioning
	Cross-departmental partnerships

	10	Expanding capacity within the SEND system
	Current school capacity
	Resource bases
	Planning
	Data

	11	Conclusion
	Appendix 1: Insight from Norwich
	Appendix 2: Insight from Canada
	Conclusions and recommendations
	Formal Minutes
	Witnesses
	Published written evidence
	List of Reports from the Committee during the current Parliament

	Item 5 App C - High Needs Guide 2025-26_300625
	Item 6 CSSB Funding 2026-27
	Item 7 Schools Financial Monitoring




